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    [bookmark: _Toc435557261]INTRODUCTION


    by


    Bowie V Ibarra
 


    Okay, I’ll admit. I got to the HP Lovecraft party very, very late.


    As a fan of horror movies, I remember agreeing to impress a girl I liked named Veronica in the 7th grade by watching a horror movie she had on VHS. There were several movies on the cassette tape, and one of them was a curious movie called The Beyond. It was a dark and mysterious movie, loosely based on Lovecraft’s work of the same name, and man did it trip me out. 


    Featured very prominently in the opening title sequence was a name: HP Lovecraft. The name would also appear before another movie I would watch in the same time period called Re-Animator. It made me wonder just who this writer was that was inspiring these fear-fests.


    Don’t get me wrong. I loved reading books, but had yet to have the courage to step into the horror genre. I was more familiar with Choose Your Own Adventure books and educational books about the paranormal. I didn’t even get to Stephen King until college.


    But Lovecraft’s name would appear yet again one morning in my youth. I was getting ready for school, and enjoying an obscure Real Ghostbusters cartoon episode entitled The Collect Call of Cathulhu. (As I write this, I decided to YouTube the episode.) In it, an exhibit of The Necronomicon at a museum was stolen by a dark cult bent on raising ‘Cathulhu’ from ‘the watery depths’. Lovecraft’s name was dropped liberally throughout the episode. It was actually pretty creepy for a children’s cartoon, which was always a cool aspect of those early cartoons.


    One of the most notable aspects of the cartoon was how Ray Stantz, one of the more eccentric Ghostbusters, states several times emphatically that HP Lovecraft inspired many authors to write about his Cthulhu mythos and the ‘old ones’. And it is that very fact stated by the cartoon character that brings us together today.


    I would later discover Lovecraft was an author who wrote most of his works in the early 1900’s. It was obvious this guy clearly had a lot of street cred to have a body of works that still resonated to this day. With that kind of staying power and following, it was no wonder his work inspired these movies.


    New Tales of the Old Ones is a tribute compilation to the tremendous influence HP Lovecraft had on the world of sci-fi, horror, mystery, and especially ‘weird tales’. Lovecraft didn’t just flaunt traditional philosophy and storytelling of the time period, he flipped it on its head. His works included many themes including religion, the dangers of science, fate, and humanity’s inability to understand the supernatural. The stories also dealt with humanity’s impotence against the supernatural’s potential sinister power. He explored subjects such as worlds beyond our perception, worlds that could be all around us, but beyond our perception. In these worlds, we were powerless to the mysteries it held, the dangers. 


    In my “Down the Road” zombie horror stories, humanity deals with cold manifestations of their greatest fear: death. Like death itself, the zombies creep and shamble their way to the living to kill them and eat their flesh. The living knows exactly what is coming for them and what to do, if they can get along. They can deal with them, with their existence.


    But with Lovecraft, humanity must deal with the cold manifestations of an even greater fear, a fear perhaps greater than death. That fear is of the unknown. With the unknown, humanity cannot possibly know what is coming for them. And what’s worse, humanity cannot comprehend what is coming for them, or have the power to stop it even when they find out.


    Now that’s scary.


    Within these pages, you will find stories that share these same themes, these same mysteries, these same frights. The authors who have been chosen to be a part of this compilation are the cream of the crop, authors who have been chosen for properly honoring Lovecraft’s works. New Tales of the Old Ones is the perfect tribute to the legacy of Lovecraft.


    In your hands, you hold a new original homage to Lovecraft’s writings and to his readers. Let’s just hope by reading these stories, we don’t somehow unleash the old ones on the world.


     


    Sincerely,


     


    Bowie V. Ibarra


    Author


    ZombieBloodFights.com


    


    


    


    


    [bookmark: _Toc435557262]THE CALL OF HOME
 


    Theresa Derwin


     


    Author’s Note


    The psychiatric unit in this story is purely one of the imagination, and bears no resemblance to any local units (to the best of my knowledge). The NHS sometimes gets a bad rap, but come on now, it isn’t that bad!


    Speaking of the insane, this story is dedicated to my nutty family, Daddy Paddy, The Spuds (Tish, Paul, Gemma & Kyle) and Mom, may God rest her soul.


     


    “You’re lying, she’s not dead,” I said calmly.


    For just a moment the world stopped revolving and the emptiness engulfed me as the words spoken on the other end of the phone sunk in. 


    I could still hear the tinny voice of the Ward Sister droning in the background with pointless platitudes. It wasn’t real. I tried to pretend to myself that I hadn’t heard correctly. It wasn’t Mom. They picked the wrong person at the hospital, mistaken identity. I vehemently denied what my own ears had heard. “I’m sorry Mrs Monk, your mother passed away during the night, peacefully in her sleep”.


    It was all lies. It had to be. Mom didn’t sleep, not ever. The nightmares we shared kept us both awake every damn night and kept her trapped in her own mind and in that damn looney bin. 


    My voice caught in my throat, my chest tight and painful as tears welled up already, even as I tried to deny what I knew was true. 


    “What happened? How?” I mumbled.


    The Sister continued to drone on at me. Natural causes, sure she felt no pain, yadda yadda yadda.


    I hung up the call and collapsed onto my chair. 


     


    X


     


    I must’ve sped through a million red lights as I raced to Breaside Mental Health Hospital, cars whizzing past me, horns bibbing, though I barely noticed them. The Sister met me at the door and greeted me soberly. She was a petite Asian lady in her mid-thirties, with a cute chocolate bob streaked with mahogany and a pretty smile. She was too young to have the job of telling someone that their Mom was dead, I thought. Her pretty face didn’t match her cold voice as she greeted me. 


    “Thanks for letting me come so quick, Sister Khadim,” I said. I’d rushed straight to the institution. I had to know why she was dead.


    “Please, call me Shab,” she replied, “And that’s quite alright. I understand. Would you like to see her?”


    “Yes please,” I said. As I followed, my footsteps echoed hers down the beige tiled corridors.


    The building felt ugly. Its fetid pea green walls, the paint stripping off in corners, closed in on me as I walked that long corridor, trying not to hear the disturbing sounds through the secured doors. Screams, cackles of insane laughter, the jangling of keys as though it were a prison, shouting and whispering, all of the sounds competing against each other for a chance to worm their way into my brain. 


    Breaside had never felt like this before. I’d visited Mom loads of times while she was still compos mentis and knew the building well. Hell, I’d noticed the sounds but tried to ignore them. I’d noticed the sickening walls and ignored them too. I always noticed the musty smell of the patients that mingled with the chemicals of an institution and the faint tang of urine, but I ignored it. I was very good at ignoring things sometimes, especially where Mom was concerned. No one at work knew she was here. I was ashamed, I could finally admit to myself.


    We reached Mom’s room and Shab, the Sister, brought us to a halt. She took out the key and opened the heavy white door wide to let me in.


    Silently I entered Mom’s room, that cacophony of noise still beating in the background almost deafening me. Mom lay on the bed, a white sheet placed over her body for politeness’ sake. 


    Slowly, I stumbled forward in a daze. My fingers grasped hold of the sheet and pulled it half way down, so I could see her torso and head. Her skeletal, grey figure was shrivelled, seeming to taunt me with the knowledge that I’d not been a very good daughter. Her eyes had been closed, presumably by the nurse or doctor who had found her. Her hair was wiry and grey, her skin wrinkled and decorated with the shadows of her experiences. She looked in her mid-eighties but was only in her late sixties. Her pain, her fears, the nightmares had wizened her so she looked like an old witch. Her fear had finally killed her. I would go that way too. It was selfish, but all I could think was ‘please don’t kill me too’.


    I covered her again with the sheet and turned back to Shab who was waiting patiently for me to finish.


    “I have spoken to Dr Storer and he believes there will be no need for an inquest,” she informed me, “unless you feel–”


    “No, no. That’s okay,” I said, “I...It’s ok. Can I use a ladies room please? I need to, er, freshen up. I mean–”


    “I understand,” Shab replied. We left the room together and she escorted me along another corridor to the visitor’s facilities.


    I looked in the mirror in the toilets and splashed my face with water. My eyes looked red and sore and I looked white as a ghost. The only colour on me was my mahogany hair that rested on my shoulders. I was so tired. I took a steadying breath. 


    I didn’t need an inquest to know what Mom had died of. I could still smell the urine that told me she had pissed herself in the throes of death. I could still smell the fear.


    The nightmares had won.


     


    X


     


    It rained the day of Mom’s funeral. Of course it did. It’s Britain for God’s sake. We finished the Church service at Corpus Christi’s then took her to the joint plot in Witton, where Dad was buried, our feet sodden by the mushy grass.


    Then everyone came back to our place in Acocks Green. My brother Steve helped serve drinks whilst my darling Chris thanked everyone for coming, the flowers and everything else, whilst I was numb. I couldn’t wait for them all to go. 


    Finally Chris and I could take a second to breathe in the kitchen away from everyone whilst Steve entertained them with his tall tales. 


    I stood at the marble counter, trying to just breathe, to exhale and to close my eyes. 


    “C’mere Missy.”


    Chris, a blanket of calm serenity and warmth washed over and through me, standing behind me and wrapping his arms around my waist. He kissed the back of my head and it was enough. He was my anchor, my port in a storm. I turned round to let him envelope me and his lips met mine, his kiss tasting of salty tears. His lips stilled the grief for just a second or two.


    “I’m sorry to interrupt...” said a voice, though interrupt us it did.


    I broke away from the embrace as a man I thought I vaguely recognised walked into the kitchen and took off his hat, a Granddad cap. Chris had started to fix us both a drink, Isle of Jura on the rocks.


    The man was a bit young to be wearing one, in his fifties I think. He looked around my age, late thirties. Under the cap he had red-blonde hair cut close and his eyes were twinkly and blue. His accent had a vague Irish lilt to it, as though Birmingham got somehow crossed with Dublin. I’d worked a few bars in my time and his accent felt real.


    “That’s okay,” I answered, “do you need a drink?”


    “No, no thank you,” he said, “but have ya got a minute? It’s something important I need ta talk ta ya about otherwise I wouldn’t bother today of all days.”


    “I’m sorry, it is a bad time,” I said, shaking my head.


    “Mrs Monk, I’m sorry ta disturb ya, I really am. But it’s about your Mam. Me name’s Albert Devaney. I work at Breaside. She asked me to come ta ya if ever, ya know, if ever anything happened ta her. Can we chat in private?” 


    My heart stopped, a chill prickling up my spine, the hairs on the back of my neck rising. 


    “You’d better sit down,” I said, nodding towards one of the kitchen chairs, closing the door to ensure our privacy.


    Albert took a seat and I made him an Isle of Jura figuring it didn’t matter where the whisky came from. If he was part Irish, he’d like it. Besides, I desperately needed my own that Chris had fixed me earlier.


    I breathed a big stressed sigh and asked Chris to join Steve and help entertain the black garbed crowd in the lounge while I talked to Albert. Chris kissed me on the cheek gently, as he let he kitchen.


    Albert breathed a sigh of relief himself then took a plain white carrier bag out from under his coat and put it on the table. It had something apparently heavy in it.


    “Ya Mam trusted me,” he said, “and I liked her. When she wasn’t on one of her funnies she was a blast. A right old laff.”


    “Go on.”


    “She gave me something. Something for ya ta keep. She was paranoid what with the schizophrenia and the dreams. She told me ta take something and not let Dr Storer keep them.”


    “What dreams? And what did she give you?” I demanded, impatient.


    “Diaries,” he answered, pulling out two from what I could see were a number of books. They were a paisley diary and a worn out brown paper covered book.


    He handed them to me. The older of the books smelt rank with age, musty and decayed. The second book, the paisley one, was obviously newer but still had the odour of the years to it.


    I indicated Albert’s drink to him then took a healthy swig of the amber liquid swirling in my glass, which was warm and wonderfully peaty and rich as it slid down my throat. I really had needed it.


    Albert stayed silent as I opened the front cover of the older book and peered at the first page. The brown paper diary had a barely legible scribble on the first page:


     


    Journal of Events: Mary Margaret Jukes 


    2nd March to 2nd April 1925


     


    What the hell? It was Nan. Jukes was her maiden name before she’d married Henry Wilcox, my Granddad.


    What was this guy from Breaside doing with Nan’s diary and why for that matter had Mom given it to him and not me?


    He seemed to read my thoughts and nodded briefly.


    “Take a look at the other one,” he said.


    I closed the brown diary and opened the paisley one.


     


    Patricia Yeoman’s Diary


    Feb to April 1965


     


    I slammed the diary shut and glared up at him.


    “Is this some kind of a joke?!”


    “No, I swear,” he said, leaning over and grasping my free hand. “Listen. She asked me ta tell ya. The diaries I kept hidden for her the last year or so. I saw no harm in it. It’s the nightmares. The diaries are all about the nightmares. I tell ya, it spooked da shit outta me when I read them. She wanted you to have them when she was gone. So you could fight those dreams, she said, so you could fight what’s in the dreams.”


    Albert had so far only shown me one of the diaries.


    I took a shuddering breath and sat silent for about thirty seconds, breathing in and out slowly, my fingers lightly dancing across the cover of Nan’s diary. Nan died before I was born. She’d spent the majority of her adult life in Breaside, where Mom had died. Nan had died in 1965, the year Mom’s diary seemed to have started. Mom had been committed there sometime in her thirties I think. Like Mother, like daughter! 


    I was only sixteen when I first went there to visit Mom, back in the 80s. 


    I knew about the nightmares of course, from Mom and from having them myself, but I had no clue about Nan.


    I raised my gaze to meet Albert’s piercing stare. “So,” I said, a bit shakily, “I take it you’ve read these. Otherwise why would you know about the nightmares?”


    “I did”, he answered honestly, “but only after ya Mam said I could. And she told me enough about them. I’ll leave ya now,” he said, getting up out of his chair and grabbing his cap. “She said you’re ta read them. That they might help before ya end up where she is now, God rest her soul.”


    “Thank you,” I said, shaking his hand briefly and seeing him out through the crowd of family and friends still mingling quietly in our lounge. When would they ever go? 


    I glanced across the room of chatting family and Chris caught my gaze following me into the kitchen. 


    He sat at the table and took a sip of his own Isle of Jura, hardly noticing that the ice had melted.


    And then I told him everything.


    Weeping, I lay my head on his comforting shoulder, breathing in the familiar scent of him. 


    As I told him about the diaries, I could almost feel their slimy, dark tentacles touching my cheek in the quiet room that was starting to darken as the evening drew on.


     


    X


     


    The last of the mourners finally left and I got myself comfortable in Chris’s study upstairs to read the diaries in private. Chris called it his study but in actual fact it was more like a Geektastic paradise of memorabilia; a dark room with each wall decorated floor to ceiling in books, comics and collection figures from a whole host of films such as Hellraiser and Star Wars and the like. The only spare wall boasted his desk and his PC where he did an online blog of his photography. It was where he went to relax and be creative. It was perfect for me now.


    Chris brought me another Jura, kissed me on the forehead and left me to it.


    I opened the oldest of Nan’s diaries first, the one dated 2nd March to 2nd April 1925 and started to read:


     


    2nd March 1925


    If this diary reaches you, then I am most surely dead. I write this to help my family understand what plagues me in the hope that it shall not afflict anyone else. 


    I do not know where to start. I shall start with the dreams I suppose. They started two nights ago, 28th February. It was the end of the month and Father generally requires assistance with his accounts. It is a task I enjoy, for I get to spend time with Father, who is always so busy.


    The task kept us occupied most of the day, so I went to my bed quite early that night. It must have been no later than 9pm. I read a little Austen before drifting off to sleep. After a day of mathematics I required literature to ease my sore head and relax into my slumber.


    The next thing I knew I was suddenly awake, my heart beating faster than lightening, jumping almost from my breast which was drenched with perspiration from an unnameable, hazy fear of which I could not remember. 


    The nightmare, for a nightmare it was, had evaporated like quick sand. All I had left was a palpable fear and the suspicion that the nightmare had been horrific.


    I attempted to sleep again but the fear still gripped me so I read until dawn and then rose for breakfast.


    The next day passed swiftly with an enjoyable visit from Cousin Emily.


    I was really quite tired by the time Emily left so I again departed for bed at an unseasonably early hour in the hope of recovering from the previous night’s lack of sleep.


    Again I read a little Austen to ease me into sleep.


    It seemed like mere moments later I was awoken, covered in a sheen of sweat, my heart galloping away like a bolted horse. I am even sure that I let out a stifled scream as I awoke.


    I took a sip of the water I always kept close by and switched on the light by my bedside.


    This time I remembered something of my nightmare.


    I found myself lost in the strangest of places, a city of some sort. However, it was not of this earth of that I am sure.


    A myriad of outlandish buildings rose miles and miles into the sky, the oddest shapes and angles made of some stone I did not recognise from the semi-precious stones I know of. I had taken a passing interest in geology as part of my studies. These buildings, of which there were enough to compose a city, stretched up and up, twisting and turning, coated in a putrid black-green slime, such as of rancid moss. These gigantic monoliths, all reaching to a murky red sky, dripped with nauseating, greenish ooze. And the smell. I could remember a smell so foul I was nauseated again. It was as though a thousand hunts had taken place in this city leaving behind the slaughtered, bloodied remains of animal carcases, pungent and stale. It was the stench of death.


     


    3rd March 1925


    Try as I might, I have been unable to leave the dreams of last night behind me, of that foul gargantuan and foreign city. Yet my mood remained sour today. I have been quite out of sorts, arguing with Mother and unable to focus on any one task. 


    If possible, last night’s dream was worse than the night before, even though my dreams depicted this very same Cyclopean city.


     


    12th March 1925


    I have been far too exhausted these last few days to write in my journal. But today I have decided to write down a retrospective account of the nightmares that continue to plague me.


    I continue to dream about that city, but it is far far worse. I now dream of the creatures that reside there.


    There was a trap door, built into the foremost building. Its walls were inscribed with vague hieroglyphics. The door began to open of its own accord. The heavy, massive door as long as ten men lying end to 


    Then I saw the creature. Oh Lord in Heaven please please, remove such sights from my mind and memories.


    The thing, the heinous thing, was a monstrous hybrid of real and mythical animals; a colossal winged beast, though its wings were puny compared to the scale of its bulk. Its hide was the same foul black-green of the buildings in the city of my nightmares. Writhing tentacles sprouted from its head, dancing out to touch my skin. I could feel their ghastly texture as the mountainous febrile appendages caressed my cheek, squirming, oozing a blackish slime. As one tentacle inserted itself into my mouth I screamed and woke, free at last from the feverish nightmare.


    But only free for one night it seems.


    Every night since I have seen, smelt and been touched by that foulest of creatures haunting my sleep.


     


    17th March 1925


    It touches me, playing with my hair, stroking my cheek. Every night. Spawn of Hell. Should I call a priest I wonder? Or a doctor? It knows where I live. It knows how to find me. And I’m sure it wants to destroy me. Perhaps, like some cannibal it wants to eat me. I fear before long I may find out.


     


    20th March 1925


    Everything I look at oozes green. Even awake I only seem to see the green now, the blackish-green of the creature who invades my nights. I fear – I fear I am losing my grip on reality. I should not like to be locked away like Jane Eyre’s madwoman in the attic. If I pretend that all is well, Mother and Father may not suspect. Though they do look at me quite strangely now. 


     


    24th March 1925


    It visited me again last night. It


     


    25th March 1925


    I see its scaly body, its membranous wings. I can hear those wings flutter loudly like a symphony of birds. Tweet tweet. Ha ha. It’s not like a bird at all you know. It’s a monster, a vile creature from the darkest of stars of a denizen of hell. I can hear the wild chanting in the background, a chorus of worshippers. I know its name now. It is Cthulhu. 


    The words. The words they chant sound like joy, “Cthulhu fhtagh, Cthulhu fhtagh.”


    I sang those words with the worshippers in my head.


     


    31st March 1925 


    Father called the doctor out to see me today. 


    And I told him about my god Cthulhu. I told him how I dreamt of its return.


    And I laughed at him.


     


    X


     


    I snapped the diary shut at the last entry. 


    I looked at my watch. I’d been reading for hours. The diaries had gone on and on like that, getting progressively worse until the last entry way into her incarceration. I might as well write that one down. It’s freaking weird, but, I don’t know.


     


    31st January 1965 


    The doctors and nurses here all want to kill me. I can hear them whispering through the walls. They want to destroy me. And I know it for sure now, after last night. They think they’ve found all of my journals but they haven’t. I hid them. I gave them to Albert. I don’t trust Henry anymore. He’ll give them to Patricia to look after. She’ll keep them safe.


    Last night the pain was horrific.


    The nurse came in, the little Caribbean one. She came in with two of the orderlies. 


    Before I could stop them they pinned me down, they put me in the jacket.


    I screamed and screamed but no one would help me.


    Then he came in, with his wild brown hair, his spectacles, his ruddy face and his sparkling eyes. Henry and Patricia don’t believe me when I tell them that he’s evil. I can see it in their eyes. But they’ll believe me now, that is, if they ever let me see them again.


    Albert believes me though. Nice boy.


    I can’t tell my family what he did to me. They made sure of it.


    Doctor, doctor – I can’t remember his name any more, he came up to me and smiled.


    “You have to stop telling your stories,” he said, “You’ve been very naughty.”


    I snorted, I couldn’t help it. Stupid of me. I know that now.


    The doctor nodded at the two big men in their white jackets.


    One of them held me from behind.


    The doctor came forward.


    He smiled again, then took something shiny and silver from his pocket and moved toward me.


    I started to fight and tried to squirm backwards but it was no good.


    The nurse grabbed my chin.


    I finally saw what the shiny thing was; a pair of hedge clippers, its claws looked just like the talons of a tiger, metallic, sharp and ready to attack.


    Nurse started to squeeze my cheeks inward until my tongue popped out of my mouth and my eyes flew open in a wide stare as I realised what was happening.


    Leaning in, doctor clasped my tongue in the clippers and cut half my tongue off in one fell swoop, the end of my tongue dropping to the floor, like a dead slug.


    I gagged, vomiting and choking on my own blood as it bubbled up from my mouth and spewed out on the floor.


    I think I must have fainted from the unbearable pain.


    When I woke up I could smell the acrid stench of burning flesh.


    That was when I realised he’d cauterised the wound. I wasn’t wearing the jacket anymore and the room was empty. But they didn’t find this journal. 


    This will be my last entry in my last journal.


    I know it won’t be long now.


    Albert will help me.


    He’ll give them to Patricia when the time is right.


     


    X


     


    Jesus Christ, Nan was nuts! No wonder she’d ended up in an asylum. That’s what they called them back then, asylums. The nightmares had made her insane. And God, could I relate? They’d done the same to Mom and Christ, what if they did the same to me? And why had we shared the same dream, or at least, why did we appear to share the same dream? And while I was at it, how old did that make Albert exactly? He had to be older than he looked by at least ten years.


    Nan’s description of the city and the monsters that lived in it could’ve been my own. Though mine was a little bit more like something out of Hellboy meets War of the Worlds. 


    Albert had told me I needed to read the diaries, to understand, to save myself. Looked like it was my sanity I needed to save. I couldn’t tell Chris about what was in Nan’s diary, not yet. Not until I had a clue what the hell I was going to do. It wasn’t as though I could call Buffy the Vampire/’Freaky Green Monster’ Slayer to come and help me.


    Oh Hell. 


    Taking a deep shuddering breath I stood up from the desk, cricking my neck. It bloody hurt like hell. I so needed another whisky.


    I headed downstairs to the kitchen for a breather and a good slug of the amber nectar. We weren’t massive drinkers, me and Chris, but we did like a drink after work. My job was at the mobile library and was pretty cool, reading and buying and promoting books for a living, but Chris’s job was really stressful, working in a local government office for crap pay.


    A couple of shots later and I felt brave enough to go back upstairs and tackle Mom’s diary next. 


     


    Patricia Yeoman’s Diary


    Feb to April 1965


     


    28th February 1965


    The loss is an ache so deep inside I can’t breathe. My Mom is dead. The doctor said it was, well, he said she – Somehow she got hold of a knife. She’d been getting worse. They’ve diagnosed her with dementia praecox.


    Apparently she’d refused to see me and Dad anymore. At least that’s what Doctor Storer told us. He’s a strange chap with wildish brown hair with a hint of salt and pepper grey. They won’t let me or Dad see her – the body. Doctor Storer said, well, he said she looks too awful and it will be disturbing for us to see her that way.


    I think that’s why I’ve started to have the nightmares. 


     


    3rd March 1965


    My dreams started with visions of a strange city, its walls, its strange, abstract buildings, like twisted skyscrapers reaching up into a dark red sky. The buildings are a phenomenal height in my dreams, towering above me. But the colour of them, I can’t describe it. It’s a green so dark it’s almost black. I think they call it British Racing Green. Yes, I’m right. Michael would know at least. But the material the buildings are made from is incredibly unusual, a mineral of some sort not quite granite. But on the exterior is an oily, greasy substance like putrid lime jelly turned almost black with mould.


     


    9th March 1965


    My strange city has occupants now, and they scare me so very much. 


    They are grotesque creatures at least a mile in height, like something from a drug induced fever. Their skins are leathery, the same putrescent colour as the skyscrapers, octopus tentacles attached to their heads, and an octopus’s beak with a snake’’ forked tongue that flicks out. The tongue is a dark deep blood red. 


    When the creatures move they stalk with a horrible slurping sound and it sends shudders down my spine.


    And the stench of them – an ungodly stench of rot and ruin, like a charnel house, an abattoir.


    I don’t think I can take the dreams for much longer.


    I need to tell Michael.


    I watched Mom die piece by piece in that insane asylum.


    It won’t happen to me.


     


    X


     


    With every entry I read my heart was beating ten to the dozen. It was scaring the crap out of me. Nan and Mom’s dreams were almost identical. From the description of the city to the vile creatures, all the same. And all the same as my dreams too.


    And the worst thing of all was the name – Cthulhu. The same name I dreamt of every night.


    Before I could stop myself I felt dizzy, then sick, throwing up in the wastepaper basket in Chris’s study.


    I needed sleep and proper rest if that was at all possible.


    Tomorrow I would deal with it all.


    Just as I snapped Mom’s last diary shut, a slip of paper fell out of it onto the floor.


    I leaned over and retrieved it taking a look thinking it might be a missed page.


    It wasn’t. It was Albert’s phone number and a briefly scrawled message of ‘Call me’.


     


    X


     


    Chris had gone to work by the time I woke up. For once I hadn’t dreamed, or maybe I just hadn’t remembered them. I glanced at the bedside clock and winced. It was after 11am. My mouth felt like dry rot and my head was pounding, one of those blinding headaches that seem to pierce just the side of the temple and the left eye. It could’ve been the whisky, but I doubted it. It was more likely the stress of yesterday’s funeral, my grief and my night of reading endless diaries. Chris, bless him, had left a pint of squash on my bedside cabinet and I took a long swig before attempting to get out of bed. A hot soothing shower and a piece of toast with two cups of coffee later and I felt almost human. I dressed in jeans and a black top still feeling immensely funereal and sat down at the kitchen table with the diaries, my mobile phone and the scrap of paper. The whole thing was insane, of course it was, but I didn’t see any other option. I had to phone Albert Devaney.


    “Aah ya called,” he said on answering, before I’d said hello.


    “How did you know it was me?” I asked, vaguely wondering if he was a psychic or something.


    “You’re the only one I gave me number ta who I don’t already know.”


    “Oh, okay, fair enough. Look, I think we need to talk. Is there any way you can get over here?”


    “I have a better idea,” he answered. “Meet me in the café on the main Bristol Road by Breaside. It does a nice cuppa and we can talk in private there. Besides, I’m guessing ya may want ta be talking ta some of da staff there.”


    “You’re guessing right,” I said.


    “Great. Say two o’clock. Is that time enough for ya?”


    “Yep, see you there.”


    I hung up the phone, grabbed my black leather jacket, car keys and set off.


    Traffic wasn’t too bad as the kids were still at school so it took me about thirty minutes to get there. I parked at the hospital. The café wasn’t hard to find from there. It was one of those roadside builders’ cafés, with plastic chequered table cloths in red and white over basic Formica tables, and a blackboard declaring specials that boasted a great ‘Full English’ and cheap frothy coffee in large white mugs. It reminded me of where we used to go to as hard up students at college.


    Albert was seated in the one red booth at the back for privacy.


    I grabbed the seat opposite him and ordered one of those frothy coffees to keep my hands busy.


    “So,” I started, “exactly how old are you?”


    Albert laughed and it was so infectious I had to laugh with him.


    “Seriously, I’ve read the diaries. Nan’s diary says you were a boy back in ‘65 but you couldn’t have been that young to be working in a looney bin.”


    “Psychiatric Unit if ya don’t mind,” he answered. 


    “Soz. Breaside, then.”


    “Well,” he said, taking his own sweet time, “put it this way. I’m older than I look.”


    “Fair enough. Now for the important question. What happened to Mom? Do you know? Is any of this real?”


    “Whoa whoa.” Albert held his hand up to slow me down. I had a million and one questions after reading the diaries. But most of all, I needed to know what happened to her and if it was happening to me too.


    We talked for an hour or so, then Albert came up with the winning suggestion.


    He would escort me back into Breaside.


    I wanted to look around, take a look in Mom’s room.


    I wanted to talk to Doctor Storer.


    If I hadn’t already buried her, I’d have been opening her mouth to see if she still had a tongue.


     


    X


     


    Discreetly, we walked through those same miserable pea green corridors I had walked through just over a week ago when I’d first got the call that Mom had passed away. Just like before, the building felt wrong to me, smelt wrong to me.


    I was scared to death that we would be caught snooping around, but Albert didn’t seem to worry, after all, he worked there so wouldn’t look out of place.


    We started mooching in what used to be Mom’s room, but it had been cleaned top to bottom, maybe too clean.


    Next, we went to Storer’s office. Albert assured me Storer was in a meeting but it didn’t stop me from glancing at the door every time I heard someone walk past. 


    I started by jimmying open his desk drawer. All that turned up was a prescription pad, a couple of pens, a desk diary and some sweets.


    Next I went for the old gunmetal filing cabinet against the side wall by the window. I’ve had some interesting pastimes so picking the lock wasn’t too difficult. At last after looking through each drawer I came to the fourth one down and found the manila file for ‘Patricia Yeomans’. Logical really. You would think alphabetical order would’ve occurred to me, but I was so bloody nervous.


    Pulling out the file I closed the filing cabinet and it relocked automatically.


    I sat at Storer’s large teak desk and opened the file.


    It contained the usual medical stuff: illegible doctors’ scrawl, medication notes and dosage instructions, a photo of Mom, next of kin details, that being me. Nothing to write home about – at first.


    Then something that caught my eye made me gasp.


    Albert dashed over to see what was up and joined me in looking through the file. 


    Halfway through the notes was a sketch and one sentence underneath it.


    In his house at R’yleh, dead Cthulhu waits dreaming.


    It was the sketch that caught my breath in my throat and sent my heart to hammering.


    A winged creature sketched in pencil, writhing tentacles attached to a squid-like head, talons on its feet, a scaly hide. 


    Though the sketch was done in crude black pencil, I knew what it was.


    Cthulhu.


    I squealed and dropped the folder on the desk as the door opened and in walked Doctor Storer with Sister Shabnam Khadim.


    I expected a reaction but Storer didn’t seem in the least surprised. He raised his eyebrow with a wry expression and shut the door behind him, locking us all in.


    “I’m disappointed in you, Albert,” he said.


    Albert kept silent.


    Storer and Shab walked forward until they were standing directly opposite us on the other side of the desk, which I was now using as a barrier.


    “And you, Mrs Monk, glad you could finally make it,” he said, and his smile was cold, sending tingles of fear down my spine.


    “I visit here all the time,” I blurted, confused.


    “That’s not what I meant,” he said “I’ve been waiting a long time for one of you to wake up and see what’s happening here. I hoped it would be Mary. Then I hoped it would be Patricia, but I think it might be you. You are the last of your line, after all.”


    Again he smiled and it was the most horrific thing I’d ever seen, a passionate rictus grin, his eyes ablaze with adoration. 


    No, it was with insanity, with the fervour of the religious fanatic.


    I could hear my heart thudding in my chest and my skin felt clammy.


    And Albert just stood there staring at Storer.


    “What the fuck are you on about?!” I finally screeched, backing up against the window.


    “Cthulhu,” he whispered with that awful grin plastered on his face. “Cthulhu.”


    He moved forward a step and started to walk around the desk.


    Albert didn’t stop him.


    I glanced at Albert and that’s when I saw him smile, that same fevered smile.


    And suddenly I knew.


    “Welcome home,” Storer said, and I started to scream. “You’re the first one to remember who you really are.”


    I started to shake my head, moaning. I could my own keening wail and I was scared, because I knew.


    I knew who I was.


    I’d heard the call of home.


    I was Cthulhu.
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    Emma Bunn


     


    I sit here in the study of the house left to me in my father’s will, as my father and his father before him have done over the years, stretching back for generations. I am writing this down more for my piece of mind. God help me and my family if anyone ever happens to stumble across these papers. Maybe reading it back to myself in black and white will make it all seem more real or I will be able to make sense of the extraordinary events that have happened to me.


    I knew there was supposedly a curse upon the first born males on my father’s side, but you do not believe in these things. A curse? How barbaric. That’s very fairy tale, how twee, how whimsical. Oh did I laugh. A curse you say? Not a good old fashioned curse? 


    “Shh,” I was told, “don’t laugh, don’t even talk about it.” So I didn’t. It was swept under the carpet by my father’s family, but like most things you try to hide under the carpet; it left a bump on the floor we had to walk around. Every time I tried to ask a question about it, as a young teenager, everybody looked at me like I had uttered the worst swear word imaginable; then they pretended not to hear me. 


    When I was 18, I had had enough of tip toeing around this thing like a dead body lying in the middle of the hallway. It was like the “don’t think of the elephant” game that we teased each other with at school. I left home. I packed a bag with essentials and decided to travel the world, and after a tearful conversation with my mother, she secured me an allowance to enable me to leave. I sent my family the odd postcard and even wrote them a full letter them once in a while. But never did I return back here. Then whilst on my travels in China I received a wire telling me that my mother was ill.


    Foolishly, I ignored that missive but when the next one came saying that she had taken for a turn for the worse, I hurried home. The telegram telling me that Mother had died found me with the family’s agent in London. Setting the wires on fire we arranged that I should return in time for the funeral. However bad weather, worse roads and two broken axles meant I arrived, feeling cursed, just in time to pay my respects. My elder sister by five years, Louise, now was married and had two daughters. There was no curse here for her to worry about. My father looked smaller than he did when I left. He was always such a statuesque man, standing tall and proud. Perhaps it was because I too had grown, in size as well as experience.


    He nodded to me beside the grave; it made me feel like an outsider and an acquaintance. Not his only son and heir. My nieces clung to their mother’s skirts when introduced to me after the funeral had ended, their big, brown eyes full of fear.


    “This is your Uncle James,” she gently told them. “He’s the one who sends us all the postcards from around the world.”


    “Hello,” I said to the taller of the two, who I thought to be Ellen; as far as I could remember she was six or maybe seven. It had been such a long time. She blinked back at me from behind long lashes.


    “Say hello to your Uncle James. See, I told you he was real,” Louise coaxed the child whilst looking at me accusingly.


    The smaller girl, Elizabeth, named after my mother, took a step forward. “Hello,” she said shyly.


    I smiled at her and a small smile twitched the corners of her mouth. 


    Louise’s husband Robert came striding over to where we stood and shook my hand forcefully. “James old chap,” he barked, probably a little louder than he should considering the circumstances. I had only met him once or twice at the start of their courtship and thought him to be a weak man and a bit of toadying kind. But the fact he adored my sister and was a good husband was clear to see. 


    “How goes the travel?” he asked me in a far too jovial way for a funeral.


    “It goes well, I’ve settled for a short while in China,” I told him


    “Good, good,” was his answer, already losing interest in me.


    My father shuffled over to join us too. He shuffled. This man who could instil the fear of God into most men when I was a child, shuffled. What you need to know about him is that he is what they call a “self-made” man. Apart from the house which had stayed in our family for years, everything he owned he had earned himself. He was always telling us how everybody should work for their living and never rely on the fortunes of others. This is probably why he liked Robert so much; he always said yes to everything my father said and was happy to work in his factory. Not like his disappointment of a son who decided to go off on some jolly around the world rather than stay and work for the family business. 


    Anyway, I digress. We returned to the family home where my sister had laid out some sandwiches and small cakes. There was sherry or tea to drink. The children were allowed to sit at the table in the kitchen with their milk so not to get under the adults’ feet. I recognised a couple of aunts and a few family friends whose names escaped me. 


    I knew I would have to stay here for the night, in my childhood home. So while my family were busy I slipped away and decided to go and unpack my bag in my old bedroom. As the house was all situated on one ground floor I only needed to walk along the hallway that ran the length of the house.


    It was with some trepidation that I took hold of the handle to my bedroom. I told myself to stop being silly and pushed the door open. My room remained unchanged. It was exactly how I left it. It smelt musty and unused. I pulled back the curtains and threw open the window to let in some air; even though it was March, the sun had been shinning. It was just starting to get dark out and I could have sworn out of the corner of my eye I saw someone in the garden, but when I looked again, whoever it was had gone. I rubbed my eyes and put it down to tiredness and the upheaval of being back in Scotland. Maybe it was the children outside playing. I turned and faced my old room. Everything was the same: the models I had made still sat upon the shelf proudly, though covered in dust. My books were still in order in the bookcase and the same eiderdown was upon my single bed. But I suddenly realised something wasn’t quite right, I couldn’t put my finger on it. It was like when you recognise somebody but can’t quite remember their name. I was about to start having a look when my sister called me from elsewhere in the house. 


    I walked along the hallway, as I had done many times before and found my sister standing at the other end.


    “James,” Louise said, looking a little flushed, “there is someone Father would like you to see.”


    I followed her into the drawing room to find my father and another man I slightly recognised from my childhood. He was very tall, I would have guessed at a little over six feet, with dark, swarthy skin and his eyes almost seemed black. He was smartly dressed, wearing a long smart but tatty coat that had seen better days. He walked over and extended his hand to me. I took it in mine and shook it firmly; his hand was cold and clammy.


    “James,” he said in a deep and quiet voice. He had an accent I could not place. “I don’t know if you remember me, my name is Simon Abnett. I am your family’s solicitor.”


    My father looked pleased about this and spoke the first full sentence he had spoken to me since my arrival.


    “You remember Mr Abnett, James. He’s a good friend of mine and often dined with us when you were a child.”


    I was never allowed to dine with my parents when I was a child if they had guests, but I let this gap in his memory slip. From the corner of my eye, I noticed my sister leave the room; she gently shut the door behind her.


    “Yes, Father,” I replied thinking it was easier to agree. “I do remember him”


    Mr Abnett took a step towards me and seemed to grow taller by another couple of inches. 


    “Your father has asked me here today to talk to you about his will.”


    “Were you at my mother’s funeral, Mr Abnett?” I asked him


    The man looked embarrassed at this question and stumbled with his answer. “I, um, was unable to attend, much to my disgrace.”


    I thought this odd, as he was supposedly such a good family friend, but I let that go, too. 


    My father clapped his hands together; a curious thing to do considering my mother’s wake was still winding down in the room next door.


    “Enough of this chit chat!” he exclaimed. “To business. I have asked Mr Abnett here today so we can sort out the fact that when I die too, this house will be yours “


    “And what if I don’t want it?” I asked him. He sat back into the chair behind him, looking aghast.


    “But it’s our family home; it is always passed on to the first born son. It is tradition.” my father responded. “It is yours, as it was mine and my father’s and his father’s before him.”


    “But Father, I don’t live in Scotland any more. My home for the moment is in China.” I could hear the pleading tone in my voice and was disgusted with myself. I felt like a child again.


    “I’m afraid James,” Mr Abnett interrupted, “that the will has been written in accordance with your father’s wishes.” He looked pleased with himself for taking the opportunity to come to my father’s defence, just as he stood up once more and moved to the solicitor’s side. 


    “James, you knew from an early age that this house would come to you upon my death.”


    I looked at them both and asked the question that was on the tip of my tongue. “What about the curse?”


    My father blanched and looked once again unsteady on his feet. Mr Abnett sensed this and took his elbow.


    “That is not to be mentioned in this house,” my father whispered.


    “Why?” I became quite angry and could hear my voice getting louder. “Why, Father? I know there is supposed to be one, so why can’t I know about it? Especially if it actually concerns me.” My fists were clenched at my sides. I tried to relax my hands. 


    Mr Abnett walked to the sideboard and poured three brandies, passing one to each of us. He turned to pick up his glass but stayed with his back to the room.


    “The curse, young James, is just a story. It was made up to prevent the men folk of this family selling this house. Your great, great grandfather wanted it to stay in the family so created a story to ensure this never happened.”


    “So why all this secrecy? Why didn’t somebody just tell me it was false when I found out about the curse in my youth?”


    “It wasn’t that easy,” Mr Abnett retorted. “It has always been easier to just go along with it rather than tell the truth,” His back was still towards me.


    I looked at my last parent for confirmation, but his eyes were cast downward. “Father?”


    He did not look up; he remained motionless for a moment. He suddenly seemed like a small, broken old man, not the person who had installed unease into the hearts of his workers when I was a child. I walked the short distance over to him and knelt in front of him. For the first time in a very long time, I took his hands in mine. I looked into his face to see his eyes were full of tears. “Father?” I whispered.


    He couldn’t meet my eyes. “Yes son, it’s the truth.” 


    I stood up and turned to face Mr Abnett. He had been watching the exchange between myself and my father. I couldn’t read his face, but it looked like relief.


    “So, whether I want it or not, this house is mine?” I indicated with my hands at the house around me. Mr Abnett gave a slight nod.


    Frustrated with the lack of answers, I left the room.


    I helped my sister see the rest of the guests out and say goodbye to her husband as he had to return to their home. Then along with the housekeeper, Mrs King, we cleared away the plates and other such things. This is not something I would usually have done here, but I am now used to looking after myself and needed to keep my mind off the day’s revelations.


    By the time the place was tidy and the housekeeper had shooed me off. I was feeling tired, he emotional drain of the day’s events had finally caught up with me. I said goodnight to my despondent father and I went to my room to sleep, even though it was still only just before 9 o’clock.


    When I walked over to the window to shut the curtains, my room was still in darkness as I had yet to light the lamp by my bed. I pressed my face against the cold glass and my warm breath fogged it over. I wiped it off with my sleeve, just in time to catch a movement in the garden. It was a figure. I was sure of it this time. 


    I hurried out of my room and back down the hallway. I grabbed my coat from the hook on the wall as I sprinted towards the door and then out into the garden. 


    Whilst I put my coat on to protect myself from the chill of the night I walked in the direction where I thought I had seen the figure. When I got there I started looking upon the ground, but my search revealed nothing but some flattened grass. I glanced around this part of the garden and decided to have a walk around. 


    As I was checking around under the bushes and flower beds I heard the door open and saw the silhouette of Mrs King standing there. She said nothing, but continued as a silent observer.


    The only thing I noticed amiss was that the side gate was unlatched. But of my mysterious onlooker there was no sign.


    I trudged back to the house and Mrs King stood aside to let me pass.


    “A bit cold to be out in the garden, Master James,” she said in her Scottish accent. “Did you find what it was you were looking for?”


    “No Mrs King, I’m afraid not,” I replied brusquely. I was in no mood to offer explanations of my antics.


    Mrs King seemed to sense this and pressed me no further. I went through to the sitting room and poured myself a large brandy, more out of annoyance than for fright. I stood there in my coat and drank it in two mouthfuls, feeling its warmth travel down into my stomach. 


    The house seemed very silent, I guessed that apart from myself and Mrs King everybody else had retired for the night, feeling tired after the long day.


    I shrugged off my coat and laid it over the back of a chair. I took in the room around me. This was a curiously shaped house, sitting all by itself by the side of a Loch. I was never sure of its origins, just that it had been passed down. What would I do with it once it was mine? Maybe I could leave Mrs King to look after it and return to China? I could just use it for my holidays. But she was getting on now, having been the housekeeper as far back as I could remember. Even though there was no upstairs it would make a delightful family home, with its acres of large gardens surrounding it and many rooms. Maybe Louise would like to live here; there would be plenty of room for the girls. There was even a gate house large enough for one or two people to reside in. 


    I decided to turn in for the night; I retrieved my coat from the chair so I could replace it on the hook in the hallway and left the room. 


    As I walked past the study I could hear two people talking in angry whispers. I could not make out a word that was being said but I thought it to be my sister and my father. As I came level with the door the whispering stopped and my sister burst from the room, tears streaming down her face. 


    Louise flung herself into my arms and sobbed upon my shoulder in a most undignified way, I felt most embarrassed. But she is my sister and all things aside I care greatly for her and we were close, once. I gently removed this sniffling form from my chest and looked down at her.


    “Louise!” I scolded. “Calm yourself, do tell me what has happened to bring on such an outburst” I gave her my handkerchief and she mopped at her tears. She adjusted her clothing and took a great shuddering breath. “I was just upset about Mother,” my sister replied, not quite meeting my eye.


    Father came and stood in the doorway of the room. “What has happened to upset my sister so?” I enquired. Louise still stood close to me; I could feel her trembling slightly from the tears.


    My father almost looked puzzled to see me, as if he had forgotten I was there in the house. “Well?” I implored again. He blinked a couple of times and said, “She’s just upset about your mother.” It was almost as though they had been practising what to say. 


    I held my sister firmly by the shoulders and pushed her away from me so to see her clearly. “Louise, you need to tell me what is going on here, I’ve had enough of this charade,” I pleaded. She glanced towards our father, and then said in a small whisper, “I was just upset about Mother.”


    I felt defeated. My shoulders sagged and I let go of my sister’s shoulders. “Yes, right, if that’s how you want it.” I said in a hushed tone. 


    I turned from them and went back to my room. I had almost forgotten that I had thought the room looked different when I saw it earlier until I sat on the edge of my bed in the dark. I leant over and lit the lamp beside my bed, and in the new light, I noticed on the floor some scuff marks, as though my tallboy had been moved by pushing or dragging it. The movement was only slight but it was enough to leave a small scuff visible on the wooden floor. 


    I was confused; everything in my old room was exactly the same as it was when I left it earlier that evening. The fine layer of dust on my childhood things showed nothing else had been touched. I decided to investigate. The tallboy wasn’t so big that I would not be able to move it. I braced myself and pushed with both hands.


    At first I thought it was not going to move but after a moment it slid almost easily away from the wall. I could not believe my eyes! Behind it was a door, only about three feet high and two feet across. It had no handle but the hinges were visible on one side. I ran my fingers around the edge until I gained purchase and pulled hard. It opened with a creak onto a cramped corridor. I could only see a few feet in, so I snatched up my lamp and held it aloft, illuminating the space before me. 


    I could feel a damp chill coming from the depths of this place as I ducked under the door and took a step forward. I started to make my way along the confined passage, which smelt musty and earthy. After a very short time I came to a set of steps leading downwards. I could just about see the entrance from my room behind me in the dark. A dreadful sense of foreboding overcame me and I had second thoughts about descending into the darkness below. I gave myself a talking to and told myself I was just being ridiculous. 


    I could feel the chill of the floor through the bottom of my shoes as I took the stairs down. There were not very many, about ten I would guess and they came out into another, very short passageway with a wooden door at the end of it. I walked tentatively up to the door and pressed my ear against it to hear if there was anything behind it. As far as I could tell, there was nothing moving. I clasped the cold metal of the latch in my hand and gave it a gentle tug upwards. It came undone easily. I applied my weight to the door and gave it a careful push. It opened. A waft of frosty air hit my face and felt damp on my skin.


    The room in front of me was dark. I held my lamp above my head, the flame flickering in the slight breeze that emanated from this place and I feared it may be extinguished. I could make out a sconce on the wall not far into the room with a torch on it. I lit this from my lamp and it filled a corner of the room with light. 


    This room before me was carved from stone. It was no more than twenty feet square and its domed ceiling could not have been more than seven feet at its highest point. In the centre was what appeared to be an altar. What was this dreadful place? I saw another torch on the wall further along and lit that too. The room was dimly illuminated now and I could make out strange writings upon the altar and walls. I was also aware of another door set into a small alcove opposite the door I came in. I carefully walked around the altar and over to it. I tried this door and found it to be locked, but there was scuffing on the floor which showed it had been opened inwards fairly recently. I left the door alone and did a circuit of the room. I could see more of the baffling writing on the walls and altar as my eyes adjusted more and more to the dim light.


    I went up to the altar and examined it more closely. I could see where candles had been burnt in places over and over leaving small mountains of melted wax. There was a sloped part in the centre of this stone slab which looked as if it had been made to support a book. As I went around the altar I felt something crunch underfoot. I looked down to see that there was some kind of dried plants under my shoes. I did not recognise them as any kind of plant I knew. The edges of the stone were worn, as if it had been used a lot at one time. I pulled my pocket watch from the front of my waistcoat and squinted at it in the weak light. It was gone 10 o’clock; had I really been down here all that time? 


    I was now uncertain of what to do with my new-found knowledge. Surely my father must be aware of this place?


    I decided that no matter what the time, no matter how frail he appeared to be, I had to find out now. I took one last quick look around the room and left. I latched the door behind me and returned the way I had come to my room. I did not bother to restore the tallboy to its former position but I did close the small door, as I knew that my sister’s children were in the house. Asleep at the moment, they could wake up and roam. 


    I marched along to my father’s bedroom, as I could see a soft light under the door I did not concern myself with knocking and went straight in. 


    He was propped up in bed against many white pillows; the door to my mother’s room that adjoined his was closed tight. At first I thought he was dead, until he slowly raised his head. 


    “James,” he whispered. He looked sad. “What on earth is the problem that causes you to burst into my chamber at this time of the night?”


    I took a moment to gather myself. My father beckoned me closer. I walked to the side of the bed.


    “Sit, sit,” he said and patted the bed beside him. He had never done this before. I sat on the soft eiderdown and faced him.


    “Father, I am sorry to disturb you, but I have discovered something in my bedroom.” 


    My father looked straight at me; at last his eyes seemed brighter, though afraid.


    “When I went to my bedroom tonight to sleep, I noticed that my tallboy had been moved, so I moved it too and discovered a door”


    He leaned back again on his pillows and closed his eyes. “Ah,” he sighed.


    “You know about this?” I inquired.


    He replied without opening his eyes. “Yes my son, I do. I have been waiting years for you to discover it. Your mother wanted you to be put in another room in case this should ever happen, but I did not. I knew that it was just a door put there in case of an emergency and that the tallboy should be enough to keep you safe.”


    “I went in there, I found the strange room,” I told him.


    He opened his eyes and stared at the ceiling. A deep sigh racked his body; I thought he was going to weep. “Ah, so you found our curse.” 


    “That is the curse? But I thought it was a curse like you hear in a fairy story,” I replied, puzzled by this information.


    “I know you did, James. But you are wrong. It is not a curse put upon us by some gypsy for a wrong doing. It is a curse as in a cause of misery”.


    “Please, Father,” I begged. “Share with me this curse, so that I may understand.”


    My father fumbled beside him for his water. I put the glass into his slightly shaking hand. He took a sip and a little dribbled down his chin, but he did not seem to notice. How old was my father now? I had never thought of this; I simply knew he was much older than my mother. But then I realised there was little I could tell about this man. I suddenly had an unexpected need to know everything I could about him. 


    “Your great-great-great grandfather was a greedy man,” my father began. “He wanted everything. He wanted riches and wealth. Everything we didn’t have back then. One night when he had been trying hard to make some money all that day, he was visited by a tall man. The tall man made a deal with him: ‘protect our religion and people for us and you can have the land and riches you require.’ He didn’t think twice and made the pact with the tall man. The man then told him that he would never be able to escape this pact; that his children and his children’s children would have to continue with it forever. My great-great grandfather did not find this a nuisance; he was just pleased he would get what he wanted. 


    “He was given this large piece of land by the loch and the means to build this house, but he was told he would have to build it above the shrine to protect it for all time. Even though he knew evil things and ungodly rituals happened down there, he turned a blind eye and carried on enjoying his new found life.” 


    My father stopped for a moment to catch his breath and drink from his glass. I was dumbfounded by all he had just told me. Was there really such selfish blood running through my veins? He started to talk again.


    “Your great-great-great grandfather went on to marry a girl from the village. She was pretty and cunning, and she did not see a problem with what they had to uphold to live this life. She bore him four children, of which all were sons. So it began. The house was passed down in exchange for the keeping of this secret and protection. Every so often over the years, a young woman would go missing from one of the surrounding villages and would never be heard of again. It was always around the time of a full moon. 


    “I have heard chanting from down beneath this house at these times, but have chosen to ignore it. I tried to make good by building the factory with some of the money, by employing the local people and paying them a good wage. But I carry the guilt of knowing this like a rock around my neck. I’m afraid it is what may have killed your mother. I do not think she was made to keep this awful secret.”


    I had so many questions to ask. I could not take in all that he had told me. Who was the tall man? Was he related to the tall man that I met today? I wanted to ask all these things and more, but did not want to bombard my poor father after this outpouring. He looked very tired now. 


    “Thank you for telling me, Father. I have a lot of other questions, but they can wait until the morning. I want you to rest and get some sleep”. I pulled the covers up over my father’s chest, turned and left the room.


     


    X


     


    My father died that night. He went peacefully in his sleep. Part of me believes that the relief of unburdening himself gave him the release he needed. 


     


    X


     


    That evening, I had a visitor: Mr Abnett. How he knew my father was dead, I did not know. I met with him, as before, in the drawing room.


    “James.” He rose and shook my hand. “I am so sorry to hear of the death of your father”


    I took his clammy hand in mine again and shook it. “How did you hear of my father’s death, Mr Abnett?” I enquired.


    “He hesitated for a moment, before claiming that “news travels fast in a small place”.


    I knew he that was lying to me, but I did not pursue it, I just wanted this horrible meeting to be over and this man gone from my house.


    “Whatever you say, Mr Abnett; now let us get on with this.”


    “Well, as your father told you, this house and its contents are now yours. All the paperwork has been drawn up and the deeds will be put in your name. Just has always been the way.”


    “Where are you from Mr Abnett?” I asked him


    “I am from Scotland. I have lived here all my life.” He rummaged around in his large briefcase whilst he was talking and did not look up. He withdrew a sheath of papers. “I need you to sign these please.”


    He laid out an ancient, important looking document. I could see four signatures on it with previous dates. There was a space for me to sign and beneath that another and another.


    “May I hold onto this to read it first before I sign it?” I was feeling defiant.


    He looked straight at me with those cold dark eyes. “Do you not trust your father and your grandfathers before him?” he whispered at me.


    “I just want to know what I am signing. I think I have that right,” I snapped back.


    “If your father is dead, then you should know what you are signing for.” He continued to hold me with his gaze. I felt drained and defeated, but I finally overcame the exhaustion that had been threatening me.


    “I must not,” I said.


    “Well done, Mr Fraser.” He left the papers on the table before me. “Do not take too much time for I will return this evening.”


    I became so angry at this man’s attitude that I had to hold my hands by my sides to prevent myself from striking him. 


    Mr Abnett clicked his case closed and walked to the drawing room door.


    “There is no need to see me out, Mr Fraser, I know the way only too well.” With that parting jibe he left and I heard the front door shut.


    Again I reached for the brandy; this was fast becoming a habit. But I needed to calm my nerves. My sister entered the room, her face streaked with tears.


    “Has he gone now?” she asked.


    “Yes Louise, he has. What do you know of him?” I gently pressed her.


    “He is an evil man, I never liked him and neither did Mother. But there is something you need to know.”


    “If it is about this house and the entire goings on, father told me last night. I had so many questions for him.”


    “I always knew, James. Mother told me when I was younger. I’m sorry that I never told you. But there is something that you should know. You are not the first born son.”


    I stood for a moment and absorbed this piece of information. I could not believe my ears.


    “I’m not the first born son? But how could this be? I know not of an older brother.”


    “Why do you think there is such a large gap in our ages? Why do you think it is that they only ever had the two of us? Mother had a son after me and thought after that tragedy to never have another child. But she so wanted another baby so much that she risked her health and maybe her life to have you.”


    I did not know what to do. I lowered myself into the chair and let her continue.


    “For some reason we have never found out why Mr Abnett never knew about this. Maybe it was because Mother was so ill with carrying our brother that she retired to her family in Stirling. I have vague memories of that time; Father hardly smiled at all. No one for miles around knew. Your brother was born frightfully early and only lived for a week or so. He was buried with Mother’s family and when she returned she told everybody, including Father, that he was stillborn. She only told me after you had left on your journeys.”


    I sat for a moment in silence and let this revelation sink in. “But Louise, I knew nothing of this.”


    “And that is the way Mother wanted it. But do you not see? This changes everything. You do not have to stay here in this house forever and pass it on to your sons; you are free.”


    I was aghast; the thought had never entered my mind. I was free, the curse had ended. I did not know what to do.


    I think that Louise sensed this. “Go back to China,” she told me. “I shall stay here in this house.”


    “I can’t let you do that” I said.


    “You can and you will!” Louise told me sternly.


    Bolstered somewhat by my sister’s confidence I looked forward to my later interview with Mr Abnett. He found me waiting for him in the drawing room. With familiarity that spoke of contempt, he poured out two brandies. On receiving mine, I offered him a seat. I thought I would be more comfortable if he was not lurking over me.


    “You have not signed,” he said, observing the papers he had left behind.


    “I do not think I will,” I replied.


    “Mr Fraser do you know what will happen...” he leant forward, towering over me despite the desk between us.


    “I am not the first born son,” I cut in, bluntly. Deflated, he sank back and I revealed my mother’s secret.


    “Very well, Mr Fraser,” he said after sitting in silence for some time, “but we are not quite finished with each other yet.”


    “But the curse is broken, is it not?” I replied.


    “Ha!” he barked. “While the curse may be over our vengeance is another matter entirely.”


    Shocked, I shrank back into my chair, “What, then, do you propose?”


    “I will see that your family is untouched by us on two conditions,” Mr Abnett said, flatly.


    “And they are?” I asked.


    “That you promise to obtain your family’s silence over this matter and you allow me to act as your agent in selling this house,” he demanded.


    “I will sign accordingly for those,” I replied, relieved at finding a final conclusion to my family’s curse.


    Mr Abnett, in a flurry of activity, drew up the document for me to sign then and there. With some trepidation for the next buyer, I steeled myself and signed. Before the ink was dry, he snatched the papers up and said, “Thank you, there is no need to see me out, Mr Fraser, I know the way only too well,” and left us for good. 


     


    X


     


    One year later...


     


    I am reading this back to myself sitting at my desk, in China. It seems like an age ago. My father was buried alongside my mother a few days later. Louise and I were given some time to arrange our things. We talked it over long into the night and in the end we took what we decided was the best course of action. We gave some of the money from the sale to Mrs King to set up a new home in the village, as she had been loyal to my parents and we think that she knew everything too. My sister took most of the furniture and I had a few pieces shipped over to China. 


    I sealed up the small door before I left, making sure it could no longer be seen. But even after an extensive search of all forty-seven acres of our grounds I never found where the other door in the temple came out. I decided that it was not for me to worry about when we were selling Boleskine House if it was not on our grounds. A large fence was erected around the edge of everything that was ours and a solid gate at the end of the drive, just in case. 


    We were never ever visited by Mr Abnett again. I expected every day for him to descend upon us with papers revealing that we could not get out of my forefather’s promise. But he never did. I do not think that it was until we had sorted everything out and had the house sealed for sale that I stopped waiting for his call. Yet, I still even now expect him to some extent.


    We did not expect Mr Abnett to sell the house quickly, but he did. I hope that the charming, but eccentric Mr Crowley that bought it from us will be very happy there and he never has to contend with the strange occurrences that we did.


     


    James Fraser. 1899


     


    Thanks to Michael R. Brush, the author of Mycroft and the Necromancer, for his assistance with the editing of this tale. 
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    “Ah, Mr Cope,” the old man in the wheelchair greeted me as his assistant showed me into the office. I slid my coat from my shoulders and searched for a place to shake it dry.


    Again the pale, wiry assistant stepped to my aid.


    “It is a terrible storm out there, is it not Mr Cope?” the frail old gentleman asked me as a slight cough escaped him.


    “Indeed,” I replied. “I haven’t seen one this fierce since West Virginia.”


    I paused, regretting my words the instant they had left my mouth. The withered man before me was none other than Doctor Cornelius Ettritch, a once strong and vibrant specimen until we had lost ourselves in the Monongahela Forest, West Virginia, and stumbled across a situation so horrific it had changed the lives of all those who were there; or at least those who had survived.


    Men like Doctor Ettritch who had actually been there and witnessed things first hand had other views.


    “West Virginia...” Ettritch said quietly as he stared into the fire that burned low in the hearth. I found myself hoping he would put another log into the flame as the wetness soaked through my clothes and slowly started to sink into my skin.


    The old man repeated the name of the place again and slowly turned his wheelchair toward me. I could now see how that night had affected his physical form. Where muscle, sinew and tendon had once stood prominent and strong there was now weak flesh and hanging skin. Even through his woollen jacket I could see little sign of physical form or strength, the fabric hanging limply from his shoulders.


    He coughed again as if his frail body agreed with my amateur diagnosis.


    “Doctor Ettritch,” I said and stepped forward to steal some of the hearth’s small warmth. “I came as soon as I received your request.”


    The doctor’s shaking hands reached out to clasp mine, the bones of his fingers so apparent I paused before taking them in my own. I held them lightly for fear of crushing them.


    “And I thank you for arriving so quickly, Mr Cope. I trust your journey was not too arduous?”


    I assured him it had not been, and withdrew the telegram he had sent me the previous day.


    “Doctor,” I said, holding it up in the dimming firelight. “It simply states ‘It has happened again’.”


    Ettritch’s wheelchair turned slowly as he fed one of the wheels through his wiry hand. Once he had moved away from me he waved his other hand at the fireplace.


    “Another log, Mr Cope,” he said.


    For a moment I feared I had doused the fire with the chopped wood, but soon the flames ate at the bark and the timber, and the heat and light grew.


    As did the storm outside. The windows rattled and the flames wavered as gusts found their way down the chimney.


    Again I held up the crumpled telegram for inspection.


    “You know of what I speak.” Ettritch said. “It has indeed happened again, this time on the shore of Lake Superior. Ironically, in a small town named Ashland.”


    “It’s heading east?” I failed to keep the incredulity from my voice.


    Ettritch smiled at me weakly, as if I was still one of his students.


    “On what basis did we believe that they would never leave their home in Tempest Mountain? I thought the events in West Virginia had taught you that?” he said.


    Ettritch could see the wheels turning in my mind as I analysed the information.


    “In 1921,” he said, wriggling in his seat to gain comfort. “I was part of an expedition to investigate the disappearance of seventy five people on the side of Tempest Mountain. It was an expedition that saw almost all of my party killed.


    “These happenings occurred at the Robben Mansion, a once lavish building erected by the Dutch-settling Robben family,” he continued, telling me things I should recall, but supplying it in the way an old teacher would to a student who was struggling with a hard mental equation... which – after my long journey and tiredness – was not too far removed from the truth.


    “Your friend Bill Tobin was killed along with Gregory Brunston,” I interjected, my mind recollecting facts and attempting to put them in order. “The man who had been with them asked you for your help.”


    Ettritch nodded slowly as I spoke, his eyes glittering.


    “Yes, Mr Cope,” he said, a tutor pleased with his student. “He came to Lefferts Hotel where we were all gathered to investigate the local disappearances. The man had us scouring the grounds for search of our missing colleagues, but we found absolutely no trace.”


    “Nor of the seventy five settlers a week or so before” I said.


    “Almost, Mr Cope,” he said, smiling and wagging an aged finger at me. “Only twenty five of the inhabitants had disappeared. The other fifty were strewn in bloodied parts across the ground. They were there, but only in the form of broken bones and scraps of flesh. The ramshackle settlement was wiped out, the centre of the vanishing marked with scorched earth, as if struck by lightning, leaving a large crater in its centre.”


    To mark his words, the storm flashed its light through the shuttered windows, briefly illuminating the room more than the fire could hope to. I flinched at the sight and the sound of thunder that shook the shingles above our heads.


    “What was the name of the investigator who accompanied you?” I asked, having once regained myself.


    The old man fell silent, his gaze returning to the growing flames as rain dashed against the window in thick streaks.


    “Art Munrow” he said. “A good man... a conventional man with an open mind. He spurred us on... to try and evaluate everything we found without dismissing it through science.”


    He turned his head sharply and I feared for a horrifying moment that his neck would snap under the sudden duress.


    “His face was eaten as he stood!” he said in a loud whisper. “Clean away from his skull, his body still standing at the window he patrolled! We thought he was just being overly vigilant... it happened without a sound... without anyone of us realising!”


    He coughed and his body contracted, as if he was to disappear in upon himself. I placed a hand on his shoulder but he shrugged it off.


    “Only a handful of men stayed on after Munrow’s death, once we had scoured the mansion and found nothing.”


    “What of the man who had requested your help?” I asked.


    Ettritch’s eyes narrowed as he looked into a dark corner of the room at something I could not see.


    “I cannot recall his name,” he finally said, after a sharp crack of burning wood had bought him from his reverie. “But he was a troubled soul. Blamed himself terribly for our colleague’s evanescence.”


    “He stayed on at the mansion,” I said. “But his reports were believed by few. He discovered that the Robben family had inbred through the generations with the local mongrels and became a basic, tribal community. His reports indicate a species of human almost apelike in their appearance and mannerisms, with primitive fangs. The ‘red glowing eyes’ I believe were added through careless rumour after the effect.”


    Ettritch laughed mirthlessly.


    “Do you really believe that?” he challenged me, “That legend of the ‘glowing eyes’ had taken precedent over fact and that loose lips were creating a myth? A cult? Maybe you had not seen as much as I in West Virginia?”


    My mouth hung aghast at the implication, but Ettritch held my gaze, his body ravaged but his will as strong as ever.


    “I think it is time we corroborated our tales, Mr Cope,” he said as he pulled his thin shawl tighter. “It appears that maybe we saw different things within the Monongahela Forest, down in West Virginia... or maybe we just saw things differently?”


    He fell silent, disturbing the fire with an iron poker, challenging me to tell my own side of the story.


    The small room contained only Ettritch’s desk and the wheelchair he sat in, so I would have to stand to tell my tale despite my wet clothes. I began at the beginning, trying not to let any detail slip which would cause Ettritch to curl his lip at me.


    I recollected being called from my studies at the University of North Carolina where I was preparing to teach Neolithic History for the forthcoming term. Doctor Ettritch was lucky to have reached me at that time as I still had two weeks before the campus filled with students back from their summer break.


    He had sent me a telegram asking me to join him at Grant County, West Virginia, in a small town called Petersburg. He even wired payment for a car and driver to take me, and asked the university dean to allow me leave on a service vital to the government. The dean could hardly refuse, although he was not very happy about the situation so near to the start of the new term.


    I’m not partial to flights of fancy without good reason, but the doctor ended it with two words he knew would entice me: ‘Tempest Mountain’ – the place where it was believed a family of settlers had integrated and bred with the local mongrels to create a new breed of almost primitive beings. Ettritch knew that this would pique my curiosity, as well as the mystery of the mass deaths and disappearances that had been covered by every national newspaper all those years ago and had gained national interest.


    Eventually the search died down, and people went back to their homes and places of work. The man who hired the duo who disappeared stayed to uncover the mysteries of the mountain; primarily through guilt at their loss, I believe. No one is exactly sure of what he uncovered, but many rumours of creatures summoned by thunder and lightning, with glowing red eyes have abounded ever since!


    A year after this, and a year prior to finding myself dripping on Doctor Ettritch’s expensive rug in his study at his home here in Baltimore, I found myself in a carriage taking me to the Monongahela Forest.


    As we neared Petersburg, the sky darkened and it began to rain incessantly. I had spent most of my time in the vehicle reading text books to make up for not being able to study at the university.


    Doctor Ettritch had been in Petersburg for a week, and was practically bouncing from foot to foot upon my arrival. At this time he was still a tall, broad, muscular man without any hint of the frailty he was to suffer. Who would believe that within the week he would be confined to a wheelchair for the remainder of his days?


    Ettritch informed me another group of people had vanished; this time a small group of settlers who had tried to establish a new, small community further into the forest. He wanted to leave for the site straight away but I insisted that I rest and have some food. He would have none of it.


    We were at the settlement site later that evening; myself, Doctor Ettritch and a small congregation of teamsters. I found it odd that the normally approachable Ettritch was cold and distant to them all, save me. I could only assume that he distanced himself from them in case one of the men encountered a similar fate to those who had disappeared. I had noticed that he spoke to me in a more professional capacity rather than one of a tutor to his student.


    The settlement was a mixture of crudely built log cabins, and hitching posts for horses. There were eight buildings in total – a saloon, barbers, and an assortment of other abodes and businesses –but at the far end of the muddy trail lay a large crater.


    Instantly I recognised its similarities to those of a report of the crater at Tempest Mountain. The ground was scorched and its epicentre was a hole that drove several feet into the muddy ground. Around the crater were broken planks of wood, once a building of some kind. Among these I could see an iron cross, slightly bent and misshapen as if touched by incredible heat.


    “This was the church,” Ettritch explained as he bent down and laid a hand on one of the shattered supports. “The townsfolk were hiding in here from a terrible storm.”


    I raised my eyebrows. A huddled mass struck by lightning during a storm was the same method of destruction that occurred on Tempest Mountain.


    “How many were killed?” I asked.


    Ettritch flipped away the charred lumber, revealing a blackened limb beneath. My stomach churned and I looked away before I could tell if it was an adult or a child’s.


    “There were twenty four people, making this into a habitable town,” the doctor said, talking to my back as I looked back down the ‘street’ we had walked.


    I fished a handkerchief from my pocket and pressed it to my lips. Once I was certain I was going to keep my breakfast down I spoke: “How many remains have been found?”


    “Only enough to verify three bodies,” he said as he stood and brushed the mud from his knees as the rain continued to fall. He waved a hand towards the treeline. “A couple of limbs were found over there – not from the same person – and a leg was found about a third of a mile from this very spot.”


    “In which direction?” I asked, my voice slightly muffled by my handkerchief.


    Ettritch pointed at the mountain that loomed above the forest. The clouds and ghastly weather hid its peak, but its grey, thick, tree-coated base hinted at its enormity.


    “Kingham Mountain,” the doctor said, his voice rising as the wind whipped around us. We both gazed up at the landmark, lightning bringing the thick vegetation that crawled up it to writhing life.


    “Has it been investigated?” I asked.


    The doctor shook his head.


    “That’s why I summoned you, Mr Cope,” he smiled as he indicated for the party to ready itself. “I have only briefly scouted the very base of the mountain, but there is something I need your expert opinion on.”


    The trek to the base of the mountain was not long, but it was heavy going through the mud and trees that seemed to thicken the further we progressed. Leaves and shrubs grew to sizes that I have never witnessed before, and the two men at the point of our troupe hacked their way through with machetes.


    In all, our party consisted of sixteen men; all were explorers and various experts in different fields, from what I could gather through the minimal speech we exchanged during the growing storm. I noticed a few of the men were equipped with hunting rifles stowed in their packs, and I am fairly certain I saw a pistol protruding from the doctor’s pants waistband. I cursed myself for not having had time to prepare better and to equip a pistol myself, knowing the story of Tempest Mountain as I did, and the potential danger that we were walking into.


    The foot of the mountain was a myriad of tentacle-like vines – as thick as my leg – ensconced around trees that seemed to bulge and lean in upon us. Where there was once mud underfoot I could now only feel foliage.


    “Just like the forest on Tempest Mountain,” Ettritch whispered to me as we pressed through.


    A brief break in the claustrophobic vegetation and we found ourselves in a small clearing before a cave entrance. Ettritch hurried through to the head of our pack, my sleeve firmly held by him as he pushed us through.


    “Set a small camp here,” he said as he ignited a lantern before ushering me into the cave.


    Small and dark, it was like many caves I had seen before, but the doctor was positively buoyant in excitement.


    “Well, what do you think, Mr Cope?” he asked as he shone the lantern upon a wall nearest to us.


    Unlike the rest of the jagged chamber this wall was almost smooth, and the light gave it a yellow hue. Marking the wall was the very reason Ettritch had summoned my services.


    “Neolithic drawings...” I hissed as I drew my spectacles from their case.


    The illustrations were crude, per usual, but something about them made me pause.


    “These are fresh,” I said, squinting in the low light.


    Ettritch pointed at me in triumph.


    “Yes!” he said. “It took me a little while to realise but even the piece of chalk that was used is still here in the cave!”


    I looked again, running my finger nail along one of the lines. Chalk came away from it and I rubbed it between my fingertips.


    “What do they depict?” Ettritch asked me.


    I took a step back. Having been so intent on discovering the age of the drawings I had completely forgotten to look at what the renderings on the wall portrayed.


    The picture stretched from the base of the floor to the level of my eyes, suggesting a person or persons of short stature. At the bottom were crudely drawn stickmen, their arms raised aloft to the deity above them, surrounded by charcoal clouds and white chalk lightning. The ‘god’ was a writhing mass of dark charcoal smudges and red eyes. I gazed closer and found that the eyes had been crafted in blood, the darkness of the liquid giving the picture an unsettling feel.


    “If I did not know of your encounter with the primitives of Tempest Mountain I would deduce that this was a practical joke,” I said, turning to Ettritch who was watching me intently, once again assuming the role of tutor.


    “The drawing is from that of a primitive mind, “I continued, indicating the wall. “And these offshoots of the Robben family obviously believe that their ancestor is a god of some kind.”


    “Or the god,” the doctor said.


    We stood in silence, the lantern wavering our forms into shapes as grotesque as the one on the cavern wall.


    “What has brought them here?” I asked finally. “Why are they in West Virginia?”


    “That’s easy,” said Ettritch as thunder pounded the mountain and lightning filled the dark. “They followed the storm.”


    I was relieved when Doctor Ettritch told me that our route would be up the side of Kingham Mountain, and not through the series of intricate tunnels that I suspected sprawled throughout the peak like the channelling of termites. 


    Outside the safety of the cave we were buffeted by strong winds and torrential rain, the storm growing stronger by the hour, the skies black with its rage. Soaked to the skin we continued, our feet sliding out from underneath us, and soon I began to wonder if the claustrophobic tunnels would have been better than our current position.


    The doctor led us to a jagged plateau which sat beneath a peak that jutted out slightly overhead, offering us small protection from the weather. The ground below stretched out from a crater at its centre. As I wiped the water from my face I realised at once what I was witnessing.


    “This scorched earth is the same as that of the settlement,” I said, walking towards its cratered middle.


    “Indeed,” Ettritch smiled. “And this is where we found one of the settlers’ limbs, near to where you are standing.”


    I paused in my sloping descent, suddenly unwilling to press any further. Despite the burnt ground I could see further dark areas. I realised that these were dried blood, and I fancied I could see slivers of bone glinting every time the lightning struck.


    I turned away.


    “Was there a settlement here?” I asked, trying to reason why the storm had struck this place.


    Ettritch shook his head.


    “No,” he replied. “I think that this ground was struck as a marker for the Robben descendants to follow?”


    My clear bafflement indicated that he should continue.


    Gripping me gently by the arm he led me away from the rest of the group as he talked.


    “I think the storm is striking the ground to indicate a path that the Robben ‘family’ should follow,” he said, his eyes wide. “I think that they are on a preordained path from Tempest Mountain.”


    “Preordained?” I asked, still confused. “By who? And where are they going?”


    “I am unsure,” the doctor said, a slender finger pressed against his lips. “I have checked with the meteorological society and they have informed me that the storms have been slowly heading towards the eastern seaboard from Tempest Mountain for a short while now. The path of the storm has cuts across the country to where we are right now – Kingham Mountain.”


    “And you think that the storm is leading the... ‘tribe’?”


    “Possibly,” he replied, raising his voice as the tempest around us grew in ferocity. “I doubt it is the tribe leading the storm.”


    I looked around furtively. “With the storm overhead... they may still be in the area...”


    The thought seemed to stun Ettritch. Had he been so intent on investigating the locals’ disappearance he had overlooked the possibility that the attackers were still in the vicinity.


    Our answer came in the form of one of our party, rushing toward us. The storm shrouded his words so I asked him to repeat himself once he had caught his breath.


    “Gibbs and Bailey have disappeared!” he yelled his eyes wide and his voice shaking. “They were carrying supplies at our tail end. The last we had seen of them was ten minutes ago as we were setting up camp.”


    I realised that a rugged camp had indeed been created. Tents were being securely fastened in the shadow of the mountain, trying to keep the wind from ripping the tarpaulins from their moorings. The men struggled to catch tent flaps whipping violently in the wind. A couple of the men stood at the line of trees that descended the side of the mountain from the plateau’s edge, peering downwards but not venturing into the thick, tangled vegetation.


    Ettritch was rushing toward the edge of the camp, myself and our tracker – Tomlin if I recalled his name correctly – close behind. Reaching the two men I stood there and could not hear their words over the storm.


    “I’m not one for superstition,” Tomlin said, his small demeanour meaning I had to lower my shoulder so he could shout in my ear. “But I’d say this storm is bringing us bad luck!”


    Shortly, we had fastened our belongings and tents as well as we could. I helped a couple of the men out as Doctor Ettritch argued with Tomlin about whether they should send a party into the woods to find the two men. The argument continued in our small tent.


    “We cannot leave two men out in this storm!” Tomlin exclaimed, his hand indicating the opening of our tent that flapped in the strong wind.


    “They are both experienced members of my team,” Ettritch said as he dried his hair and face with a small towel. “The shelter of the trees may help them.”


    “I told you we did not lose them in the trees!” Tomlin’s face was one of exasperation. “They stood at the edge of the camp one moment, gone the next! They would have told us they were going to venture into the forest below.”


    “We have fourteen men left, including us,” said Ettritch. “I can’t afford to send anyone else from our camp on what may be a wild goose chase!”


    In the low lantern light hanging from the support above us I could see the doctor’s face was strained and worried, and I sensed he was unhappy being placed on the spot by our tracker.


    “Once the storm has abated we could look then,” I said, trying to mediate.


    I failed and incurred the wrath and desperation of Tomlin upon myself.


    “Listen to this storm!” he said. “It doesn’t sound as if it’s going to blow itself out soon! It’s here to stay!”


    I knew he was correct. Our tent was buffeted by the tumultuous weather outside, and I fancied I could hear a pack of pans and cutlery being swept away.


    This was followed by the scream of a man.


    The three of us all but tumbled from our tent in a bundle of limbs, but Ettritch managed to extract himself and scrambled to his feet, leaving Tomlin and I rolling in the mud.


    Other men had left their tents, most of them carrying lanterns, many of which died instantly in the wind despite their coverings. They shouted to each other, trying to determine who had screamed, and why.


    “Miller!” someone cried, indicating a man I believed had been the group’s local historian, although I could not be sure. I had not the time to be introduced to everyone before we had set off in a rush.


    People ran to and fro, covering as much of the plateau as possible. I could not bring myself to venture toward the scorched ground at the centre, instead inwardly pleased that two of the others ran down there.


    I found myself gravitating toward the doctor and Tomlin, the three of us heading toward the plateau edge and the treeline below.


    One of the men was pointing down towards the trees and I could see a backpack halfway down, its contents littering the mud and blowing around in the wind. The ground itself was also marked, as if something or someone had been dragged through the wet dirt.


    “They took him from inside his tent!” the pointing man yelled.


    “Who?” I cried. “Who took him?”


    “The beasts!” he shouted back. “The savages from Tempest Mountain!”


    I stole a glance at Ettritch. It may have been a trick of the lightning, but I swear I saw him smile briefly at the news. The moment was lost as a bolt of lightning struck the ground behind us, in the same spot that had already been scorched by a bolt.


    Lightning had struck the same place twice.


    Before I could press the importance of this upon anyone, the man next to me yelled and attracted our attention back to the slope.


    We pressed forward and what we saw would stay with us for the rest of our lives.


    Emerging from the trees in a flurry of movement and howls that we could hear even above the wind, was an image of horror. Short, pale primeval beasts streamed forward in their droves, stampeding up the incline toward us. I knew what the animals were as soon as I saw them, and fear spurred me to turn and flee.


    Some of the men were so astounded by the sight they remained rooted to the plateau edge, watching until it was too late to run. I stole a glance over my shoulder and saw two of them fall under the claws of the screeching animals. No man had a chance to unsling their rifles or guns before we were fallen upon.


    I could hear their guttural sounds and various screaming as they attacked, even over the power of the storm that battered us. Running became a chore, and the smell of burning where the lightning bolt had struck was strong in my nostrils. I could see the men around me stumbling and slipping in the conditions, but another glance revealed our pursuers had no such dilemmas; they bounded on strong feet or switched to all fours when desired, eating up the terrain between us.


    It was not their movements, or their pale white hairless bodies that filled my heart with fear, but their eyes which seemingly glowed red as they approached us, and the terror drove me onwards.


    Guilt shrouds me to this day, as I saw Tomlin stumble before me, but I clambered over him and continued my flight. His screams pierced my ears then, as they do in my nightmares now. I try to console myself with knowing that if I had stopped to help him, then there would be another dead man on Kingham Mountain.


    The remainder of us scrambled by foot and hand across the plateau and through the crater I had been too unnerved to enter earlier. Distantly my mind realised that the ground was hot to touch due to the bolt from the sky. I paid it no heed and pressed on, the sounds of the primeval creatures behind us providing us with the spur we needed.


    I am unsure how many of us reached the other side of the plateau, but it was not the same sixteen men that had left on the expedition. Two had disappeared into the woods, and then at least three more that I knew of. Survival enthralled us, and we sped on, each mindless of the next man; each hell-bent on extending his own life over the life of the men around him.


    We reached the far side of the area, howls and screeches pursuing us as we fled through a narrow crevasse between the rocks. The passageway allowed us in two men at a time, shoulder-to-shoulder, and the men behind us pushed and urged us on faster. The man beside me fell and was trampled underfoot. I realised with horror his misfortune would more than likely bring us a little more time as the beasts fell upon him.


    We burst from the passageway and onto another ledge that expanded to an embankment on our right and towards the treeline of the Monongahela Forest once more.


    “Into the trees!” Ettritch called, and I suddenly realised I was pleased to see that he was alive and relatively well.


    “No!” yelled another man. “You’ve seen how those things move! They’ll cut through those woods and bring us down one by one!”


    Our group paused, each man looking from face to face, waiting for someone to make a decision.


    That man was me. In an instant I weighed up the potential of hiding in the forest, or running higher up a mountain and becoming stuck at an elevation while watching my death clamber up towards me; so I chose.


    Sprinting for the forest I could hear the men follow suit, and soon we were all sliding down the embankment, scuffing knees and ankles, tearing clothing in our flight.


    The beasts followed us, and I saw them pour over the lip of the embankment as we burst into the forest.


    I had forgotten to take into account just how thick the tree-life and vegetation had become, and cursed myself at forgetting the stories of the fauna on Tempest Mountain becoming thicker, bigger, and seeming to take on more life than they already possessed. Trees impeded us, branches whipped our faces, and it almost seemed as if the thick vines crawling the trees and ground ensnared us at every opportunity.


    The density of the forest became almost as entrapping as the thought of the thin tunnels inside the mountain, but blindly I flayed onwards, pushing branches out of my way with one arm while the other shielded my eyes.


    I could hear and sense the rest of my party crashing through the woods around me, but I also knew that the animals behind were gaining on us every second. The forest protected us from some of the storms’ anger, but it also enabled us to hear the bestial grunts and howls of the pursuing pack.


    Onwards I fought, every second imagining I could feel the animals’ hot breath on the back of my neck. I pushed on, my breathing ragged, my limbs aching and my lungs bursting for air in the damp humidity.


    How long I ran in this manner, I am unsure, but eventually I broke into a small clearing where the vegetation had thinned and I was able to see fifty yards all around me. Pausing to catch my breath I heard men screaming and animals howling as I stood with my face upwards, drinking in as much rainwater as I could.


    The lightning illuminated my surroundings, and I saw I was in a small grassy area. I wiped the rain from my face and looked back from where I had come, the trees so close together I could see nothing through them.


    I did not wish to linger, so I hurried toward the opposite side. As I reached the tree line I heard something burst from the same area of trees that I had emerged from moments before.


    I looked around and paused at the monstrosity that stood glaring at me.


    The beast was similar in appearance to the smaller horrors that had pursued us, but on a much larger scale. The white-skinned beast stood over six feet tall on its muscular legs, and its fists clenched in fury as it expelled white-hot breath from its fanged mouth and flared nostrils. My mind recalled an old text book that illustrated what the author believed the ‘Missing Link’ to look like, and this creature was not far removed from the picture.


    It stepped forward, breathing hard, its eyes boring into me as I stood transfixed. So paralysed with fear was I that I let it approach me slowly... step by tortuous step...


    And then the air filled with static and an overpowering rumble that shook the teeth in my skull. Finally able to tear my vision from the sight before me I looked skyward at the very storm that now seemed centred above us.


    Black clouds bubbled unnaturally overhead as I stared at this new terror, my eyes blinking hard in the rain. I could sense rather than see the beast approaching me across the glade, but the storm above was too terrifying and beautiful to wrest my gaze away.


    Lightning exploded around us and I could see the bolt strike downwards then felt it hit the ground between us. I now returned my attention to the creature as it strode forth, walking through the hot, scarred earth with its bare feet, glowing red eyes still intent upon me.


    Something about the creature’s eyes caused me to again look at the sky, and beneath the clouds, rain and lightning I believed that I could see a face scowling at me, and at the very middle of the tempest I imagined that I could see two glowing red eyes...


    A second lightning strike rattled me to my core, shaking me physically and mentally, snapping me alert.


    With a final glance up at the sky and toward the beast advancing upon me I turned and ran further into the Monongahela Forest.


    This time my flight was more measured and less panicked as I managed to rely on my faculties to help me escape. Instead of being whipped by branches I ducked under them; instead of tripping over sprawling roots I jumped over them.


    I controlled my breathing and kept my eyes ahead despite the rage and anger of the animal pursuing me. My escape felt like hours, and I was hard of breath and near to unconsciousness by the time I emerged onto the path that led back to Petersburg. By a stroke of luck I was found by a large party of merchants who picked me up from the mud and put me into one of their caravans where I succumbed to exhaustion.


    “I came to back in Petersburg where I was admitted to hospital for days,” I told Doctor Ettritch. “You and two of the other men were found several miles away – they were both raving mad men while you were found a...a physically broken man.”


    Ettritch looked down wistfully at his chair.


    “But you already know this,” I added, my voice and tone indicating that I now wished him to fill in my reason for being summoned to his chambers.


    He caught my gaze, and sighed heavily.


    “You left before I had regained my own wits,” he said, “and neither of us has spoken to a soul about the events of that day...”


    “No one would believe us,” I said, “and I had not the time to tell anyone where we were going. It felt better to keep it all to myself and suffer the nightmares and terrors alone.”


    “I know you saw the same beast I encountered,” he continued, and suddenly I was aware that he may be blaming me for something. “For I, too, was standing in that glade when the lightning struck!”


    My mouth dropped open, and before I could utter a word he continued.


    “The beast did not chase you!” he spat. “I was mere yards from you but you were so intent on the beast you did not hear my cry for help!”


    I shook my head, trying to clear my thoughts and relive the encounter that I had tried so hard to repress since the previous year.


    “When you ran for the trees so did I, but the beast chased me,” Ettritch said. “It hounded me for hours through the Monongahela Forest... toying with me... bounding up close to me and unleashing roar after roar in my ear...”


    His eyes were now that of a man drifted deep in a fearful memory, and I could feel the hairs on my arms and neck rising as the storm around the building took on a new strength.


    “Did you see the face in the storm?” he asked me so suddenly it caught me unawares. “The eyes of the storm’!” He suddenly burst with laughter, and my own eyes widened. The beast had not just ruined his body – it had destroyed his mind.


    “Doctor Ettritch,” I said taking small steps backwards towards the door I had entered. “I’m going to fetch your assistant. I am sure he has some medication for you that you must require now?”


    Ettritch laughed again.


    “My assistant locked the door behind him when he left,” he said, his words sounding very final in a gap between the thunder and lightning.


    “We were all sacrifices,” said the doctor as sheets of rain lashed against the window, the room regularly exploding with light and the rumble of thunder overhead. “All those who died were sacrifices to the Robben family... allowing them to feed.”


    “How...” My mouth was so dry I had to attempt to speak again. “How would you know of this?”


    Ettritch smiled, and the darkness of the action made his eyes light up abnormally.


    “They always need to feed. The head of the family has a job to do, to feed the clan, to direct them to their next meal and next sacrifice to the ‘god’...”


    “The ‘head’ being the monstrosity in the glade?” I asked my back now to the door.


    “Good lord, no!” he replied. “The head of the family is the storm! Do you now recall the tales of the storm being the ghost of Jan Robben? Well the tales were true!”


    “How ...?”


    “Because Jan Robben and his bestial family sacrificed me to feed the ‘unholy ghost’!” His laughter was ominous, and filled the room over the growing thunder.


    The man was clearly insane, and I knew the door behind me was truly locked even before I tried the handle.


    “I would like to leave now.” I said, knowing my voice was too quiet to be heard.


    “But, once sacrificed, one becomes a member of the family,” he said, and I could see an inner strength rising within him.


    And then, with absolute horror gripping my soul, I could see tendrils of black smoke begin to unfurl from beneath the shawl that covered his frail body.


    “Why am I here?” I asked my voice suddenly stronger than I had any reason to feel. “To sacrifice me to your ‘ghost’?”


    Doctor Ettritch laughed again, and his eyes took on a red hue that could not be caused by the fire or the lightning.


    “No, Mr Cope,” he said, his voice unnaturally deep and rolling with the thunder outside. “I brought you here so I could show you what I have become!”


    I tried to apologise for anything; for something; but my mind and mouth suddenly became blank as I watched his cloak bubbling around his body.


    “My dear boy...” he said as his frail form engulfed my vision. “Can you not hear my thunder?”


    His eyes glowed red.


    He threw off his cloak.


    And his true form filled the room.
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    “A casual stroll through the lunatic asylum shows that faith does not prove anything.”


    –Friedrich Nietzsche


     


    One


     


    By Malloy’s meticulous recordkeeping, it had been going for 822 days, but he had yet to say anything. He didn’t want a shot. He didn’t want to lose count.


    The passage of time had once been easier to mark but was now a nightmare, and he needed all his faculties at full capacity. At first he’d numbered his mental calendar by the cycle of abhorrent lukewarm meals. He had no window from which he could observe the sun or stars, and the little light in the corner of the ceiling never dimmed, so the meals were the only way. But then the meals stopped coming so often. The nagging in his stomach would tell him breakfast was late. A half-frozen sandwich – why frozen at all, he had no idea – would arrive hours later, well past lunch time. Then what absolutely felt like a day would pass with no food at all, nor any response to his pounding against the door (although he admittedly didn’t pound very hard, for, again, he didn’t want a shot).


    When the orderly brought him a plastic tray bearing a baked shoe, he grew concerned. Surely he wouldn’t be asking for a shot if he were to inquire about this newest addition to the menu. But he didn’t. He wanted to make sure he didn’t miss the wind.


    Eight hundred twenty-two days straight, that banshee-howl from the other side of the wall. He knew it was no auditory hallucination, and he knew it wasn’t anything within the wall itself or the ductwork. There was no mistaking that rising and falling scream, one which bore at times to Malloy a tone of pitched accusation, other times horrified discovery – oooooOOOOOOHHHHHH! It was the wind madly chasing itself between the wards of the sanatorium, and it had been doing so now for more than two years.


    That the staff appeared to be losing their minds (Exhibit A: Nike a la king) puzzled Malloy. Surely the wind was mere background noise to them at this point. Only he, with his compulsions and nothing else to focus on in this wretched room, should have been so acutely aware of the unyielding presence. Yes, free men would have been forced to navigate through the storm, but would have adapted by now, both in their hearing and their temperament. It should not have worn down their psyches like this.


    Exhibit B: the orderly inserting his fingers through the meal slot, and letting them dangle there. Fingers bruised and raw and already marred by several sets of teeth. Malloy had sat in frozen silence. After several seconds, the orderly had mumbled something unintelligible and swapped one hand for the other. This time Malloy saw bone. He’d closed his eyes and counted the seconds in his head. Four hundred fifty-three Mississippis before the orderly withdrew and padded away on what sounded like bare feet.


    Maybe it was all quite simple, Malloy thought as he sat on his cot, legs and arms folded, listening to the wind. Maybe he’d been right all along, he was the sane one, and the methods of true madness had finally unraveled outside his door.


    The possibility might also have occurred to him that some of the others had gotten out and taken control of the place; but he’d seen Dr. Bierce just two days before, and as he was escorted to and from the man’s office everything had seemed in its place, the “patients” in particular. No, there wasn’t a coup afoot. Not even a mutiny. Dr. Bierce himself had been stark raving mad. And still Malloy had said nothing...Bierce handed out shots like coupons on his better days, and this day in particular had seemed less than that.


    The first thing Malloy had noticed upon being led to his seat was that the window behind Bierce’s desk was wide open, meaning without glass, and that Bierce’s smooth pate was dotted with specks of blood. 


    “Oh, I’m fine,” the doctor had assured him, as if that were Malloy’s chief concern. “Wind just blew the thing in. Should have seen it coming. Actually, I’m rather glad I didn’t. Would’ve been the last thing I saw. Agree, disagree?” He’d begun drumming his fingers on the desk. Malloy hadn’t breathed, let alone replied. Bierce’s hands were the hands he’d seen stuck through his meal slot.


    “What’s the matter, Malloy?”


    “I... I’m not sure whether there’s a right or wrong answer. To your question. Sir.”


    “There isn’t.” Bierce had smiled. “That’s good. It’s good you saw that. Sometimes a test isn’t a test. And that’s the test.”


    Malloy had nodded.


    Bierce’s face had gone white.


    What did I do? Malloy had thought. Oh, God! What do I do now?


    Then Bierce had gestured at the window and said, “It tried to rain yesterday morning. The wind blew it away. Not a single drop touched the ground. I don’t know where the rain went.”


    He folded his scabbed and swollen fingers on the desk and looked stonily at his patient. “I believe God has killed himself. I mean that quite sincerely.”


    He’d stared at Malloy for an hour, then sent him away.


    Today, Malloy’s door simply swung open. He sat and watched the empty corridor for a while; listened to the faint hooting and hollering of what he presumed to be other so-called madmen, others under lock and key and perhaps safer there. He wished dearly the men in white would lock his door again. But they didn’t, and he walked out, and the first thing he saw was a dead man.


    He knew it was a man because the balls of the decapitated thing were on grand display, exam gown hiked up about the waist. He had no way of knowing if the man had worked or lived at Chamber Seat. As he drew closer, slowly closer, he spied a piece of paper lying on the corpse’s chest.


    SORRY FOR THE INCONVENIENCE, read the note.


    He heard the wind distantly, cruel whispers and crescendos of horror – there may have been real voices in the din, he couldn’t be sure. And then he was, as Bierce rounded the corner and waved. “Come on then, Malloy.”


    He followed the doctor to his office, stealing glances into open rooms as they proceeded. Each was empty, entirely empty. It seemed as if he were the last to be let out. He wondered why Bierce had selected him for such an honor. He wondered if his head were meant to sit atop a mountain of heads, if he would finally be king.


    Bierce gestured for him to sit in the same seat as always. The doctor removed his jacket and slumped in his chair. He had a nasty black eye, the flesh around it so puffy he could barely keep it open. “It’s been a wicked day,” he sighed.


    “Are we the only ones left?” Malloy asked. He no longer feared the prick of the needle. He no longer saw the need to count the days, to track the wind – infinity was infinity, and he could call it and be done with the matter.


    “The last here, almost certainly,” Bierce answered. “Some got into the old tunnels under D Ward. But I sealed them down there. Told them to stack themselves neatly. Nonetheless everything is in disorder,” he moaned, and a choked sob escaped him.


    Then he glared at Malloy. “How did you know?”


    “Know what, sir?”


    “About the echoes.”


    Malloy sat erect.


    “The voices have come bouncing back,” Bierce said, “from the walls of eternity – finally, at long last, the screams of the dying have returned. And to what?”


    “To nothing,” Malloy breathed. “To origins long since expired. To rebound forever in the void.”


    “How did you hear them before we did? How did you know?”


    Bierce yanked open a desk drawer and pulled out handfuls of foil-wrapped pills. “I’m taking you off everything,” he said, and rose the blinds to hurl them out the open window. Outside, the sky was the color of bone.


    “I was called,” Malloy said. “Chosen. I don’t know why. They’ve never told me.”


    “Do you think they’ll tell you now?” Bierce asked eagerly. “Once the meds taper off in you, do you think they’ll explain it?”


    “I hope so.” Malloy smoothed the legs of his pants. For the first time since he could remember – he didn’t count things like that – he felt like himself again. And there would be no need to number the days of his reign. For infinity was infinity.


    Vindicated! And in a way he’d never dreamed possible. He’d come to regard the promises the voices made as cruel lies. Oh, the voices had always been real, of that he was certain, and the ability of drugs to dull his sixth sense and close his third eye had never proven otherwise. But it was true that he had come to doubt their promise of the cosmic crown. He’d begun to think the voices were just echoes from an extinct dynasty of forgotten gods, and that the last of the kings as well as his crown were only cosmic dust.


    “You hear them,” he said to Bierce.


    “Yes. On the wind. They are the wind,” the doctor replied.


    So then, they were not mere echoes at all. They were a cyclic call, and now was Malloy’s time to answer. 


    “So,” Bierce said to him, coyly drawing out the o, “here is the question. Can you see them, too?”


    “No. I’ve never said that.”


    “You haven’t said so, but maybe you were trying to get one over on the old doctor, eh?” With Bierce’s swollen eyelid it looked as if he were winking. “Maybe you didn’t want me to take away your socks. Which is fair. But I come to you now having renounced my degree. I was wrong, Malloy, that much I see – but do you see them?”


    “I don’t,” said Malloy. “I promise you I’m telling the truth.”


    “Am I unworthy?” Bierce’s voice trembled. Vindicated as he was, Malloy didn’t like this shift in power. Perhaps if he wasn’t still in the man’s asylum, or knew escape was possible. But there was a headless corpse in the hall and, if Bierce was to be believed, others suffocating in the old service tunnels beneath D Ward. And still others had to be tucked away here and there. Were they all mad as Bierce was, overwhelmed by the voices of the old ones, or were some of them still sane? Had there been an orgy of lunatics from which Bierce emerged the perfect madman, or had he played it straight and used his position to “get one over on,” as he’d say, the unaffected?


    He wanted to ask, but he was growing nervous again. No, he didn’t feel like a king inside these walls. He wanted out. Bierce wasn’t loyal to him. Right now the man was rummaging through his desk and speaking gibberish under his breath.


    “Here then,” the once-doctor said, and placed a wood chisel between them.


    Malloy stared numbly at it.


    “I only want one. I’ll give it right back.” And Bierce reached up and plucked the wet, malformed eye from his swollen socket.


    He set it on the desk beside the chisel. Despite its bloodshot tinge, Malloy could see that it was blue-irised, and Bierce had green eyes.


    “That belongs to Metevier,” Bierce said. “She has mine. Assuming she hasn’t traded again. She ran outside to look with it and didn’t come back, so I don’t expect to see it again. But I will return yours if you’ll just allow me a peek.”


    He pushed the chisel toward Malloy. Then withdrew it. “I can do it for you if you’d like. Of course! You’re royalty now, aren’t you? I’ve been so rude. Let me.”


    Bierce rose, and Malloy shot to his feet at twice the speed. He stumbled back into the closed door.


    “Wait!” Bierce cried. A pink fluid ran from his empty socket, and he mopped at it with his sleeve. “Please! I know I’ve mistreated you. I plead ignorance! I beg you, Malloy, let me see!” And he lunged.


    Slapstick wasn’t the right word for what happened next – Malloy would never, in retrospect, ever find it the least bit funny. But the moment elicited something in him, a feeling he couldn’t quite put his finger on – like the sort of feeling you can’t describe in English, only German or French, but even those words didn’t quite peg it. There wasn’t really a right way to express it either, so as in many such a case, Malloy laughed.


    What happened was the door struck him in the rear, pitching him forward; his flailing left arm, which was at once both searching instinctively for stability and trying instinctively to block the plunging wood chisel, drove straight into Bierce’s chest and sent him bowling backwards over his desk. He landed in a sort of unfolding ball on his chair, which heaved beneath him, and then he went out the window.


    Malloy stood in silence for a long half-second. The only thing that could have possibly given what he’d just seen any legitimacy, a grounding in any world he knew, would have been if Bierce had frozen in mid-air and held up a sign which read “@$%!#.” And Malloy let out his laugh, a monosyllabic hoot worthy of a Looney Tune.


    I wonder who opened the door?


    His blood ran from his hands and feet and left them in ice. He stood stiff, staring at the open window, waiting for it – a sound, a touch, anything. Finally, above the wind which nudged the cinched-up Venetian blinds, a heavy sigh.


    He turned. A seven-foot black mountain of a man said, “I need my meds.”


    Malloy’s jaw opened, shut. He tried to speak through his pinched lips. “I—”


    “I need them,” the man boomed. “Can’t eat without them. He knows that. I need them.”


    He looked Malloy over. “Who are you?”


    “I don’t work here,” Malloy said.


    “Where’s the General? Anybody gonna tell me what I did to get cut off?”


    “Did you come from your room?” Malloy asked. They were dressed the same, and this gentleman’s garments had to be custom-ordered, not second-hand from a corpse. It was clear the man was a patient.


    “Where else would I have come from?” the man retorted.


    “I mean, just now? You’ve been in there all this time?”


    “Finished my ablutions – that means meditation, I’m no goddamn priest – and the door was open. Now what’s your game? I’ve never seen you. You’re not kept here.”


    “I am. They don’t let me roam about. Until today.”


    The man raised an eyebrow. “Name?”


    “Malloy. I’m afraid that’s all you’re getting.”


    The man smiled. “Kilhauser.” It wasn’t too crazy a smile. Didn’t compare to Bierce’s that much was certain.


    “So you don’t know where my meds are? He doesn’t keep them with the regular stock.” Kilhauser stepped past him and evidently didn’t take notice (that or offense) of Malloy’s flinch. Kilhauser started pulling open file cabinets. “I figure they’re in here somewhere, but not with the others. My nighttime blues change the lining of my stomach, see, and I need the rise-and-shine greens if I’m gonna be able to eat. It’s not exactly mind control, but when men like Kilhauser...” He turned to Malloy. “See, I have a habit of over-thinking. That I’ll admit. Spent forty years learning how to resist every sort of mental attack. But I haven’t quite hit the Nirvana city limits yet. A man can only eat so much qi, and so The Man—” Malloy knew those two words were capitalized “—found another way to get to me.”


    Malloy guessed that Kilhauser’s nighttime blues and rise-and-shine greens treated, among other things, paranoid delusions, and he decided to keep that truth and all the rest to himself. He didn’t dare attempt to translate the old tongue to this giant or anyone else until he was outside Chamber Seat’s walls.


    “He let me read your file,” Kilhauser said over his shoulder. “That’s why I believed you when you gave your name. That’s why you’re still alive.”


    “He what?”


    “Last week, he let me go through the files. Said he knew I’d always wanted to. He was too transparent about it for it to be some sort of trick, at least not a straightforward trick. So I read. You’re four rooms down from me.”


    “Wait – did you see the body in the hall? Headless?”


    Kilhauser raised his eyebrow again. “No.”


    “The blood?”


    “No blood. Your file didn’t say anything about visual hallucinations.”


    “That’s because I don’t have them,” Malloy said, and nearly added or any other kind. “Doctor Bierce has been killing people. That’s his ‘game.’ He finally caught our bug.”


    Malloy pointed to the open window. Kilhauser walked over and looked out. “I didn’t know we were on the third floor.”


    “You see him?”


    “I see Bierce, sure, what’s left. But you said he was the one killing.” Kilhauser turned from the window. “You mix something up?”


    Malloy told Kilhauser what had happened when he opened the door. The big man laughed without restraint.


    “So they finally retired the General.” He wiped tears from his eyes. “If the rest of the folks here went off the deep end with him, I’d guess they’ve gassed us. Chemtrails, one-two-three just that easy. A riot, they’ll say. Mass hysteria, they’ll say. Might even use it to push some new medicines through the FDA. Mm-hmm.” Malloy could see an intricate web constructing itself behind Kilhauser’s eyes. Then the man snapped his fingers and turned back to the window.


    “The wind,” he said. “They got the weather satellites working.” Kilhauser stroked his chin. Malloy’s face fell. For a moment he’d thought maybe he could reveal what was really going on.


    “A neurotoxin, then. And they didn’t just hit us. Could be the whole region or worse. Another 9/11. 9/11-Thousand this time.” Kilhauser studied the sky. “This is it. Well, I know why I’m still here. Why I’m not dead or crazy. Don’t know about you, but you must mean something to them.”


    He started going through Bierce’s desk. “Probably just another guinea pig, but at least you’re alive. You might have a chance with the way you gave the heave-ho to the General.”


    “That was an accident.”


    “There are no accidents.”


    Malloy could agree with that, in his way. He felt that was a good note to part on. “I’m going to find a way out of here. Goodbye.”


    “Whoa, whoa.” Kilhauser lifted a revolver from the middle drawer.


    “Don’t.”


    “I’m not going to shoot you, Malloy. Christ. You’re a gone sucker, my friend. All that shit about the voices being gods? Okay, so you hear voices. I’ll go along with that. But why do they have to be gods? I mean Jesus, you’ve got fifteen fillings in your mouth and you think it’s gods talking to you?”


    Right, the file. Malloy’s face reddened. “If you’re through, I’d like to go. I don’t mean anything to you, and you don’t mean anything to me.”


    “They’d like us to think that,” Kilhauser muttered. “Look at this baby. Never fired, I’ll bet.” He turned the gun in his hand. “Planted. Or gifted.”


    “All right,” Malloy snapped. He was ready to give it to Mr. Conspiracy Theory 101, but Kilhauser waved his anger away with a hand the size of Malloy’s face.


    “We’re leaving. That’s not the royal we, Malloy. Trust me. Stick with Kilhauser.


    “By the way,” he added, “you might be a programmed killer. I’m gonna have one eye on you and one finger on this trigger at all times. Again, trust me.” He tapped the revolver to his temple and said, “Total control.”


     


     


    Two


     


    She was, at first, deemed “flighty.” Distracted, overly-imaginative, a poster child for Ritalin. She barely spoke when spoken to, and didn’t start reading until she was eight – her parents and teachers agreed that she could read but simply refused to concentrate, that was all. The girl’s home life was hardly troubled. She didn’t want for anything. She was just a born brat, nothing modern medicine couldn’t remedy.


    Father knew she was a smart girl because of what distracted her. She would leave a conversation or lesson to draw something on one of the sketchpads she always had. Drawing colored pencils from a cardboard sleeve with quiet reverence, she composed fascinating abstract images. Yes, Father knew she was a creative, but he didn’t want to encourage her to the point of retaining her unwholesome eccentricities into adulthood. He learned he could limit her art time only by taking her out of the house to parks and museums. If he actually tried to take pad and pencils from before her eyes, she’d launch into a screaming fit. And the girl was now thirteen.


    Her mother wasn’t even aware of the flinch until her husband pointed out that it was increasing in frequency. The girl’s head would dip to the right and sometimes turn in that direction. Father had long noticed the tic and thought it was “just something she did;” but when it began happening all the time, even while she drew, he grew concerned. 


    A series of doctors could find nothing physically wrong with her. Nothing, that was, except the muscle and nerve damage that was being caused by the flinching. It had to be stopped. It was the seventh doctor, upon reviewing her entire case, who suggested a psychiatrist.


    After Doctor Bierce interviewed the girl, he asked if he could keep her over the weekend for some personality tests. He assured her parents that there was nothing to panic about, not yet.


    Bierce let her draw. He talked to her while she did so, and though she didn’t answer any questions – didn’t say anything at all, in fact – her drawings became less abstract. In a sense, anyway. The things she drew resembled nothing that existed in the real world. When she drew the great black beast with the enormous wings and brightly-colored cluster of eyes, she was the whole time flinching painfully, twisting her head away from the drawing until the black crayon was a pitiful nub and the surface of the entire paper bore a charcoal sheen.


    “Is that what you think it looks like?” Bierce asked. “The thing you hear?”


    He motioned toward her left ear and she covered it with her hand. Shook her head.


    “It’s all right,” Bierce said. “You don’t have to be afraid to tell me. In fact, I think I can help.”


    She shook her head again.


    “What does it say to you?” Bierce asked, but she didn’t respond. She would, in fact, never speak again.


    Bierce placed the drawing in her file. In his notes, he called it “the devil on her shoulder.”


     


    X


     


    It was 104 steps from Bierce’s office to the stairs, and there were 52 stairs – exactly half that number – to the first floor. By stretching his legs to their limits, Malloy was able to make it another even 104 steps from the end of the stairwell to the exit. Kilhauser seemed to know what he was doing, and didn’t say anything as he led the way. They didn’t see another person, living or dead, in their path until they were outside and were greeted by Bierce’s broken form.


    The wind didn’t howl now, but for the first time Malloy felt its push; the insistent, ceaseless eastward pressure tugging at his hair and his sleeves. And for the first time he felt the oddly comfortable warmth of it. Though no gentle caress, the wind bore a calming quality unlike anything he’d ever experienced. But of course. It carried the words he had always heard, words which were even now returning to him as the chemicals fed into his bloodstream for so long began to wane, as Chamber Seat’s other walls began to fragment.


    Your kingdom! Your kingdom!


    Leaves and twigs and bits of paper danced across the half-empty parking lot. Kilhauser shielded his eyes with his hand and muttered, “My allergies are gonna start acting up.” Malloy didn’t ask which government agency was to blame for them.


    Chamber Seat was in the hills outside the city proper. The highway was deserted. Malloy had anticipated perhaps an assortment of abandoned vehicles, but there wasn’t a single car in sight. Kilhauser seemed to hesitate at this and looked from horizon to horizon. No bodies, no smoke, no planes falling from the sky. He cupped his hand to his ear. No explosions, no sirens, no reports of gunfire. The only sound on the open road was the wind, omnipresent, a single writhing mass coiled and spinning about the Earth.


    It had to be going on around the entire world. There was no question in Malloy’s mind.


    Kilhauser spat and flinched as the wind cast his saliva across his nose. “I don’t trust this apocalypse,” he said, wiping it away.


    “It’s no apocalypse,” Malloy said.


    “Right. The gods.” Kilhauser started down the highway’s shoulder, heading westward, into the wind.


    “It’s a renewal,” Malloy called. Kilhauser didn’t reply. Maybe the words had been torn away before they could reach his ears.


    Then he turned. “Oh, I agree with that,” he called back. “Believe me, the big boys are holed up beneath our feet, watching every move we make. They’ll make their moves based on ours.”


    “My theory makes as much sense as yours.”


    Kilhauser roared with laughter. “You think so? Man, my truth is in the headlines every day! Yours comes from fairy tales!”


    “When’s the last time you read a headline?”


    “No need, my friend, no need. It all repeats itself.”


    Kilhauser waved the gun at Malloy. “Come on already.”


    They walked in silence for a bit, just the wind whispering around them. “All right,” Malloy finally said. “So you know all about me. No sense in my keeping quiet.”


    Kilhauser said nothing, just swung his long legs out in front of himself.


    “I’ll emerge from this a king. I’m king already. Maybe you’re meant to protect me until I get wherever I’m supposed to go.”


    “The voices haven’t given you any clues?”


    “Not yet. I suppose I’m meant to find my own way to the throne.”


    “I’m going to the Federal Records Building downtown,” Kilhauser said. “There’s a fallout shelter beneath it. Might be some heavy hitters tucked away down there. It’s always the unimportant facilities.”


    “The old government doesn’t matter anymore.” Malloy’s foot dislodged a crumpled cigarette pack from the grass. The wind plucked it immediately from sight.


    Kilhauser stopped. “You ever hitchhike?”


    “Yes...”


    He nodded at something ahead, and Malloy saw a pickup truck, slowly increasing in size.


    “I don’t,” Kilhauser said, and Malloy knew what he meant.


    “Put the gun away.”


    “No dice. You’re in or you’re out. Decide now.”


    “They might be like us! They might give us a ride!”


    “How about you just tell them you’re the emperor of the universe and they hand over the keys?” Kilhauser shook his head along with the revolver. “This piece speaks truth to every man, I don’t care which of us is right.”


    “Please put it away. I don’t want to see anyone else die.”


    “They’re armed, I guarantee it.”


    The truck’s color was discernable now, a rusty brown. Malloy heard a clatter coming from the thing. Then a short, friendly honk. “Put the gun away!” he pleaded.


    Kilhauser turned to him. “You realize we look like a couple of mental patients, right? If they pull over without being forced, they’re crazier than us.”


    “They might have information.”


    “Programmed routines. Delusions. Crazier than we are.”


    But Kilhauser slipped the gun into the front of his pants, pulling his shirt down to conceal it, and approached Malloy. His voice lowered to a barely-audible snarl. “All right. You listen then.”


    “I am.” The intensity that had flared in Kilhauser’s eyes was terrifying. He was once again the stranger Malloy had met in Bierce’s doorway. He was an escaped lunatic.


    “There are KEY WORDS,” Kilhauser said slowly, “TRIGGERS that I know by heart. If I hear a spoken TRIGGER either from yourself or any of the occupants of that vehicle, I will not hesitate to use LETHAL FORCE against you all. Clear?”


    Malloy shook his head in a panic. The pickup slowed and cruised to the shoulder before them.


    Single occupant, male with a mullet and goofy mustache. His face was streaked with grime, and the hand which emerged with it from the driver’s-side window appeared to be broken. “Salutations, survivors!”


    Kilhauser stepped in front of Malloy and said, “Where you from?” He made no attempt either to introduce himself or explain their clothes.


    “Back to nature!” the man drawled. He slapped his broken hand against the door. The ring and pinky fingers splayed out and the man clenched his teeth, making a pained sucking sound that was amplified by the wind – TSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSST! – then his grimace became a flushed grin. “Need a lift, black man?”


    Interesting way of addressing Kilhauser, Malloy thought, and waited for the crack of the gun. But Kilhauser’s only response was to start toward the truck. “C’mon Malloy.”


    The number of steps to the passenger door was thirteen. Malloy normally wasn’t given to ancient superstition, but this unnerved him enough that he made a small circle and added a few more steps before climbing in after Kilhauser.


    It smelled like carrion inside the cab. Malloy remembered the smell from his youth, from hunting with his father in New England. He’d watched skin being stripped and organs spilt from hanging does, watched steam issue from opened cavities like the breath of life. Even the sanitarium hadn’t smelled like this. It had maintained its cloying antiseptic scent, a farce of a charnel-house; that this man was disheveled and smelled of death made more sense. Here was an apocalyptic vision they could believe in. Kilhauser could trust this scene. Hopefully.


    “Name’s Jenkins,” the man offered.


    “Malloy.”


    Kilhauser reluctantly gave his name. He seemed to be studying Jenkins’ face for any reaction; there was none but for that odd grin.


    “You’re heading away from the city. Is it bad?” Kilhauser asked.


    “Not too bad,” replied Jenkins as he pulled back onto the road. “Most folks have cleared out already. You come from the loony bin?”


    Every muscle in Malloy’s body tensed. Kilhauser just said, “We did.”


    Malloy watched Kilhauser’s hands. They were folded on his lap, inches from the revolver. He sat stiffly, shoulders back, eyes forward, like a lady on a bus.


    “So I guess you two aren’t headed anywhere in particular,” Jenkins said.


    “Actually, we need to get back into the city,” said Kilhauser. “Think you can help us out?”


    “Oh, you don’t want to go back there, black man.” Jenkins patted the wheel with his good hand. “Game’s out here now.”


    “The game?”


    “Last guy I rode with wasn’t really into it. He was one of your typical Jonny-come-latelys. I told him I was tuned in, you know, and I knew where to go.”


    “For the game?” Kilhauser asked.


    “Exactly! And I knew we’d see you too. I knew I’d be able to spot you straight away. You didn’t need that gun of yours – it’s okay, I don’t need it either.”


    Kilhauser took hold of Jenkins’ arm. “How do you know about me?”


    “I’ve been tuned in since the beginning, black man! C’mon. I was one of the first!” Jenkins laughed pleasantly. “I know you’ve got a lot of them out there, but you oughta remember me!”


    “What are your orders?” Kilhauser growled. The gun was already in his hand, and already pressed into Jenkins’ crotch.


    “I’ve got it all down pat!” Jenkins insisted. “I’m doing just what you were doing! Hell, you must’ve really cleaned up back at the loony bin. Why did you dress up in their threads? To trick them?”


    “What?” Kilhauser demanded. “What! Speak human!”


    “Look,” Jenkins said, raising his broken hand. “Listen. I know I haven’t gotten many of them yet, but that’s why I came out here. The city’s old news! This is where the game’s at!”


    He doesn’t mean a game, Malloy’s mind screamed, he means prey—


    Kilhauser was way ahead of him.


    He cuffed Jenkins in the temple with the butt of the gun, with a solid THWACK that sent the man’s head into the doorframe. Kilhauser grabbed the wheel with his free hand. The truck accelerated as Jenkins hollered incoherently. “Shit!” Kilhauser cried, fumbling.


    “Give me the gun!” Malloy shouted. The truck weaved from one lane to the other, then violently back. Jenkins threw his weight against Kilhauser – it barely moved him, but now they were wrestling for control, and Kilhauser with one hand.


    The gun went off. The windshield webbed out and the road was lost.


    “GIVE ME THE DAMN GUN!”


    Kilhauser tossed the weapon into Malloy’s hands and plowed his elbow into Jenkins’ cheek. The world suddenly heaved and tossed. The truck was off the road. Metal groaned frightfully as they bounded over the terrain. The windshield fell in, and a wave of glass flew into Malloy’s face. He threw his hands over his eyes. The gun fell from them.


     


    X


     


    When one awakens from a period of unconsciousness, one appreciates a moment to gather oneself. When Malloy came to, the first thing he saw was Jenkins, lying in a field in front of the truck, his head covered in blood; Kilhauser, towering over him with the gun leveled at his head; and Malloy heard Jenkins scream “WHERE ARE YOUR HOOVES?” and wished he could go back to sleep.


    But he didn’t. He threw open the passenger door, fell out onto the ground, and hollered in the strongest voice he could muster, “Stop, Kilhauser! I command it!”


    Kilhauser looked at him with bemusement. Malloy struggled to his feet and stamped down the tall grass. “I am The King Malloy! Give me that gun, now!”


    Kilhauser rolled his eyes. “Sweet Zombie Christ.”


    “FAKER! YOU LIE! FAKER!” Jenkins howled, kicking at Kilhauser’s legs. “MASK! HE WEARS A MASK!”


    Kilhauser stared down at him. “What?” He didn’t wait for an answer. The revolver jumped in his hand. Jenkins’ back arched, then the life went out of him and he vanished into the grass.


    Malloy’s fit concluded. He looked numbly at the new dead. The wind tousled the grass as if it were a child’s hair.


    “That was a key phrase,” Kilhauser muttered.


    He said to Malloy, “Or is it ‘he wears no mask?’”


    He sat down next to Jenkins. “Sorry King. We each answer to our own higher power.”


    “You killed him.”


    “He did it himself.” Cross-legged on the ground, Kilhauser examined the bottoms of his blue socks. They were dotted with blood. “Hmm.” He yanked Jenkins’ shoes from his feet, a move that shook Malloy more than had the gunshot.


    “Too small.” Kilhauser tossed them in Malloy’s direction. “My ‘hooves’ wouldn’t fit. Now why the hell would I have hooves?”


    Malloy approached the shoes, but did not slip his feet into them. Instead he pulled out the shoelaces. Placing one in his pocket, he began to tie knots in the other. Tight, uniform knots, each an inch apart, and the wind which he was growing to hate subsided a bit in his ears.


    “Guess he thought I was the Devil.” Kilhauser shrugged.


    “The Black Man,” Malloy said.


    “You’re right, it was probably just some racial shit,” Kilhauser said. Malloy let it go.


    He sat, and he and Kilhauser were at eye level. Malloy tied his knots, then untied them, then tied them again.


    “You gone?” Kilhauser asked.


    “I’m still here. Just trying to calm my nerves.”


    “Hmm.”


    “I was in a place called Gallows Hill for a while,” Malloy said. “I was on the open ward for a bit. We each bunked with another patient. There were these two men, one was real nervous, very slight and pale. The sort you really need to watch. The other was slight too, but he had a quiet strength. Dignity. He had a thick brown book with him, always, leather-bound. He read from it to the other man. The rest of us didn’t pay much attention, but I would listen in sometimes – the story was a fantastic epic, with creatures unlike any I’d ever dreamed in my life. He would read the story chapter by chapter, one a day. The little man would always beg him to read more, but when a chapter was finished, that was it for the day. I have to admit, after a while I was drawn into it. Whenever he stopped I wished he would continue too. Can’t even describe the story...it would take hours just to lay out the premise. It was a brilliant tale.”


    Kilhauser listened quietly, picking at his socks.


    “One day I was awakened by screams. Everyone was screaming. The staff, who had seen, and the other patients, who took up the hysterics without hesitation. Everyone was screaming. No one screamed louder than the nervous little man. You know I can’t even recall his name? But his scream, that I remember. Shades of it here and there in the wind.”


    After a moment’s silence, Kilhauser asked, “Why were they screaming?”


    “He’d killed his bunkmate. Pushed his thumbs into the man’s eyes, strangled him. He wanted the book, of course. He wanted to finish the story, and have it to read again and again at his leisure.”


    “But...”


    “The pages were blank. All of them.”


    Another silence.


    Kilhauser stood and replaced the gun in his waistband. “Did that really happen?”


    “Yes.”


    “Were you the little man or something?”


    “No, no.” Malloy laughed softly. “But the story had a point, Kilhauser.”


    “Well, I missed it.” He started toward the truck.


    “He was hunting people,” Malloy said. “Jenkins. I think that’s why I’m not so horrified at what you did.”


    “I know. And he said something about us ‘cleaning up’ at Chamber Seat. I guess he thought we’d snuck in there to slaughter the helpless wackos. And, of course, that I had hooves.”


    “So we’re going into the city now?”


    “Right. You still in?”


    “It’s as good a road as any other,” Malloy said.


     


     


    Two and a Half


     


    She was never to speak again, and soon never again to hear the words of her parents – their cajoling, their threats, their weeping. But she continued to draw.


    Dr. Bierce agreed to come and examine her at the family home. His conclusion was that she had indeed gone deaf, but that the condition might be psychosomatic in origin – a reaction to the voice that had made her flinch for so long. He pointed to the fact that she wasn’t flinching anymore.


    He wanted to take her back to Chamber Seat, and Mother and Father immediately gave their consent. Little effort was made to explain it to the girl, now fifteen. She and her drawing materials were packed up and carted away without ceremony.


    She was drawing other figures now in addition to the winged thing, and in finer detail than before. She was completely absorbed in the work. Bierce couldn’t distract her for anything. Eventually he just left her in her room.


    He told her parents she had completely withdrawn from reality. There would be no harm in bringing her back home, so far as he could see.


    On the day they came to take her back, she’d been sitting in the community room, sketching by a window and staring outside. The image she was composing on paper looked nothing like the placid day. It looked like an utter wasteland, a time after the end of time. The shadow of the winged thing darkened the sky.


     


    X


     


    The pickup lurched and groaned as Kilhauser struggled with the clutch. “It’s coming back to me. Just take it easy.”


    “I’m fine,” Malloy said.


    “I was talking to the truck.”


    Malloy opened the glove box to see if there was a manual and was confronted by a glistening pinkish mass. It was packed tightly into the compartment, and clear juices ran down and dripped onto his legs. He jerked his knees apart and batted at the hatch, but the latch wouldn’t catch (and he laughed involuntarily at his mind’s Seuss-like narration) and the wet mass was beginning to push its way out like rising dough.


    “What the hell is that?” Kilhauser shouted. “Jesus, is it alive??”


    “I don’t know!” Malloy didn’t want to touch the blob, but he knew it was going to fall into his lap if he didn’t get it back in there. He planted his hands against the warm thing and shoved. It made a farting protest, wormy strips of what looked like meat squirting between his fingers.


    It was meat. It was someone’s bloody insides.


    He crammed it into the compartment with a yelp and slammed the hatch shut. He heard the latch squishing through the mess and locking into place. Pink ribbons oozed from the bottom of the compartment. His legs were stained the same color.


    “I think that was the fellow he mentioned,” Malloy said through dry heaves. “The one he was riding with.”


    “We’ve gotta ditch this thing,” Kilhauser said. “Keep an eye out for cars when we get into the city. I’ve got a feeling it’s gonna be slim pickings.”


    “I think I might throw up.”


    “Roll down the window!”


    “Wait. It’s all right.” Malloy placed his hands against the dashboard and, drawing deep breaths, stared at the ceiling. “I’ll be all right.” Thank God the wind was coming in through the windshield, lest he catch a thick whiff of what covered him.


    “We’re both bloody now. We’ll find somewhere to wash up,” Kilhauser told him.


    The big man reached over the wheel to pick and toss a few glass shards. “So Malloy, is this all part of the King’s great plan? Why are your subjects hunting and killing each other?”


    “They can’t handle it, that’s all,” Malloy said. “Men like Jenkins and Bierce, their minds couldn’t handle it. Maniacs like that aren’t part of my court, believe me. It hasn’t all been revealed yet, but I certainly know that much.”


    “How do you plan to get them in line, then?”


    “All will be revealed.”


    “When?”


    “Whenever it’s revealed! I’m a king, not a god! We all answer to someone. Why don’t you tell me why our own government would be doing this?”


    “Tabula rasa,” said Kilhauser. “Some have been programmed to tear down what is, and others to build anew. I don’t know about you, but they picked me for the latter camp. They were grooming me from the start. Through the Colonel, then in flight school, then what came next.”


    “The Colonel? Another doctor, like Bierce?”


    “No. My old man. He was a pilot too.”


    “Air Force? You flew?”


    “Not for long. They pulled me out of there when I started asking about what we were spraying the public with. I was never meant to fly. Never meant to have a wife or a family. They needed to break me down, see, get me into Chamber Seat and program me. But I’m smarter.” He grinned. “You’ll see.”


    The road sign announcing the city was sprayed with a white symbol, a circle with a squiggle falling through it. “What does that mean to you?” Malloy asked.


    “Don’t know it.”


    “I wonder how long things have been like this,” Malloy said. “Wind’s been blowing for more than two years. Could be that most of it fell in the first months...maybe Bierce and the others were mad for all that time.”


    “So you think every person has lost it?”


    “By degrees, yes.” Except me.


    An overpass took them past the rooftops of warehouses, some of which bore large white symbols like the one on the sign.


    “We’re low on gas,” Kilhauser said. “Keep your eyes peeled.”


    Malloy switched on the radio and cycled through various static screams. “What good’s that going to do?” Kilhauser demanded.


    “I don’t know.” Malloy swept back and forth across the dial. “The city’s hardly in ruins. The streetlamps are on. I thought maybe there was still radio.”


    “True enough. It’s mostly the intangible that’s being torn down.” Kilhauser slapped the glove box. “That and guys like this.”


    “Please don’t make jokes. I’m still a little queasy.”


    “Yes, Your Highness.”


    A frequency crackled, and for a split second Malloy heard a voice. So did Kilhauser. “Go back!”


    “—It’s raining fire here on Mars. I can see through my hands,” a man announced in that obnoxious zoo-crew patter. “All potential futures are coming to pass simultaneously. Fifty-five degrees here at your home for the hits.”


    Kilhauser chuckled.


    “Listen to the song, drive-timers,” the DJ said. “Cast your consciousness out among the stars as I have. The song resonates across the whole of the cosmos. It’s not just happening in your neck of the woods, my friends. Everything is changing.”


    “Song? Is it a song you hear, Malloy?”


    A crack sounded through the speakers, then dead air.


    “He shot himself,” Kilhauser said.


    “I gathered.”


    “Shit!” Kilhauser screamed, and slammed on the brakes.


     


     


    Pi


     


    The wrecked cars were piled from sidewalk to sidewalk, blocking the road completely. Glancing down a side street to his right, Malloy saw that it was similarly obstructed. “Well, I suppose we’re walking.” He reached for the door handle.


    Kilhauser seized his arm. “That’s what they want!”


    He surveyed what they could see of the road beyond the vehicles. “I – what is that?” Kilhauser’s apprehension seemed to melt away as he slipped from the driver’s seat and approached the wrecks on the main thoroughfare. Malloy followed, and they stopped several yards short of what they saw.


    She looked to be in her forties, maybe a bit younger, olive-skinned and attractive. She was wearing something thin and white like a nightgown. The wind made cooing sounds as it whistled through the twisted metal that was snarled about her, pinning her in the passenger seat of a blue sedan.


    She smiled, weakly, at Malloy.


    “Don’t shoot her,” he said quietly, stepping past Kilhauser.


    “She may as well be dead already.”


    “Why are you going this way?” the woman whispered. She looked much younger than Malloy had first thought. He tried to compose an answer, something that would make sense. Why not just tell her the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?


    “I am The King Malloy,” he told her.


    She bowed her head as much as her confines would allow. His heart leapt.


    Malloy turned, gestured to Kilhauser. Come and see. Overhead, reality’s moorings seemed to groan. It was a disapproving sound – ooooOOOOOOOOOOOHHH!! But the music of the air passing through the shattered cars was as the woman’s voice, gentle and seductive.


    “You should go back,” the woman said. “Into the country.”


    “Not falling for that.” Kilhauser made a display of the revolver.


    “Wait,” Malloy hissed. To the woman he said, “Why the country?”


    “Because, King, that is where you shall find the seat of your kingdom.”


    “Where? Where exactly?”


    “I can’t believe you’re listening to this,” Kilhauser sighed. “She doesn’t even know you. She’s delirious. She’s dying.”


    “You won’t come with us?” the woman’s face fell. “You will abandon your King?”


    “What do you mean, ‘us’?” Malloy shook his head and stepped back. “Both of you, just wait a minute. Let me think.” He needed to assert his authority – dismiss Kilhauser if need be, and take the woman and the truck. As a matter of fact, he really didn’t want Kilhauser along anymore. Here he had found someone who actually understood. Let Kilhauser continue his fruitless quest into the city, into self-exile.


    “Give me the gun,” Malloy commanded.


    “What?” Kilhauser laughed.


    “Give it to him,” the woman said silkily. It only made Kilhauser laugh harder. When blood began to spread beneath the sheer fabric of her gown, the noise died.


    “What the hell is this?” he stammered. She was still smiling.


    “The gun!” Malloy snapped.


    Kilhauser shrank away, actually shrank away! So he saw the King for who he was. But he didn’t relinquish the weapon. Instead he backed off, eyes darting from Malloy to the woman.


    “Alien spores,” he muttered. “Corrupt chips.”


    “Only reality,” the woman said. Her smile was terrible now, lips rouged with blood, and Malloy loved it. He reached his hand toward Kilhauser.


    “No,” Kilhauser said. “You’re wrong. YOU’RE WRONG!”


    “And you’re grasping at straws,” said Malloy.


    “The signs.” The woman reached a hand out the car window and pointed to the white symbol spray-painted on an anti-gang billboard. “This is a hostile place. It makes hostile men.”


    “We’ll leave him here,” Malloy told her.


    “What’s this ‘we’ shit?” Kilhauser cried. “You can’t get her out of there! You’re nuts!”


    “No,” the woman said, in answer to Malloy. He saw what she meant, and his resolve faltered.


    “He’s harmless without that gun,” he said to her. “We’ll just leave him.”


    “No. His delirium is an infection. He will spread it to others.”


    Kilhauser was on the sidewalk now. The gun was pointed at the ground, and his limbs were shaking so hard Malloy was afraid he might blow his own foot off. “Stay away!” he howled. “I’m not infected! I’m clean!”


    “Take the gun from him,” the woman said.


    Malloy didn’t budge. “He’ll shoot me.”


    “You are The King Malloy. You cannot die.”


    His blood ran cold at the lie, and he turned to face her. There was nothing beautiful about her. It was a skin of lies, thin and wispy as the gown.


    “Mmm?” the woman smiled at him. She ran her free hand over the strap on her shoulder.


    “Don’t.”


    The gown spilled from her breasts. She drew crimson circles around her nipples with her fingertips, then her hand moved lower, beneath the steering wheel and the gown. “Mmm?” The wind blew strands of hair across her face. She made the sound again, this time deeper. “Mmmmm.” Malloy felt sick and confused, like a child, and he knew he was pinching the head of his growing erection but he didn’t stop. He wanted her to come out of the wreck, to him. She wanted the opposite. He couldn’t. His terror was as great as his arousal.


    “Mmmmm,” she cooed.


    He heard, Never mind the country then. Your seat is here. Be at my side. Let death enfold you.


    He heard, Kill the other first.


    He came with an awful moan, tearing his eyes from her in that moment, and found Kilhauser right behind him, who fired twice.


    Malloy stood bolt upright, clutching at his chest, his stomach. He wasn’t shot. He spun back to face the wreck.


    Even the gown was gone. All of her was.


    “We both saw her,” Kilhauser panted. “It’s all right. It means we’re on the same side, Malloy – whatever it is, it’s in both our minds – we’re the same.” He still had fear in his eyes. He wasn’t reasoning, he was pleading. Malloy wanted him to shrug it off and rudely wrest control from the King.


    No no no! He couldn’t allow that. The woman had been placed here for him. That she had tried to lure him off the right path simply vindicated him further. He had passed this test only by the grace of Kilhauser’s trigger finger, but he would not surrender his crown for that.


    “We walk now,” Malloy said, “Into the city. And I do want the gun.”


    Kilhauser gave it to him, still shaken. “We’re both infected.”


    “We’re not infected with anything,” Malloy said. “That wasn’t a hallucination. Follow me.”


    He tried to ignore the dampness in his crotch as he climbed over the cars. He didn’t think Kilhauser had seen that.
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    She wasn’t his daughter anymore. It was the only thing he knew to be true.


    Mother was hanging in the foyer. She’d made a noose from Nyla’s bed linens, white sheets now marred with the charcoal imagery the girl had etched upon every surface in the house.


    Father swayed dizzily at the sound of Nyla’s song. He ripped out every drawer in the kitchen, spilling their contents on the floor and trying to sort through them. It was worse than being unable to remember the names of things. Nothing he saw made sense. He finally identified a knife by the way it bored into his wrist. He pulled the blade away from the wound and staggered upstairs.


    All the while the wind howled.


    Nyla’s door was wide open, flush with the wall, the wind stronger here than anywhere else in the house. Father couldn’t even look at the girl. Every time he tried, his eyes dried out and the breath was stolen from his lungs. He kept his head down and pushed along the wall until he could grasp her doorknob.


    “This isn’t your fault, baby,” he said soundlessly. “Daddy doesn’t want to hurt you. He has to. He HAS TO!”


    He pulled himself into her room. She sat in a chair, hands folded, mouth open, and the song was like church bells on a Sunday in Hell. It screamed every secret shame and shameless sin of his life. It screamed his failure as a father and a man. He looked into Nyla’s eyes and told himself again it wasn’t her. His little girl did not hear, nor speak, and she had never sung. This would not be a last transgression. He planted his feet, raised the knife and drove himself into hurricane winds.


     


     


    Eleventeen


     


    The sky had darkened from bone white to slate gray. Malloy couldn’t distinguish one cloud from another, not even a single cottony wisp; it was as if the planet were wrapped in a blanket, faded and dull.


    Kilhauser sat down on the sidewalk and stared at his feet. “What are you doing?” Malloy asked.


    “Just trying to... center... find my center.” Kilhauser rubbed his eyes, then let his hands drop. He hummed softly.


    “What is that?” Malloy demanded.


    “Please. My ablutions.” He was meditating. Malloy sighed and walked to the end of the block. He studied the symbols sprayed on various buildings. There were a couple he hadn’t yet seen. One was a sickly yellow and depicted what looked like a headless stick figure. It was perched atop a wavy line that might have represented water. Malloy approached the building. A weathered sign which said only CURIOS rested against the brick, having fallen or been torn down. The windows of the shop were caked with dust. Malloy reached out and tried to pull a fingertip through the grit, to draw a crown, but he couldn’t make so much as a smudge. Two-plus years’ grime coated everything.


    Kilhauser joined him. “What do you see?”


    “Nothing. It’s just dust.”


    A bang against the glass made them both jump. The gun clattered on the sidewalk. Malloy’s face reddened as he scrambled to recover it. Kilhauser didn’t make a move for it. Malloy rose and pounded on the door of the shop. “Who’s in there?”


    The door creaked open, revealing a small, white-haired man in a tweed jacket. “You’ve come for me, then?”


    “Well, who are you?” Malloy asked.


    The man gave him an odd look. “Tasel. You’re not – you don’t hear it, do you?”


    “The song,” Kilhauser said. “No we don’t.”


    The little man stepped back. “Please, quickly.” He ushered them into a candlelit space and closed the door.


    Most of the shelves were littered with fantasy-themed knickknacks. Dragons in repose, winged maidens, castles growing out of rock. The little man grunted as he pushed a bureau in front of the door. “I have water, but little else I’m afraid. I’m sorry.”


    “It’s all right.” Malloy turned to him. “Do you know me?”


    “I’m afraid not. I thought perhaps you knew me, too, but I’m glad you did not.” The man walked behind the cashier counter and produced a couple of bottles of water. They were warm to the touch, and only aggravated what Malloy realized was a desperate thirst. He hadn’t even thought about sustenance until now.


    He set the bottle down and tried not to look resentful. After all, the old man hadn’t known. “I am The King Malloy.”


    “I’m afraid I don’t know that one,” the man replied. He toddled into the back of the room.


    “You said your name is Tasel?” Kilhauser asked. He’d returned to life in the presence of another seemingly-sane human. Malloy resented that too.


    “Vel Tasel,” the little man said, seating himself at a desk covered in books. “One of the few. The few left.”


    “The unaffected.” Kilhauser glanced over the books, as did Malloy. None of the titles were in English, and the print on the yellowed pages was of the same strange, flowing script.


    “I’m surprised you are unaffected too,” Tasel told them. “Being out there as you were. See, I know you aren’t like the others because they don’t pretend. Either they can’t, or they simply have no reason to. I suppose it’s their world now.”


    “What’s wrong with them? How did this happen?” Kilhauser leaned over the desk, and the candles there flickered as he demanded, “Who did it?”


    “Ah.” Tasel smiled and patted the books. He took a pair of Coke-bottle spectacles from inside his jacket. “He has countless names.” He pulled down a thick volume from the largest stack of tomes and opened it to the middle. He began removing loose pages, saying words under his breath, most of which Malloy didn’t understand, though he picked out “The Black Man.”


    Tasel handed Kilhauser a sheet upon which was drawn a great, bat-like monstrosity with a burning eye. Malloy laughed at it. “The Devil? Is that what you mean?”


    “Oh, no,” Tasel said softly. “The Devil is but a mask.”


    Kilhauser stiffened. Malloy, thinking it was that key word mask, put the gun behind his back and stepped away. But Kilhauser was studying the illustration.


    “I’ve seen this,” he said. “In Bierce’s files...a patient, I can’t remember her name. Something with an N or a V.”


    “Interesting.” Tasel sat back. “Funny.”


    Neither Malloy nor Kilhauser asked what he meant by that. Malloy watched Kilhauser’s face pinch as he tried to remember. “Vy...Violet? No, no, it’s Nyla. Reed. She drew this. She drew this exact thing. What does that mean?”


    Tasel shrugged. “The universe is an unthinking body. An idiot. Sometimes it feels a tickle and some involuntary reflex responds. That’s all, and the sole explanation for you two.”


    The fire was back in Kilhauser. “Speak human,” he growled.


    “It’s too fantastic to be a coincidence,” Tasel went on, removing his glasses and folding them in his stubby hands, “that you saw her drawings. It’s just as fantastic that you wound up here. But see, I anticipate these little hiccups. I was waiting for you.”


    “Of course you were.” Malloy raised the gun. Kilhauser stumbled out of its path.


    “Another test, another liar,” Malloy said. “Like the woman. We wouldn’t just happen to run into an old man who knows all about what’s happening.”


    “The real Tasel did know,” the old man said. “That’s how I knew to come and wait here. In this...not a test, Malloy, a mask.”


    And then the mask began to melt away, and the world spun out of focus as Malloy’s own screams filled his head. Then the voice of the thing, not a voice but a pulse, a pulse like a needle at once white-hot and blindingly cold. “I don’t like to speak human, not at all – a vile idiot tongue – would you like to hear my real name? ARE YOU JUST DYING TO KNOW IT?”


    Somewhere far away, the gun roared. The needle withdrew, and Malloy was on the floor, weeping, arms over his head and his knees drawn to his chest.


    He shrieked when Kilhauser touched him.


    “It’s all right,” the big man said, the smoking revolver in his hand. “He’s gone. Just like the woman.”


    “Lies,” Malloy sobbed. “He told lies.”


    “No,” Kilhauser said. “Only reality.”


    He sat on the floor next to Malloy. “Aliens. I knew it. Goddamned aliens.”


    “Aliens you’ll believe? But you reject me as King again?” Malloy pushed himself against the far wall. “You’ll accept what that thing said? That thing – I can’t even remember what it looked like, or what it sounded like, thank the gods – but I remember it called us the universe’s involuntary reaction to it. Like a sneeze. That’s what you think of yourself? I thought you were meant for great things, Kilhauser. Well? Answer me!”


    “Jenkins said we must have really cleaned up back at Chamber Seat,” Kilhauser whispered.


    “That’s it? That’s what you have to say?”


    “Jenkins, and the other crazies, they’re hunting people like us. The people who were already head cases. Because we’re the only ones who aren’t affected. That girl Nyla Reed wasn’t crazy. She really was hearing something, and now all these people hear it too. But not us...you know what this means?” Tears were in Kilhauser’s eyes. “It means we’re really crazy, Malloy. That’s the reason we’re not hearing the song. Whatever room in our heads it means to occupy, crazy’s already there. We’re nuts.”


    He tossed his head about. He looked like he was fighting with the knowledge, and finally he stammered, “So what I believe about the government’s involvement, about their involvement with me – I think that’s still objectively true, but my personal belief in it is born of delusion. Just a crazy, lucky guess. Lucky in that it’s shielded me from the song. Maybe that’s how my programming’s designed to work. I shouldn’t try to figure it out then.”


    Malloy shook his head violently. Kilhauser put his own between his knees and said, “Yes, Malloy, yes. But no, I don’t think some random burp in space-time set me on this path. I’m here because I’m supposed to be. I am meant for something great. You can be there with me. You’re not going to be a king. But you can do this with me.”


    “That’s fine. You go.”


    “Malloy, this is better than predestination, this is you making the choice--”


    “No really, I’m okay here, and I’m okay with what you think. You’re mad but you’re not, and I, meanwhile, am simply mad. That’s just fine. Incidentally, fuck your mother.”


    “Malloy. Stand up. Let’s go. I think she lives here in the city. The girl.”


    “You’re the one who recognized the drawing. You’re the one who figured it all out. It’s your game, not mine.”


    Malloy lay on his side and closed his eyes. He stayed that way until he heard Kilhauser walk to the door and move away the bureau. He watched through slits as the man left the shop.


     


     


    Infinity


     


    It was pitch dark, every candle extinguished, the sky black outside and the wind bitterly cold. Malloy called into it, “Kilhauser?” But Kilhauser had been gone for hours.


    Malloy stood in the street. He eyed the starless sky, expecting black wings to swoop down and slash at him. He searched for the burning eye of the god, the real god, but it was nowhere to be seen. Maybe the god was sleeping.


    Malloy walked for a while, taking arbitrary turns until he was good and lost, then he went into a café through the smashed front window and found a phone book in the light of the streetlamp outside. He looked up REED. Thirty-seven listings ad no NYLA. Was she a child in her parents’ home? Kilhauser probably knew which listing was the right one. He was probably there already. Yet the wind hadn’t stopped.


    He walked aimlessly a while longer. He wasn’t sure how much time had passed, if any at all. He saw a traffic light up ahead, showing red, and watched until it turned green. So, then, time was passing, and he sat in the middle of the road and counted the seconds as the light cycled. It was like an eye, each segment regarding him with a different emotion. The green light was cool and detached, but the yellow was threatening, and it made him uneasy how quickly it became fiery red. He breathed I’m sorrys, rather than Mississippis, between the seconds.


    Soon it was that the three-lobed eye was all he could see, surrounded by a perfect darkness, and all he could hear was the hollow click as the colors changed. His heart slowed to a peaceful rhythm. He thought this was what it must be like for Kilhauser when he meditated. Kilhauser. Nyla Reed. The unnamable god.


    He lurched backwards, falling flat on the asphalt. A skeleton clothed in rags hung from the beam beside the traffic light. How had he not seen it before? He stood and, approaching it, saw that a papery skin still covered most of the thing. Sneakers hung from its feet. He pulled them down and slipped them on. A little tight, but he could break them in.


    “Thank you,” he said to the skeleton, 


    There was a golden wristwatch on its right wrist. He jumped at it, but was unable to reach. Malloy was terribly out of shape, he knew, and so finally he asked the man what time he had.


    “Mine,” the skeleton rasped, wind through bones, and turned its sockets from him in a huff.


    “Well, you gave me the shoes.” Malloy stood and glared at the skeleton for a few moments. There was no argument. He walked away.


    The wind picked up a little. He hugged his arms to his chest. It had been so much more pleasant during the day, seductively so. He didn’t care for this attitude at all. He wondered what he had ever done to displease the terrible god. “I’m sorry,” he said again.


    Kilhauser lay under a blinking traffic light. It hung at an angle, the light, and flashed angry red. Kilhauser’s face was wet and a sort of metal rod protruded from just below his ribs.


    “Who did this to you?” Malloy breathed.


    “I did,” Kilhauser said, and laughed.


    Malloy stooped and placed his hands on his knees. “Are you dying?”


    “Yes,” Kilhauser said. He lifted his head slightly. “Malloy – there is no renewal. Just death. That’s all it wants.”


    He coughed. Wetness speckled his chest, black beads falling in red light. “Malloy, you were right. You are King. You can stop it. You have to. You’re the only one.” He gripped Malloy’s hand and whispered the girl’s address, then the only thing in his eyes was the pulsing, clicking traffic light.


    The King Malloy rose and looked at the nearest street sign. The address was all numbers. He could find it. He counted his aching footfalls.
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    Seven hundred and twelve. He ascended the porch steps and looked through the open door of the narrow house. It was in an affluent neighborhood, or had been, and in the foyer he saw a nice chandelier from which hung another skeleton. The wind issued forth from the house, out into the entire world, and Malloy had to pull himself along the railing to the doorway and then grasp the frame to heave himself through.


    The crystal drops hanging from the chandelier tinkled overhead. The wind was coming down the staircase. It tore at Malloy’s hair. He couldn’t hear anything but the wind and the chandelier, and then a high-pitched groan and he moved aside just in time as corpse and crystal came smashing down.


    You want to see me again, Malloy? How soon we forget. This time I won’t let you forget. I’ll make you see until your eyes leap from your head and your feet stamp them into the carpet. And I’ll keep you alive. Forever, Malloy, with me.


    He crawled up the stairs. The wind screamed around him. He had to keep his head down. The voice continued, that inhuman wail:


    Come see me then! Come see infinity!


    He fell into the upstairs hallway. There was no frame of reference anymore, sound and sight torn away, the wind as tactile as the floor and resisting every blow of his fists. He was enveloped in it, a womb of screams and razors which turned about a living corpse. His tears were driven back into his brain and they salted the meat as the shell of him began to crack, as he realized that he was as much the wind as he was Malloy, and that it was he who had murdered Kilhauser, poor Kilhauser. Kilhauser, who had realized that only their self-delusion kept the song at bay, who in dying had tried to convince Malloy again that he was indeed the King. But he wasn’t. Free now and forever of that beautiful lie, Malloy felt the song come into him.


    Come and see.


    Feet touched ground and he was able to enter the last room. The girl sat in a chair before him, mouth open, eyes open. A skeleton lay on the bed beside her, the dried remnants of its innards wrapped about its hands. A butcher knife lay in the cradle of its pelvis.


    Become Everything and Nothing. The song turned the room around him and placed the knife in his hand. Give yourself new eyes, child. Give yourself new ears. Open a hundred new mouths and join the song.


    His flesh pursed around the blade and kissed it red. New colors were born before him, and new geometry, with every strike of the blade sending him on a wild new course through dimensions and aeons.


    Down the hall, down the stairs and through the doorway into the starless night. There was nothing in which to believe anymore, for all things were known unto him, and he was all things. And as this was, his screams joined the rest.
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    Tarl Hoch


     


    They called it ‘The Killing Field’.


    No one knew when it had been built, or even if it had been built. The elders in the village that bordered it told stories about how the Field had been around when they were but young whelps scraping their knees climbing trees, or hunting for frogs at Green’s pond. 


    Not that the elders would talk about the Field that often. On cold nights when the wind howled through the village they would speak in hushed tones, eyes wide as they glanced towards the edge of town. Children were warned away from it while the adults avoided it as much as possible. It was a shunned place, a haunted one. No one knew how it had come to be, and the myths were as varied as the flakes of snow that fell around me as I stared out across the Field. This was not something new to me.


    Perhaps that was why they whispered about me. 


    I was never what people considered a normal child. I never chased frogs, built tree forts, or fought mock battles with swords fashioned from wood scraps. The self-abusive nature of the male youth never reared its head in me. Instead I spent most of my time near the Field, my gaze wondering over every detail I could see. Something about it called to me.


    Winter’s breath caressed across my shoulders, a chill shivering its way through the layers of wool and into my skin. I hardly noticed, my attention on the Field. It was actually a lake, despite the name, the water a clear blue-green that seemed to go on forever until the light was swallowed in its depths. Even now, in the dead of winter, I knew that if I pushed aside the snow I would be able to see deep into the water despite the thick ice that covered it. It begged to have you leap into it to splash about, or to relieve your thirst.


    But no one ever did. 


    No tire swings hung at its edge, no boats lay moored at its side. No matter how tempting the waters looked, how refreshing they would be, no ripples were sent across its surface. Even the animals avoided its banks. 


    But now, with winter’s hand firmly over us, it truly lived up to its name. Like a massive patch torn from the surrounding trees, it stretched off through the falling snow, its edge lost in the swirls of white. Even through the falling snow I could see one of the pillars jutting through the ice skywards. 


    It wasn’t alone. 


    No matter the season, the pillars were always there. They dotted the surface of the Field like silent sentinels. There were hundreds of them, set as if random throughout the lake, some of them barely breaking the surface, others rising taller than a man. I let my eyes wander over one, following grooves carved into its black form that had filled with snow like the veins in an arm. They were petrified wood, I had heard once, and I longed to cross the ice and press my naked palm against one. To feel the strength of it, to move my fingers through the grooves like a new lover exploring their partner. But even despite the call, I remained sitting on the fallen tree at the edge of the Field. No matter how much I wanted to cross the ice, something in the back of my head kept me from doing so.


    Perhaps that was why I spent so much time here.


    The wind picked up, the hiss of ice crystals brushing against each other, singing a song to me as the snow swirled around me. I could hear the soft keening noise come from the pillars when the wind blew in a certain direction. 


    “I thought I would find you here.”


    The voice cut through the silence that had crawled into my head, making my gaze jerk away from the pillars, though I resisted the urge to turn. There was a crunch of snow and Derek sat beside me. The wind had shifted and the pillars were silent again. I scratched idly at my arm.


    “Janice was looking for you.” 


    My head started to turn before I caught myself.


    Janice.


    My heart sped up, the pillars and Field forgotten. The memory of the last time I had seen her swam into my mind and I let it sweep over me. She had smiled at me in passing at the market, a basket of bread in her arms. Sunray yellow hair fell from her head in waves, spilling upon slender shoulders. Eyes of crystal blue had met my dirty brown ones and danced. But it had been her smile that had been the stunning blow, piercing my heart, and warming it in a way that had confused me. I shouldn’t have been surprised. I was a young man. The lessons in school had told us of the changes in our bodies and that it was natural to seek out the opposite sex. It was an animal drive to reproduce.


    But until then I had only had one thought in my mind.


    The Field.


    The pillars.


    Janice had changed that with one smile. Suddenly my childhood obsession had competition. 


    “What did she say?” My voice sounded strange to my ears. Deeper, not the voice I had grown up with. This was also supposed to be expected with age, but even knowing that, it felt different. Alien, strange, not my own.


    There was a crinkle as Derek turned his head but I kept my gaze on the Field, my eyes hidden in the depths of my woolen hood. I hated the modern fabric, brought into the village by those that had left and returned. It was stiff, loud and annoying. But yet people still left our village to see the world outside, hoping to find adventure, a life away from our little slice of the world and, of course, the Field.


    They always came back. 


    “Nothing much.” His voice broke the wanderings of my mind. “Just that she was looking for you. I asked her why and she wouldn’t tell me.”


    This time I looked at my friend, if that was what I could call him. Certainly, he was one of the only people who spent any length of time in close proximity to me. He was looking out across the Field, green eyes scanning the snow beneath bangs of dark blonde hair that reminded me of wheat left to brown and die.


    His eyes met mine. 


    “What did you tell her?” 


    He licked his lips. “I told her I would find you, that I knew where you most likely were.”


    I nodded.


    He turned back to looking at the Field. “She wanted to come, but I told her no, it was too cold.”


    “Good.” 


    “She’s a beautiful woman.” 


    I watched the warm air escape Derek’s lips with each word, the clouds of white vanishing as the wind caught them. It took me a moment to realize what he had said. My gaze returned to the Field; his statement didn’t need to be validated, he knew the answer. The wind pushed a burst of ice and snow against us as silence again drifted over us. I scratched my neck with numb fingers as I tried to figure out what I was going to do with this new information.


    “So are you going to go and see her?” He glanced at me and our eyes met once more; this time it was I who averted my gaze. Finally I nodded.


    “Do you know where she is?” I rose, the movement fluid despite the cold. Derek followed, the sound of his jacket’s synthetic fabric while he moved made me clench my jaw. 


    He turned to face me and smiled. “She’ll be at the Hall. Her father is there as well, though I think he’s preparing for the service that’s coming up. I’m sure if you’re careful you won’t have to deal with him.”


    I turned without another word and started back towards the village, stepping in Derek’s footprints. Mine had been obscured long ago while I sat. Behind us, the wind picked up over the ice and the soft keening returned, following me as I walked back into town.
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    Derek started to talk now that we were moving away from the Field. The silence of the place had obviously made him uncomfortable rather than bringing the inner peace I so often found there. From behind me, he could not see my smirk while tales about the local girls-turned-women tumbled out of his mouth. Who was the fairest, who was starting to go out with whom, who was easy. He had plans about leaving town to travel after a couple years of work at his father’s wood-shop followed soon after. Derek had skilled hands, so I nodded when he asked me if I thought it was a good idea, though I was simply agreeing out of reflex.


    My thoughts were on Janice. 


    Then he started talking about the service. It was a big deal in the village. The Longest Night fell on the following day. There would be the service, and of course a celebration afterwards, which was what Derek was truly interested in. That and who was eligible for the service. I nodded, though I was always at the back of the Hall during the service, and a wallflower when it came time for the dance. Though perhaps this year would be different from all the others? After all, Janice would be there.


    As daughter of the High Priest she would be near the altar during the service, as she was every year. But would she go to the celebration afterwards if asked? Would she want me to ask? Should I even try, especially with her father being there? As High Priest, it was his job to oversee the rites of the Killing Field. That alone made him someone of importance. What would he think of me, someone of no status, asking his daughter to the festivities?


    “You’ve been quiet, what’s up?” 


    I realized I had stopped when Derek came up beside me.


    “Janice.”


    My eyes never left the snow at my feet as my mind tried to voice my concerns, but only silence answered him. He moved closer, his hand coming to rest on my shoulder. It felt heavy, confining, and although I wanted nothing more than to be free of it, I gave in, if only to get him to move away sooner. 


    “Ahh, young love.” He smirked at me while my skin crawled beneath his hand as though the tiny legs of insects were pressing against my flesh from the inside in an attempt to lift the foreign appendage off my shoulder. I finally stepped away, freeing myself of Derek’s bondage.


    “She’s beyond my reach.”


    Derek smiled, and I regretted opening my mouth. 


    “The woman asked after you, Halitus. She was looking for you. Use your head, man, or are you that inept with girls?”


    Hearing someone my own age take the tone of an elder with me had me clenching my teeth again and I started walking again, driving my feet into the snow with each step. In my thick mitts my hands clenched until I felt my knuckles go numb. He must have realized he had crossed a line because we walked the rest of the distance to the town in silence.


    Even with the weather as cold as it was, I could see people out in the snow. People out in the streets shoveling walkways or watching as their children played. Some glanced up at us as we finally reached the sidewalk and stomped the snow from our feet. I tried to ignore the subtle tightness that took over their actions. The way they moved closer to their children, or shoveled slower so they could glance at me when they thought I wasn’t looking. I lowered my gaze to the walk before me as I shoved my hands into my pockets. 


    “I’m going to stop off at home, Hal.” Derek patted me on the back, the blows almost knocking me from my feet. “Good luck; you’ll have to let me know what happens tomorrow at the service.” He trudged off across the street. I watched for a moment before turning and continuing towards the center of town. My thoughts were about what I would say to Janice when I saw her. Would she ask me instead of waiting for me to ask her to the dance? It wasn’t unknown in the town for women to break the subtle rules applied to the sexes.


    No, I decided. She wouldn’t. 


    She was the daughter of the High Priest. It would be expected for me to court her. I would have to make the first move. 


    My mouth felt dry, the cold air tasting sharp and bitter as I pulled breaths in through the rough scarf pulled up around my mouth. The itch had returned on my arm and I rubbed the spot through my jacket before I raised my eyes and saw the massive form of the Hall before me. 


    It had been a church once upon a time, later converted to a community hall and now used as sort of both. The stones were weathered and ancient looking, cut square blocks mixed freely with round river stone so that the building had a certain chaotic flair to it. But I liked the look of it, there was a warmth there. Movement caught my eyes and a form resolved itself in the glow of a window.


    Janice.


    Her hair was more radiant than I had remembered it to be. I stood there, my hands in my pockets, my mouth slightly open as I sucked in air. My heart beat in my ears as my pulse started to race. She was reading something and kept glancing up to someone away from the window. It had to be her father. Raising a delicate hand with long fingers, she pushed back a stray strand of hair. It fell into place behind her ear and she smiled again. 


    My breath caught, and what courage Derek’s ribbing had risen in me faltered at the sight of my goal. I was a mortal in the presence of an angel, unable to form thought or words at the beauty before me. She nodded her head and I watched every movement of her slender neck. There was a burning in my chest that seemed to link with lower in my body and I cursed myself for the weakness of my flesh. I was not like the others, and I would behave as my mother taught me. In punishment I tore my eyes away from Janice only for them to alight on her again. She glanced up and saw me. Her mouth opened in a small ‘O’ which quickly vanished to be replaced with a smile, showing her perfect teeth. She waved me to come in. 


    Pulse racing, I took a step closer, even though my body told me to run. I chewed my lip and took another step forward. Janice’s smile widened and she disappeared from the window in the direction of the front doors. With her gone from my sight I was able to keep myself walking forward despite the numbness that centered in the heavy beating in my chest. As I reached the large double doors they opened and she smiled at me from the warmth inside.


    “I was looking for you,” she said, and the smile she favored me with stole my words even as they formed in my mind. She moved aside and I gladly followed. Once the door was shut behind me the warmth became oppressive and I had trouble breathing. I wanted to be back in the cold, warmed by my own body rather than the artificial heat of the hall. Janice helped me pull off the layers of wool that made up my jacket.


    “Did Derek find you?” Her gaze moved to the door. I hung up the last of my layers and tugged my worn sweater straight. 


    “He found me, told me you were looking for me.” The words felt blunt, heavy.


    Her eyes reminded me of the snow and ice I had left behind. Even a few paces away I could see the flecks of green that swam in their depths. The feeling in my chest returned as she smiled again and nodded, her hair flowing around her head and neck.


    “Father is in the altar room preparing for the service,” she said as she started moving along one of the hallways. I followed behind her, my booted strides heavy compared to the light, fawnish steps she took; her dainty feet placing each with elegance and grace.


    “The Longest Night is tomorrow.” She glanced towards me as if I had forgotten. “There’s a lot to prepare for. It’s a lot of work but I enjoy it. Are you going to come?”


    It was a silly question, everyone came to the service. In all my life in the town I had never known anyone who hadn’t. Even those that moved here from elsewhere seemed to know that it was expected of them. I scratched my neck as I answered, “Of course. I wouldn’t miss it.” 


    She made a noise at my response, one that no male throat could mimic. Something in my body tightened upon hearing it and it felt like I had entered in some game I only knew a quarter of the rules to.


    Elfin hands pushed open a large set of double doors as I paused to look at the dark wood. I had seen them a number of times before and was always fascinated at how similar to the petrified wood of the pillars they were. My hand pressed against them, feeling the primordial age in the grains under my fingertips. Janice’s hand on my arm broke my study of the wood, calling my eyes to hers. The green flecks seemed to dance faster in the endless pools of her eyes. I broke her gaze and looked where she touched me. I barely felt it. Instead of the heavy weight of Derek’s hand, it only felt like a slightly warmer spot on my arm, as if a shaft of sunlight had fallen upon my bare skin. 


    “Come, I want to show you something.”


    She pulled away and I followed, instantly longing for her to touch me again. My heart beat faster and I felt the stirrings of something unknown deeper in my chest. It wasn’t the peace of the field, it was something more. Something primal, something...


    I glanced up and stopped. The room was the largest room in the Hall after the chamber where the service was held. Typically the celebration was held here, and this year would be no different. Janice spun away from me, laughing as her dress spun around her, higher and higher. My gaze was drawn to the pale, milky exposed skin of her calves and shins. With some confusion I wished the dress would travel higher but tore my gaze away, my mouth dry and my cheeks itching with heat. 


    Wreaths of mistletoe and holly curled around the columns that supported the roof which soared above a massive wooden dance floor. Large pillars held fat, deep green candles, their wicks unlit. I stepped forward, my head back as I gazed up at the skylight at the apex of the roof. Sunlight shone down on us, though I felt its warmth was drawn to Janice while leaving me only to bathe in her radiance. 


    She stopped twirling, her skirts moving until they finally settled about her ankles. Her breasts rose and fell as she drew in breath from her brief exertion, the sight of her breathlessness making my cheeks burn further. Skipping forward she grinned, though this time it was more serious than play. Her eyes darted downwards then back up, meeting mine.


    “What do you think?” Janice tipped her head to the decorations.


    “You did a really nice job this time.” I smiled, the motion felt awkward. 


    A hand settled on my chest and I wondered if she could feel my heart beating. “I wanted the decorations to be amazing.” She leaned in and whispered, her breath caressing my ear, “This Longest Night celebration is to be a special one.”


    My breath was caught at the feel of her words against the hairs on my neck. Before I could turn my head she turned away from me, glancing at me from over her shoulder. I took a step forward before realizing it. She giggled and spun away further, her dress twirling as she half-hid behind a support beam. I tried to pull my eyes from her for a moment but her twirling hair and dress captivated me until she stopped. 


    Our eyes met. 


    “Do you like me, Hal?”


    My mouth worked soundlessly to find words.


    She moved forward, a skip in her step until her hands were against my chest again. Looking up at me she lowered her voice. “You do like me, don’t you?”


    I nodded, words fumbling in my head. Her hands moved down my chest as she moved closer. A gasp left my mouth when her fingers slid into the pockets of my jeans. Only when I felt her hit what I kept there, her mouth forming a tiny O, did my bliss break. My hand reached after her while she danced away, a folded piece of paper in her hand. I took a step forward, but she turned away from me, taking it out of my reach. When she had it unfolded she tilted it to the light coming from the skylight above. 


    It was a photograph, heavily creased and worn with age.


    The woman in the picture was smiling at some forgotten joke. She was dressed in a riot of greens, blues and browns. It was if the world itself had given up its richest gifts and wrapped her in them. Raven black hair, long and flowing in luxurious curls of onyx, curled around her shoulders. Her features were high, her mouth small and delicate. Thin lips graced that mouth, though I still remembered how they had puckered when she didn’t smile, and how soft they were when she had kissed me. 


    But it was her eyes that Mother always said had captivated my father. Wide set, they were a brown so dark they rivaled the Field’s pillars. Twin tide pools of dark water teeming with unseen life. 


    “Is this your mother?” I saw her look at the bundle in the woman’s arms. A small child, barely two years old. 


    Janice looked at me when I didn’t answer. “Is that you in the picture?” 


    I nodded and her eyes went back to it as if she could glean some sort of insight into me from it. 


    “She was from a town in Massachusetts,” I began, and once I said those words I couldn’t stop. “It was a coastal city. I only remember the sound of waves against the rocks, the way boats sounded as they passed by where I was born; the scent of salt in the air, and the brightness of the sky. Mother wouldn’t tell me why she left, except that Father had died and she needed to get away. Sometimes I would hear her talk in her sleep about how ‘her kind’ wasn’t welcome anymore in the town.”


    I started to pace on the dance floor, rubbing the back of my neck. “I always assumed she was some sort of gypsy. It wasn’t until later that I realized that was impossible. Our skin was too light, too pallid despite our dark hair and eyes. No, it was just the hatred of people against those that are different.”


    Janice averted her eyes when I looked at her.


    “We came here just after that picture was taken. I still don’t remember the trip. We had been lucky; she found a cheap house when we got here. What little money we had went on it, though what was money compared to shelter?”


    I gazed up at the roof while Janice watched me, her eyes following me. Her mouth carried a slight downward turn and I knew she was having second thoughts about taking the photo, but I kept talking.


    “I’ve never had a lot of money. What I live off to survive, Mother taught me. I make my own clothes, I hunt my own food, and I craft my own furniture. I’ve tried a few times to make friends among the people here, but every time they scorn me. All you people see is a beast aping at being a man.” I felt bad as soon as the words left my mouth. 


    Janice’s mouth opened to protest and I held up a hand, stopping her.


    “Don’t. I know what you see. This is my life. I’ve never been welcome in this town, like my mother before me. I will probably never be. You wanted to know the real me, well this is it. You asked me if I like you. Yes Janice, I like you. You captivate me in ways only one other thing ever has.”


    “The Killing Field.”


    I nodded.


    “Is that why you sit out there? Derek said you sit there for hours at a time, no matter the weather. Why?”


    My arms lowered to my side and I shuffled my feet. 


    “I don’t really know. When my mother disappeared I was lost. Then when they had the funeral and told me they had found her body in the woods, the lake drew me more in my grief. I find silence there from my mind. I find it calming.”


    “Silence?” Janice had moved closer to me, I think out of politeness. Her eyes shone in the twilight of the room when I glanced at her.


    “When I sit at its edge, there’s silence. No people, no animals, no words in my head. It’s peaceful. I’ve even slept there when it is warm enough.” 


    “Have you ever been to one of the gatherings on the Field?”


    “I’ve watched them, though from afar. I’ve never actually stepped out onto the Field myself.”


    “But you watched. You know what goes on.”


    I nodded.


    Janice ran her fingers through her hair.


    “Then you know the myths are true.” There was a tightness in her voice. 


    “Which myths?”


    Her eyes were wide now and she trembled while she spoke. “That the day after blood has been spilled, it’s gone. The snow is as pure as any other day. It’s as if the lake drinks the blood.”


    “It’s true.” The blood I had seen spilled had indeed vanished, though how it happened I could not say. It slowly faded, like a time delay video of a stain fading I had seen on an old television set once when Derek had invited me into his home.


    The look Janice gave me caused me to bridge the space between us. She didn’t pull away as I placed a hand on her shoulder. Her eyes met mine from under her eyelashes and suddenly she embraced me, her head nuzzling against my breast. 


    “It scares me.” Her hands travelled down the curve of my spine. She smelled like wildflowers and sunshine. 


    “It’s ok. I will go with you to the service if you want. I know you will be helping your father, but when we go to the Field I will stand as close to you as I can.”


    Janice lifted her face to look at mine, her eyes moving to look at each of my eyes in turn. “That’s very sweet of you Hal.” 


    I opened my mouth to tell her it was nothing when her lips met mine. It was a nervous touch, as if she was afraid to do it. But then it came fiercer, her hands rising to wrap around my neck as she pulled herself up. My hands found her hips and pulled her closer, our tongues seeking each other out in a breathless dance. Finally the need for air broke us apart. 


    “For someone who’s never kissed a woman you’re pretty good.” Janice whispered, her gaze burrowing into my eyes. 


    “Who told you I’ve never kissed a girl?”


    “Derek.”


    The annoyance I felt towards my friend disappeared when her lips touched mine again, her fingers caressing my hair as we took our time to explore each other. Her body pressed against me and the warmth made my body react. She must have noticed because when the kiss broke she was flushed and pulled away from me, my hands trailing after her. She moved to the door. 


    “I’m sorry, you should go. If Father were to walk in while...” She let the words hang in the air. I nodded, despite the frustration and need that burned in me. I followed her out of the room and she closed the heavy doors behind us as I walked to where my jackets hung. I dressed in a hurry, my anger starting to show. Only once did her hand rest on me as if trying to calm my mood. The cold hit me hard as I stepped out into the swirling snow. 


    Janice stood in the doorway as I trudged through the flakes. I paused to look back where she stood in the doorway. She raised her fingertips to her lips and blew me a kiss before closing the door. I stood in the swirling snow, my heart hammering in my chest. 


    She liked me.


    It was hard not to smile as I walked towards my house. 


     


    X


     


    The next day, I avoided the town for most of the day while people went about preparing for the celebration of the Longest Night. Meat pies were baked, barrels of beer tapped and the usual black candles were in every window except mine. People rushed from store to store trying to avoid the snow which fell from the sky like dandelion tufts, large and fat. The noise was too much for me.


    When Derek found me I was sitting by the edge of the Killing Field, though the inner peace it usually brought me was not to be found. The town’s energy seemed to infect everything around it and it permeated everything. I shifted, I sighed, I paced, yet the peace eluded me time and time again. When Derek finally crashed through the woods that surrounded where I had chosen to sit most of the snow had been cleared by my frustration.


    “How did things go with Janice?” he asked.


    “Good.” I felt that if I told him more, it would lessen the memory that floated in my mind, somehow dirtying it as it spread from person to person. No, I would hold onto it as long as I could and keep it pure. 


    Derek patted me on the back like a dog. “Not going to tell, eh Hal?” He laughed then, the sound echoing through the forest and across the lake. “No matter. Come, they’re about to start soon and I don’t want to miss this. This year will be special! Janice’s father has come up with something that will solve all our problems.” 


    His excitement drew my gaze and he smiled at me, his palm slapping my back again. I ground my teeth together at each blow. I rose to my feet, following Derek. With one last look across the lake, the pillars of night stark against the snow, I turned and walked with Derek back towards the town and Janice.


    The light was fading fast, and while we walked through the streets an eerie silence permeated everything. In every window the candles were already lit, tall tapers that would burn through the night, the interior electric lights turned off. I often thought on the night of the festival that the silence should have comforted me, but it never did. Not in the way the Field did. It was as if the entire town had vanished, replaced with will o’ wisps guarding their dwellings. The sound of our feet crushing the snow was far too sharp, far too loud. My breath like bellows, Derek’s sneeze like the crack of a whip. I scratched my face where my scarf rubbed.


    The dull murmur of a large group chatting with each other slowly rose in the air. Ahead of us the Hall glowed with candles, two or three in every window. People milled about outside, smoke trailing from the pipes and cigarettes in their hands and mouths. We were almost upon them when one of them finally noticed us and the conversations died off to awkward silence while they glanced at us from the corner of their eyes. 


    We moved through them, Derek uttering a couple of words in an attempt to break the silence. He only got grunts or singular words in response. When the Hall’s doors finally closed behind us he stomped his feet and chuckled. “Don’t mind them, Hal.” 


    Derek hung his jacket in the large closet room which was already near capacity. I placed my jacket and most of my layers as far away from the others as possible. I had learned the hard way as a child what people could do to your private possessions when they were left unguarded. Derek watched and shook his head. “Come on, we’re going to miss it.”


    He practically ran down the hallway, forcing me to try to keep up with his long legs. Derek only slowed when the bronze doors came into view. They were open into the holy area of the church, warm light coming from hundreds of candles filling the space beyond the portal with a kind of living light. On either side of the doorway stood Janice and her father.


    Breathing became hard as my gaze wandered over her. The dress she wore was a deep forest green velvet, edged with a gold trim of leaves and vines. It clung to her enough for me to see she wore nothing under it, which halted me on the spot. Derek turned when I stopped, and grabbed my shoulder, shoving me before him. I was about to snap at him when Janice’s father moved towards me.


    He was an imposing man, the deep auburn robes he wore heavy and dark. His hood was up, and as I looked up into his face a sneer greeted me until Derek stepped forward and the High Priest’s face broke into a smile.


    “Ah Derek, I am glad you made it, and I see you found Hal.” I averted my eyes, not wanting to see the look that came with such a tone of voice. 


    Derek went to one knee before Janice’s father. The High Priest took my friend’s face in his hand and tilted his head up. Janice moved forward, a bowl in her hands. Her father dipped his thumb into it then made a mark on Derek’s forehead. A few mumbled words later Derek rose as Janice’s father turned to me. I was already kneeling, no stranger to what was required. 


    He looked down at me, his grey eyes shining deep in the recess of his hood, storm clouds before the first flash of lightning. His fingers dipped into the bowl and Janice stepped back. Derek said something to her but it was lost when her father lifted my head with two fingers, as though loath to touch me.


    The liquid was cold and cloying as it was spread across my brow. The words he said were so low in his throat that I could not make them out. I had lowered my eyes and kept them that way until he finished and moved away from me, his duty done. My gaze rose to find Derek gone, Janice as well. Not wanting to anger the High Priest further, I walked through the metal doors and into the flickering light. Derek wasn’t to be seen among the sea of heads that covered most of the space in the church. I took my usual seat near the back of the room, as far away from the altar as possible and hoped he would find me. 


    The room itself was large enough that the flickering candles, even in the numbers they were, could not penetrate the shadows in the corners. Columns rose from a few places in the room, carved with scenes of the forest, plants and animals rendered in a simple yet elegant design chasing each other around. One year I had sat near one just to study it while the service occurred, much to the anger of the people around me. The moldings along the ceiling were done in much the same style, the wood stained a deep gold. Here and there Janice’s handiwork could be seen in the wreaths of mistletoe, hemlock, and other plants that hung from the walls or chased each other in endless spirals. She had outdone herself this year and I found myself appreciating her work for the first time instead of ignoring it as I did every year previous.


    Something soft touched my shoulder and a warm breath brushed across my ear. 


    “I’m glad you came. Father is about to start but won’t need me until later. We can have some time alone if you want.”


    I didn’t have to turn to know it was Janice, the smell of wildflowers heavy in my senses. I glanced around, noticing that everyone was quieting down, their heads all turned towards the altar. It was now or never. 


    Rising, I moved out of my aisle as quietly as I could, trailing after Janice while she moved along the wall where the shadows were deepest. Flickers of her gold hem danced as she moved quickly towards a door that was hidden behind one of her wandering, woven knots. I followed, the door clicking closed behind us. 


    “Hurry, this way.” She giggled as she darted down the hallway. I followed her flowing form, my eyes taking joy in the way her dress showed the movement of her body. Something stirred in my chest and it felt as if my blood was on fire. I wanted to touch her, to kiss her, to pull her against me. 


    Janice glanced around the corner of a hallway then back at me. She smiled, teeth flashing as she darted around it. I followed in time to see her move into a room. Catching the door before it could close, I threw it open and followed.


    She stood there, her hands behind her back, swaying back and forth on the balls of her feet, the hem of her dress swirling with her movements. Her eyes met mine from under her bangs, the rest of her hair done up in an elaborate braid. The look sent me to her, my hands caressing her hips once more as our lips met. Her hands were on my neck, fingernails digging into the sensitive flesh as our tongues met. I pulled her to me, her warmth pressed against the desire that strained lower in my body. Our kiss broke, she gasped, I kissed her neck. 


    “Stop. Stop. I need to tell you something.”


    I pulled my head back, my eyes meeting hers. My body throbbed against hers and something in me drove me to kiss her again. Unlike the stillness of the Field, this was a torrent of emotion, a storm of blood flowing through my body driven towards one goal.


    I wanted her.


    I needed her.


    She met my eyes and her brow furrowed.


    “Look, I...”


    The door to the room burst open, smashing against the wall hard enough to crack the plaster. I pulled away from Janice, an animal sound rising in my throat. Janice’s father stood framed in the doorway, Derek and a handful of people behind him. It was hard to miss the smile on Derek’s face.


    “Blasphemer!” Janice’s father took a step forward, his hood thrown back, veins standing out on his naked head. Derek moved beside him and pointed at us.


    “I told you he was courting her! My bride to be, and Hal sought to take her for himself!” 


    Bride to be? 


    I stumbled and turned my head towards Janice, my mouth working silently. She clung to herself, not meeting my gaze as she moved further away from me.


    “See his shame at being caught in his crime? See his guilt?” 


    Derek was shouting each word. Janice’s father wrapped his arms around his daughter and kissed her forehead. Slowly he rose his gaze to me, the anger radiating from him in waves; anger and behind it, something else.


    “Halitus has blasphemed against the covenant! He has broken our sacred vows of courtship and on this, our most holy of days!” He pushed his daughter behind him and stalked forward. 


    The blow of his fist caught me off guard. So thick was my shock, I fell to the ground, the world spinning. Someone moved closer and I barely managed to raise my hands before a boot caught me in the side, driving the air from my lungs.


    “I want retribution!” It was Derek, screaming down at me from above. The cry was taken up by the others behind him in the hallway. Derek turned to Janice’s father. “I demand retribution!”


    Through the tears that blurred my vision I saw the High Priest smile and nod.


    “And you shall have it. Bring him!”


    I was seized, though not before blows were landed against my body, and I was dragged back to the altar room. The High Priest strode ahead of us, Janice guided by his arm, her head down. The congregation gasped as I was led before them, hanging between two men while the High Priest took to the pulpit. 


    “Brothers and sisters of the faith. On this, our most holy of days, the day of the Longest Night, one among us has blasphemed. On our day of sacrifice, of giving up one of our own so that we may all live in happiness and peace, this man sought to bring ruin upon us all!”


    There were more gasps and a few cries of outrage from the congregation at his words. I kept my eyes lowered, not wishing to see the scorn and hate that even now was rising against me like a physical force. Derek moved beside me, his voice rising above the slowly growing cries of shock and anger.


    “Halitus has sought to steal away my betrothed!”


    More cries of anger.


    “As you all know,” Janice’s father continued. “Derek has made his intentions with my daughter known. They are to be wed this summer when the sun burns brightest in the sky. But while we all lowered our heads in prayer, giving thanks for a bountiful year and preparing for the sacrifice, the snake in the grass struck. Halitus stole Derek’s bride away and was caught performing indecent acts!”


    I tried to raise my voice in defense of myself, but the shouts from the congregation drowned me out. A few threw the unlit candles they had been holding, the projectiles bouncing off my shoulders and head as I was held in place with strong hands.


    “I demand retribution!” Derek cried once again.


    The crowd took up the cry as soon as it left Derek’s lips. Further candles flew at me as more and more people rose to their feet, fists shaking in the air as they hurled insults and anger at me. Janice’s father raised his hands and the shouting slowed, then stopped.


    “This shall be a special ceremony. Instead of sacrificing one of our own...” A woman in the crowd, Janice’s mother I realized, sobbed at her husband’s words. “...we shall offer up the corrupt, the heathen, the perverter of our faith!”


    The cheer rocked the walls of the room, more than one candle going out from the sudden blast of noise. The arms holding me tightened their grip, causing my skin to itch and burn where they pressed, as I was hauled to my feet and roughly guided towards the door along the main aisle. People continued hurling insults at me. Some spat on me, others managed to strike blows until I was out of range, hauled along by the Priest’s followers. Behind me the High Priest continued his sermon of anger, shouting about retribution and justice as the crowd turned back to face him. I didn’t struggle, my mind still trying to come to terms with what had happened. 


    Derek and Janice were courting? The entire town knew? 


    My gut clenched as I remembered her kiss, the feel of her body pressed against me. 


    Why hadn’t she said anything?


    Why had she kissed me?


    I was thrown into a small room, the door slamming shut behind me. I lay where I was thrown, my body aching. Outside I could hear the voice of the High Priest directing the people to prepare the area where the transgression against Derek would be solved under the view of the town’s gods. 


    The Killing Field.


    In the darkness I wept in frustration. My chest felt empty, and I finally screamed my pain at the room around me. I wanted my life back. I had asked nothing more than to be left alone. Why had Derek come to me? Why had he even suggested Janice if he was courting her?


    Had they planned it?


    Janice’s kiss floated into my memory, the need behind it, the need that had pulled me in.


    It had been sincere, hadn’t it?


    I don’t know how much time passed before the door opened and the parishioners yanked me to my feet from where I lay. The night air hit me and cut through the thin layer of wool I still wore. My breath frosted in front of my face, teeth clenching to stop from chattering.


    They dragged me through the snow to the Field and I finally lifted my gaze. 


    They had cleared an area in the center of the lake, torches set up in a rough circle, so many that the heat beat against me like a physical force. The ice shone like polished glass and I could see the bases of the pillars fading into the darkness below. The night air was silent except for their chanting.


    My body shivered while they dragged me onto the ice, following the mass of footprints that marred the beauty of the snow. There was no altar on the ice where they would normally sacrifice the child chosen to honor their covenant with their gods. 


    No, this was to be a sacrifice of another kind.


    Derek smiled from his place beside Janice’s father, his teeth shining in the harsh light. He was dressed in his thick winter coat, the hood back so his hair whipped about in the slight wind that threw small flurries of snow through the lights.


    Janice stood on the other side of her father, her head down as if she could not bear to look at me. For this I was thankful, for I did not want her to see the pain in my eyes. Whatever her hand in this, it did not matter now. No, all that mattered was the patch of ice. 


    They dragged me to the edge and tossed me onto it. My face hit the ice and skidded, the skin freezing and cracking before I pulled myself to my knees. I reached out, half frozen fingers wrapping around something that tingled under my touch. It was one of the pillars. My gaze followed it downwards into the water below. Something dark moved where the light lost its luminance in the depths. 


    A shadow. 


    My shadow?


    The ice was like a hazy fog, the light clearing it up so that I could see the unfrozen water below; the depths below hidden in shadows, as if the light itself feared to venture too far into the water. My gaze searched the darkness below until Janice’s father spoke.


    “Derek has called for justice on this, the Longest Night.” He turned his body, arms outstretched to encompass the people that surrounded the clearing of ice I now stood in.


    There was a low murmur, a few loud shouts breaking out. Janice stayed close to Derek, clinging to his arm, her gaze never leaving her father. She whispered something under her breath, her small mouth moving silently. Her father turned and jabbed a finger at me.


    “We now seek justice on the Killing Field under the gaze of the ancients who came from beyond. They shall choose their champion and will sup upon the blood of the outsider. In their wisdom we shall find the justice for the crimes committed this holiest of days. The stars are in alignment, the spheres of the heavens screech against each other, the hounds between angles howl.”


    The crowd was chanting now, the sound echoing across the ice and into the darkness beyond the lit area. I rose to my feet, my legs feeling cold and numb as the wind sheered through my pants. Already my fingers were freezing and I flexed them, feeling the joints crack. 


    “Come champion of the gods, take your place against the usurper.” The High Priest handed Derek a curved dagger that glinted like sea gold in the reflected light of the ice. “Make it slow, so that the gods may take pleasure in his expiration and drink deep of his soul.”


    With that the High Priest joined his daughter on the side of the ice, his voice rising in a loud chant in which the villagers joined. The wind rose and brushed against me, causing the pillars to sing a low song. Derek stepped onto the ice across from me, his steps sure on the slick surface. It was hard not to notice that he had replaced his boots with ones with a spiked tread.


    “Why didn’t you tell me?” My lips cracked as I spoke, their moisture stolen by the cold.


    Derek moved closer, the dagger held loosely at his hip as if forgotten.


    “You always were a fool Hal, just like your mother before you. Did you really think that Janice could love an animal like you?” He smiled under the hood of his parka.


    I shifted my weight from foot to foot in an attempt to keep my muscles from growing slack, finding the movement hard, the warmth I was gaining coming too slow.


    “But you were my friend.”


    Even speaking it out loud I knew it to be a lie. I thought of him as no more a friend than he had apparently thought of me. Derek laughed.


    “Then you are even more a fool than I thought you were.” He stopped an arm’s length from me. “You really don’t know what’s going on, do you?”


    The moment I took to think on his words distracted me enough that when his fist caught me across the cheek I went sprawling onto the ice. I rolled as he followed, his spiked tread smashing into the ice where I had been a moment before. Around us the chanting rose in volume.


    I growled and kicked out, my leg catching his knee and driving him to the ice with a cry. I was on him in a moment, only to be thrown off, my head cracking on the ice as I landed. I blinked the stars away as he leapt on me, his fist hammering against my face and shoulders while I thrashed under him. 


    He laughed as he landed each blow, a cat at play with a mouse as I cried out, blood splattering the ice below my head as my lip and eyebrow split. Another blow landed, this time with the hilt of the dagger before he leaned in, his teeth flashing.


    “You know why you are here, Hal? Because Janice was to be the sacrifice this year. The gods spoke, and she was the chosen one, still eligible for the service. Her father couldn’t commit his own to the Field and the gods, so it was decided you would be the one. The outcast, the monster. Janice knew.” He leaned in further, his breath hot against my cheek. “She knew and she gladly did it.”


    I roared and slammed my forehead into his nose, a splash of blood warming my skin as his head reeled back. I rose, my fists hammering into his chest, shoving him off as I pushed myself away and climbed to my shaking legs. Blood dripped from my face onto the ice. My shoulder felt cold and I looked at where a jagged cut now burned through my clothing. I didn’t have to look at the dagger in Derek’s hand to know it was dripping my lifeblood from its blade. 


    “You asshole!” Derek was on his feet and charging towards me even as I managed to find my footing. He hit me and I felt a splash of wetness across my face just before his shoulder rammed into me and sent me skidding across the ice. My hand rose to my face as I pushed myself up, coughing while my lungs struggled for air. Fingers touched the edge of ragged skin and came away painted red. Tears struggled at the edges of my eyes as Derek strode towards me, his nose a ruin, streaks of blood running over his lips and teeth when he sneered at me.


    “Why don’t you just–” 


    His foot slammed into my chest. Something cracked.


    “–give–”


    Another blow. Tears wet my cheeks freely now.


    “–up!”
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    His voice drowns out the chanting and even the pillars’ song as he launches a final kick that rocks my head back, an arch of blood splashing the ice. 


    I lay there, my breath bubbling, a cough sending thick, dark spray across the ice. My cheek no longer feels cold as it rests against the ice. Derek parades around me, his arms in the air, the bloody dagger leaking my life fluid down its blade and onto his hand. The chanting is loud now, almost deafening. 


    Janice’s father is yelling something about the sacrifice almost being nigh. He calls upon blood, death and the cold of the void. My body feels heavy and I only want to sleep now. My gaze lowers to the ice as something catches my attention. 


    There it is again.


    I turn, my body protesting as I do. Oddly, as hurt as I am, my skin itches all over. It’s hard to breath. 


    Am I hallucinating? 


    There is something under the ice.


    Shadows flit under me, an aggravated school of shadow fish, their forms circling around like a small hurricane. I lower my face to the ice, my eyes straining, Derek forgotten as a detached curiosity grasps me. The High Priest’s words fade into the background with the chanting. Only the now-roaring song of the pillars remains. A peace I only ever felt before while gazing at the Field washes over me. The itching of my skin burns yet the shapes keep me from trying to fight the feeling.


    Something rises from the depths almost leisurely. The tears that burn down my cheeks from pain turn to something else. The face that rises to mine gazes at me with eyes that are perhaps a bit larger than I remember. Skin that seems more scale than skin glistens in the light of the torches. 


    I know the face.


    It is my mother. Behind her I see others, flashes of grey-green scales and the glint of unblinking eyes while they regard me above them.


    A hand – webbed and clawed – presses against the ice and I press mine above hers. As I watch the blood that drips from my hand filters through the ice like engorged capillaries through the whites of an eye. Her alien eyes regard me as the red vines finally reach her, clouding into the water and drawn into her. 


    There’s a twitch and she regards me before her mouth breaks apart, a smile of a thousand tiny teeth. The burning in my skin fades and I find the pain of my limbs to be strangely absent. The wind no longer cuts me but washes around me like water reviving a salmon. 


    Shock, it has to be shock.


    “Come on freak, time to die.”


    The shape of my mother darts back into the depths. I roll onto my back to find Derek near me, the dagger held ready to plunge into my heart. It will now be cut out and each member of the village will partake of my flesh while the blood is allowed to disappear into the ice.


    Derek pauses when his eyes meet mine. His mouth opens and his eyes go wide.


    I growl and leap at him.


    It’s a blur.


    My lungs strain to take in air as I hurl him across the ice, his blood spilling across the pristine surface. He’s dead, his ribs spread open to the air. I barely register the warmth steaming on my claws and spines. 


    I smile.


    Someone screams and the chanting falters. More voices rise in panic. 


    Janice’s father’s mouth flaps like a landed fish. 


    There’s a snap like a gunshot as the ice cracks under us, radiating outwards from me. The villagers are running, Janice’s father grabbing his daughter and trying to run when the ice suddenly surges under them. He loses his grip and cries out as she is pulled into the water. 


    The ice snaps beneath me and suddenly I am surrounded by the cold. It presses against my skin and then through it. Waves move against me, yet instead of pushing me, they flow around me. My breathing is normal, I am no longer struggling. I don’t find it odd that I can breathe under water, it feels natural.


    A shape moves, limbs flailing before me and I find myself moving towards it with minimal effort.


    Janice.


    She hangs there, her limbs moving against the water which presses against her. I watch her struggle as if regarding an insect wounded by a misplaced blow. Her eyes meet mine and she stops, her mouth opening, bubbles flowing from it to the surface she herself cannot reach. 


    I think she is screaming.


    It was then that I notice my mother and the others like her. Glimmering shapes below me and at the edge of the light. Some are flitting forward to snatch pieces off of those too slow to escape the collapse of the ice. The water mists with clouds of red. I can taste it in the water, vibrating through me like the sweetest wine. 


    Arms wrap around me and I lean in against them. My mother smiles, her needle teeth glinting while the others come to welcome me. With one last look at the light above me I turn and follow them as they dive into the shadows below. 


    Towards the darkness.


    Towards the coldness.


    Towards home.
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Sam Gafford


     


    Ruth Frye had been missing for five days. As one would expect, the town of Dunwich had gone a little mad because of it. The news media from Arkham and Boston came down with all of their cameras and reporters and Ruth’s mother and I spent a lot of time begging her to come home, or for any news. The cops spent hours searching our house, looking in every corner for clues, tearing apart her room for secret messages from boys or men, but they never found anything. They impounded her laptop and had the phone company print out every text she’d ever received or sent. They even took me in and sweated me for a very long night because, after all, I was only her stepdad, so maybe I had something to do with it. In the end, the police had to confess that they had no clue what had happened to Ruth. She’d gone out jogging one night and, just like that, the 16-year-old pride of Dunwich’s high school racing team had vanished without a clue. No one knew where she was or what had happened to her.


    Until, that is, she showed up on our doorstep on the fifth night. She was dirty, her clothes were a torn mess and her blonde hair was spotted and matted with mud. She looked like she’d dragged herself through several miles of hell but she was smiling as she stumbled through the door. My wife, Crystal, screamed and caught her before she fell down. Crying, Crystal asked where Ruth had been for five days, why hadn’t she called? “I got lost,” she said, “I’ve been lost in the woods. I couldn’t find my way home.” Together, they hugged, and cried, and held each other as the photographers snapped picture after picture. Stunned, I stepped forward and hugged them both, knowing that I had to make it look good. The cops would be suspicious if I didn’t. But I couldn’t think. My mind was blank. Because I knew, beyond a doubt, that I had killed Ruth five days earlier.


    I’d held her lifeless body in my arms. I’d seen the light go out of her eyes. It wasn’t like anything I’d ever expected or seen on TV or in the movies. It was like she was just there one minute and then gone the next. I didn’t feel anything different either. I’d just raped and killed my stepdaughter and nothing had happened. God didn’t strike me dead. The earth didn’t swallow me whole and drag me to hell. Nothing was different. Well, nothing other than the fact that Ruth was dead, that is.


    It’s important to me that you know that I did not start out evil. I’d had a good enough childhood, I suppose. There was nothing in my youth to suggest anything like this. I didn’t wet the bed. I didn’t kill small animals or start fires. Sure, my father beat me up when I was a kid but it was only if I misbehaved so I learned quickly to do what was expected of me. I was just a quiet, unassuming kid who read comic books and watched a lot of TV. I wasn’t the brightest kid around, but I’d always been good at fixing things so, when I grew up I got a job as a mechanic. Soon after that, I’d worked myself up to the point where I owned three garages. Even in the midst of recessions and bad economies, I managed to keep things running. I suppose, in a manner of speaking, that I was something of a success.


    I’m not trying to excuse what I did or what I did after. I just want you to know that I wasn’t always like this.


    When I met Crystal, Ruth’s mom, I wasn’t looking for a relationship. I’d had them before and they’d never really worked out. To be honest, I knew I was ugly. My own mother said I had a face like roadkill. So I pretty much kept my head down and kept working. Occasionally I’d go out with a few of the boys to the bars or strip clubs and, yeah, I’d had my share of lap dances and nights in sweaty hotels but they’d never been anything special or important.


    Then Crystal started coming to the garage. It seemed her car was always breaking down or needing some repair or the other. Then she began coming by for no reason at all. Before I knew what was happening, we were dating, then engaged, then married. I suppose that most people considered her the dominant one in our relationship but that didn’t matter much to me. I moved into her house with her fourteen year old daughter and six year old son and, just like that, I had a ready-made family and a wife in my bed. It was a good arrangement, I guess, for a while at least. After all, for a thirty-eight year old woman, she still looked damn good, and I enjoyed her bleached blond hair and large boobs.


    I went about my business, working in the garages, keeping the garages going. Crystal kept the house running and she was a good mom to her kids. I tried to be a good dad but didn’t really know how. After all, my own father ran off when I was about twelve and mom never remarried. There were lots of guys around but none that she stayed with. My stepson, Kyle, was a pretty good kid, I guess. Didn’t get into too many fights and had the co-ordination of a one-legged frog but yeah, he was a good enough kid. 


    But when Ruth turned sixteen, things changed. I didn’t notice at first but suddenly I couldn’t stop looking at her. I’d wake up thinking about her and I noticed how skimpy her clothing was. I thought that she was acting nicer to me, putting her hand on my arm or bending over in front of me, but now I wonder if I was just seeing what I wanted to see. She was a pretty girl, all the folks around could see that, and she’d come from an old Dunwich family, unlike myself. I came from Marlborough and never really spent much time in Dunwich before opening my garage there. All the folks seemed to know Crystal and her kids, it was just me they weren’t too sure about.


    Well, I won’t go into the details. After all, you don’t really need to know about that, do you? Let’s just say that I couldn’t take it anymore. I knew where Ruth ran and I knew where the woods around Cold Spring Glen were. I found her there, jogging, and offered her a ride home. More eager than I expected, she got in my truck and we drove away. By the time she realized what was going on, it was too late. She didn’t even fight me all that much. Soon after she was dead and I made sure not to leave any evidence. I’d seen enough true crime shows to know what not to do. I still can’t say why I did it. No more than I can really say why I married Crystal in the first place. It just seemed that, once I set my foot on that path, it pulled me along. It’s like when you get on a roller coaster. Once you’re in that seat, you have no choice, you just have to grit your teeth and try and make it through to the end of the ride.


    But I knew one thing. Certainly and without any doubt, I knew this one thing to be true... Ruth was dead when I left her. Now her lifeless body was standing in the doorway and I was hugging her and trying to make myself cry. Sure, I was shaking, but it wasn’t from tears. 


    Her flesh was warm to the touch. She smelled of trees and leaves, not death at all. When I pulled back and looked in her eyes, something looked back. It wasn’t Ruth. It was something old, evil and hungry. I backed away as the Ruth-thing smiled at me. For a moment, I thought I caught a glimpse of the thing behind her face but, just as quickly, it was gone and she was hugging her brother who was crying so much that I thought he would vomit. 


    I looked over and saw Detective Armitage, who had been in charge of the case and had been the one who grilled me the worst, staring at me. I felt his eyes boring into me so I struggled to smile and pat Ruth on the back. Crystal wouldn’t stop crying and tugging at her daughter. “Is it true? Did it really happen?” To which Ruth responded by caressing her hair and softly saying, “Yes, mom. It really happened. I’m home now.”


    The TV reporters lapped it up. I think we made all of the major news programs that night. They got their shots of the happy family reunited and took off. For them, the story was over. I’d be seeing them again soon enough. Detective Armitage pushed his way forward and, placing a fatherly hand on both Crystal and Ruth’s shoulders, requested a few minutes with Ruth... alone.


    I lightly pulled Crystal away and told her to go to the kitchen and fix Ruth something to eat. “She’s been lost in the woods for five days. She needs to eat.”


    “Oh, yeah, Dad,” Ruth seductively replied, “you’ve no idea how hungry I am!”


    I cringed but tried not to show it.


    Armitage and Ruth went into the dining room while I helped Crystal in the kitchen. She was prattling on to me about Ruth’s ‘miraculous’ return but I wasn’t listening to her. I kept straining to hear the voices in the dining room. My hearing had never been the best so I couldn’t make out everything they were saying. I could hear Armitage’s voice being forceful, but not anything Ruth said. I tried to keep my hands still but they were shaking so hard. Frightened, I put them under the tap and ran hot water on them for as long as I could stand it.


    Finally, they came out of the dining room and Crystal pushed a plate of meatloaf, mashed potatoes and corn in front of her daughter. It was one of the meals that the neighbors had brought over for us in our time of distress. “Right,” Armitage said, “I guess everything’s turned out for the best. Maybe next time, little girl, you’ll think twice about running out in the dark by Sentinel Hill?”


    Ruth smiled and stuffed her face with food. “Walk me out, Walt?” Armitage said to me. Reluctantly, I followed him out of the kitchen.


    “Remarkable story,” Armitage said, “running through the woods for five days. Never catching sight of another soul or the road or the lights of town. Never even hearing the search party we had out looking for her. Truly remarkable.”


    “I know,” I said, “I can’t believe it myself.”


    “Yeah,” Armitage replied. “I bet you can’t. All right, look, Mr. Rice, I’m going to be blunt with you. Until that girl walked through that door, I thought you’d killed her. I was working hard to find enough evidence to arrest you and sweat you until you gave up her body. Your alibi was shaky...”


    “I told you I’d been at the garage, working on the books.”


    “Yep, yep, you did. No one to verify it though. No calls made. None received.”


    “But you impounded my truck! You didn’t find any hair, or fibers, nothing.”


    Armitage nodded. “True, all very true. But, you know, that was strange too. I mean, family vehicle and all. I’d expect to find lots of hairs and fibers and DNA all over it. But there was nothing. Odd, don’t you think?”


    I stumbled for words. “Well, I don’t know what to tell you, Detective. Ruth’s here. She’s alive. What more could we want?”


    “Oh, I agree! We always hope for this type of result in these cases. You know how often that happens though, Mr. Rice?” I must have looked puzzled. “Not at all. Be seeing you, Walt! Count on it!”


    Armitage walked out to his car and left. I hadn’t been this nervous and scared when I killed Ruth. I turned and looked back at the house, Crystal’s house. I wanted to get in my truck and drive off but I couldn’t. Not just yet. I’d have to get together some cash and that would take a few days and I’d have to make sure that Armitage didn’t suspect anything and stop me. Until then, I had to just keep it together. I had to keep away from whatever it was in that house that called itself ‘Ruth’.


    I walked inside and went to the kitchen. They were all laughing and talking at the same time. A happy little family out of some old Norman Rockwell painting. I didn’t know what to do next.


    “Walt! Isn’t it wonderful? Our baby’s back!” Crystal laughed and cried.


    I smiled and agreed. What could I do? I couldn’t yell out, “This isn’t Ruth! I killed her! This is something wearing her like a hat or coat!”


    So I started drinking.


    By the time I’d gotten through about a case of Narragansett beer, I was well and truly drunk. I staggered off to bed and tried to get some sleep. At some point, I woke up and Ruth was staring me in the face.


    “Ruth? What are you doing? Where’s your mother?”


    Ruth smiled. I expected snakes to curl out of her mouth. “She’s asleep right next to you. Can’t you feel her?”


    She put her hand under the covers and touched my leg. I could feel Crystal’s weight in the bed next to me.


    “Wh-what do you want?”


    “I want to know how you feel, Walt. Aren’t you happy I’m home?”


    I tried to smile but I was starting to sweat.


    “Of course I am, sweetie. I—we were all worried about you.”


    Ruth’s face moved closer to mine. “No, you weren’t, Walt. You knew exactly where I was and I know exactly what you did to me. Or, rather, what you did to ‘Ruth’. But, maybe I do owe you something, I mean, I wouldn’t be here otherwise.”


    She kissed me, hard. There was nothing loving or sexy in the kiss. It was tight and mean. Her hand moved up under the covers and grabbed my penis and squeezed. My eyes teared from the pain.


    “I could rip it off, Walt.” Ruth whispered. “Then watch it flop around like a dead fish. Would you like that?” 


    I whimpered and muttered, “No...”


    She smirked. “I bet you wouldn’t.” She moved away so quickly that I almost fell off the bed. “I changed my mind, Walt, I’m not going to kill you right now. I’m gonna make you watch. I’m gonna make sure you know every little thing I do in this piece of shit town. And as you watch me open the way for the others, you’ll know it’s all your fault and you couldn’t do a fucking damn thing about it.”


    She slinked out of the room, actually slinked! I never thought anyone could actually do that. As she left she blew me a kiss and licked her lips. If I didn’t know any better, I’d think I was in a bad ‘80s horror movie.


    I’ve never liked phones. I always thought they were an incredibly rude device. That might be because I’ve never liked talking on the phone. I’d always get nervous and try to rush through the call as quickly as possible even if I knew the person on the other end. But I had to accept the phone as part of my life because of my business. At any point, I could get a AAA call to go tow someone. If I didn’t have a phone, I’d lose money. But, in the days after “Ruth’s” return, I hated my phone even more.
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    I had tried to get out of the house early the next day so I could avoid seeing her but Ruth was already gone. For the next several days, I got an endless series of texts and videos from Ruth on the phone. They started out calm enough, “Enjoying the sunshine on this wonderful September day, aren’t you?” but they didn’t stay that way. 


    They got worse as the days went on. Some were sexual, talking about what she wanted to do with this new body. Some were taunting me, goading me about not being able to stop her. Others I couldn’t understand.


    “Yog-Sothoth is the gate. Yog-Sothoth is the key and guardian of the gate. Past, present and future all are one in Yog-Sothoth. I am he as you are me and we are all together, goo goo g’joob.”


    There were others like that that I couldn’t understand at all. It was as if she was texting gibberish or some little kid had gotten a hold of her phone and was just pressing buttons at random.


    Then there was a pic and text that chilled me to the bone. It was a picture of a little baby, cute and babbling in a crib. The text simply said, “Feeling hungry, time for lunch?”


    I stared at the picture. I didn’t know what to do. There was no way to identify the baby. I didn’t recognize it and Ruth was careful enough not to show anything that would tell her location. I couldn’t do anything and she knew it. I sent her texts telling her not to do anything but she never answered. I sat and stared at my cell phone, trying to think of a way to find her. I knew that the police could run a trace on her phone, track it through their GPS system or whatever. But I’d have to tell them why and they wouldn’t believe me. Short of driving aimlessly around town, I couldn’t do a damn thing. So that’s what I did.


    As it got dark, I was still driving around in the garage’s tow truck, looking for Ruth. I hoped that people would figure I was just trolling for business. I couldn’t find her. Ruth had an old car. A POS Honda Civic which I fixed up for her. But I couldn’t find it anywhere. I called Crystal and told her I was working late. She was used to that. Then I started driving through the back roads in the woods.


    Around 8pm, I got a message from Ruth. I was still driving and nearly ran off the road. When I opened it, it was the sound of a baby crying and Ruth laughing and chanting. I couldn’t make out what she was saying but it sounded like “N’gai n’gha’ghaa, bugg-shoggog, y’hah; Yog-Sothoth, Yog-Sothoth!”


    I shut it off. I couldn’t listen to any more.


    The next message was a picture. I debated opening it because I wasn’t sure I wanted to see it. But, eventually, I couldn’t resist and pressed the button. Ruth had held the phone up and took a picture with her phone. She was naked. Her mouth was bloody and she was smiling. The text read simply, “Wanna kiss me now, Walt?”


    I pulled over to the side of the road and puked.


    When I got back home, Ruth was already there. She and her mother were sitting in the kitchen, laughing and talking. Ruth looked as if nothing had happened to her at all in the last week. She was smiling and happy. Truthfully, I’d never really seen her so happy before. 


    “Did you use the Voorish Sign?” Crystal asked her and Ruth sheepishly nodded ‘no’. “Well, that’s why it didn’t work.” I grabbed a beer and went into the living room to watch TV. If I wasn’t hungry before, I certainly wasn’t after seeing the news. I’d half-expected it, of course, but to see that baby’s face on the news and the parents crying over their lost child made it all too real.


    “Isn’t that terrible?” Crystal said behind me. “Thank God our baby is home safe and sound, right, Walt?”


    I nodded as Ruth sat down on the couch next to me. My skin began to crawl as she cuddled up to me. “I know Daddy Walt’s happy, Mom, I can see it in his eyes.”


    I tried not to vomit. 


    Crystal smiled and went to bed. I could feel all the blood draining out of my body.


    “What did you do to that kid?” I asked.


    Ruth sat up and looked at me. The air between us grew cold.


    “What do you think I did?” she purred. She tossed her blond hair back like she was posing for a photo shoot.


    “I think you killed him.”


    She looked at me like I was dumb. “And that’s all you think I did? You have no imagination, Walt. None at all.”


    She ran a finger down the front of my shirt. “I killed him, sure. But I did other things too. There were certain...” She pouted her lips. “...certain rituals or rites that had to be done in the right order. I kinda...” She flipped her head back and rolled her eyes. “...kinda messed that up a bit. I’ll do better next time. Just takes practice, you know?”


    I shuddered. “No, no, you won’t! I’m not gonna let you...”


    Ruth lunged forward and grabbed me by the throat. “You? What the fuck do you think you can do about it? I own you! You go to the cops and I’ll tell them how you took me up by Cold Spring Glen and kept me prisoner there for five days. I’ll tell them you raped me over and over again and how I barely escaped with my life. They’ll love that story, especially in prison. I know that Detective Armitage would just love to hear me say that.”


    “What the hell are you?” I gasped.


    She smirked and pulled her hand away. “Like you would know or even begin to understand what a dhole is. You’re just like all these other people. Thinking that what you see is all that matters. There are other spheres of existence, ones you couldn’t possibly comprehend. All this you see is just an illusion, a dream from which this world will awaken soon enough. You truly have no idea how little you all matter. Before long, I will open the way and they will break this reality apart. It’s not like before.” She laughed. “You humans make it all so easy for us now. Worried about your economies and money and sex. Like any of that matters. You’ll learn what really matters, what this world really is.”


    Ruth leaned forward and kissed me. I tried to pull away but she grabbed my head and held it tight. I could feel her tongue pressing against my mouth. I tried to keep my lips closed but she twisted my hair and her tongue darted inside my mouth. I could feel it searching, probing... then it split in two.


    I tried to pull away but she held my head in tight. I didn’t want to, but my tongue touched hers and I could feel that it was thick and scaly. Each part moved by itself and it felt like the parts had turned into some kind of tentacles with suckers and teeth. I grabbed Ruth by her shoulders and pushed as hard as I could. She landed on the floor with a thud and just grinned as she pulled her tongue back into her mouth. I could see that I was right and her tongue was now a pair of octopus-like tentacles. She opened her mouth and her tongue was back to normal.


    “Keep your phone on tomorrow. I’ve got something special planned for you.”


    I sat in the dark and drank until I passed out.


    The next morning, I had a change of plans. I was going to watch Ruth all day, no matter what it took. It was a Saturday and Crystal left early with her son, Kyle, leaving me alone in the house with Ruth. 


    “Gonna be a busy day, Walt. Lots to do! I’ll text you!” Ruth ran out the door and I was close behind her. Her white Honda headed towards the downtown area and I followed closely in my old truck. I didn’t care if she saw me. In fact, I’d hoped that she did see me so she’d know I was there and maybe she’d not do anything.


    The white Honda parked outside of Osborn’s Department Store so I stopped further up the street and watched Ruth walk into the store. There wasn’t much in the way of stores in Dunwich. Most folks bought their food at the old IGA up on Aylesbury Pike. There was a Wal-Mart outside Arkham, but most people didn’t bother to drive that far. I waited but Ruth didn’t come out.


    Cautiously, I got out of my truck and walked down the street, looking around for her. I stopped at her car and looked inside. There was nothing unusual there. I stopped and turned around but she was nowhere in sight. As I walked up to the front door of Osborn’s, I heard tires screeching and someone shouting. I turned around and saw Ruth riding in a white Mustang convertible and hooting and hollering like she was riding a bull. 


    “Hey, Walt! Missed me!” she yelled as the car tore by me. I could see young Bill Osborn in the driver’s seat. She’d never even spoke to the guy before last week. He was one of the town’s young punks. His family owned the town store ever since there was a town, I guess, and he liked to spend that money on booze and drugs. I was getting a real bad feeling.


    Even though I rushed back to my truck, it wasn’t fast enough. I couldn’t see the white Mustang anywhere. I felt stupid. I should have known that just following her wouldn’t make a difference. If I really wanted to stop Ruth, I’d have to take more drastic steps.


    I stopped at the hardware store and bought an axe. I used my hands the last time but I knew that wouldn’t be enough now. A gun would be good, but I didn’t have one and didn’t have the time to get one. I was going to have to move fast if I had any hope of succeeding. I didn’t know what the hell she was now but I figured that anything will die if you chop it into enough pieces.


    The rest of the day was spent driving around. I never saw her but her car never moved. Around 3pm, my phone rang. It was Ruth. I gripped the wheel tighter and clicked the button.


    “Wallllllttttt! Where you been, baby? You know, you could’ve just come with me. All you hadda do was ask!”


    “Where are you?”


    “Aw, ain’t that sweet? You miss your baby, Daddy Walt? You’re gonna make me cry. Well, I’m having a little party, sweetie. You wanna join in? I’ve got me a nice, quiet cabin at Morgan’s Motor Lodge out on the Pike. I’m in number 21. I’m waiting for you.”


    She hung up the phone and I turned the truck around. Morgan’s Motor Lodge was one of those old places with separate cabins. I don’t really know why it was ever even built. Dunwich was never much of a tourist place. The place was mostly used by junkies and prostitutes out of Arkham.


    I thought that there was someone following me but I was probably just nervous.


    Pulling into the back of the motor lodge, I could see the Osborn kid’s convertible in front of #21. There was another SUV that I didn’t recognize. The cabins consisted of nothing more than a bedroom and a bathroom, usually in really ugly colors. I used to come here before I met Crystal. As I walked up to the cabin, I could see that the window was open and the shade was up. I knew that meant that Ruth wanted me to see. The closer I got, I could hear the sounds of three different men and Ruth all moaning. 


    Telling myself that I needed to look so I’d know what I was getting into, I peeked through the window. I wish I never looked.


    They were all naked and thrashing on the bed. Ruth was gyrating on top of the Osborn kid while some other guy was behind her working like a piston engine. A third guy was standing next to her, thrusting himself into her mouth. My hand tightened around the axe handle. I hadn’t expected this. I couldn’t take all of them.


    I figured I might have to fight off the Osborn kid but there was no way I could get through three of them before getting to Ruth. I was turning away from the window when Ruth saw me. She spit the guy out and squealed, “Walt! You made it, baby! C’mon in and join us!”


    I started to back away when I noticed that there was something wrong with the guys. They were moving, but only in the same way that a machine will keep running if you leave it on too long. Their eyes were completely white. Their pupils had risen completely up into their heads. They were already dead; they just didn’t know it yet.


    “Hey, Walt!” Ruth yelled. “Pay attention! You wanna see something really special?”


    She started laughing again. That hideous, high pitched laugh that sounded more like a screech. As I watched, her flesh started to ripple. It wasn’t from the rough sex. It was like when you look at the street on a really hot day and the heat just makes the air pulse.


    Suddenly, her head flattened and caved in. Tentacles popped out including what was once her tongue. They moved and flexed about as they attached to the third man next to the bed and begun sucking.


    Her chest bulged and a milky eye burst through the skin, blinking and looking around. Her hips and waist exploded outward but what came out had never been inside a human before. There were snake like appendages with mouths and tongues whipping about. They crawled over the Osborn kid like leeches, attaching and sucking. Her legs became scaly and clawlike, looking like a wet lizard. The men never stopped thrusting but I didn’t want to know what they were touching. I couldn’t get the image of a dead cow being milked out of my mind.


    I started screaming and backing away when the tentacle mouth reached through the window at me and spoke.


    “What’s the matter, Walt? Don’t I turn you on anymore? Doesn’t the real me make you hot?”


    I screamed and ran for the truck. I could hear her laughing behind me and the sounds of something sucking and licking.


    As quick as I could, I got to Abe’s Bar. Abe saw me come in and didn’t say a word. He just put a bottle of whiskey in front of me and walked away. I couldn’t decide what to do. A part of me really wanted to just get in the truck and run away even though I hadn’t been able to pull together enough money. And then there was the issue of Crystal and her son. I couldn’t just leave there here. Ruth would get them. I had to get them out. Then we’d all get the hell out of here and just deal with whatever happened.


    Staggering, I threw some money on the bar and left. When I got outside, I was surprised to find that it was already dark. I’d been drinking for over five hours. The birds were loud, louder than I’d ever heard before and they were everywhere in the sky. I climbed into my truck and started to drive home.


    About halfway there, I was sure there was a car following me. The lights moved the same way I did. It was Ruth. It had to be. My hands were sweating and shaking and I reached for the axe on the seat next to me. But, when I turned a corner under a street light, I could tell it was just some old black Ford. 


    Relieved, I turned down my street. I could see that Ruth’s car wasn’t at home but neither was Crystal’s. I already got a bad feeling. I pulled into the driveway and walked up to the door.


    Inside, everything was dark but, before I even put on the light, I could tell something was wrong. I flipped the switch and saw that the living room had been torn apart. It looked like there had been a huge fight in the room. Furniture was turned over. Pictures were smashed on the floor. And, over everything, was a kind of slime. It was like some thick spit. I was already too late. While I sat at the bar getting drunk, Ruth took them.


    I slumped down into the corner and cried.


    Sometime later, my phone rang again. It was Ruth.


    “Hey, baby! I guess I just missed you before.” I could hear Crystal and Kyle screaming in the background.


    “Where are you? I’ll kill you, you fucking bitch!”


    Ruth laughed. “You wanna try, Walt? Bring it on! We’re having a big party here. Everyone’s having fun, especially Kyle. Remember I told you that all I needed was a little practice?”


    I heard Kyle screaming louder now and begging.


    “You leave him out of this! It’s between you and me!”


    “Then come and get me, big boy. You know where I am.” She hung up the phone and, just like that, I did know where she was. She was in the woods by Cold Spring Glen; where I killed her the first time.


    I looked around the house quickly. I still had the axe in my truck but I knew I’d need something more, especially if she had those three zombie-things with her, so I grabbed a big carving knife from the kitchen and Kyle’s old baseball bat. It was all I had so I’d have to make do.


    The drive there took longer than I ever would have thought it could. The birds in the sky were going crazy, screeching and hollering, but I tried not to pay attention to them and the traffic around me. I just had to get there as quickly as possible. I didn’t think she’d kill them before I got there, he’d want me to watch first but maybe I could throw her off if I got there quicker than she expected. 


    I pulled off the road in the same place I did before. I thought I saw headlights somewhere behind me but, when I turned to look, they were gone. I tucked the knife into my belt and walked into the woods; axe in one hand and baseball bat in the other.


    It was like I was following a path. I was on some trail made a long time ago by something so monstrous that nothing would grow there afterwards. 


    As I walked, I could feel myself climbing higher. I was already beyond the point where I had killed Ruth before and I kept walking. It was like I was in a trance. I must have been because, not only were the birds screeching and howling, but I could swear that I heard voices coming from below the ground as well. Shortly, I could see points of light ahead of me. Moving closer, I could see that they were small fires. As I crested the hill, there was a clearing before me. There were large stones set in the ground in odd places. In the middle of the clearing was a large, flat stone almost like a table. On that stone, tied down, were Crystal and Kyle.


    Ruth and the three zombies were dancing around the table. They were naked and gyrating and chanting something that I couldn’t even say for sure was any kind of language. It sounded like a bunch of grunting and barking, but every time Ruth made a noise, the men answered. She was back in her human form, her body naked and wet from sweat. I didn’t have any time to waste.


    Leaping forward, I rammed the axe into the back of the Osborn boy and he fell like a sack of wet sand. At the same time I swung the baseball bat and saw the second guy’s lower jaw flying outside the clearing. The third man rushed me but I had time to take my batter’s stance and swing for the bleachers. His head came clean off his shoulders and I felt the impact run up my arms. As soon as they hit the ground, their bodies started to bubble and melt. Within seconds, they were only piles of green slime.


    I jumped towards the table and started cutting Crystal free. I took a second to look at Ruth who was just standing there, giggling. She wasn’t even trying to stop me. I turned back to look at Crystal, just about to say that we had to get moving fast, when she brought her hand up and smashed me in the head with a rock.
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    Everything was dark but I tried to swim through it as hard as I could. I must have woken up faster than they thought because they were still trying to tie me to the stone. They’d stripped all my clothes off and there were these strange symbols carved on my chest and down my legs.


    Crystal was trying to hold my arm down while Kyle was failing to tie me up. 


    “What the hell are you doing?” I yelled.


    “Shut the fuck up, you stupid hick! You’re going to ruin everything!” Crystal screamed. “Kyle, tie him down, now!”


    Kyle tried to loop the rope around my leg but I reared up and kicked him square in the head. He fell back hard and didn’t get back up.


    “Kyle!” Crystal screamed. She looked square at me. “You’re not going to fuck this all up, Walt! I’ve worked too hard for this.”


    “What the hell are you talking about?” I was trying to get off the table but she had a grip on me like I’d never felt from her before. My chest and legs burned and blood was dripping from a hundred places. Out of the corner of my eye, I could see Ruth down by the bottom of the stone table. She was covered in blood. Probably my blood from all the cuts she’d made. Her eyes were white and she was chanting.


    “You think this just happened? I’ve planned it! All of it! I looked years for a dumb fuck like you. Someone who could be influenced so easily. Do you think any woman would want you, you ugly piece of shit? I used you!”


    I could see the axe lying on the ground. It was in the middle of a pile of green slime that used to be the Osborn kid.


    “Did you think it was your idea? You haven’t had an original thought your whole fucking life! I put it in your head! I made you want Ruth. I told you where she ran because I sent her there! And you did the job all right. But that’s all a dog like you is good for.”


    Ruth continued to chant. Her flesh started to ripple again. I knew what that meant.


    “I needed someone to rape and kill her so that the dhole could enter her body. Then, it was just a matter of getting you back up here for the last part; the Scarlet Ceremony. It would give her the power she needed to open the gate. But you were too stupid to do it right!”


    She lunged to push me back down on the stone and I moved out of her way. Her head made a really satisfying smack with the stone. I punched her in the face, hard, and jumped off the stone.


    I didn’t have much time. I grabbed the axe and brought it down on Crystal’s head. You hear about people’s heads splitting like ripe melons but it doesn’t happen like that. It’s more like cracking open a coconut. She screamed and fell forward onto the stone. Her blood fell into the grooves of the stone, making patterns and symbols like the ones on my chest.


    “Ooooo, Walt, you like it rough, huh?” I turned and looked at Ruth. Her whole body was shaking. “Mom or you. Don’t really matter. It’s all good.”


    I wanted to ask what the hell she really was and what she was trying to do. I wanted to understand what all of this meant and why it had happened to me but I didn’t have the time. I swung the axe with all my might and felt it thud into her throat.


    “You gotta try harder than that, Walt.” Ruth laughed, blood foaming out of her mouth. She drew back her hand and smacked me hard. I fell back on my ass. “So simple. Speak the right words at the right time and open the way. Like computer instructions.”


    She turned away from me and went back to the table. Her body was shifting again but not as much as last time. The tentacles came out of her waist and started feasting on Crystal’s body. Ruth turned her head to the sky and chanted.


    “N’gai n’gha’ghaa, bugg-shoggog, y’hah; Yog-Sothoth, Yog-Sothoth!”


    Ruth raised her hands to the sky and the stars started to shimmer and blink. The birds grew quiet.


    “Ygnaiih... ygnaiih... thfthkh’ngha... Yog-Sothoth... Yog-Sothoth! Y’bthnk... h’ehye-n’grkdl’lh!”


    Crystal’s body began to shrink, like a balloon with all of the air let out. I staggered to my feet, axe in my hand. Without a word, I brought it down on the stone, splitting her tentacles in two. She screamed and grabbed my head. She started to squeeze and pull my head towards the hole that had been her stomach. I swung the axe blindly and felt it hit her leg. Her blood sprayed on my face.


    The birds were screeching again, the cries getting louder and louder, almost like a symphony that had spiraled out of control.


    Ruth stepped backward and that was all the break I needed. I lifted the axe high above my head and brought it down on her with all my strength. It split her head in two. Some sort of liquid steam oozed out and she began to melt. I tug the axe out and was getting ready for another swing when I heard someone shouting behind me.


    “RICE! Put it down! Put it down right now or I’ll shoot!”


    I swung around and it was Detective Armitage with a couple of cops. I smiled. They’d understand. They’d know that I had to do it; that Ruth was some sort of thing from outside. She had to die. But before I could tell them anything, Armitage fired.
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    Three days later, I woke up in the hospital in Arkham. I was handcuffed to the bed. My head hurt like several mules had taken turns kicking it. I laid there, laughing and crying until the doctor came in. He shined that light in my eyes, took my pulse and left. No matter what I asked, he wouldn’t answer.


    I couldn’t even turn on the TV.


    I fell asleep again and, when I woke up this time, Armitage was there. He just glared at me. “Did you see it?” I asked. “Did you see her?”


    “Oh, yeah, I saw her all right, Walt. I saw all of them. Your wife. The boy. And the girl. All hacked to death. By you. With the very axe we have videotape of you buying. I knew there was something hinky with you. That’s why I’ve been following you since Ruth came home, but there’s just one thing I don’t understand, Walt. Why’d you do it? Why?”


    “What are you talking about? Didn’t you see her? The tentacles? The... the mouths and suckers? She was a thing. A thing from outside. She was going to... to... (what the hell did she say?)... open the way! She was going to let something in that would’ve taken over the world.”


    Armitage just gritted his teeth and stared at me. “So that’s how it’s going to be, eh? Going with the insanity defense? Going to say you sacrificed them to some ‘voice’ in your head? That’s why you cut yourself on your chest and legs with the knife we know you took from your kitchen? Thought you were a man, Walt. Thought you’d stand up and take responsibility for what you did.”


    “I am! I killed a thing! I don’t know what she was but she wasn’t human!”


    “Not human. Right. Here, Walt, take a look at this.”


    Armitage dropped a file in my lap. I opened it up and there were full color pictures of my dead family. But something wasn’t right. Crystal looked fine. Well, except for being dead from an axe to the head. But she didn’t look like she’d had the life sucked out of her. And Ruth... well, Ruth looked like any other 16 year old dead girl. No tentacles. No big eye in the middle of her chest. No scaly legs. She looked perfectly normal... and perfectly dead.


    I didn’t understand any of it but it didn’t make any difference. Like Ruth had said, none of this really mattered. All of our laws and morals are nothing more than the chattering of insects. So I let them go through the motions. I refused the insanity defense. I pled guilty and got a life sentence three times over for it. They shipped me to Walpole Prison where I sit in my cell, pressed against the farthest corner from the door. No one comes near me and that’s the way I like it. I’m safe here; safer than most people because they don’t know what I know. Those things are all around out there... just waiting for their chance to come through. They don’t care about us. We’re nothing more than tools to be used and discarded; when they bother to think of us at all. As soon as they come through, they’ll wipe the earth clean and they will reign supreme. I know it’s true because, at night, while I listen to the birds screech along with my breathing, I finger the scars on my chest and I remember.
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    I’m sitting here alone, trying to get my thoughts into coherent form before my time is done. I know the end is coming soon. I can feel Death, that sneaky magnanimous bastard, as he stands outside my window watching me. Oddly enough, Death looks suspiciously like old Mr. Jenkins in his strategically tattered bathrobe. Because of this, I have started keeping my blinds closed. Sunlight can’t keep the demons away anymore, anyway. I can no longer bear the overwhelming torment or the nightmares that come with it. I’ve seen things that shouldn’t be seen, smelled things that shouldn’t be smelled and experienced things mortal man was not meant to know about. I struggle for forgetfulness or a timely case of amnesia, but my pleas go for naught. These images will not leave my conscience, despite my many attempts at drowning them in whatever manner of cheap rum, whisky, or Thunderbird wine that I can find. No amount of chemical lubrication has provided shelter from the images that haunt me. I hope these pages never see the light of day, for the story I have is too terrible and horrifying, and I will not be held responsible for any mental anguish that my words may convey. These words will follow me to my grave, and no power in Heaven or on Earth will make me share them. I cannot, nor will I ever share them with another living soul.


    It started on a Tuesday. I never could get the hang of Tuesdays. 


    I was travelling through a barren and deserted section of the Newburyport turnpike, heading north out of Peabody. I was hitchhiking my way up to Portland, and I had taken up with a group of nuns who apparently were moonlighting as circus acrobats in order to fund their charity work. They picked me up in a large panel van with THE AMAZING ORDER OF THE IMMACULATE FUNAMBULISTS stenciled across the side. I was three days out of Boston and grateful for the ride. The nuns welcomed me warmly, apparently none too shy about picking up strange men on the side of the road. I’ll freely admit to harboring that most secret and universal of all male hitchhiker fantasies, and when I inquired into the meaning of the word “Funambulist”, the explanation given to me was definitely not what I was expecting. As disappointed as I was, I still managed to maintain a cheery exterior. I listened to the nuns’ exploits with a smile and I paid attention as best I could. They had been on the road since the previous fall, and they were headed to Portsmouth for their final show before heading on a feed-the-hungry mission to some African country I’d never heard of. Eventually, I drifted off to sleep.


    I was awakened by the sudden noise of the van bouncing over the ruts on a gravel road. All the nuns were all sitting towards the front of the van, peering through the front window with serious expressions. As I sat up, Sister Mary Elizabeth the Fire Eater looked at me with a wan smile and said simply “We’re lost. Sister Agatha took the wrong turn off.”


    “Fabulous,” I muttered. I wasn’t going to argue with a nun, fire eater or not. She could probably disintegrate me with hot holy breath for all I knew. I returned my gaze to the outside world.


    Dark, impenetrable woods lined both sides of the road. What little afternoon sunshine there was seemed unable to break through the heavy copse of trees. I glanced out the window, thinking how absolutely horrible it would be to get lost out here. There was a palpable malevolence that I could sense emanating from the outside scenery. I knew it to be crazy, but I could feel the shadows hidden amongst the trees as they moved, following us as we passed. As if to validate my suspicions, Sister Helene the Overly-Flexible crossed herself with a worried look, “I don’t like this. This is the Devil’s territory.”


    Sister Agatha sighed deeply, “Oh, Sister. Everything is evil with you, isn’t it? First, it was the cashier at the What-A-Burger in Pensacola, and then it was that adorable little Justin Bieber kid. I also seem to remember you calling the women’s shoe section of the Harrisburg Wal-Mart ‘Satan’s shoe store’. Sometimes, I wonder about you.”


    Sister Helene looked somewhat mollified. “That’s because those things are evil. That cashier gave me onion rings when I specifically asked for cheese sticks. Onion rings are disgusting.” When the Mother Superior shot her a bemused look, Sister Helene added a quick “Well, they are!” 


    The van bounced and jostled down the gravel road for another mile or so before the woods gave way to empty farmland. Tattered barbed wire fences ran along both sides of the road. An anorexic crow sat on a fencepost, watching us as we passed. I was secretly pleased to be out of the woods. The apprehension I was feeling eased the further away from the forest we got. Sister Abigail, the mostly successful knife thrower, sat in the seat in front of me, her attention focused on a handheld electronic Sudoku game. She looked up briefly, “My Sisters, it appears we have come closer to what passes for civilization. Sister Agatha, please get us turned around. I’m in need to use the little nun’s room if you’ll pardon the expression.”


    Sister Agatha, whose exact role in this traveling show was never made quite clear to me, glanced at the instrument panel. “I’d love to, but the van is almost out of gas. I’m going to need to stop at the first town we come to if we are going to make Portsmouth on time.” The poor girl, who couldn’t have been much older than twenty-one, gripped the steering wheel with enough force to turn her knuckles white. She was a cute girl in that nerdy step-sister kind of way. If she had put a little more effort into it, I could see her being fairly hot.


    “My apologies, Sisters. I must have misread the last mileage sign we passed.”


    The Mother Superior (and Lead Funambulist, apparently) patted the girl’s shoulder reassuringly. “It’s alright, my child. To err is human. Follow this road and stop at the first gas station. God will see us to our destination.”


    Almost on cue, a sign materialized on the side of the road. It read Arkham-City Limits.


    “See?” beamed the Mother Superior. “God always provides.”
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    To say the town was small would be committing the biggest understatement since General Custer looked at the oncoming waves of Cheyenne warriors and famously told his soldiers, “Boys, we very well may be fucked.” The main road leading into town was lined with a couple of old storefronts connected with a common sidewalk. Red maple trees were in full bloom, their leaves littering the ground. Cape Cod-style houses sat atop immaculately trimmed yards. Even the white picket fences looked like someone had just painted them that day. In fact, the entire town looked like Norman Rockwell had vomited everywhere and left it to dry. 


    Of course, I was the only one to think this. The Mother Superior looked around, and with a smile said, “What a charming little town! Oh Sisters, look at the quaint houses.” The other nuns ooh-ed and aah-ed accordingly. I sat in the back, watching the passing scenery. I’d been through enough All-American towns recently to know that when something looked too good to be true, then it sure as hell was. Call it my pessimistic nature, but calm and orderly freaked me out more than chaos and disorder. I was getting nothing but bad vibes from the sleepy little town of Arkham, and the sooner we found our way back to the main highway, the better. There was something nagging at me that I couldn’t quite put my finger on.


    Sister Agatha turned right at the town’s main intersection, onto West Herbert Street. She pulled the van into the parking of a Chaugnar Fuel store. It looked like your typical small town rest stop. A small diner sat connected to the gas station, advertising something called Yog-Sot Broth, which promised to be New England’s best homemade soup. The van stopped next to an ancient gas pump. Whoever owned the station obviously never got around to upgrading to a pump that used a digital readout. 


    The sisters all piled out of the van, happy to have stopped. Sister Abigail, the mostly successful knife thrower hopped out like her habit was on fire, and made a beeline for the restrooms inside. As much as I would have liked to have stayed in the van and kept an eye on the nun’s stuff and possibly rubbed one out, I needed to stretch. The Mother Superior already had the pump going, whistling “Climb Every Mountain” from The Sound of Music.


    “Ma’am, I’m going inside to grab a coke and maybe a moon pie. Can I get you anything while I’m in there?” 


    She smiled at me. “No, thank you. I’m fine.”


    I walked towards the front doors of the store, my unease dissipating with the breeze. Maybe a coke and a moon pie was all I needed. Just a bit of a processed sugar rush, and I’d be back to a more normal frame of mind. Maybe the constant traveling was finally starting to wear on me.


    As I opened the front door, and heard the little bell announcing a new customer had just entered, I was immediately hit with that same feeling that something was just not right. For one thing, the entire store was spotlessly clean. Not just well maintained, but borderline anal-retentive clean. The linoleum floor shone like the newly bleached teeth of a movie star. There weren’t any of those gaudy neon beer advertisements in the windows, or any promotional ads inside the store either. The shelves appeared to be fully stocked, dusted, and well-maintained. That in itself wasn’t too bad. The thing that seemed peculiar, at least to me, was what was stocked. In the aisle where the candy bars and gum usually sat, there were rows upon rows of granola bars. Instead of beer and soda in the cooler, there were bottles of water and something called Miska Tonic. There appeared to be more bottles of Miska Tonic there than anything else in the cooler. Rows of fresh fruits and vegetables, enough to put most Farmer’s Markets to shame, sat where one might ordinarily find the salty potato chips and pretzels. In the corner where a frozen drink machine would have sat, there were three juice machines; apple, orange, and pineapple-mango. All in all, I think I lost five pounds just by looking around.


    Behind the counter, the clerk was standing against the counter, thumbing through a copy of the Arkham Advertiser. She was a pleasantly plump dowager-type, dressed in a flowery print dress with thin framed glasses on a chain perched delicately on her nose. She wore a nametag that identified her as Eunice. Picture the least likely person who would be manning the counter at a gas station, and you would probably find her picture. The immediate thought I had when I saw her was Bible-thumper, although she bore a scary resemblance to the receptionist from Ferris Bueller’s Day Off. As I approached, she put her paper down with a smile.


    “Good news?” I asked, trying to be friendly.


    “Oh, golly yes,” she said. “The high school football team is going to play for the district title. We haven’t been very good at sports over at Arkham High, but this is looking like the Flying Polyp’s year.” She looked at me closer, “You’re not a local, are you?”


    “No, Ma’am. Our driver made a wrong turn off the highway, and we have stopped for gas. One of my companions came in a few moments ago to use the ladies’ room.”


    Eunice looked out the window towards the van. “Funambulist? That sounds awfully kinky. What on earth is that?”


    When I explained what the term meant, Eunice looked disappointed. “Really? I would not have guessed that.”


    “Tell me about it,” I said sourly. “I noticed there isn’t any soda in the cooler. Where can I find something with caffeine in it?”


    “Oh, we don’t sell soda here.” Eunice smiled again. There was no warmth behind her eyes. “We don’t sell coffee, either. The Old Ones wouldn’t allow it. Try a bottle of Miska Tonic instead. We make it here locally. It’s good for body and soul.”


    “Um, okay. I’ll try it. Which way to the restroom?”


    Eunice pointed towards the back. “Down the hall, first door on the left.”


    “Thank you.”


    I would like to say that my story lightens up at this point, but then I’d be lying to you.
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    I went around the corner and found the door Eunice had pointed out. Stepping inside, I pulled the door closed behind me. Like the rest of the store, the restroom was immaculately clean. The air was lightly scented with a pine odor like any other roadside pit stop, but that’s where the similarities stopped. Honestly, it was the strangest convenience store restroom I had ever seen. The tile on the floor was inlaid with bizarre geometric patterns. It looked like something from a Turkish bazaar. The bathroom fixtures appeared to be made of solid gold. A mural occupied the far wall, showing finely-detailed bas-reliefs of human figures, gnarled and bent over, their extremities resembling tree limbs. The figures (I almost hesitate to call them human) were perched among mountains of bones, circling around huge bonfires. To call the whole thing creepy as hell would be putting it very lightly. I turned towards the toilet. As I proceeded with my business, a chill did a slow tango down my spine. I quickly zipped up and turned towards the wall. You can call me crazy if you want, but it appeared as though the engravings on the mural moved. I quickly washed my hands, and I leaned in for a closer look.


    The engravings on the mural were cut in such a way that if you looked at them without really focusing on anything in particular, the entire picture seemed to move. It was a trippy little mirage, to be sure. The ancient and wizened figures looked like they were lording over some kind of pagan ritual. Figures around the campfire danced and played odd-looking musical instruments. At least that’s what it looked like. Hell, they could have been holding their weekly tiddlywinks game for all I knew. All I knew for certain was that this mural was a little weird to be sitting in a restroom out in the middle of nowhere. It was then I noticed something strange. Well, stranger anyway.


    Along the border, there was writing. It was invisible from a distance, only revealing itself upon closer inspection. It was written in a strange language I did not understand, kind of a cross between Cyrillic and Klingon. I tried to trace the letters with my finger, when I heard a voice behind me.


    “It says ‘The Old Ones do not like intruders who are not invited into their midst’. It also says please wash your hands after using the restroom.” 


    I wheeled around in surprise. Eunice stood there, looking like a tour guide giving a bored explanation of an exhibit. How she got in the door without me knowing is a mystery I have yet to figure out. I was about to protest when she continued, “Oh, golly, yes. The Old Ones aren’t very happy you are here at all, no sir.” From behind her back, she swung something towards my head, and apparently it connected, because I don’t remember much after that. A delightful-pine-scented blackness swallowed me up.
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    I awoke to the soft melodies of something that sounded like elevator muzak, which sat in diametric opposition to the painful throbbing in my head. After a few moments of trying and failing, I was finally able to open my eyes. My initial reaction was to try to rub my head where Eunice had blind-sided me, but moving my arms proved to be rather useless. Turning my head, which proved to be no easy feat either, I noted with some dismay that my arms had been handcuffed to the railings of the bed. Two sickly-grey tubes snaked out of my forearm and disappeared somewhere under the bed. I craned my head slightly, where I could see the edge of a fancy and very complicated machine sitting behind my bed. If I didn’t know any better, I could have sworn it was an EKG machine. The tubes must have been hooked up to a saline drip somewhere, but why? Where in the Shub-Niggurath was I? 


    A raspy cough drew my attention to the far side of the room. Another person lay handcuffed and tubed in a fashion similar to mine. “Hey! Who’s there?”


    I was greeted with the sound of weak retching. “Ow, my head! Did we stop at Bennigan’s last night? Did I forget to order the virgin Daiquiri again?” It was Sister Agatha, and she didn’t sound too good.


    “Sister Agatha! What happened?”


    “Well, if it’s anything close to how I feel, my guess is we were ambushed by seven hundred Klan biker ninjas who used my head as a piñata before making me swallow about a gallon of pine-sol scented mouthwash.”


    “Um, ok. That kinda sounded oddly specific. Where are the others?”


    She paused, and then responded. “I’m not sure. Sister Abigail went in to relieve herself, and I saw you wander in. Mother Superior finished pumping the gas, and when you two didn’t come out right away, she thought something had happened so she sent me in.”


    “Let me guess. You met Eunice, this town’s welcoming committee.”


    “Was that her name? She seemed like such a nice lady.”


    I tried working my hands free, but the cuffs were proving to be somewhat of a bitch to get past. That gave me the bright idea to swing my legs off the side of the bed so I could get a better angle on it, but when I willed the lower half of my body to move, nothing happened. For the briefest of brief moments, I thought my legs had been removed. I mean, hitchhiking with circus acrobat nuns, getting lost in Mayberry and then getting cold-cocked by the gas station attendant was one thing. Losing my legs at this point would just be the next logical procession. Looking down, however, I saw that my legs were still there, neatly covered by a white knit blanket. I was relieved, but only a little. 


    “Sister Agatha, can you get loose?’’


    She rustled and shifted with a grunt. “No. I’m handcuffed to the bed.” She gave out a weak, half-hearted chuckle. “I never thought I’d hear myself saying that again.”


    “Again?” I asked. “As in, having that happen a second time?”


    “It happened more than I care to admit.”


    I shook my arms, rattling the railings loudly but not accomplishing anything useful. “Well, I’m not going anywhere anytime soon. I think this is a story I want to hear.”


    “Well, I had an admittedly rough period during college. Dysfunctional family life. Chronic nymphomania combined with a bad case of ADD. It’s one of the reasons I joined the Order. I kept getting chafe marks on my wrists and ankles.”


    “Um, now my curiosity is piqued...”


    She sighed, “Serena Sparkle.”


    “I’m sorry?”


    “I was a porno actress. I starred in bad movies. Really, really bad movies. My stage name was Serena Sparkle. Once I realized I’d never go mainstream, I got tired of the nonsense and bodily fluids and I gave it up. Quit movies, quit school, found God, et cetera.”


    I was handcuffed to a bed in the same room as a former porn star turned nun? Who wrote this stuff?


    “Anyways,” she continued, “Do you have a plan for what to do next? I have to find the Mother Superior and the rest of the Sisters. We have to get to Portsmouth, or else there are going to be some African orphans who are going to be very unhappy. The show must go on, and all that.”


    Great, now poor and starving African orphans were counting on me. That’s never a good thing to hear. I wasn’t even counting on me.


    “Well, what do we know?” I had to take stock and get my thoughts organized. “Unless we both got hit with some kind of debilitating sickness which would require us to be handcuffed to a hospital bed, we know we have been taken hostage in the backwoods of Massachusetts, which I didn’t even know had backwoods. Maybe you have a stalker, and this is an over-elaborate plan to ask you out on a date. I just got in the way.”


    Sister Agatha snorted. “Hardly. My movies were so bad, no one bought them. When the trench coat and hand lotion crowd wants nothing to do with you, that should tell you all you need to know. Besides, Eunice really didn’t look like the bondage or dirty-sanchez type.”


    I tried picturing Sister Eunice in a latex outfit getting whipped by a bored looking porno stud, and when I felt the bile rise and the urge to vomit increase significantly, I immediately changed the subject. “Alright, so it’s not the stalker theory. Maybe they have a thing against nuns?”


    “If that were true, where are the others? And why are you here? Nowhere in this reality or any other universe would anyone mistake you for a nun.” She took a deep breath. “I’m sorry. I’m under a lot of stress right now. I’m not enjoying this, I have a deep and vaguely irrational fear of hospitals, and I have to pee something fierce. I didn’t mean to get snippy.” 


    We laid in silence for a while. Every couple of minutes one of us would try to pull on the cuffs, shaking the railings to no avail. I strained to hear any kind of ambient noises coming from outside our room, but with the exception of the gurgling made by the machines behind our bed, there were no other discernible sounds. The quiet and isolation afforded me the opportunity to study my hospital room a little more closely. 


    From what I could see, the room was almost completely square, about twelve feet by twelve feet. It had no windows, and only one door, which was in the corner almost completely opposite from where I was. The walls were painted a surprisingly lovely seafoam green with white trim. All in all, it wasn’t a bad room to be trapped in. It was a lot like a psychologist’s office. It was just missing some out-of-date magazines.


    “Sssh!” Sister Agatha perked up suddenly. “I think I hear someone coming!”


    Sure enough, I could hear the soft footfalls of someone approaching the room. The doorknob turned, and in stepped Eunice, wearing an old fashioned white nurse’s outfit. She closed the door behind her, and turned around to find us staring at her. “Oh, you are awake. Delightful. I suppose you are hungry. Tonight is Meatloaf night.”


    “No, not hungry.” Sister Agatha said through gritted teeth. “Actually, I’m quite full. Full of rage and anger and I’m more than a little annoyed about being shackled to this bed, you fucking psycho! Where are my Sisters? What did you do with them?” She rattled the handcuffs as hard as she could.


    Eunice looked nonplussed. “Please, Sister. No need for vulgarity. That kind of language won’t do anybody any good. Your friends are fine. It took me a bit to subdue your leader. She was quite the spitter. Oh, and the mouth on her! Worse than a drunken sailor on leave, that one. No matter. They are in a room down the hall. Before you start in with the swearing again, they are fine. We are just making some last minute preparations before the ceremony.”


    “Ceremony?” I asked. “What Ceremony?”


    Eunice looked over at me. “The Old Ones will awaken soon, and they have big plans for all of you. I would tell you more, but...ah...ahhh...Cthulu! Cthulu!..”


    Eunice pulled a Kleenex out of a front pocket and blew her nose. “Excuse me. The hay fever is making me all sneezy. Anyway, I have others I have to tend to. I have to answer the call of catheters.” Stepping behind Agatha’s bed, Eunice pushed a couple of buttons, and then did the same thing behind my bed. Immediately, I heard a soft whirring noise, and I felt a warm sludge begin to fill my arms and chest.


    “The sedative will wear off in a couple of hours. When you come around, we can proceed.” I was out before she had a chance to close the door. I dreamt of Technicolor porno actresses dressed like Strawberry Shortcake, dry-humping to elevator music.


    Don’t ask.
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    Even before I opened my eyes, I knew I was in big trouble. It was the wintergreen – the smell of evil.


    When I was a kid, my parents had to take in my infirmed 92 year old great-grandfather after his insurance stopped paying for hospice care. I think I might have been twelve, maybe thirteen; old enough to understand that the smells coming from “Grandpa” were the stuff of nightmares. He was a nice enough man, but having a wheelchair-bound, wheezing colostomy bag with a fetish for Ferrante and Teicher in the room next to you during your formative years tends to have a negative impact on your emotional well-being. Add to that the fact the man ate wintergreen candies with the frequency of a junkie left alone in a heroin-filled warehouse, and it wasn’t long before I associated that stale wintergreen smell with messy bodily functions, old people, and death. 


    I was straddling that fine line between deep, sedative-laced sleep and fuzzy wakefulness. In my delirium, images of my great-grandfather came rushing back to me, along with that moldy and offensive stench. Within my mind’s eye, he sat in his wheelchair, his favorite knit blanket strewn over his shoulders, sitting in front of the old Zenith console TV we had when I was a kid, watching The Golden Girls and oddly giggling every time Bea Arthur was onscreen. As I approached, he took his attention away from the TV, swiveling around to face me directly. 


    What in the billy-blue blazes you doing here, boy? 


    (I don’t know, sir. I think it was the smell of wintergreen)


    Well, numb nuts, considering I’ve been dead going on twenty-five odd years now, why don’t you wake up and smell the heap o’shit you’re in?


    (This is a dream?)


    Well, it’s obvious you haven’t gotten any damn smarter. Wake your ass up. You are in a whole heap of trouble.


    (If I can)


    Don’t tell me that. Get your ass up and moving. The Ceremony is about to start. The Old Ones are hungry and if you don’t wake your sleepy ass up, you are not going to like what is on the menu; namely, your ass! Don’t be a goddamn man of stone. Now, go! And don’t bother me anymore...


    I turned, and as I walked away, my great grandfather’s voice echoed hollowly in my ears.


    Oh yeah, come on Ms. Arthur...oh, baby, talk about your mountains of madness...


    Thankfully, at this point, I woke up.


     


    X


     


    I went from middling sleepiness to full-blown wide awake almost instantly. All at once, my senses came back online. The first thing I noticed, aside from the nauseating odor of wintergreen, was that I was no longer in the same room as I was. I was still strapped into the same bed, except now the bed had been moved into a large communal meeting hall.


    Someone decided to go completely crazy with the candles. There were so many candles lit, the room looked like a bad ‘80s music video. To my surprise, I could see the rest of the Sisters, who all appeared to be in pretty much the same predicament that I found myself in, as well as three people who I did not recognize; by their appearances I got the impression that they were travelers like us who were most likely caught off guard by the town’s bucolic laziness. Take a nice road trip through the northeast, stop for a quick bite off the beaten path, end up strapped to a gurney in some arcane ritual. Fun for the whole family.


    I tried to move my legs again, noting with dismay the utter lack of feeling I had down there. In frustration, I pulled on the chains holding my arms. They rattled and made a sufficiently loud noise, but did not yield any more than they did before. Hearing my attempts, the Mother Superior rolled her head towards me. She looked pale and quite haggard. “Glad to see you.”


    “Likewise. Never thought I’d be quite so happy to see a nun. What the hell happened to you?”


    Mother Superior licked her lips and was about to start speaking when a loud gong reverberated throughout the room. As though they were on cue, the candles flickered theatrically. Two heavy oak doors swung open, and Eunice entered the room. This broad really got around. Gas station attendant, kidnapper, nursemaid, master of ceremonies. My guess is she was probably on the town council, or at the very minimum, head lunch lady at the elementary school. The thing that I wanted to know was, honestly, who uses a gong anymore?


    Following Eunice, nurses in crisp white uniforms wheeled in twelve extremely shriveled and wrinkled people in wheelchairs. For a moment, flashbacks of my odd great-grandfather dream ran unchecked through my head. These must be the Old Ones, I thought to myself. Upon further inspection, they were aptly named. Mummies exhumed in the Valley of the Kings had more hitch in their giddy-up than these people. They weren’t so much people as they were large hunks of beef jerky with eyes.


    As they were rolled in, the sudden movement caused the other nuns to wake. Sister Helene looked as though she was going to be sick. As to confirm my suspicion, she rolled her head to the side and vomited weakly. She paused, burped, and vomited again. Seeing the concerned look on the face of the Mother Superior, Helene smiled wanly. “I have never had the stomach for I.V.s.” 


    Mother Superior spoke softly. “That makes two of us, child.”


    The travelers awoke as the wheelchairs took positions at the foot of every bed. The three I did not know became agitated, speaking in a language that sounded like they were gargling with liquid cheese. I’m no linguist, but even I could tell they were none too happy. They yanked hard on their handcuffs, and didn’t understand why they couldn’t get free. I thought about saying something, but I was too busy looking for my chance to escape and run far, far away. I glanced to the foot of the bed, at the wrinkled prune of humanity in the wheelchair that stared back at me. He was an angular fellow, all crooked angles and slumped shoulders. He had enough tubes coming out of him to choke a flock of seagulls. As I was mostly immobile, and I knew struggling was a pointless endeavor, all I could do was stare at the guy. That seemed to work, because all he did was stare at me. His eyes were an amazingly clear cobalt blue that just bored a hole right through me. He flicked a worm-like tongue over his aged lips. That’s when it hit me. This man reminded me of my Great- Grandfather. He stared at me the same way my grandfather stared at Bea Arthur.


    “Why don’t you come visit me anymore? It’s Parcheesi night tomorrow.” He spoke softly but quite clearly. 


    “I... I don’t know. I don’t want to be here.” I was surprised at how weak my voice sounded. Something about the way he carried himself seemed hypnotic. In these surroundings, and with everything that has happened, the fact I was sitting here talking with a senior citizen while handcuffed to a hospital bed really didn’t seem all that strange. “Eunice said it was meatloaf night.” 


    Why the hell did I just bring that up?


    The old man gave me a little half-smile. “What is your name?”


    “Dave. Dave Zahn”


    “Guess what, Dave Zahn? They give us those little applesauce cups. My favorite is the cinnamon.”


    “That’s delightful. Are you gonna let me go?”


    Another bang of the gong gave me the answer to my question. The ceremony was underway.
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    Eunice moved to the center of the room, holding a weathered scroll. She opened it dramatically and began to read.


    “Now is the time we gather to reclaim that which we lost, and that which was lost to us. By the black wings of the Joy Behar, bring forth the power I ask of you!”


    What happened next can only be described as “seriously fucked up”. A pale blue light seemed to erupt from the walls, as well from underneath the wheelchairs. This caused Sister Agatha to start shrieking hysterically. From somewhere I could not see, a stiff wind blew into the room, causing the candles to dance maniacally.


    Eunice continued to read. “These Old Ones before you beseech your blessings. Bring them the youth so they so desperately need. Karada, Bicto, Nerua!”


    The hoses and tubes that were connected to the Old Ones suddenly disconnected from old and shriveled arms and hovered in the air briefly, like cobras watching a dancing flute. There were so many disembodied tubes in the air that it looked like the tentacles of a multi-armed creature had invaded the room. The tubes swayed and danced to an invisible tune. They were under Eunice’s control now.


    “Now, I shall read as it is written in this, the Grand Scroll of Things. These Old Ones have been taking the youth and vitality of the selected chosen for time immemorial. Youth, such as it is, is wasted on the young. Having lived many lifetimes and garnered the experience necessary to handle the chores of Life, only the old can truly appreciate what it is to be young. Thus, we take the youth from the young.”


    The hovering tubes immediately shot forward, straight into the bodies lying helpless on the bed. I looked down to see several tubes burrowing into my arms, legs and torso. Strangely enough, it didn’t hurt, but I was certainly aware of the feeling. I began to get lightheaded, and my vision started flickering along the periphery. I looked over, and saw Sister Mary, the Fire Eater, shrinking down to a broken husk. The Old One at the foot of her bed, a frumpy Grandma type, leaned her head back, gasping orgasmically. I could see the Old One’s arms and legs fill out as though she were a balloon being blown up right before my eyes. It looked like a real neat Hollywood effect. She was getting younger as I watched. Sister Mary’s arms and legs shriveled up, twisting into uncomfortable looking shapes. She looked like a human shrinky-dink. The same could be said for the Mother Superior. She was almost completely drained now. She was no longer moving, all her life energy having been transferred to the Old One at her feet. He was now walking around, as spry as someone half his age.


    Eunice watched the ceremony with a passive expression. “Don’t forget, you haven’t used these muscles in some time, my friends. You need to take it easy at first. Mr. Jenkins, this means your croquet game is going to have to wait, and please stop peeping in the ladies’ windows. Dinner will still be at six sharp. I expect everyone to be in attendance.” 


    She glanced over at the three foreign travelers. They had been sucked dry and were no longer moving. “Well, maybe not them.”


    I was almost done. I was getting older and crankier by the minute. I could see the muscle tone in my arms and legs disappear before my very eyes. Age spots appeared on my forearms and hands. The hair on my arms and legs turned grayish white. My vision, which wasn’t real swift to start with, was getting worse. My toenails yellowed and began to crack. I suddenly had the overwhelming urge to sit on the sofa and watch Matlock reruns. I managed to turn my head, wincing as the muscles in my neck complained about the sudden movement. The Mother Superior was gone. So was Sister Helene, the no-longer-overly flexible. Her days of amazing gymnastic feats would be done in the next life. The unknown travelers looked like freshly excavated mummies. The Old Ones were up and about, shaking hands with each other, laughing like they were long lost friends. The tubes and hoses lay limp on the hospital beds, their usefulness gone. Eunice nodded to the nurses, who began to pack everything away. “The ceremony is over. Who among you nice folks survived?”


    Sister Agatha muttered something unintelligible. 


    Eunice looked at me, marking something on a clipboard. She began to unlock our cuffs. “Two of you? Very well. You will notice you are much older than what you started out. I know this will take some getting used to. Not many survive the Ceremony, so well done on that. You are welcome to reside here at Arkham Acres Rest Home. As a matter of fact, I highly recommend it. You’ll find living here to be very restful and relaxing. There isn’t anything here to upset or confuse you. No computers. No phones. Nothing complicated at all. We take good care of you. Now, dinner is at six and it’s homemade meatloaf night...”
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    And here is where my story ends. I don’t know how much more time I have left. These old bones can feel the end coming. I’m not as young as I once was. I spend all my time now listening to Perry Como records, watching Donna Reed, and cursing the general state of society. Sister Agatha comes over every day, and we play Parcheesi and talk about the good old days. About how Old Age just sort of sneaks up on you when you least expect it. I told her I wished I could have known her in her porno days. She just blushes, which in my golden years might be the prettiest thing I see all day. She tells me she’s just happy to be. For the first time, I think she is truly enjoying life. It turns out Agatha has a talent for cooking that she didn’t know she had. She bakes a mean bran muffin.


    Some of the Old Ones have come wandering back. Apparently, the process that transformed the seniors is only temporary. There is a waiting list for the next ceremony, and if you leave and come back, then you are bumped to the bottom of the list. Mr. Jenkins arrived three days ago, having transformed back into a doddering old pervert in the middle of his granddaughter’s dance recital. You might have read about it in the supermarket tabloids. He’s outside now, looking through windows, wearing his favorite tattered bathrobe. Agatha and I laugh at him whenever we see him. 


    Eunice comes by every so often, bringing bottles of Miska Tonic. She’s a lot nicer now that she’s in charge of the rest home and not bashing me upside the head. She’s tough, but fair. Always there with a kind word, or a wet washcloth when someone shits themselves. The tonic she brings is indeed good for the soul, and we can have as much as we want. Something inside the tonic keeps us going. I know I certainly feel younger after I have a bottle. Agatha doesn’t like it. She says she’d rather grow old the normal way. I don’t think I can blame her. 


    I don’t know where I go from here. Where any of us go. We’re stuck here in Arkham, but it’s okay. I’ve gotten used to it. I had my time, and now I’m enjoying my golden years. Eunice mentioned a possible day trip to the Bingo hall on Friday. That sounds good. Agatha said she would sit by me, and maybe we can hold hands on the trip, like two giddy schoolchildren. I might win. I might not. It doesn’t matter. I’m not going anywhere. Tonight is craft night, and I really love craft night.
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    I first met Charles Clutterbuck in the house where I boarded during my second year at Cambridge University.


    It had been the autumn of 1910 – the year of Halley’s Comet, the death of King Edward VII and the accession of his son George V to the throne – that I’d first set foot in Magdalen College. I had been shipped off at the insistence of my family despite my complete lack of academic prowess, my marked inability to concentrate on my studies, and an almost total absence of any desire to obtain further scholastic laurels. These far from inconsiderable impediments notwithstanding it was decided that I was to continue one of the many family traditions by becoming a Cambridge scholar. My entrance to that august seat of learning was thus secured by the twin ruses of my choosing to read the least patronised courses I could find which held even the vaguest of attractions for me – archaeology and anthropology – and being the scion of one of the richest families in England. Naturally my father had pulled all the strings he could to guarantee my access, just as he had throughout all of my life to that point, and, just as naturally, he had done so without even the slightest concern for any personal desires I may have had in the matter. I was expected simply to do my duty as had he, his father before him, his father before that, and so on presumably as far back as the conquest of England by William the Bastard of Normandy.


    My fresher year had been the usual whirl of social engagements, sexual encounters and physical exertions upon the rugby pitch (indeed on one notable occasion I had contrived to combine all three with a most striking undergraduate from Girton, this being in the days before that particular college became co-educational). As a result of my hedonistic excesses my minimal desire to obtain any academic qualifications at all – even an ordinary degree, yet alone a third – was comprehensively overshadowed by my avowed intent to continue indulging in every vice that would have mortified my parents had they but known the precise details of the education for which their money was paying.


    I understand that such behaviour is no longer typical of many of today’s students and all I can say is that is they who are the poorer for it: the younger generation has most certainly lost out.


    And so, in such a base manner, I squandered my first year at Cambridge and started my second.


    I had occasionally noted Charles haunting the hallowed halls of Magdalene on those few instances I had actually attended my lectures or tutorials, but had never shared so much as a single word with him and so was unaware that my new rooms were in the same lodging house as his own modest quarters. It was half-way through the Michaelmas term, on a bitterly cold winter afternoon to be precise, that I quite literally bumped into him on the stairs. I was belting pell-mell down the narrow staircase that rose through the core of the house, bounding three steps at a time with more energy than attention, when I slammed into him on the landing and sent the armload of books he carried cascading down the entire length of the narrow flight between the first and second floors. Despite the collision being entirely my fault it was he who apologised first and quite profusely – a trait which I have always found to be uniquely British – before accepting my shame-faced offer to help him bear his burden to its rightful destination. To be honest my curiosity had been piqued and I very much wanted to discover exactly who this relative stranger was and why, since we shared digs, I had not previously encountered him. I soon found that he lodged in the attic, a narrow and oddly configured room that lay directly above my own and which I had assumed was being used for storage. I also discovered that Charles’s great and abiding passion was for books.


    On entering his rooms I was struck by the sheer number of volumes that Charles already possessed. Books, papers and documents of all description were stacked high upon a stained, wooden writing desk, lending the battered table the appearance of a castle’s crenelated battlements. Many of the books lay open either face-up or down while others were locked together in literary embrace, each marking a page in its partner. All of the volumes seemed to be sprouting with new growth, so numerous were the slips of paper being used as impromptu bookmarks. The several chairs that also occupied the room had not escaped the consequences of Charles’ obsession, each bearing their own share of his mammoth collection of knowledge – for such it was – each close to buckling under the compressed weight of all that concentrated learning. I placed my own humble cargo where indicated, thereby obscuring one of the few remaining patches of carpet which still showed, and stood very still, deathly afraid of disturbing this delicate architecture of scholarship. While I gazed about me, more than slightly dumb-founded by the peculiarity of the surroundings, my host filled a small kettle from a rag-wrapped tap, set it on an ancient gas stove and enquired as to whether I took milk or sugar.


    “Just move them to the floor,” he gestured vaguely towards the bed which skulked furtively in the far corner of the room, its foot-board gently illuminated by the shaft of dusty sunlight from the room’s solitary window. As I moved the dozen or so books that shared the bed like lovers I glanced in passing at their covers and contents, discovering that they dealt with what I believe are called by some the occult sciences – if sciences they are – and were variously in French, German, Latin, Greek and other languages whose very alphabets were at that point unfamiliar to me. I later learned that Charles was a prodigious linguist, fluent in fifteen languages both living and dead, and that he assumed, purely from scholarly naiveté, that everyone else was as well.


    Placing the books among their fellows on the floor I saw represented about me the works of Crowley, Mathers, Blavatski and their peers as well as some less pedestrian works including – and I shudder even now to think of that slim, dreadful volume – Von Juntz’s “Unausprechlichen Kulten” in its English translation. “Nameless Cults”. Even before I learned more of that accursed book, a collection of writings and essays so revolting that no more than a handful of the original German copies had survived destruction at the hands of decent men, it disturbed me. The feel of its battered cover, indeed its mere proximity, filled me with a peculiar and unaccustomed sensation of nausea and unfocused disquiet. Weaving my way through Charles’ precarious towers of books, I placed that damnable collection of pages in the only space amidst the chaos of the desk, a gap in the disarray that held only a sheaf of hand-written notes and which seemed to serve as the rooms’ sole workspace.


    “May I take a peek?” I enquired of my host as I moved the loose papers to make room for Von Juntz’s vile work.


    “Certainly,” he replied, thoroughly engrossed in the task of preparing two mugs of tea. “But I must warn you that they’re only some rough notes for my thesis. A trifle simplistic in places, really,” he shrugged apologetically.


    Returning to the bed I leafed through the flimsy sheets as I lounged comfortably amidst the chaos. For his part Charles – for we had by now introduced ourselves – handed me my mug of tea and lowered himself into the battered, leather armchair that squatted behind the desk, observing me as I read. I am not ashamed to say that the contents of those few sheets were virtually incomprehensible to me, not due to the mess of spider-fine notations that clustered between each line, nor to the strange mixture of languages used throughout which hinted at the numerous and divergent sources that had been used to compile the work. No, plainly put Charles’ work was of an incredible depth and complexity which, though tenuously related to my own studies, was as far advanced beyond my level of understanding as my own work was to that of the average three year old child. Standing to drop the sheaf of papers back on Charles’ desk, I told him so.


    “Nonsense,” he mumbled, his cheeks flushing with embarrassment, “you merely need to read the right books.” And then he laughed, a peculiarly high and musical laugh that was all the stranger when I tell you that it sprang from a man who was built like a good prop-forward if not the entire front-row. “I believe,” he chuckled, “that the traditional opening question when students meet is ‘What subject are you reading?’” When I told him, his grin, which had never entirely left his face, returned broader than ever. It transpired that his bachelor’s degree had been in Archaeology – although he had read Latin in tandem with it – and that he had graduated with a double first before commencing work on his doctorate.


    “Take my advice,” he leaned conspiratorially towards me. “When they post the vacancies on the field trips this summer, try for Egypt. There’s always a good dig going on out there and, with a little work, I guarantee your dissertation will score well. Jimmy has a real thing for Egypt.” ‘Jimmy’ was the pet-name we students had for the head of our course, Professor Simpkin, although I still don’t have the faintest idea why: I seem to recall that his Christian names were Alexander St. John.


    “Yes,” Charles repeated, sipping as delicately from his mug as if it were my mother’s bone-china. “Definitely Egypt. You’d be surprised what you’ll get from a little trip out there.”


    The rest of that evening was spent in quiet conversation on topics as varied as early Coptic script, Central American sun-worshipping cults and the best public house in his home town of Salisbury. By the time I made my excuses and retired to my own bed, my pace leaden from both physical and mental exhaustion, I felt that I had known him for my entire life.


     


    X


     


    The next term passed just as quickly as had that first evening and, while I still played hard on the rugger pitch, I also developed an equal passion for the lecture theatre. Charles’ enthusiasm for his subject was infectious, inspiring me to new heights of academe, heights that I had previously regarded as not merely inaccessible but also undesirable. I could only liken it to discovering a new sporting challenge, a new muscle to develop, a new purpose to supplant the merely physical contest of the playing fields. Peculiar as it is to recount with hindsight, the elation I felt when I scored a try or prevented the opposition from breaking through our lines became a pale sensation when compared to the thrill I started to enjoy exploring and conquering these new-found worlds. The desire to excel, to prove myself, became a reason to study more tangible than the vague promises of future qualifications and plaudits. I had a reason to polish up my Latin and Greek. Lost from memory as soon as they had been learned in the long-ago, dusty classrooms of my alma mater those two dead languages were needed now so that I might better understand the finer points of certain papers and documents. By the middle of the spring term I had sacrificed most of my social life so that I might better pursue my studies, not that I think my contemporaries objected too much: my conversation had become as intensely focused on my field as had the rest of my life. I spoke of kingdoms and countries long dead and buried as if they were my lost homeland, of people centuries forgotten and turned to dust as if they were my closest kith and kin.


    But you must see that it was easy to become so obsessed, so myopic, so monomaniacal. Charles had been singularly able to do what no teacher had done before and made learning a challenge rather than a chore. He had roused the sleeping giant of my interest and, while it was still sluggish, that leviathan had started to gain a certain irresistible momentum. To hear Charles speak on any subject was to be swept up in his rapture, carried by his enthusiasm, and I willingly journeyed with him.


    My grades, which had languished for more than a year in the lower reaches of the alphabet, became so improved that, once he had ruled out the possibility of my having cheated by administering a gruelling viva on one of my more exceptional papers, Professor Simpkin claimed my improvement to be the final and clinching proof of the existence of the divine. “It is nothing,” he declared, “short of miraculous. I am only sorry that the visitation was not witnessed and my lecture theatre thus declared a shrine.”


    Charles confined his own comments to just three words: “Not too bad.”


    By that June my improved coursework, combined with my scores on the end-of-year examinations, were more than enough to secure one of the coveted positions on the Egyptian dig, though I think that Charles was even more excited by the prospect of the expedition ahead than I.


    He had become so deeply immersed in his own research by that time that contact between us was becoming the exception rather than the norm and the strain of such protracted study was beginning to show on his face and in his mannerisms. On more than one occasion I had rushed up the thirteen steps that separated our rooms upon hearing sounds of violent activity only to find him in a trembling rage of frustration, swearing with both venom and fluency in several different languages. All he would say on the matter when calm enough to be challenged on the subject was that he was “so close”. Even my promise to bring him a curio back from Egypt seemed barely to register, though I was able to obtain from him a list of perhaps a dozen reputable establishments which he assured me were easily found and could be relied upon to sell genuine goods rather than the ubiquitous, touristy fakes.


    As we made our way to the porter’s lodge, the departure point at which we student pilgrims were to congregate before starting our journey, Charles informed me that rather than return to his family home for the summer he had elected instead to remain in Cambridge.


    “Less distracting, really,” he offered by way of an explanation. “There’s only so much a body can stand, a limit to the energy it can expend, and away from parental demands I can direct my efforts much more selfishly. Mama will be upset, of course, but she’d suffer ten times the hurt if I returned home only to secrete myself away in some dim and distant corner of the library. Papa will say he understands, but won’t. He can’t see the point in any activity if it doesn’t offer an immediate dividend.” It was the most he’d said at one go for weeks and, while at the time it seemed a perfectly mundane comment, looking back it feels like an attempt at self-justification. His need to complete his great work was so all-encompassing that no sooner had we arrived at my immediate destination and mumbled our mutual farewells – Charles assuring me that he would arrange for my room to be retained for the following year – than he rushed away, no doubt bound for that book-filled, attic room.


     


    X


     


    Egypt was... I don’t know how to adequately describe it. It was so totally alien to my naïve, Western sensibilities that, as a youth, it stunned me. Even as I sit here now, crushed by the oppressive weight of all the years I’ve seen, I still have vivid memories of those few, extraordinary weeks. Cairo and the dig exist in my memories most strongly as worlds of noise and smell.


    At the dig itself all of the colours seem to have been leached away by the unremitting pounding of that strong, African sun, leaving behind only the drab, khaki of ancient, bleached bones. The fine dust liberated by the toiling native workers hung in the air like a dry mist, clogging both nose and throat, scouring the eyes, impregnating the skin and insinuating itself into every crease and pore. After two minutes in that fiercely dry and unforgiving environment a man was so thoroughly coated with the fine powder that he took on the appearance of living rock, a shambling anthropoid shape created, golem-like, from the desiccated desert soil itself. Even the act of walking raised a sheen of sweat upon my skin, a peculiarly viscous almost oily fluid that served to glue my light, linen shirt to my back even as the searing air drew the moisture from the cloth. The air above the site was a haze of heat and fumes, an atmosphere filled with the chaotic sounds and sandalwood smell of bodies toiling and perspiring all day long. I can’t speak for the others but I know that I would have given a thousand guineas for a glass of iced water or a soft breeze, anything to take the edge off that life-sapping heat which kept me exhausted each day and yet left me sleepless each night. Truth be told I would have gladly paid a thousand guineas and thought it a bargain at twice the cost.


    Professor Simpkin, on the other hand, seemed transformed by the heat, energised by it to an almost vibrant life so at odds with the sedate manner in which he passed his days at Cambridge. He would spend the daylight hours rushing from point to point at the dig, conversing with the overseers in their own rapid-fire tongue and then, while exhaustion claimed even the hardiest among us, work late into the night on drawings, plans and maps from that and previous expeditions to the site. Each night the lamp within his tent turned the canvas walls into a flickering, golden beacon long after the last human eyes that could have seen it had fallen closed, victims to sleep.


    However, despite all of our efforts, no significant finds were made and even the insignificant discoveries were so rare as to be little removed from unique. The Professor – who it seemed would not have cared if the sand’s displacement had revealed nothing more edifying than older sand – had of course warned us of this possibility, but I would be lying if I denied that most of we students, myself included, had not dreamt of discovering instant fame in the lost tomb of some long-forgotten king or queen.


    For all of its inhospitality I still found Egypt a beautiful and romantic country and these were the qualities it somehow brought to bear on all the members of our little group, daring each of us to fall in love with it.


    On a few occasions we were allowed by the magnanimous Professor Simpkin to venture into the markets and bazaars of Cairo herself. On other occasions we went regardless, small groups of us covering for those others whose turn it was to sneak carefully away, evading the sentinel of Professor Simpkin as the opportunities presented themselves. It was a journey of only a few miles as the crow flew, yet the change could not have been more profound if we had traversed half the globe. After the bleached drabness of the desert the bright, positively garish colours of the robes and rugs on sale in the souk dazzled the eyes, while the cheap, metal trinkets and weirdly fashioned containers flashed the bright sunlight as if wrought from silver and gold rather than coarser, baser metals. Everywhere we were assailed by the chattering vendors, imploring us to buy their wares in a language we could not understand. Unfortunately the only Arabic words most of us knew, which we had been advised while still in England was the only proper response to any native worker who addressed us, I had found from Charles could be freely translated to “stop malingering and get back to work”. Feeling that my limited repertoire would be more than slightly inappropriate I was thus forced to wave my open hands mutely in the faces of the more aggressive tradesmen and shake my head. It was only later that I learnt the gesture was an insult and that I had unknowingly called each of them the son of ten fathers. We live and learn.


    Occasional islands of tranquillity were formed around a fakir or street performer who sang, charmed snakes, swallowed knives, played with red-hot irons or pierced his body and face with sharp skewers, while throughout the urgent anarchy you could always hear a fanatic or holy-man ranting and raving at the heaving masses in the name of Allah. The worst of it, though, was to be found at the edges of the markets. In the dark and filthy corners wasted creatures would sit, men, women and children hideously scarred by disease, accident, fate, flaw or even design, each begging and pleading most piteously for even the smallest of coins. Only once did I give anything to them, a couple of coins that would not have bought even a ha’penny sweet back home, and my reward was to be descended upon by a howling mob of beggars, a mass of open mouths and open hands which dashed itself against me like the ocean against a floundering ship, forcing me to flee from them at full clip.


    Aloof from it all in their doorways, stairways, windows and balconies lounged prostitutes, their bodies obscenely rouged and displayed, offering their favours with embarrassing honesty as pairs of native men walked past hand-in-hand, giggling in the high-pitched, girlish manner which passed for laughter there.


    Overall, the din was appalling. I could almost hear my father’s voice grumbling “vexatious to the ears” as he had when I or my brothers made even a trifle too much noise for his taste.


    The smells were just as diverse in their nature, equally ubiquitous in their presence. Spices, smoke, food and bodily waste both human and animal vied for attention, filling the senses to the point of bursting, while under them, like a scorpion beneath a shaded rock, lurked the pervasive, dusty scent of the sand itself.


    While we may have enjoyed little luck at the dig I had more than my fair share of discoveries that summer at the shops that lay off the central chaos of the bazaar, set like moons in an orbit around that hive of human activity. In those dark and dingy backstreet traders’ rooms I spent money like water on more artefacts than I could list then or recall now. Bracelets, earrings, necklaces and funerary goods of all description were purchased, packed and shipped back to England while other items of less obvious value were secreted amongst my belongings to be carried back with me when we all returned home. Scrolls, skins, copies of tomb writings and clay tablets lined my luggage, and if I could have transported back a mummy in its sarcophagus I would have done so and damned the expense.


    But the most baffling find, the curio for Charles to mull over, was found in the market itself. Pushed back against a covered stall by one of the periodic surges that washed through the crowd I was forced to steady myself or risk falling to the filthy ground. As my hand flailed behind me my splayed fingers landed on the cover of a small book, barely larger than my palm, which nestled among the junk littering the rough, wooden table like a viper amidst the leaves of a forest floor. Flicking idly through the stained and tatty volume I discovered it to be a journal or notebook, each page covered with spidery writing, the mass of which was in some form of coded English. It was dated some twenty years previously practically to the day.


    It seemed as if fate had led me literally by the hand to find that one thing that would obsess Charles.


    A puzzle.


    I bought the notebook for a couple of copper coins without all of the usual bartering that had accompanied each of my purchases in the East, acting on an impulse that had formed after I had done no more than started to skim the first few pages. As fate would have it that was the last opportunity that I had to visit the marketplaces of Cairo before the dig was wrapped-up for another year and we all embarked once more for England.


     


    X


     


    Upon my arrival back at Cambridge I was expecting to be met by Charles but was not overly surprised when, after lingering more than half an hour beyond the departure of my companions, I was still sitting upon my travelling chest in front of the same porter’s lodge that had witnessed my leave-taking so many weeks before. The duty porter, black coated and white haired, was kind enough to allow me to store my luggage in his room, a cosy chamber steeped for decades in the sweet aromas of tea and tobacco and protected from the prying eyes of students by an ancient and threadbare curtain tacked insecurely to the oak lintel above its entrance. The assumption – uncharacteristically correct as it happened – that my father had already sent someone to collect me and my luggage forced me to run to my lodgings in order to avoid keeping whichever servant had been thus dispatched from waiting any longer than was absolutely necessary. A note slipped half under my door by the letting agent informed me that my rooms had indeed been retained for my final year but, after toiling up that final flight of stairs, my breath wheezing from my lungs as if from some ancient smoker’s, my staccato knocking on Charles’ door went unanswered. I rattled the handle, more from hopeful desperation than from any real expectation of success, but upon finding it locked resolved to waste as little more time as possible before returning to the porters’ lodge. Perching on the narrow landing and using my knee as an impromptu writing surface I hastily scrawled a brief note upon the brown paper that wrapped the little notebook before propping it up against the door to stand, a lazy and disinterested sentry, awaiting Charles’ return.


    Pausing only to dust off the seat of my trousers I made my way back down the flights of stairs, breaking into a run when I had emerged into the chilly afternoon sunlight. Despite the coolness of the British weather I arrived back at the lodge, sweat-soaked and exhausted, to find my luggage already loaded and both the porter and a liveried driver patiently awaiting my return. After thanking both men for their patient forbearance I was only too happy to collapse into the plush, leather upholstery and fall fast asleep.


    The next two weeks I spent at home in preparation for the return to my third and final year of study, recharging my batteries and cataloguing my newly acquired Egyptian artefacts. These were, I knew, my final days as a free man, untouched by the troubles of the world. The following summer would find me freshly graduated from the finest university anywhere on the globe and a member of His Majesty’s Armed Forces, a newly commissioned cornet in the same regiment in which my father had served.


    It would also find me, had I but known it, aged by those few months far more than was warranted by the mere passage of time.


     


    X


     


    I returned to Cambridge to begin my final year well aware that my skin had been darkened to a chestnut brown and my hair bleached almost blonde by the actions of the harsh, Egyptian sun (those of us who had joined the dig were all easily recognised by our dramatic change in colouration, each of us now as alike as siblings in that respect), but it was only when I looked into the water-stained mirror hung above the sink in my modest accommodations that I fully realised the sum of the changes that had taken place in the past few months. I am not, especially now in my declining years, a creature of vanity and am probably the only man I have ever known who was happy to go bald, granting me as it did a respite from the dreadful chore of caring for an entirely superfluous tangle of hair (crowning glory indeed!). However, in those halcyon days when I was still interested in the attentions of the fairer sex I had stared so fixedly into that mirror and for such lengths of time that I am surprised my image never became imprinted upon it. This being said, since the start of my more earnest pursuit of academe I had, as strange as it sounds, barely noticed my reflection. It had become an unimportant aspect, a phantom, a wraith glimpsed from the corner of my eye in shop windows and glassed frames as I made my way to or from the handful of landmarks that made up my waking world. Looking properly at it after so long the gradual changes in my figure and form, the natural metamorphoses that normally slip by unobserved over time, were flung at me all in one go and with such a force that I was staggered. Imagine looking through a darkened window and finding yourself face to face with a relative you never knew you had, a distant cousin possessing a similarity to your own features but stamped by entirely different experiences. I knew that the reflection staring back at me was my own for it moved when I moved and turned when I turned, but it was so changed, so altered, that it set me in mind of the distorting mirrors you used to be able to find at travelling fairs.


    I was so thin! I still possessed the broad frame that had won me acclaim on the rugby field, the same heavy bones which had resisted the impacts that had sent my opposition reeling, but the muscle and brawn that had once filled that frame to the point of bursting had dwindled practically to nothing. My belly, once ridged like a scrubbing board, had become as hollow as a bell while the skin stretched tightly over my chest showed my ribs as painfully pronounced curves, scythe-blades of bone woven artfully together by some demented sculptor. And my face! So drawn and empty! Small wonder that my mother had been pushing all manner of foods at me during that last fortnight at home. Of course on an intellectual level I knew that I had changed, I knew the inevitable results of the cessation of my rugby training, of all those late nights and missed meals, but to see it so starkly illustrated, so shocking displayed... Horrible!


    That first month of term saw me neglecting my studies once more, fitting them in where I could like books on an already crowded shelf, while I dedicated the bulk of my time towards a desperate effort to regain my old shape, to steal my body back from the thief who had taken it so surreptitiously from me. And while I obsessed over this new task I failed to notice that my friend and mentor seemed to have completely disappeared from my life.


    Even looking back with the perfection of hindsight this didn’t seem so very noteworthy. The start of each new term would always find Charles indulging himself in what he thought of as an almost sacred task; the inspection of the various book-dealers, antiquarians and libraries in the area that had managed to build up their stocks-in-trade since his last visit. He once described it as “the act of an intellectual Viking”, returning to the same raided villages over and over and over again, granting each just enough time to recover from the last attack before stripping it bare once more and bearing the spoils homewards. I still heard him moving about his room late at night even though he was absent during the day, but the notes I pinned to his door either remained unremoved, or were taken but left unanswered. At least until that mid-November morning.


    I was awoken from an exhausted and dreamless sleep by an incessant hammering, a constant storm of battering on my door that made it rattle in its frame and shake on its hinges. My sleep-befuddled pleas for the unknown interloper to at least pause while I tied my dressing gown closed about my waist went unheeded, the pounding continuing until I jerked the door open and away from whichever wretch had chosen to so cruelly disturb my rest. Indeed that action of mine seemed to so surprise my unwelcome caller that his hand rapped at thin air once more before it stopped. But if my visitor was surprised then I was flabbergasted for the sight that met me was Charles, wide eyed, thin and stinkingly filthy. If I had become gaunt over the last months then poor Charles had sunk to an almost skeletal emaciation, the deeply shadowed hollows of his face further accentuated by ingrained dirt and unshaven whiskers. For those first few seconds I stared at him with such shock, such dumbfounded horror, that my numbed senses failed even to register that he was talking to me.


    “You must come,” he was saying, ranting so quickly as he tugged me towards those damned stairs that I could barely make him out. “That diary...God’s blood, what have I done? What have I discovered? You won’t believe it, I tell you. Not even when you see it with your own eyes. Ia! And all from that little diary you left for me, my friend. That little book. All thanks to you.” 


    By now we had reached his room and the stink that poured from the open doorway compelled from my body the first resistance to Charles’ urgings I had shown. The rank odour of Charles’ unwashed body was as nothing to the foetid reek that now struck me, a miasma composed of rotten food, sweat, bodily waste, cloyingly sweet incense and other less definable but somehow organic smells that assailed my nose with a tangible violence. The combined effect of the separate stenches lifted my stomach into my mouth so rapidly that I was forced to clasp my robe to my face with my free hand or risk voiding my belly then and there. I was only grateful that I could no longer clearly distinguish my surroundings with any degree of clarity as Charles seemed to have hung a heavy, black cloth over the window, blocking out the glow from the stars, the facing houses and even the street-lights themselves so that not even a single ray of light entered the room. Indeed the gloom within which Charles lived would have been impenetrable were it not for a solitary candle burning fitfully in the far corner, a lonely island in the Stygian darkness, which revealed in chiaroscuro hints of light and shadow as great a change in the room itself as that which had befallen Charles.


    The most noticeable difference was that it was now almost devoid of books. While scraps of paper and pages littered the floor in drifts as chaotic as those of leaves in a woodland clearing, there was not a single intact volume to be seen amongst them. It was as though the monolithic structures that had been built from those innumerable tomes had been destroyed, razed by some vengeful God or force of nature until all that remained was a field of paper rubble to mark their passing. Even the chair into which Charles pushed me, heedless of my discomfort and state of undress, was half-buried under a drift of handwritten pages. As my eyes accustomed themselves more fully to the gloom that filled the room and the fog of sleep lifted from my mind a closer inspection of the chamber revealed only two points to be free from the disorder: a circle of bare boards in the centre of the floor and Charles’ old writing desk. It was Charles himself who drew attention to the latter by snatching up the two items which had been laid upon it. In his left hand he held the battered and malformed shape of Von Juntz’s insane masterpiece while the fingers of his right grasped the slim, red-covered diary which I had brought for him from distant Egypt. It was this latter volume that he waved in my face as he started to rant afresh.


    “This book,” he cackled, for his voice was hoarse and broken, “this book was meant for me. So fortuitous! The right time, the right place. So many factors aligned to bring it to me, to place it here, before me. The key, Ia! The key I had searched for so long and hard. The keys to the book, and the code, and the gate. All with me, all here! Ia! Don’t you see it? Don’t you see that this proves it? That this was always my destiny, my fate?” I nodded dumbstruck, baffled into silence by the storm of nonsense, dumb-struck by the insanity I saw within my friend.


    And then he laughed, that same musical laugh that had struck me as so odd all those months ago. “It was an American,” he coughed as the laughter died. “Of all things, an American.” As he spoke, spittle flecking his lips and chin, he stared me straight in the eyes and for a moment he seemed restored to sanity, his voice dropping to normality for just one sentence to ask one last, bizarre question of me before rising once more, as inevitable as a treacherous tide covering viciously toothed rocks. “Now who would have guessed an American would have held a secret so long lost to the world? Ia! Incredible!”


    I stirred in my seat, my gaze shifting from my friend as my body sought to relieve the unnatural discomfort I now felt in his presence, and he crouched beside me, the hand that held the diary clamping down over my own, pinning me to the seat with a horrifying strength. I can still recall the intense heat his body radiated, pouring out from him as scorchingly hot as the air which streams from an open stove. It was as though the fever that held his mind in a vice-like grip had become palpable to my own, dread-filled perception. My skin crawled and my fingers writhed in his grasp, though I doubt he realised it, the moist heat of his touch bringing unbidden thoughts of sickness and decay to mind. Even now, so many years later, my stomach will sometimes turn when I enter a hot and stuffy room or find my hand falling upon a surface that is just slightly and unidentifiably too warm.


    “This book,” he whispered conspiratorially as he held me, “is a diary. A journal chronicling the studies of a man named Horgan. I’ve no idea of his first name, but he was a Freemason, a good Widow’s Son who spent the last years of his life travelling in the East, squandering his retirement on a search for lost Hiram. Most of the journal,” and here he tapped at my forearm with one long, stained finger, “is in code.” He stood up then with a lightning rapidity, his voice becoming stronger with every word until it had become almost strident. “Or rather, I should say, in codes. There’s a half dozen of them, all sorts of sources, from Cabalistic to Hermetic, with the inevitable Masonic thrown in of course. It took me quite a while to trace his studies, to follow his steps. But, oh, where they led me,” he crowed. “Von Juntz’s little, German secret is all mine. Ia!”


    As he squatted beside me once more his eyes, obscured by the shadow of his once-noble brow, seemed to bore into me, through my skin and into the deepest and darkest recesses of my heart. His breath, even more so than the rest of him, was rank, filled with the dark perfumes of an old and untended cellar. “Do you know,” he asked with a banal lilt to his voice, “what a Gate is?”


    “Charles,” I stammered in reply, “I really...”


    “DO YOU?” The cracked roar of his voice was so sudden, so shockingly violent, that, as I felt a fine rain of saliva fleck my cheek, I barely suppressed the urge to leap from the chair in fright and revulsion. Indeed the resolve that kept me in that attic room, quaking and trembling from more than the early morning cold, came purely from the uncertain dread of what Charles’ reaction might have been should I even attempt to flee.


    Rather than waiting for any form of reply or response as I wiped the sticky combination of sweat and spittle from my face with a shaking palm he continued his insane monologue.


    “Gate,” he started, as if lecturing a packed theatre of undergraduates. “The most recent edition of the Oxford English Dictionary defines the word as ‘a movable barrier or means for entrance or egress through a wall or fence’. As definitions go it is woefully inadequate and laughably simplistic for anything other than the most artless linguistic usage, and Horgan’s studies in the field of Gates was concerned with more than just the petty, tawdry fabrications of architecture. His work on the construction and utilisation of Gates – and I use the word now in the more complete metaphysical sense – helped me immeasurably in the study of this...” He held up his left hand, pushing that obscene, German book towards me until it filled my field of vision, forcing me to press myself back and into the soft embrace of the armchair. My scrabbling heels ploughing erratic furrows in the drifts of paper covering the floor as I squirmed away from that loathsome volume and if I close my eyes I can still see it now, every crease, wrinkle and flaw of its cover. Even the grain of the paper, its coarse, almost wholesome texture so at odds with the undeniable value and unutterable depravity of the words recorded upon its uneven pages, is imprinted on my mind’s eye. All these years later I still shudder when I think of its uncontrolled vileness. “Unauspreclichen Kulten”, “Nameless Cults”, call that book by whatever name you will, I call it Evil, pure and simple. And it was when I felt the malignancy wash over me in almost palpable waves that I knew my dear friend was irrevocably damned.


    From that point on his rambling lost all semblance of coherence, my mind unable to grasp the obscenely alien nature of the theses and philosophies he tried to delineate. Not, I hasten to add, that the failing was mine for I firmly believe that no man who still had a grasp upon sanity could have understood Charles’ theories. As to what pitiful scraps I did understand... Well I count myself lucky that the years have acted to obscure my memory of them, drawn a veil over even the words he used, obliterating those last traces of Charles’ monstrous and heretical learning. All I clearly recollect now is his last words, and those only for the dreadful understanding they imparted. With them he described the use of ritual designs and sigils to travel, displacing a person’s body through the mundane dimensions, the magnitude dependant on the exact combination of symbols used. He even spoke of his belief that such travel was not limited to our earthly realm but could be extended with the proper knowledge to take a man to the stars. And all this insanity was possible, he insisted, through the use of these Gates.


    As he spoke he moved to the patch of bare boards I had noticed earlier and, producing from his trouser pocket a blunt stick of off-white chalk, began to mark a design upon the wooden floor, each line building to illustrate his insane concepts. With the first, smooth motion he scribed a circle fully two foot across and perfectly round before placing within it a similarly flawless triangle. Still he lectured me, almost as Professor Simpkin would address a recalcitrant class of first-years, explaining the significance of both the triangle and the eye-straining marks he placed along each of its edges. “These,” he said, “control the traveller’s exact displacement over each of the three dimensions. One mistake in the placement or form of these sigils could propel me to appear miles above the ground or entomb me within the living rock itself.”


    By then he stood within the triangle, crouched down to scribe a final mark between his feet in the exact centre of the design, a twisting and convoluted line of chalk that made my temples throb and my eyes water even to glance at it. “Von Juntz called this symbol ‘The Wings of the Angel’,” he explained as he cast a critical eye over the whole blasphemous design he had constructed, “while Horgan knew it as ‘The Dragon’s Tail’. This orientation – placing it the correct way up – will allow me to travel away from this point in space, away from my natural place. A similar Gate created at my destination will allow me to return here, to my precise point of origin, necessitating only that ‘The Dragon’s Tail’ be inverted – turning it from a plus to a minus if you will.”


    He smiled then, a cold and dispassionate convolution that deformed his face, giving it an unnatural and faintly perverse cast. “Horgan didn’t understand that,” he chuckled, his once warm voice devoid of the faintest shred of humanity. “I keep wondering where he is now, which part of this or any other world can claim his mortal flesh, whether living or dead or...” He stood pensively for a moment, his stained finger resting on his parched and cracked lips. “I’ve not seen him, you know. Not even a sign of him, not at the Plateau of Leng, at least. I looked, really I did, but I couldn’t find him, couldn’t repay him for the unknowing aid he rendered to me. Do you think I’ll find him at the Library of Celaeno?” Charles’ eyes were fixed on me now, torn away from the continuing scrutiny of the completed Gate. “Would you care to join me and find out, old friend? There’s more than enough room for two.” It was only at these words that I regained the use of my paralysed frame, the strength returning to my trembling legs as I levered myself up and backed in staggers towards the door.


    “Don’t leave!” Charles called after me, either unwilling or unable to step from within the circle which enclosed him. “When I return I will inscribe a square and travel in four dimensions, traverse the curving river of time itself! This world – this Universe – could be ours to roam, old friend. Ours!”


    God help me, how I ran. As his lips moved again, his breath rasping out the vile syllables of a language no human throat was ever meant to utter, all sense and reason fled me, and I fled with it. I wish I could tell you that I ran to summon help, to find anyone who could aid me in saving Charles – with all my soul I wish I could say that – but I did not. Instead I ran to the flimsy sanctuary of my room, slamming and locking the door behind me. Then I sat in the far corner, as far away from the door as I could, my eyes fixed upon its wooden surface, my ears alert for the slightest creak on the staircase that would betray Charles’ descent. But no sound came, either from beyond that portal or from the room above. Eventually exhaustion won me, swamping even my fear, and I slept.


    I dreamt then, the only lucid dream that I can ever remember having, or at least the only one that I can now recall. I saw my body lying, naked and cold, on a mortuary slab, the flesh as pure and unmarked as the marble upon which it rested. Each single pore was visible to me, each mole and mark, each scratch and blemish. Every curve of muscle and thread of hair loomed stark and perfect in my eyes. But as I looked closer at my chest, studying the unmoving surface minutely and wondering at my own form, I picked out a design hidden there, a Gate identical to that which Charles had used only hours before, a design formed not of chalk but from the minute flaws and features of my own skin. In fear I recoiled, my incorporeal consciousness moving up and away, watching the figure on the slab recede into the darkness, swallowed by the distance until it appeared as little more than a doll, and I finally felt secure, safeguarded by that separation.


    Until... The lips on that remote figure moved, my own corpse forming and whispering the same words I’d heard Charles voice as I had fled, words written by an insane German Necromancer as he waited for his own well-earned and much-deserved death, words that pulled my struggling awareness back down, closer and closer towards that dreadful speaker. Drawing ever nearer my struggles intensified as I vainly attempted to break the impossibly strong grip that secured me. The body – my body – began to writhe and twist in some fleshy parody of my ethereal struggles, its limbs thrashing and distorting, its very skin flowing like water until it was not my body that lay there but Charles’. There he lay, his arms spread wide to embrace me, pulling me into him, into his body, surrounding me with his flesh and sinew, washing me with his blood, baptising me with it, choking me with it even as I clawed and screamed and fought for release until, with a hoarse cry, I awoke into another world of blood.


    It dripped on me, steady as a heartbeat and regular as a pulse, from the plaster of the ceiling over my head, soaking through from the room above. Charles’ room. Terrified now for my friend, frantic for his safety, I tore open my door and started slamming my fist frenziedly against the door of the room opposite me, screaming at the occupant to send for the police, an ambulance, anybody he could think who might come.


    I took the first steps up the narrow staircase leading to Charles’ room at a run until my mind conjured up images of the sight that might await me at my destination, visions of whatever could have produced enough blood to soak me to the skin as thoroughly as if I’d immersed myself in a vat of gore. Those phantasms tumbled through my mind faster and faster as my forward progress slowed to a crawl until, finally, I stood trembling at Charles’ door. I had no recollection of closing it as I’d fled, but it stood secure and I shuddered before it, already horrified without having seen whatever lay beyond.


    Tentatively I reached out and grasped the tarnished, brass handle as one might clutch a spray of nettles or a venomous serpent. I recall having to wipe my hand free of blood, rubbing it clean against my thigh until I could grip the metal strongly enough to turn it properly.


    It was locked.


    Although I was nowhere near as strong as I had been only the year before I was still more than able to break through such a flimsy barrier, throwing myself against it with sufficient force to crack the frame and tear the door free at its hinges. Taking a deep gasp of breath I was forced to pause before climbing past the shattered wood and into the attic chamber.


    The noxious stench that oozed from Charles’ room, an almost palpable stream of corruption, while still recognisable from my earlier visit had become overlaid by a repellent, charnel smell, a carrion reek I would later recognise from the battlefields where I witnessed men torn apart, shredded and defiled by the terrible, organised slaughter of war.


    Once I was certain that I could bear that rank fetor I pushed at the door, opening the breach wider, only to find my progress blocked by some unseen impediment. Two further impacts from my shoulder opened the remains of the door wide enough for me to struggle through, toppling the desk which had blocked my entrance in the process.


    The candle that had burned dimly in the far corner no longer cast any light and the darkness flooding the room was complete until, stumbling through unseen detritus, I managed to find the small garret window and tear away the black sackcloth that had been nailed securely along all four edges of its narrow frame. Ragged cloth in hand I turned and gazed at a space flooded with the dim light of the coming dawn.
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    I was discovered by a representative of the local constabulary accompanied by one of my fellow lodgers – presumably the same poor soul I had disturbed – mere minutes later, although it took the foremost of them a further ten minutes to regain his composure and control his vomiting. I was found cross-legged in the centre of the room, facing the far wall and with my back to the room’s only entrance, feeding the last few pages of Charles’ notes into the small fire I had set in the design that had lain before me, a design that had been roughly carved into the wood itself. Charles watched me with the empty orbits of his eyes from where his ruined body lay, slumped in the farthest corner of that abattoir, blood still dripping thickly from the ragged gashes that his murderer had opened in his wasted torso.


    The gutter-press referred to it as ‘The Black-Magic Murder’, stressing the obvious occult connections in Charles’ life and death, and the police agreed with the analysis. For their part the authorities were as confounded by my friend’s death and the culprit’s escape as they were by the circumstances surrounding it. All access to or from the room had been sealed from the inside, opened only by my own unsubtle interventions, and there were none of the secret cupboards, doors or passageways so beloved of mystery writers, no mechanical murderers cunningly concealed by come criminal mastermind or his henchmen. In fact there was no evidence of any intruder other than myself, not the faintest of traces.


    There was simply no logical explanation to be found for what had occurred.


    I was an obvious suspect for the crime, covered as I was with Charles’ blood, but my single set of crimson footprints led up to that dreadful room, not down from it, and the source of my gore-soaked appearance was readily apparent to even the most dimly unobservant of investigators merely by glancing into my own rooms. Other lodgers within that narrow house also recalled clearly having heard the sounds of my forced entrance into Charles’ room after I had awoken them with my blood-curdling scream and frenzied shouts for assistance.


    And so – reluctantly – the authorities released me even though, in my heart, I longed to be punished for the intolerable crime I had perpetrated in bringing that accursed diary back from Egypt. The case was closed as unsolved and to the best of my knowledge remains so. Charles’ family wished only to forget the terrible incident, desired only to be allowed to bury and then mourn for their son. Those good Christians had never known Charles’ field of studies and, once they understood the basics of its nature, wanted nothing more than to hide what they saw as their son’s shame.


    I knew the truth of the matter, of course, and while I may not have known the murderer’s identity, I most certainly knew the secret of his movements, of his entry and escape. Of course I use the word “his” even though I doubt the culprit was even remotely human, yet alone male. I knew the truth then and I know it now, indeed it could be said that I acted as an accomplice to that unearthly murderer by concealing the profane reality of the situation, fully intending to obscure it forever. I vowed to keep that secret – indeed all of my secrets – until I and they were finally claimed by the grave, but after so many years holding this bitterness inside me I can take the burden no longer. So now I commit these final words to paper in the hopes of setting aside the weight of pain and laying the spectre of my dear friend to long-delayed rest.


    Charles’ explanation of the Gate was still fresh in my mind when I saw that design carved into the floor, etched with the same cruel and pitiless point that had laid open my poor friend’s flesh, releasing his tormented soul to journey, I pray, to a place where he might find the rest he so richly deserved. Within that graven circle, fully half as broad again as that which Charles had drawn, had been inscribed, not a triangle for a journey in three dimensions, but a pentagon. And the symbol at its heart – “The Wings of the Angel” – was inverted as if diving to some nameless Hell, inverted for a return journey.
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    I have no idea what this thing is, but I see it whenever I shut my eyes. It has huge ebony wings, and a leathery black hide. Only, sometimes the terrible abominations skin will shift and change, like the tide as it washes onto the shore in the moonlight. 


    I don’t know why I see it, and I don’t know how to cut the connection. How to break off the influx of images that assault my psyche, day after day, images that render me gibbering and insane. Worst of all is that I can feel it grow. Somewhere deep within, I know that there isn’t much time left for us. 


    Soon, the horizon shall be eclipsed by its dark form, which will blanket the land in terrible shadow. I don’t know how to stop it, but I do know what it’s coming for; it’s hungry, and it needs to feed. What’s more is that the more it eats, the more powerful it will become. I would say that it will get bigger after it feasts, but I’m afraid it may be able to change its size and shape at will. 


    No, it will simply be more powerful than any other thing our feeble minds could fathom. 


    I pray that I am just insane, that this is all in my head. Because last night, after I drifted off to sleep, I saw the thing beyond classification. I saw the great form of our undoing, and it has branded itself into my consciousness, never to leave again. 


    I dreamed of a field stained crimson from the blood of hundreds. Bodies mutilated beyond recognition littered the landscape. The grass was covered with entrails, organs, and limbs. 


    The sky was cloudy. I turned around in shock, and amidst the dead I saw strange vapors rise, like smoke from the end of a cigarette. Only this smoke, or vapor, or whatever it was, changed color in the air before my very eyes. From blue gray, it metamorphosed into a light crimson, and began to float towards me. It circled my body, almost as if to get my attention. Soon, other vapors glided towards me, seeping out of the dead flesh around me. These were similar to the first, which had circled me, only these varied in size and color. Green, purple, yellow, brown, blue; all manner of shades drifted from the pulp on the ground. Some were vaguely human in form, and with others it was hard to distinguish one definitive shape at all. Some were wider than a bus, some thinner than a pencil. 


    A strong breeze with the reek of rotting flesh blew the strange hazes away. They sailed off through the sky, and when they made it to the large pine and maple trees that stood stoically about a mile or so to the left of the large field I stood in, they traveled through them and disappeared from sight. 


    I turned back to face the miles of butchered men, women, and children, only to find a silhouette on the horizon, roughly half a mile off. It took a few seconds for my eyes to get the person properly into focus. Gradually, the blurriness subsided, and I saw what appeared to be a man with short, gray hair, wearing green and red flannel pajama pants and a white wife-beater. 


    I yelled towards him, but as I did, I heard him begin to scream. It was the most blood-chilling scream I’ve ever heard, and I hope to Hell I never have to hear one like it again. It conjured up thoughts of men gut shot, dying in utter agony on the battlefield. Thoughts of amputations, and castrations before the days of antibiotics, or anesthetics floated into my psyche. Thoughts of prison rape, torture, and genocide, were all brought to mind with that horrible noise. 


    It was hard to see clearly, but it looked as if an ink black fog was sizzling out from beneath the man’s clothes. I ran as fast as I could through the gore-soaked ground, but slipped on the blood-slicked grass, and landed hard on my side. 


    Amid sanity-shattering wails, I saw the man tear his shirt and pants off, in what I assume was a desperate attempt to stop the amorphous black wisps from painfully percolating out of his pores. It was all to no avail, however, as more and more of the smoke escaped his body with each second. 


    I scrambled, tried to get up to somehow help the poor wretch, though admittedly I was unsure if it was possible. I made it to my feet, and ran to where he lay on the ground. Yet, by the time I reached the stranger he was silent. Wrapped in that silence which we will all know one day; the quiet only death can bring. 


    I looked a few feet above the man’s corpse, and saw the black fog of his essence. Suddenly, the black, smoky form that had come out of the man’s skin shot straight up into the air. It ascended to greater and greater heights, until it was hard to see. With breakneck speed, it then flew through the air. Behind me, over my shoulder and out of my sight line, in that foreboding, dark sky, the black vapor flew.


    An eardrum-piercing howl tore through the air, and in that moment everything inside me tightened up, and went cold. 


    I began to tremble uncontrollably. Despite my terror, I had an urge to see the thing. I somehow felt it behind me, before I even laid eyes upon it. I shouldn’t have turned to look, but I needed to see. A frantic desire to know what was capable of killing so many filled me, and my wonder momentarily overcame my fear. By the grace of God, I wish I had never been so foolhardy, to let my curiosity damn me so.


    I would give anything to forget what I saw in the sky of that nightmare realm. I can barely come to an estimate as to what size the thing was, but it was wide enough that I had to turn my head to see all of its obsidian mass, while I was staring straight at it. 


    Black clouds, terrible and large, obscured it. Its massive wings were bat like, the only part of the beast that could be seen clearly, outside of the blackness. Each leathery wing had what looked like some kind of dark purple and olive colored gills, attached to where the arm bone would be in a regular bat. Hidden from view by the giant coal black smog, which whipped furiously around it, I could see that the terrible black clouds, which floated around its hulking mass, were being pumped out from the gill-like organs atop the wings. 


    A fearsome wind blew, and the black clouds parted to allow me a glimpse of the rest of its body. It was easily a hundred feet tall, though its size was hard to pinpoint, as it was in the sky. How to describe that foul leviathan is difficult. Like a giant eel, only it appeared to have thorn like protrusions all along its skin. Its hindquarters consisted of thousands of curly tendrils, which moved in a way I cannot possibly begin to describe. These thin, perhaps fifteen-foot tails, if they could be labeled as such, seemed to move and stay still all at the same moment. Staring at them made an excruciating burning sensation begin in my head, and made my eyes ache. 


    The creature twisted, and more of the corporeal part of the thing could be seen, through the dark clouds. What looked like more gills, similar to the ones above the wings, ran down the side of its body. 


    As I got a better look at these organs on the side of this demon, this hellish storm cloud with wings, I saw that they were sucking the black smog from the air back into its hulking mass.


    Rain began to hammer down from the black clouds surrounding the thing; clouds, which had grown in mere minutes to be so colossal, I could no longer see the rest of the sky. It was so large that it must have had its own atmosphere, which is the only explanation I have as to why a torrential downpour fell from the slate murkiness. This nightmare shadowed the land, and everything grew dark. 


    Another howl vibrated through the air, louder than the first. I went deaf, a loud buzz ringing in my ears, as I stared on in horror at the apocalypse made manifest. My bladder released its contents, and I was so frightened, I barely noticed the warmth, as it trickled down my leg. 


    Tears streamed down my face, as the thing floated closer. My rain soaked body shivered, as two eyes the brilliant white of lightning, flashed at the end of two impossibly long, gigantic, corresponding onyx antenna-like appendages. They poked out of the clouds; they repulsed me utterly. 


    I screamed, but could not hear my own shrieks. And then a voice spoke in my head. 


    At first it was only noises in my head, which I gradually discerned to be some kind of almost unrecognizable language. I can hardly attempt to repeat it, even phonetically. Some of the sounds that echoed through my head, I was confident were never meant for human lips to speak. The tone switched from high pitched, fast screams, to slow, deep rumbling groans. Finally, I heard the voice speak in English. 


    “Lalpatzik willll trap your spirit for eternity. Join Lalpatziiiiiik, or have your soul and Flesh ripped away. Lalpatzik, spawn of Yog-Sothoth, friend to Shub-Niggurath and the night gaunts, and mi-go’s which fly, the ghhooouuullls which feast on the deaaad in the graveyarddsss. Eitthhher you are agaiiiiinst us, or with us. Remember this, you are one of the choooseeennnnnn, and will be summoned when the greeaaattt exterrrminattioooon begins. Lalpatzik is the spaaaaaaaaark, to light the way for the reeeeeeeeeeest.” 


    Yet, the thing that sent me here, where I currently reside, in Sunny Hills Asylum, in Grafton Massachusetts, was not the horrible thing, known as Lalpatzik, or its words. 


    No, the vision that sent me down the hall from the bright room known as sanity, into the darkness of this closet known as madness, was far, far worse. For in the nightmare, after Lalpatzik’s voice screeched and boomed in my mind, some of its black vaporous form snaked downward from the miles above, down my throat. It rushed in before I knew what was happening, and even if I had I doubt I could have stopped it. 


    As I inhaled the blackness, I saw the future of the world. Saw that Lalpatzik is one of hundreds of other gods, and creatures, that will inhabit the Earth. In the vision the land was dark, possibly shadowed by Lalpatzik, or by one of the other dark gods whose names are hidden throughout the dusty centuries. 


    Strange plants and creatures filled the land. Only one important thing was missing from this nightmare within a nightmare. One aspect, that left me shivering with tears streaming down my face when I awoke. 


    For you see, in the glimpse that Lalpatzik allowed me, I saw many new beings upon the Earth. Animals with colors and limbs unimaginable to those with sanity intact. Dark gods in the seas, and in the sky. Beings hundreds of feet below the ground swimming in lakes of liquid fire. Crustacean looking winged creatures, and humanoid, bat like creatures with no face. Even bipedal creatures about the size of a human, but with a lower torso like a huge snake, with odd lightning colored eyes at the end of leathery, black antenna like appendages. 


    Yet on all the miles upon miles my spirit floated in the vision, there was one sight I was not afforded. One comfort, which I was not allowed to embrace. One hope that was dashed with the dying of the light. 


    Mankind was nowhere to be found. 
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    Seth O’Malley awoke in Sunny Hills Mental Hospital, and knew what he had to do. 


    He pretended to be sluggish, when the orderly, named Henry, opened the door to give him his afternoon medication. Henry was very tall, and his pale face was stern, below his smoothly shaved head. 


    As soon as Henry was in the room, Seth sprang into action. He grabbed onto Henry, a man twice his size and strength, by the back of the head. What is muscle strength compared to the powerful bursts of adrenaline found in that of the paranoid schizophrenic?


    With all his might, Seth smashed the large man’s head into the metal edge of the bed, a bed Seth was very well acquainted with. There was a small amount of padding, placed over the corner of the bed, but it did next to nothing to cushion the blows. He felt the man’s nose crunch, as he raised and lowered Henry’s face onto the sharp metal. When he finally dropped the man to the floor, Henry’s face was nothing more than a bloody, red, pulp.


    Seth ran, ran because he knew his true purpose now. Seth was no psychopath; it was the rest of the world that was insane! They had no idea of the vast vistas of time and space that existed beyond the stars! What did they know of ghasts, of the ivory bridges of Teloe, above the golden rivers? What did they know of Cytharion, with its beautiful blossoms? What did they know of any of the dreamlands? What did they know of Kadath?


    He made it to the front exit before anyone noticed him. A black man named Jeff, the security guard at the front desk, saw him, and in an instant was up from his plastic chair. Jeff went to his belt, to grab his taser, but Seth knocked the weapon out of his hand first. In a frenzy, Seth grabbed the taser off the ground, and pushed the trigger on the little machine. He pumped electricity into the security guard’s stomach, for a good twenty seconds. The man dropped to the floor, and convulsed. 


    Seth heard the alarm begin to ring through the cloudy afternoon, as he made his way through the parking lot. He saw some orderlies run outside after him, but he had purpose in his strides.


    He was one of the chosen of Lalpatzik. They were nothing, but lowly humans, with no idea of the power within him.
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    Patrick Ganford ran ahead of the other two orderlies on duty that day in Sunny Hills. Patrick ran every day, and he had been the fastest sprinter on his high school track team. Running was just something that the skinny man of thirty, with his freckles and light red hair, was good at.


    Dressed in dark blue jeans, with his Sunny Hills staff uniform green polo shirt above it, Patrick ran out of the parking lot, in pursuit of Seth O’Malley, one of the schizophrenic patients from the second floor of the hospital. They called it a hospital, but that was a misnomer; no one was ever really healed in Sunny Hills.


    He watched as Seth made his way down the street that led away from Sunny Hills. He increased his clip to try to catch up with Seth, who was still in his white hospital issued pajama bottoms, and white T-shirt. Patrick marveled at how fast Seth was running. While Patrick was used to maintaining his speed, Seth had had no exercise for months, but didn’t seem to falter one bit.


    Seth suddenly darted from the road, towards the tree line, along the left side of the empty street. It was a Sunday, so even fewer drivers were about than usual, which was probably a good thing. Patrick would receive all sorts of hell, if a car hit a patient during his shift. He was supposed to be in charge as head orderly. Patrick ignored the stitch that formed in his side, and followed Seth into the trees.


    The running got harder once he left the asphalt. Patrick had to navigate branches, and roots along the ground, not to mention rocks. Yet, Seth seemed to have no problem navigating the forest. In fact, if Patrick hadn’t known any better, he could have sworn that this patient had run this exact route before, such was the confidence, and speed, with which Seth traveled through the woods. 


    A branch hit Patrick in the side, and slowed him down a bit but he continued to run as if his job depended on it, which it very well might. Seth increased the distance between them, ever confident with the terrain. Patrick almost fell when his left foot hit an exposed root that led from a large oak tree.


    The trees were thinning out now, and Patrick could see a large field in front of him. Seth ran towards the field, screaming some kind of gibberish Patrick couldn’t make out. Was that even a language that Seth was shouting towards the sky? If so, it wasn’t any language Patrick had ever heard. 


    The sky grew dark, the closer that Patrick got to the center of the field. He kept his sight on Seth, who, without warning, dropped to his knees mid-field, and began to scream in English.


    “Lalpatzik, ruler of the path through dimensions, spawn of Yog-Sothoth! You are the spark, to light the way for the rest! I am your servant eternally! I chose to serve you, during the great extermination! Let me know of the wonders, which you have seen, and the dreamlands, which you come from! Let me meet the other gods that rule the vast darkness of space, beyond the stars!”


    “What the fuck are you talking about Seth?” Patrick said, grasping Seth by the shoulders. “We need to get you back to the hospital! You really hurt Henry, and he’ll probably be in a coma or something from that little stunt you pulled! Not to mention what you did to Jeff! Do you hear me?”


    Patrick turned Seth’s face to look into his own then let out a shocked gasp. Seth’s eyes looked like they were filled with electric current. They were the blinding, brilliant white light of lightning. The man no longer had any pupils, or corneas. Both of his eyes were simply filled with that electric, white light.


    It grew pitch black, and Patrick saw Seth turn his face once again to the sky. Patrick looked up, and saw something that made him release his bowels into his jeans. He dropped to the ground, and began to shake uncontrollably. He screamed, and blood burst from his mouth, a fountain of blood, which soaked the grass, and covered his jeans. Patrick saw a red vapor rise out of his skin which burned terribly as it made its way out of his body.


    In seconds, Patrick’s eyes burst in their sockets, as the electric current sizzled through him. 


    The last thing he heard, before his eardrums exploded, was an inhuman wail from above. Then, his soul traveled up into the elder god.
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    Greg and Tim, two other orderlies at Sunny Hills, finally reached the field about forty seconds later. What they saw that afternoon turned their hair white, and in an ironic twist of fate, changed them from orderlies of Sunny Hills to patients.


    Seth O’Malley was floating upwards, towards a gigantic black cloud in the sky. Seth’s whole body appeared to be surging with electric current. His hospital issue pants, and white cotton T-shirt singed away, and left Seth naked, as he sizzled in the sky. 


    But somehow, the man’s flesh wasn’t burning. Perhaps, the craziest part of all, Greg and Tim heard Seth laughing maniacally as he rose. Then they heard something huge inside of the black cloud. It was a sound that shook the field underneath their feet. And it was in a rhythm that was unmistakable. 


    It sounded like thunder, laughing.
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    On Sunday night, May 20, 2011, Seth O’Malley assaulted one of the orderlies, Henry, and beat him into a coma. Patient then grabbed the taser from Jeff, the security guard at the front desk, and incapacitated him.


    O’Malley then escaped the hospital grounds. He ran into the woods, just off of hospital property, on the Grafton town line, which borders the town of Dunwich. 


    The patient killed the head orderly, Patrick Ganford, and attempts to apprehend the patient by two other orderlies, Greg Umbridge and Tim Founman, failed. These two men are now in a profound state of catatonia. Neither has spoken since the incident occurred. Sunny Hills has made sure each man will receive a full recovery, free of charge. We take care of our own here.


    A manhunt is currently underway for O’Malley. Patient is twenty-eight year old, five foot four inches tall Caucasian male, with light brown hair cut short, and grey eyes


    If you have any information about the whereabouts of Mr. O’Malley, please contact the Grafton police at 978-555-9110. 


    A reward of $15,000 is available to anyone who can alert the police to Mr. O’Malley’s whereabouts. Take no chances approaching the patient: he has extremely aggressive tendencies, and is a paranoid schizophrenic. 


    Thank you all for your cooperation, in this time of tragedy here at Sunny Hills.


    Sincerely,


    Dr. Gerald Thomas


    Head Psychiatrist and Director of Sunny Hills


     


    When he had finished typing up the email, Dr. Thomas sent it to the rest of the staff at Sunny Hills. Once that was done, he printed out ten copies of it. He grabbed his black pea coat from the hook on the coat rack, which sat beside his office door. Then, he grabbed his cane, which rested underneath the coat rack, leaning against the wall. It was a stick of solid mahogany; his father had willed it to him, after his passing the previous year.


    He walked down the hall, and passed the room in which Tim Founman had stayed since the incident with Seth O’Malley. Dr. Thomas looked into the room, through the glass, that had crisscrossing metal bars inside it. Tim was sitting up in bed, staring straight ahead of him. The doctor waved to the man, and though the man was facing him, not so much as a flicker of recognition passed across his face. Founman was still in a deep catatonic state. 


    Doctor Thomas had told the orderlies to give him heavy sedation every day. Still, the doctor found it profoundly odd, that not just one man, but two, had hair that had turned stark white, overnight. It was extremely rare for patients to have changes in hair color. Even the most deeply troubled patients would only get a streak of gray here and there, if at all.


    The doctor continued further down the hallway, and switched over to the opposite side. He passed two other patient’s rooms. One was screaming, and the other in heavy sedation, asleep. At the third door, he came to the room where Greg Umbridge lay upright, with his back to the wall. He waved at Greg, and saw, with excitement, that the man’s eye twitched, ever so slightly. 


    “How are you feeling today, Greg?” Dr. Thomas asked him, through the glass of the door.


    He didn’t expect to get a response, but remarkably, he saw Greg’s lips begin to tremble. Greg’s mouth appeared to try to form speech, but all that came out was a strange jargon of sounds, that barely sounded like the English language.


    “Would you like me to get you a piece of paper, and a pencil, Gregory?” Dr. Thomas asked.


    The slightest of movements, up and down, of Greg’s head to this question was enough to send Dr. Thomas running down the hall. He rushed into his office, and called up two orderlies from their patrol on the second floor, to help him with Greg.


    It had taken a great deal of effort from the orderlies, to get the still sluggish patient into a sitting position. With some finagling, they got him into a seated position on his bed, with a pad of paper, and a pencil in his hand. It was the kind of pencil that you had to click the eraser to write with. A skinny, balding orderly named Todd flanked Greg to his right, and a chubby, short orderly named Jim stood by the patient on his left. Dr. Thomas was not going to take any chances, after the incident with Seth the previous week.


    “Go on Greg, it’s okay; just slowly write down what you want to tell me,” Dr. Thomas said.


    Greg looked up at Dr. Thomas, slowly. His lips began to tremble, and he tried to speak. Noises came out, bits and fragments of English, but Greg was unable to put them together. Greg shut his eyes tight, and breathed deeply. Then, he placed the pencil to the pad of paper.


    It took Greg five minutes to write out the word. It was a crazy sounding word, written with a trembling hand, so that the letters contained crooked lines. When he was finished writing the nonsense word, Greg lay down on the bed. 


    “Greg, do you want us to go?” Dr. Thomas asked.


    Silence was all the only answer from Greg, who appeared to be back in a complete state of catatonia. Dr. Thomas motioned to Todd and Jim, to leave the patient’s room with him.


    Doctor Thomas made his way back to his office, after sending Todd and Jim back down to the first floor. He walked over to his desk, and sat down. He put the pad of paper with the strange word onto the desk. He switched on a green desk lamp, and stared down at the word. And for no reason at all, Dr. Gerald Thomas shivered.


    The word on the pad read Lalpatzik.


     


    X


    The next day, Doctor Thomas called in, and let the chief of staff for the asylum, Harold Weston, know that he was going to be out for the day. He drove from his spacious home, just outside of Dunwich, to the town of Arkham. He visited the library of Miskatonic University, a place he remembered with great fondness. Dr. Thomas had received his Ph.D in psychiatry from Miskatonic. He had spent many an hour in the old library, with its notably high ceilings, and rare collection of old books.


    First, Thomas went to one of the many computers near the front entrance of the library. He did an Internet search for the word, Lalpatzik. The one thing that every site he traveled to had in common, was to mention that the word Lalptizik was found in a book from the 19th century, by an anonymous author. Although the title of the book was Qanoon-e-Islam, Thomas was intrigued to discover that this text had very little to do with the Islamic religion. However, the book appeared to be of Middle Eastern origin. There were theories that a man named Abdul Alhazred had written the book, but no site he checked could confirm this. 


    He searched the internet database for the Miskatonic library, and found to his shock that not only were there reference books for the Qanoon-e-Islam, but that a copy of the original text was to be found right in the basement of the library. So, Dr. Thomas made his way down to the basement of the library, to the rare books section.


    He was greeted with much hostility, when he asked the elderly woman who sat at a desk before the archives, if he could look at the Qanoon-e-Islam.


    “Why in hell would you want to look through that book?” the old woman asked him.


    In the typical fashion of those involved in the mental health field, the doctor answered her question with another question.


    “Why do you seem so against having me look at it?” he said.


    “Well, you can look at the ratty old thing if you want, but most of it is gibberish,” the old woman said. She fidgeted with her hands, and he saw that there were scars along the tops of them.


    “How did you scar your hands?” the doctor asked.


    She sneered at him, from beneath her thick spectacles. She was dressed conservatively, in a dark blue dress with long sleeves. She probably doesn’t like to show off her arms, perhaps she has scars on them too, Dr. Thomas thought to himself.


    “Ain’t none of your Goddamn business how I been scarred!” the elderly woman replied, and got up so fast, that at first, the doctor was confused. She looked over her shoulder at him, with a scowl.


    “Well do you want to look through the Qanoon-e-Islam or not?” she asked him.


    “Yes... yes, of course.”
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    It took him three hours of leafing, and scanning through the massive text before he found the word Lalpatzik. But, none of the passage made much sense to him. He read it aloud: “Ia Lalpatzik wgah’nagl fuh jufghen zo’shiant Kadath.” Below this, the text went on in English, though whether it was a translation from a previous text in another language, the text did not specify. He continued to read aloud.


    “Lalpatzik, the great gateway opener, is the spark to light the way for the rest. He waits in the great dream city of Kadath, beyond the stars, for the day a madman will set him loose.”


    How cryptic, Dr. Thomas thought. He wrote the strange words, and description of Lalpatzik, onto a piece of paper in a notebook he produced from his briefcase. This short mention was all that was to be found of Lalpatzik in the entirety of Qanoon-e-Islam. He leafed through until the end of the weighty volume, but found no other mention. He got to the back cover, and noted that written at the center of it were the words “Property of Joseph Curwen”. 


    On his way out of the rare books section, he heard the old woman mumble something under her breath.


    “I’m sorry, I didn’t catch that,” he said, unable to keep his tone from being flippant.


    She looked into his face, and he saw one overwhelming emotion shine through her facial features. That emotion was fear.


    “I said, may God have mercy on your soul.”


     


    X


     


    Doctor Thomas wasn’t sure why he wanted to visit the field where Patrick had died, and where the other two orderlies had witnessed the murder. He wasn’t really sure why he took out the paper with the words on it either. But he did, and he began to read the strange words aloud.


    “Ia Lalpatzik wgah’nagl fuh jufghen zo’shiant Kadath.” 


    It was right around sunset, and after a minute, Dr. Thomas smiled to himself, and turned to go. What did he figure would happen? He had let the mental illness of a patient infect his imagination; that was all, and nothing more. 


    Thunder boomed above him, and the setting sun was blocked out of the sky. It began to pour with rain, and he saw a flash of lightning touch down on the field, after he heard the thunder. He looked up, and screamed.


    The vapor rose out of his skin, a strange green color. It burned as it left his body, and he fell to his knees from the pain. A few seconds later, and his vision greyed. 


    Doctor Gerald Thomas died at exactly 5:57 pm, on that previously cloudless day, May the 30th.


    Death was not the end for his soul.
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    Doctor Thomas consisted entirely of a green vapor now, and he tried to scream, though no sound was produced. He was roughly three feet in length, and a foot in diameter. He traveled inside one of the gills of Lalpatzik, along the top of its giant wing. He was sucked inside the elder god, and as this occurred, he was awarded flashes of all the evil thing had seen and done. He saw whole civilizations laid to waste by the elder god, Lalpatzik. He saw strange creatures on distant planets, slaughtered, and assimilated; just as he had been, into the great beast of extermination, Lalpatzik.


    He was pumped back out of the gargantuan creature’s body, as it flew through a tunnel that appeared to be made of lighting and cloud. He floated about the elder god’s head, if such a thing could be called a head. He saw one of the huge stalks of its eyes turn toward him; saw the giant eye the size of the front door of a house. It blinked, and he heard the thunder laughing.


    He saw the stars and the endless black void all around him, though he had no eyes to see. He was unsure how he felt or saw anything, and yet he still saw and felt; he still sensed. He wished more than anything that his senses would die, as his body had.


    Suddenly, the great beast was above a strange planet, with alien vegetation. He saw gigantic stalks that looked like a cross between a giant mushroom, and a giant broccoli plant. He saw a river of gold that traveled underneath a long bridge, made out of a bright red and purple plant matter, or what he took to be plant matter. As Lalpatzik lowered its great frame to the planet, the land of Kadath, Dr. Thomas’s soul knew that the bridge was more rock than plant, though it was comprised of equal parts of both components.


    In his green vaporous form, he scanned the terrible, alien horizon, and saw what looked like a great chair, made of the same red and purple plant slash rock matter. And atop this chair sat none other than Seth O’Malley, his human form somehow pure, and intact. But, his eyes were the bright white of lightning, and sporadically, electrical currents would travel over his skin. Somehow, his flesh remained unharmed. He was naked.


    Before Seth were thousands of different colored vapors, of varying shapes and sizes, somehow trapped before the strange throne on which the madman sat. Seth inhaled, and a new vapor traveled into his mouth, and was then exhaled through his nose, to be followed by yet another vapor of yet another color and size. 


    Doctor Thomas’ soul was allowed to escape from beside Lalpatzik’s massive head, and he traveled below to where the others were trapped. He floated towards the throne of the madman. He maneuvered his way around the other souls, and made his way to the front.


    As he floated toward Seth, the man smiled, and laughed.


    “So nice to see you, doctor,” Seth said.


    “Come, see the beauty that is total and uncontrollable, universal chaos and madness.” Seth said.


    Seth inhaled, and the doctor traveled inside the former man, who was now a god in this dreamland, this strange planet. Somehow, Dr. Thomas’ soul, which was now green vapor, knew that he was to be a prisoner on Kadath for eternity. And he saw what was to become of the other planets that existed among the great black void of the universe. Saw the death and devastation; the fire and the plagues, and the overthrow of humanity. Humanity, that was just one tiny species among thousands throughout the universe that was to be killed, and trapped on Kadath with him, forever. 


    He never stopped screaming, though he had no lips to produce the sound. Seth had given him one final gift. The gift of total and unending madness, forever.


    


    


    


    


    [bookmark: _Toc435557271]BLOOD, GUNS & TENTACLES
 


    Kirk Jones


     


    [bookmark: _Toc435557272]I was five when I fired my first gun. I can’t recall the model. All I know is that it had one hell of a kick, too much of a kick to be Dad’s old .22. The damned thing left my shoulder black and blue for a week. I shrugged it off as well as I could, held back the tears so my father’s friends wouldn’t see me cry, but I vowed that from that day forward I’d never fire another gun again.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557273]I made good on that vow for seven years, until Dad dragged me into the woods during the fall of ‘76. He came home empty-handed almost every night that season, so I figured the odds were in my favor. I could hit the woods, get him off my back, and not have to watch anything die. It was miserably cold that year, and the only thing stirring in the forest was a handful of dead leaves that managed to remain secured to their respective branches until after the first frost. As always, Dad plucked a few artist’s conks off stumps along the way, picked up the scattered limbs of dying trees, handed them to me, and told me to draw something. I was never much for drawing. I was never much for anything really.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557274]Two hours and about one hundred stick figures later I had Dad’s rifle cradled in my shoulder with a doe in the crosshairs. There was no turning back. I thought about aiming off target, but that would have meant getting dragged out the next season, hell, maybe the next day, with another whitetail in my sights and Dad breathing down my neck. So I fired.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557275]I thought I had missed. That deer just stood there, unblinking. Then it dropped. Now, I’m no avid hunter and never was. I’ve seen my fair share of hunting programs though, enough to know a deer doesn’t just stand there after being shot. But at the time I was too transfixed by the experience to realize how irregular the deer’s reaction was.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557276]Dad’s hand came down on my shoulder. “That was a good shot,” he whispered. “Let’s go get her.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557277]I nodded, and we climbed down the series of short boards leading back to the ground so we could haul our kill home. Dad inched up to her slowly and prodded her gently with his gun. “She’s beautiful,” he said. And she was, with a flawless coat as white as the impending snowfall. Not a drop of brown covered her body. As I stood there over the doe, Dad unscrewed the cap from his flask, which I always assumed was filled with liquor, and poured the contents between the deer’s lips. It was water. He turned to me, “a sign of respect.” He put the flask in his pocket and stood beside me. “I was a lot like you when I was young. Never liked to see an animal suffer.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557278]“Why do you hunt then?” I asked.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557279]“Someday you’ll understand.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557280]In my life I’ve ran into all kinds of hunters. Some do it for sport. For others, it’s some sort of instinctual drive for conquest. They find something beautiful and the first thing they want to do is either screw it or kill it. Boil it down, they want to tag it. They want to capture that beauty and make it their own.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557281]Then there are some hunters who do it for survival. When the nearest grocery store is forty miles away and an annual cold snap entails temperatures of forty below for weeks at a time, it’s just common sense to stock up. Those are the ones who seem to have the most respect for the hunt, because the kill is just a means to an end, not the end itself.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557282]But no monuments to sport adorned the walls of my childhood home. And Dad gave most of the venison to our grandfather, or the other folks in town who probably couldn’t have afforded to make it to the store even during the summer months. Truth be told, I never really understood why he hunted, thus my initial aversion to it.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557283]Dad grabbed one of the rear legs and turned towards the horizon. “We better get her home.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557284]“Don’t you have to,” I made a stabbing motion towards the deer’s underbelly. “Cut it or something?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557285]“This one’s too important for that.” He nodded towards the other leg. “Give me a hand.”
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    [bookmark: _Toc435557286]We got back home and dropped our gear off in the garage well after dark that night. Mom sat at the dinner table, her food untouched. If any shot was fired within a mile of the house and Dad wasn’t around, Mom was a nervous wreck. The evening I shot my first deer was no exception. To Dad’s disappointment, this apple, this apple that just fired a gun for the first time in seven years, didn’t fall far from the tree. Even though Mom and I heard guns going off all the time, I don’t think we ever got used to it. To us, that sound ringing in your ears meant only one thing: death. In part that was Dad’s doing. He understood hunting to kill, but shooting for pleasure was lost on him. He always said you only shoot guns for two reasons: to sight them or to hit your target. So we knew that when he fired, he generally intended to take something’s life.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557287]Once Dad stumbled in with me following close behind, Mom’s anxiety made an abrupt transition into anger. “Dinner’s cold,” she said, pointing to the liver and spinach on the table. Then she noticed the white hairs lining our sleeves. A frown spread across her face. “You got something, didn’t you?” she asked.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557288]Dad smiled.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557289]She reached for her coat. “I don’t have time to cut it for you. There’s too much work around the house. You’re going to have to get Jim to do it.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557290]My father set his hat on the table. “Jim’s already butchering for everyone else in the neighborhood.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557291]“Let’s see it,” she said, ushering us out the door. Over the years Mom had grown tired of feigning interest in Dad’s hobby. By the time I was twelve, she wasn’t as adept at holding back her true sentiments, especially since every deer he brought home meant more work for her. 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557292]“It’s a small one. Jeff got it,” Dad said. 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557293]“You got it?” Mom opened the garage door and walked in before I could respond. “Well, come on then.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557294]“Nice one, eh?” Dad asked, looking at me.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557295]“Was it sick or something?” Mom asked.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557296]“It’s albino.” Dad knelt before the doe and ran his hand across its white coat. “I’ve only seen a few when I was a kid. Must run in the local population or something, because seeing even one in your lifetime is pretty rare.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557297]Mom approached the deer. “I’ve never seen one.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557298]“You don’t hunt,” Dad replied, half accusingly, half joking.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557299]She ignored him. “You want me to pack dinner up, or are you guys going to come in and eat something before you take care of this?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557300]“We’ll be in soon,” Dad said, still stroking the deer’s thin coat.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557301]“Alright. You boys have fun.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557302]Dad took the gun we had used off his rack. “You want to grab me that screwdriver with the electric tape on it?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557303]I picked it up and handed it to him.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557304]“Thanks.” He began unscrewing the butt guard from the gunstock. “This rifle’s been in our family for a long time. I know you don’t like hunting, but someday this gun will be yours, and I wanted you to be a part of its history too, even if you decide not to use it after I’m gone.” He pulled the guard away from the stock and showed me the writing underneath. “Those marks are your grandfather’s. He just tallied up his kills. But these,” he drew his finger over a small list of numbers. “Those are mine.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557305]“What’re the numbers for?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557306]“Those represent the number of points on a deer’s horns. Two for a crotch horn, six for a six point... you get the idea. I use a zero for the does. There aren’t many. I’m not big on taking them.” He handed me a knife and set the gun on the work bench. “Go ahead.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557307]“Just carve a zero?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557308]“Right below mine. Watch out for the design at the bottom.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557309]I scrawled my zero into the stock, careful to avoid the decorated circle below the series of numbers, and tried to hand the knife back to him.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557310]“You’re going to need that,” he said, smiling. “You killed it. You clean it.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557311]Knife in hand, I walked over to the deer. “Shouldn’t we have done this outside? It’s going to be a mess.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557312]“Don’t worry about that. Open her up, just below the rib cage.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557313]I made a small incision and drew the knife downward.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557314]Dad held a cup under the opening. “Slow down. There’s no need to rush it.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557315]Once the cup was full with the deer’s blood, Dad poured a circle around the animal, stopping just before closing it. “Alright, step out.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557316]“Aren’t we supposed to take its...parts out or something?” I asked. 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557317]“Just come here.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557318]Once I was out of the partial circle, Dad sealed it with blood. Then, with the rifle in hand, he poured the rest of the cup’s contents inside the circle, replicating the design on the butt of the gunstock. “Step back by the freezer.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557319]He backed away cautiously with me and screwed the guard back onto his rifle. “Now the real hunt begins.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557320]Ten minutes later, I still didn’t know what the hell he was talking about. The only thing that had changed was a pair of headlights splashing across the driveway. My dad handed me the rifle. “Don’t move.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557321]He opened the door, squinted at the light that was still saturating the darkness. “Hello?” he asked. There was no response, only the sound of something hard trailing across pavement, capped by a modest snap. Dad must have recognized who or what it was, because he poured a line in blood across the threshold before stepping out. “I have to go talk to these gentlemen. But I want you to stay where you are, do you understand?” He towered over me, asking again. “Do you understand?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557322]I nodded. “Yes, don’t move.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557323]“Good.” He pulled the gun out of my hands and checked to make sure it was loaded. “You only get one shot. Make it count.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557324]“One shot at what?” I asked, but Dad was already closing the door behind him. That’s when I noticed the circle on the floor faintly glowing.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557325]The lights in the front yard dimmed. I couldn’t see anything outside, but I heard my father arguing with the men. “I think it’s best you two be on your way,” he said.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557326]The slow succession of scrapes and clicks grew louder, getting closer to the door. Then one of the men spoke. “I thought your line gave up summoning.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557327]“I don’t know what you’re talking about.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557328]“Don’t lie to me.” The man sniffed the air. “The blood of an innocent, and is that ectoplasm I smell? Tell me, what interest do you have in Hastur’s progeny?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557329]The blood on the floor began to defy gravity. Droplets levitated off the floor slowly, and then surged towards the ceiling. I remember running to the door, but I can’t remember if it was to help my dad, or get away from the circle.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557330]The man speaking to my father smiled, which, even with the heavy shadows, did little to veil his unnatural age. His face was wrinkled and contorted, corpse-like. Long, white hair seemed to hover inches from his shoulders, as if suspended in midair. “Hi there. What’s your name?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557331]Dad waved me back inside. “I told you not to move!”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557332]I turned towards the circle as the light emanating from it grew brighter. Then the ground started to shift. “Dad, what’s happening!?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557333]“Tell him.” The old man put his right leg forward, “click.” Then he dragged his left across the pavement to meet the other. “Your father is summoning a demon, and you’re to be the sacrifice.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557334]My father shook his head. “I don’t barter with the ancient ones. I bring them into this world so I can take them out permanently.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557335]“Who are the ancient ones?” I asked.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557336]“Get back in the garage, Jeff. Don’t come out until I tell you to.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557337]I edged back to Dad’s work bench with my back to the wall, watching the circle for any sudden change. For about a year after that night, that’s all I remembered. But over time I managed a piecemeal recollection of what happened next. A thunderstorm the following summer reminded me of the two shots that reverberated between the house and the garage. Periodic nightmares closed the rest of the gap between me heading back into the garage and waking the next morning. After two gunshots, the front door to the house slammed and Mom screamed for my father and me. A large shadow crossed the lawn and another shot was fired. Then another, followed by silence.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557338]The old man, still smiling, approached the garage. “Let me in,” he called. “I’m a friend of your father’s. You can trust me.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557339]I backed away from the work bench, towards the freezer, and pried the lid open with my free hand, remembering all of Mom’s speeches about how children can get sealed inside and suffocate. But when the glass on the garage door shattered and the old man tried to reach inside, the freezer seemed the most logical refuge.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557340]Mom’s words must have stuck with me on some level, because I didn’t let the lid shut over me. It remained wedged open by the barrel of my father’s rifle, now aimed at the old man.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557341]He backed away with his hands before him. “There’s no need for that.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557342]I kept him in my crosshairs, ignoring the red light that had grown to near-blinding proportions at the center of the room. The old man clenched one of his outstretched hands into a first, and the deer on the floor began to move, slowly rising to its feet like a marionette. The old man then pulled his fist into his body slowly, and the deer started for him. Just as it began to clumsily amble out of the circle, the ground swelled and burst below its feet. And out of the hole came the most vile thing I have ever seen in my life. It rose to the surface quickly, anchoring itself with thorn-encrusted tentacles. With one swift motion it shot to the ceiling and lurched down, tearing into the deer. Its jaw snapped twice and the deer was gone.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557343]The man at the door dropped to his knees. With his arms outstretched, he called to the beast. “Hastur!” he cried. He literally cried. Tears streamed down his face as he repeated again and again “Hastur!” The man pointed to me. “Behold your offering!”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557344]And for the second time that day, my shoulder cradled that rifle. But this time I was alone. There was no reassuring voice to guide me or steady my trembling hands. I reached for the trigger, unsure as to who or what needed the one bullet more. The old man continued to call out to the beast. “Will you take the offering?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557345]I eyed the beast cautiously as its gaze settled on me. I set my sights on the thing, and watched from the corner of my eye as the old man’s face dropped and his hands motioned for me to stop. God help me, I fired at that wretched thing. A mixture of black and green oozed from the wound as thin, black appendages slithered from the hole in the floor to cover the opening in the creature’s flesh. Its scream sounded like a symphony of screeching tires accompanied by a throng of crying children, blotting out all other sounds. Then the thing slammed into the ground and rose again. Before I could see anything else, I pulled my father’s rifle into the freezer and let the door close above me, thinking it better to die frozen than in the gaping maw of some otherworldly beast.


     


    X


     


    [bookmark: _Toc435557346]I awoke the next day in four inches of water, a pillow of thawed vegetables, and a state trooper hovering over me, arm extended. “You okay, son?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557347]Shaking uncontrollably, I drew Dad’s rifle into my chest.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557348]The officer turned to another person in the room. “He’s in shock.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557349]Another officer stood just outside, taking pictures of the glass fragments scattered across the driveway. “No shit, Sherlock. Call an ambulance.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557350]After what felt like hours, an EMT reached into the freezer to check my pulse. “You’re going to be alright.” Her hands rounded my neck and grazed my spine. “That hurt?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557351]I couldn’t speak.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557352]“You have a touch of frostbite, so this might hurt a little. We’re going to lift you out now, okay?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557353]I sat up slowly, dropped the rifle at my feet and reached out to her. “Where’s my mom?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557354]“All in time, dear.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557355]As she pulled me out of the freezer, I tried to confirm what had happened the night before. There was nothing. No blood, no circle ...no garage for that matter. Smoke trailed through the air from the foundation. The entire thing had burned around me.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557356]The EMT held me close to her and I felt the warmth return to my extremities. “Fire cut the electricity and raised the temperature in your hiding place above freezing. Shock must have just about shut you down completely. Under any other circumstance you would have suffocated. You’re lucky to be alive.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557357]We walked across the driveway to the ambulance. The gravel was spotted with blood and broken glass, as was the walkway to the front door. The EMT pushed my head into her shoulder. “Don’t look, honey.” We picked up speed then, until I was handed off to another person and strapped down for a long trip to the emergency room.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557358]I don’t remember much after that until the day my grandfather dragged his oxygen tank into my room at the hospital and told me through efforted breaths that I was coming home with him. I learned later, well after recovery, how Mom and Dad had died that night. Mom had suffered a gunshot wound to the stomach and Dad had been shot in the head. The police ruled it a suicide prefigured by an attempted double homicide. When they questioned me, I confirmed everything they said. They fed me the closest thing to a plausible fabrication, one I never could have come up with on my own. I never mentioned the deer, the circle, or the other men who showed up at our house that night. Or that god-awful creature. Frankly, I didn’t remember much of it at the time anyway.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557359]For years I tried my best to forget about what little I did remember. Everything that reminded me of my life before that night remained tucked away in the corners of Grandpa’s farmhouse. All of our photo albums were in the attic. I couldn’t bring myself to look at those. Dad’s rifle stayed under lock and key in the basement. That I did seek out.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557360]It didn’t take me long to get my hands on it. Grandpa kept the key in the violin under his bed. I heard it rattle when he played in the evening. If I was lucky he’d fall asleep with the violin on his lap. I’d fish the key out, head down to the basement and take Dad’s rifle out of the cabinet. I remember holding it for the first time after my parents died, running my hands down the stock and wondering if it felt similar to Dad when he did the same. I’d like to think it did, but I believe that rifle meant much more to me than it did to any of my ancestors. It’s true what some say, that things only get better with age. As I got older, my repeated handling wore away the lacquer finish to the hard wood below. The stock, begrimed with the sweat and skin cells of three generations, had a new veneer, that of history.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557361]The autumn I turned nineteen, Grandpa handed the key over to me and gave up the ghost, leaving me with two years’ worth of unpaid taxes, funeral arrangements, seven rooms filled with small farm equipment, and his collection of partially-functioning violins to clear out for auction. Once I got the details ironed out for the funeral services, I set to cleaning out the old farmhouse, starting with the attic. Under any common circumstance, most of what I found up there—family journals, drawer after drawer of old photographs featuring nameless and unrecognizable blood relations, gut strings for Grandpa’s small collection of violins—would have been fit for the burning barrel. But when you lose almost everyone and everything familiar in your life, these heirlooms supplement the history you lost. I found myself poring over dust-covered photos pressed onto aluminum, scrutinizing leather-bound journals jacketed by thin blankets of mold, trying to find anything that I could trace back to my childhood. I couldn’t bring myself to part with any of it. I even second-guessed my decision to put doubles from the photo albums, empty day-planners and a few empty leather-bound journals in the kindling pile near the fireplace. But some things had to go.
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    [bookmark: _Toc435557362]They buried Grandpa just before hunting season, when the leaves start turning and there’s still enough green in them to give the trees character, to make each one stand out from the others before they all blend into a single, monotonous shade. I greeted the folks from town who came to bid my grandfather farewell, most of whom were in the autumn of their lives, and incidentally had all blended into a single, monotonous shade. Then I closed the afternoon by scattering the first layer of dirt into the hole where my grandfather was laid to rest.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557363]I didn’t stay to see the burial through. I loved the man, but knew that doing right by him and getting that house cleaned out would have meant more to him than drawing out the grieving process. So I headed home to clear everything out for the auction.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557364]When I pulled in, a weathered truck, faded red from rust and wear, sat in the driveway. The cab was stacked to the brim with most of the documents from the attic. After what I’d been through that day, the truck didn’t leave me uneasy in the least. I was too drained to feel anything but modest concern. I walked inside and found the table piled with Grandpa’s violins, all uncased, some smashed. A hulking figure rummaged through the remnants, expressionless. There was neither shame nor a sense of entitlement in his eyes when he noticed me.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557365]I picked up one of the violins, looked it over. “Can I help you with something?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557366]Then I heard the disquieting scrape of a boot across the floor, punctuated by a gentle “click.” It repeated, the sound growing in intensity until that old son of a bitch from my childhood rounded the corner. “We’re just here to take what’s rightfully ours.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557367]My first impulse was to kill him on the spot, just choke the bastard out. But with questions left unanswered, and the modern-day incarnation of Lurch standing before him, that urge passed quickly. “Who are you?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557368]“Name’s Harold. I’m your grandfather’s uncle. We’re looking for my rifle.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557369]“I sold it.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557370]“Lying doesn’t come easy to you, does it? Your father wasn’t very good at it either. Family virtues, they’re the best and the worst of us.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557371]“You need to leave.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557372]The man stepped before his partner. “You remember me, don’t you? I figured you’d have kept those memories locked up tight enough to keep you sane, but I guess you’re stronger than I thought.” He walked to the table and scattered the remnants of one of Grandpa’s violins, extracting a picture. “Your grandfather was a smart man. Kept our skeletons in the closet where they belonged.” That crooked grin I remembered from childhood crept across his face. “He had a brother you know, met the same fate you would have if I hadn’t stopped your father.” 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557373]He threw the photo onto the table before me. In it two boys stood side by side. A white deer rested at their feet. “Some men, they’re too soft for the hunt. Your grandfather was one of them. He tucked the family history away in these instruments, carved it into that rifle.” He took another one of the violins, smashed it against the table and dug through the remnants, extracting another picture. He handed it to me, waiting for a reaction. In the picture my grandfather, his brother and the old man held a tentacle spanning at least eight feet in length. “The hunt grew on him eventually, but I don’t think he ever intended for your father to find out about summoning.” 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557374]He took another step forward. “I caught your father tracing one of the circles in the dirt out front when he was a boy, so I taught him everything I knew. I thought it was instinct, something coursing through the bloodline, but his mom put the fear of God in him. He didn’t want nothing to do with the dark arts, or so I thought.” He reached into his pocket and pulled out another photo of my father and him holding another, smaller tentacle. “It grew on him too, but he was too much of a coward to use the family’s knowledge to his advantage.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557375]He stepped forward again, dragged his left leg to meet the other. “Those things down there, we used to hunt them. But they ain’t meant for killing. You get them in your crosshairs and they’ll do anything you want them to. Give them something, or someone, and they’ll do you one better.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557376]He extended his hand over another violin and clutched the air. The violin shattered. “Where’s the gun, boy?”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557377]“It’s in the basement.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557378]He rubbed his hands together and laughed. “Let’s go!”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557379]I pointed to the hallway leading downstairs. “Help yourself.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557380]He started for the stairs and Lurch followed. “Mule, you stay here. Keep digging through those scraps. I want everything in them.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557381]Reluctantly, “Mule” obeyed, glaring at me out of the corner of his eye as he sorted through the broken shards of wood with his thick digits.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557382]I followed my grandpa’s uncle to the stairwell. “It’s in the cabinet by the furnace.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557383]He opened the door. “Thank you kind—”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557384]I didn’t give him time to finish. I pushed that ancient bastard down the stairs the first chance I got. He grabbed the railing, but it was too late. His body tumbled head over foot to the bottom and lay broken on the cement below. Footsteps thundered through the house towards the basement door: Mule.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557385]I stepped down, locked the door behind me and ran to the gun case. The door at the top of the stairs burst open as I fumbled through my pocket to find the key. Mule flew down the stairs, first with intent, then because several of the steps gave out under his weight. I slid the key into the lock and turned it to open the case when Mule was less than five feet away from me. I froze, thinking it was too late. But Mule never got to his feet. He gathered the lifeless mass on the ground and held it in his arms. For the first time I heard him speak. “Daddy!” he cried. “Dad-dy, you be ok Dad-dy!” He dropped the body on the floor and turned on me. “I kill you!” he shouted. “I make you bleed like your mom!”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557386]For the moment his threat was idle. He didn’t move. So I raised the gun, and using every ounce of hate I’d kept bottled up over the years, I fired at him.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557387]Then the reality of the situation, all 700lbs of it heaped on my grandfather’s basement floor, hit me. I loaded the gun again and walked towards them. Mule’s head had been leveled at the shoulders, hardly plausible given the firearm, but there it was. I had no idea what to do. There was a truck in the front yard, and the body of an old man who had likely been declared dead years ago, as well as the corpse his son lying dead on my basement floor. To make matters worse, the auction was only a week away.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557388]I thought about burning the bodies, but the idea of cutting them up into manageable pieces was too much for me. I thought about dragging them outside for the coyotes, but that would entail taking Mule out piece by piece as well. So I settled on the most irrational, unconventional means of getting rid of them I could think of.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557389]I carried the gun upstairs and sorted through Grandpa’s toolbox until I found a screwdriver that’d take the butt guard off Dad’s rifle. Against better judgment, I planned to feed those two to whatever the hell it was that almost ate me years before. 
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    [bookmark: _Toc435557390]With the gun resting beside me on the floor, I copied the etching by drawing from Mule’s blood with my finger. I continued the interlacing strands atop their bodies until the circle was complete. Then I backed against the furnace and waited.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557391]And not a damned thing happened.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557392]I double-checked the design, holding the base of the gun up beside the circle on the floor. They looked the same, so I leaned over the circle to check it point-by-point. Of course that’s when it started glowing like a red flame and erupted upwards out of the concrete, nearly blinding me. By the time I recovered, the concrete began to crack inside the circle, falling into the gaping maw of whatever was heading towards the surface. The sheetrock on the far wall began to shift, and the stairway warped under the duress of pressure. Then the spindly appendages of one of those godforsaken things basted the bodies in a thick, black ooze. The blood on the floor drew into the circle as the bodies were engulfed, and it surfaced, some lesser incarnation of what my grandfather’s uncle called “Hastur.”


    [bookmark: _Toc435557393]Its hunger had not been sated by the two men, and it set its eyes on me. We paused for a brief moment, each of us in the crosshairs of the other, each of us waiting for the other to make the first move. When it finally grew impatient and veered in my direction, I did as my father had suggested many years ago. I made the shot count, firing into the creature’s throat, hoping in part that its vitals were no different than the creatures of the over world, and in part hoping that the wound would drown out its terrible cry that haunted me in my sleep.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557394]A clotted mass of black phlegm-like goo sprayed from the exit wound, but the creature did not withdraw. It held fast, clinging to the ground as the circle began to close. I ran to the gun cabinet and loaded the rifle again, but knew even as I did so that it was pointless. The circle began to constrict the beast until its bodily fluids spurted from newly-forged relief holes, the pressure of which was so great that the tears in its flesh grew considerably, eventually granting passage to the vitals contained within.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557395]And when the hole in the floor finally closed, my initial problem was solved. The bodies were gone...replaced by a pile of writhing tentacles and the head of something three times their size, something a pack of coyotes probably wouldn’t eat even if on the brink of starvation. 


    [bookmark: _Toc435557396]The black bilious substance that had come from the creature’s wounds was now starting to spread across the floor. I turned to look behind me, and saw the windows and the wall spattered with the stuff. This time, Grandpa’s chainsaw and the furnace would have to do.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557397]I opened the furnace door and grabbed a few of the day planners and one of the empty leather-bound journals from the pile of kindling, lit one of the planners, and fed the flame. I reached for another one of the empty journals, but it was no longer empty. On the cover where the black bile had hit it, a title was partially illuminated. I took the tome, dropped it face down in the pool on the floor, turned it over and read from the cover. It was the diary of Nathan Bradford, my great grandfather.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557398]The diary was scrawled in barely-legible penmanship, a broken narrative interspersed by summoning rituals unique to each of the demons, and the means to destroying them. There were multiple techniques, which appeared to evolve as my grandfather’s narrative continued. He started by discussing a technique he called netting, in which the circles were infused with various ingredients to weaken the demon upon its emergence.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557399]The ingredients used for each approach to destroying the demons were essentially the same, divided into three categories. There were transitory ingredients, which rendered the ethereal composition of the demons flesh-like. There were lethal ingredients, which harmed the demons. Finally, there were the material ingredients that were used simply to allow man to wield the weapons.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557400]On the third page was a brief entry on tempering blades with the ingredients needed to kill lesser demons, but it was for the most part incomplete, replaced several entries later in different handwriting, alongside a method of casting bullets. These entries were initialed J.B. They were my grandfather’s.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557401]The tone of the book changed then, comparing biblical passages to previous entries in the book, positing that the “demons” were not demons at all. Moreover, Grandpa’s entries questioned whether these beings were actually evil, or if evil had just been read into them on account of their apathy towards man’s existence, and their perturbation at being summoned by what they considered lesser beings. It didn’t matter to him. Whether inadvertently or intentionally, one of them had killed his brother, and he aimed to make things right.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557402]As for my grandfather’s uncle, there was no mention of him directly, only a short passage on our family’s division into two sects at the turn of the century. There were no names, no mention as to why a division existed between the two branches. As I continued reading, the missing details made it apparent that my grandfather’s entries were intended to be a memory aid, nothing more. The book was not meant to be passed down to my father, nor to myself. Grandpa had intended for the family’s art to die with him.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557403]Knowing what I know now, I wonder sometimes if that would have been for the better. If things would have gone as Grandpa had intended, my mom and dad would still be alive. I’d probably be off at college or on the road to starting a family. But the more I think about it, the more I’m glad that what could have been remains something I visit in passing. Had I remained oblivious, those wretched bastards under the earth—pardon my Judeo-Christian upbringing—wherever the hell they come from, would still be crawling around in the underbelly of our minds. Eventually someone out there would find out and conjure up these things, bartering for gifts. Maybe whatever those things were that came out of the circles weren’t evil. But some of their power had rubbed off on my grandfather’s uncle, maybe Mule too, and that power led them to corruption.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557404]That’s why I’m continuing in my ancestor’s footsteps, why I’ve decided to write my part of the legacy down in the blank pages at the end of this journal. The road I’m on now, it’s not necessarily better for me. But it’s for the better. And if you’re reading this, chances are you already started putting the pieces together well before figuring out what rests in your hands is more than just a blank book. Whatever led you to this point, one thing’s for sure. You’re not doing this to put food on the table, and it’s too dangerous to consider a sport or hobby. If you somehow slipped upon this out of chance or curiosity, think long and hard about what you do next. If you choose to put what’s between these pages to use, the hunt becomes your life.


    [bookmark: _Toc435557405]...and the cleanup is a bitch.


    


    


    


    


    [bookmark: _Toc435557406]SHOWTIME
 


    Sam Gafford


     


    “Hey kids! It’s Captain Billy time!”


    For over ten years, that was the phrase that kids in the New England area woke up to in the morning. In the world of regional children television, Captain Billy (William Turner) was approaching the big time. He had already brought the show to prominence in the New England market, far eclipsing any other show in recent memory and was approaching such records that hadn’t been seen since the heady days of Salty’s Shack. Within days, a new contract would be signed and Captain Billy would be on his way to national syndication. Everyone was poised for the kind of market penetration that hadn’t been seen since Mr. Rogers retired, except for one thing...No one could find Captain Billy.


    The rotund funnyman, loved by thousands of youngsters, had been missing for over two weeks. The local Rhode Island network, which aired the show, filled the space with repeats and had managed, through a great deal of pressure, blackmail and cash, to keep the events from reaching the newspapers or evening news – but I knew more than they had realized. Although I had only been working in the Captain Billy Show production department for the past six months, I knew panic when I saw it and everyone was in full panic mode. Even the producer, Mr. Banks, a small, beady man who looked the part of a middle aged accountant turned producer, acted worried and no one could ever recall Banks being rattled by anything. Not by the lawsuits from certain children’s parents, not by the rumors of sponsor kickbacks, not even by the mysterious late night ‘trips’ that Captain Billy would take. But this rattled him. This shook him to the core. He didn’t show it around the set but I could sense it and each day made it worse. Of course, it was strange how Banks was even more upset when Captain Billy returned.


    The executives were thrilled, naturally, as Billy Turner came back just in time to sign on the dotted line and made everyone’s dreams of money and syndication come true. “I just needed to take some time by myself,” Billy said, “I never thought it would be such a big deal! Didn’t you get my memo?” Everyone laughed and said how Billy was such a kidder and bottles of champagne flowed and various other substances were ingested and fun and laughter was had by all. Except for Mr. Banks. Not many noticed that he didn’t stay around for the after-signing party or for the after-signing party “party” that was invitation only. Being only a Production Assistant, I wasn’t included in that last celebration but that was okay. A few of the other “non-included” office workers and I stopped at a local bar afterwards and continued with our own party. When I had finished my forth beer or so, I staggered my way to the men’s room and that’s when I saw Banks. He was sitting alone in a booth in the back, away from the lights and the noise and the people. When I got closer, I saw something that I never thought I would see. Mr. Ryan Banks, terror of the network, the man with ice water in his veins, was sobbing.


    Not the kind of crying that you see most people doing with little tears falling from their eyes. This man was sobbing with his entire body. It shook as he cried. So badly that you would have thought that he had palsy. Unbelieving, I went up to him. “Mr. Banks?” I asked tentatively.


    He recognized my voice and looked up tentatively. “Ah, Kevin,” he said, “I was just having a few drinks. Been a long few weeks, you know. Why...ah, why don’t you join me for a few, eh?”


    Now, even drunk, I knew the politics involved. When your boss offers to let you join him for a drink, you don’t refuse. Not if you want to get anywhere, that is, and I really wanted to get somewhere. Banks motioned for the waitress and ordered a double shot of whiskey. I ordered the same and he chuckled at that. “You’ve got a way to go if you want to catch up to me, Kevin.” The drinks came and he gulped his down quickly and ordered another. I tried to do the same but ended up coughing a bit and needed a few tries to get it down. Banks smiled at that and ordered another.


    “So,” he finally said, “everyone’s still celebrating, eh? Big payday for all of us now. National syndication, big time ratings, lots of money flowing in. Everybody’s happy. Are you happy, Kevin?”


    I told him I was.


    He snorted into his empty glass. “I was happy once. Seems like a long time ago though. I remember being happy when I met Bill Turner. I remember being happy when the show started climbing in the ratings. I remember being happy the first time I went to one of the ‘elite’ parties he throws. Then I don’t remember being happy again.”


    I asked why he wasn’t at the after-party party tonight.


    “I will be, soon enough. Have to fortify myself privately first.” He raised his glass. “But I’m expected and I will have to put in my appearance.” He sniffed and wiped his eyes. “Did you know...” He stopped for a moment to compose himself. “...did you know that they used to do it all through books? It’s true. Once upon a time, the world communicated through books. Imagine that. No instant communication. No faxes. No phones.” He chuckled to himself and then sang, “‘Not a single luxury’!”


    I could feel the room spinning around me and could barely hear what he was saying but it didn’t seem like he’d make much sense even if I had been sober.


    “In those days, ideas were communicated over long distance through books. Especially dangerous ideas. The kind of ideas you could get killed for having. Books were easily disguised and hid if needed be but it wasn’t enough. You still couldn’t reach enough people because not enough of them could read! Not to mention the fact that a lot of the books became ‘forbidden’ so people couldn’t even find the damn things!”


    Another round of drinks came and Banks downed his again. I had no idea he was such a prodigious drinker. I could barely touch mine.


    “The thing that everyone kept missing was that communication was essential. Even at the right time, even when the ‘stars were right’, if there wasn’t enough people who believed, truly believed, then it still wouldn’t work. So things went underground for quite awhile. You going to drink that?”


    I shook my head ‘no’ and he downed my drink as well.


    “But then, at the beginning of this century, things started to change. Communication of ideas faster was a lot easier with the invention of wireless and they almost got it right. But only part of it got through. Still, that was enough to result in WWI and the 1918 flu epidemic. Millions died and Europe was devastated but there still weren’t enough believers. You have to believe to make it work. So then came radio. It helped spread the word but, primarily due to the efforts of one small scribbler from Rhode Island, a lot of people didn’t take it seriously. So that resulted in WWII. Still not enough power.


    “Then came television.


    “That started to work. But there were problems. Sometimes the message didn’t convey correctly and that resulted in such debacles as McCarthy and Southeast Asia. But then they hit on the right formula and connection. It’s taken a while to get it all together and co-ordinate the astronomical factors but they’re nearly ready to try it again.”


    Banks leaned forward and whispered to me. “Kevin, have you ever seen what happens to kids when they watch TV? They’re mesmerized. They become totally absorbed in whatever is on and they soak it all in. To top it off, they’ll believe anything they see. Want to sell a piece of crap toy? Tell them how great it is and you won’t be able to make enough of them. Packaging a new cereal or candy? Make them believe how great it is and it’ll fly off the shelves. Their friend in Germany knew this. Capture the young and you can determine the future. And that’s was Bill Turner was for. Start small. Make sure it works and then go big time. Now it’s the big time. Spread it electronically and spread it nationally.”


    Banks grabbed my hand.


    “Do you want to know, Kevin? Do you really want to know what goes on at the after-party parties? What really walks the earth in the guise of Bill Turner? Then I’ll show you!”


    Banks looked into my eyes and I saw, for the briefest instant, what he had seen. It was the future. The earth had been wiped clean, and huge, hideous things slid and climbed over the wreckage of humanity. Dark horrors swam through the air and reached through the clouds. They had been waiting for centuries to reclaim this world and now, finally, through the miracle of television, they would succeed. Cthulhu roared through the abyss. Nyarlthotep gloated over his huge camps of human slaves and pain. Hastur, in his golden lake, luxuriated in his horror, and over it all, orchestrating the terror, was Azathoth. The Lord of Chaos ululated grotesquely over the cosmos.


    I fell off my chair like an electric shock had gone through me.


    “So now you see. When Bill disappeared a few days ago, I knew what was about to happen. He was getting ready for his big debut. Except...except when he came back, it wasn’t Billy. The man was gone. In his place was a mere piece of what was to come. Yog-Sothoth had claimed him. It was in his eyes. God help me, I could see it and I did nothing. Nothing!”


    Banks started sobbing again.


    “And now I’m going to go to that ‘party’ and do nothing again. I’ll sit there and do nothing as they gather believers and open the door. I’ll do nothing when they come through and I’ll do nothing when they wipe the earth clean in their image.”


    Banks got up to leave as two well-dressed men appeared.


    “And you’ll do nothing either, Kevin. You can’t, you see? It’s the power of television. It convinces you that it is the best thing in the world to sit there and do nothing.”


    I tried to get up but my legs wouldn’t work and I fell forward. I remember something very hard hitting my head and then nothing for a while.


    When I woke up, it was two days later and I was in the hospital. It was explained to me that I had passed out from intoxication and hit my head on a table. A minor concussion they said, nothing to be too worried about. As I left the hospital, I walked by the pediatric ward and I saw something that happens every day but which I had never noticed. The children were all gathered around the television, watching.


    None of them moved.


    None of them blinked.


    None of them did anything.


    They just watched with an intensity I had never seen before.


    I didn’t even have to see their eyes to know that they were also looking at me and it was looking at me through them.


    I bought a bottle of whiskey on the way home and drank it all within an hour.


    Later I put my television outside and listened to the news reports on the radio as they described strange happenings around the country. 


    The Captain Billy Show was number one in the ratings and Mr. Banks was nowhere to be seen.


    I sat there and drank and did nothing. Because nothing was all any one man can do. You just can’t beat good TV. 


    


    


    


    


    [bookmark: _Toc435557407]THE HOWLING MADNESS
 


    Kelly M Hudson


     


    House Randifor.


    Home to many myths and legends; some true, some shrouded in mystery. I stood before it at long last with a heart swollen by trepidation and fear. 


    My name is Herbert Peter Longstreet and the house was passed down to me after the recent death of my estranged uncle, Chester Randifor. My father, Chester’s younger brother Frecks Randifor, died before I was born. He died, in fact, after visiting my uncle at this very house. He fled from it, rushing back to Boston to be with my mother, who was pregnant with me at the time. They were to be married within a month of his return but it never came to pass. My father took to the streets on a drinking binge the moment he returned and became so inebriated he passed out in an alley. That very night a blizzard struck the city and my father froze to death. His side of the family disowned my mother and I grew up knowing them only as strangers. But I heard the tales, the infamous stories that revolved around the family property and that mysterious house in Kentucky. As soon as I was informed of my inheritance, I put my affairs in order and traveled from my home at Arkham University, where I was a tenured professor of ancient languages, to House Randifor, my house now, outside of Lexington, Kentucky. For it was there that I prayed I would find answers to questions that had haunted me since childhood.
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    The farm and house were well outside of Lexington. I had to rent a car and follow directions, but the way couldn’t have been clearer. I drove out into the countryside, careful of the winding, rising and falling roads with their sudden, blind turns. It was slow and cautious going. 


    The surrounding farms more than made up for any inconveniences. Here were some of the famed horse farms of Kentucky. I drove at an easy pace, absorbing every detail I could, from the rolling hills full of gorgeous bluegrass, the wooden fences, the barns and large houses, to the horses dotting the landscape. The sun gleamed bright and, although summer was long since over, it was still a very warm and inviting day. The sky was a beautiful shade of blue, reminding me of pictures I’d seen of the ocean surrounding Hawaii. Giant, fluffy white clouds floated overhead like lazy cotton balloons, hanging for a while and then drifting on their way. There were dozens of trees, their leaves changing, some having already fallen, and their bright arrays of yellow and orange canopies stood in colorful and stark contrast to the dark grass at their feet. I imagined retiring out here, lord of my country home, sitting on a porch, sipping tea, and watching the sun set each and every day.


    Once I found the house, however, my fantasies fled faster than a burglar caught in a police spotlight. 


    I passed it three times, never once seeing it. On my third pass I spied a ragged gravel road, nearly grown over with thick grass and weeds, and decided to give it a try. My directions had specific mileage details, so I knew I was in the right area, but I could not see the house from the road. Once I ventured a hundred yards down the road, however, the mansion appeared, dark and gaunt, as visible and mesmerizing as a scar on a beautiful woman’s face. 


    It was obscured by a stand of trees so that it was invisible to the road beyond its property. It now stood before me, desperate and old, slouched like a broken promise. The lawn surrounding it was well-kept, the grass mowed a couple of weeks ago and the bushes lining the perimeter of the house trimmed. The actual mansion itself was another matter entirely. It was built of wood that had darkened over time and, despite what appeared to be several coats of paint over the last twenty years, peeled worse than any sunburn I’d ever seen. It almost seemed as if the house rejected any attempts to change its facade, as if it were resistant to any alterations whatsoever.


    Four windows faced the lawn, two were ground level, the other two upstairs. A long porch stretched around the front, stitched to the house like the grin of a scarecrow, and on it sat several metal chairs, all weathered with age and the elements. The porch was built of the same kind of wood as the house and was elevated by one step. There was a front door made of oak, with a large knob built right into the middle of it. 


    I parked and walked around the left side of the house. It was as plain as the front, with one window at ground level and one upstairs. The backside of the mansion was almost identical to the front and only differed in that the porch did not stretch the entire length of the building, but instead ended abruptly two feet from both edges. The yard stretched out, mown like the front, until it reached a stand of trees some forty yards away. There, the property gave way to a small, rolling forest. A tiny pen lay to the right where someone at some point in the past must have kept hogs, but its fencing was old and warped, useless for anything but kindling. On the left was a patch of land that appeared to have been a garden once. A few wild watermelons, split open by the hot sun and turned rotten, grew here and there. 


    I strolled all the way around, finding the right side of the identical to the left. The place was much smaller than I’d been led to believe by legend. It had always been referred to as a mansion, but it was less than even an estate. It was a house; a large house, to be sure, but not one as to inspire awe. Fear, perhaps. 


    I stopped at the front again, surveying the building. It didn’t appear mean, but there was a laconic spite to it. I could see where some lesser minds would call it haunted, but if it had ever been, it was something that had faded with the paint. This was an old house, nothing more. At best, it would be of historical interest.


    A low moan lifted on the wind. It swirled around in my ears and flitted away. With it crept a chill up my spine, making the small hairs stand on end.


    I smiled. The famous moan. It was surely nothing more than a breeze through some slatted piece of wood in the house. 


    I sighed. I was disappointed. I’m not sure what I had hoped to find, but this was certainly not it. Still, it was mine to explore, and I was excited to go through the underground passages I’d read so much about and see where an ancestor of mine had helped smuggled slaves to the north. Some accounts said the tunnels went on for miles in every direction. If so, they should provide me with an afternoon’s excitement. After that, I would probably go back home and put the property up for sale through the lawyers. 


    It certainly did not live up to the billing of its past. 
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    It was built in 1804 by Mr. Rance Randifor. Rance built it at the behest of his brother, Vance, who swore he had a vision of it come to him one night during his sleep. In this vision, he saw the exact place where the house was to be built. Vance had the reputation of being a witch and, whether that was true or not, he did convince his brother to buy the land and build there. The history after that is a bit sketchy, although we do know Rance ended up dead by his own hands, having hung himself one autumn evening.


    After that, Vance moved in, and many stories circulated of black masses and other occult activities. None could be proven. Like his brother, he died in a strange way, after a fall down a flight of stairs and a broken neck. His head was twisted completely around.


    The house passed on through various family members through the years and with each generation came more ghost stories, folk tales, and hearsay, until the house fell into the hands of Grady Randifor.


    He’d made his fortune in cotton in the South and, when tensions between the states began to rise, he sold his shares, took his money, and went back to his childhood home in Kentucky. House Randifor. He had no family to speak of, although he did bring with him a half-dozen slaves that he’d kept after the sales. They set about righting the house, getting it into good repair, and generally creating a quite-prosperous little farm. He grew corn and tobacco and made a good amount of money at it. Over the years, he became a fixture of the local community. 


    The War Between the States soon changed that. Grady, despite owning slaves, was quite against the practice. He swore he had freed those men and women he had once owned, but they had elected to stay with him. Grady and his freed slaves built a series of elaborate tunnels under the property and used them to not only hide fleeing slaves from the South, but also to send them safely on their way. History books speak glowingly of Grady Randifor and his participation in the Underground Railroad. He was and is a hero of many to this very day,


    During this same time, Grady met and married his wife who eventually bore him five sons. But then the war ended and things changed. The former slaves he’d brought with him disappeared, his wife left him, taking the children, and Grady became a recluse. Neighbors found his corpse a year later, sitting at the kitchen table, bent over, having apparently starved himself to death. 


    His children, once grown, scattered, and the house stood empty for almost two generations. Until my father and uncle returned to it. Until whatever happened that fateful night led to my father’s flight and imminent death. 
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    A truck bounced down the road, approaching the house and jouncing me from my reverie. I checked my watch. This would surely be the caretaker employed by the estate. 


    The truck was dented and rusty, a vehicle dripping with character. It was old but strong, despite the belch of black smoke it left in its wake. The truck skidded to a stop ten feet from me, carrying with it a fog of dust from the gravel and a puff of rotten exhaust. 


    The man who stepped out was much taller than me and quite rangy. He was rawboned, probably fifty, but walked like a man much younger. He had big hands and feet and his clothes—a plain cotton, blue button-down shirt and faded red slacks—appeared older than he was. He wore beaten tan boots and had a battered fedora slanted back on his head. His face was full of crags and furrows surrounding small, mean blue eyes bordered on both sides by large, hairy ears and above by a shock of white hair. 


    “You Herbert?” he said, his voice scratchy and as Southern as sun tea.


    “Yes,” I said, offering my hand for him to shake. He stared at it with one squinted eye until I lowered it, untouched. “You must be Mr. Sizemore.”


    “That’s right,” he said, pushing the hat further back on his head. “You can call me Ray, if you want.”


    “That sounds fine, Ray,” I said, smiling. 


    “You finding everything to your satisfaction out here?” he asked.


    “So far, so good. Although I really thought the house would be bigger.”


    Ray laughed. It was an easy laugh, betraying his rough exterior. I imagined Ray would be a good friend to have, someone who’d stick by your side, no matter what. But perhaps I was getting ahead of myself.


    “Yeah, I reckon it is. I’ve always known it like this, so I can’t say much else,” he said.


    “You’ve worked here for how long?”


    “Well, I figure pretty near on twenty years now. My Daddy used to take care of the place, but then he got too old and I took over. My wife, Faye, she would come by from time to time and clean up the inside, but she got spooked one day and swore she’d never come back.” He paused a moment, his eyes crawling over me. “‘Course, it’s the only damn thing she ever promised that she followed through on.”


    “So the inside is a bit rough, then?” I was not happy about this. I wanted a nice place to rest my head, not a rat’s nest.


    “Oh, it ain’t so bad,” he said. “The furniture rotted out a long time ago, so it’s been gone a good while. Most of the house is empty, but the floors are just fine, maybe a little dusty, and no critters are in there, if that’s what you’re worried about.”


    “No,” I said.


    “I go through about once a month, just to make sure it’s all okay. I went in yesterday. I think you’ll find it’s alright.”


    “If you don’t mind me asking, why don’t you keep the inside clean? If your wife was unwilling...”


    “I don’t ‘cause that’s woman’s work. Just like making a bed or cooking a meal. I do it if I have to, but I don’t make no habit of it.”


    “Ah,” I said. It seemed I was out of things to say.


    Ray dug in his pocket and held out a small key ring with only one key on it. 


    “This’ll get you in the front and back. There ain’t no other doors inside that got locks on ‘em.”


    I took the key. 


    “Can I ask you, do you know about the tunnels underground?” 


    He pursed his lips, chewed on the bottom one, and thought for a moment. 


    “‘Course I do. Everybody does.”


    “Do you think you could show me around down there? Perhaps tomorrow?”


    “I have my own property to tend to,” he said.


    “Would payment sway your mind?”


    Ray glared at me.


    “What? You think I’m some inbred hillbilly and I got no money? For all you know, I could be a rich man.” 


    “I’m sorry,” I said. “I didn’t mean anything by it.”


    A big grin creased Ray’s face and he laughed out loud.


    “Hell, I was just joshing with you,” he said. “I’d be glad to take some of your money.”


    “Excellent.” I smiled. I was relieved, both at his jocular nature and the prospect of not having to face the tunnels all alone. 
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    Having set our time for afternoon the following day, Ray left me on my own. I took the opportunity to explore the house. The front door was locked, I was glad to find, and the single key he’d given me slid into the lock and opened it smoothly. The house on the inside was much like the house on the outside: in decent shape, but wholly unremarkable. My disappointment was only held in check by the hope I had in exploring the slave tunnels the next day. Surely there would be something of interest there.


    The house was empty, as Ray had said. Not a stitch of furniture and every room as boring as the last. I went upstairs but found it a mirror image of the rest of the house. 


    Venturing downstairs, I discovered the door to the basement. At last, here was potential excitement. Down there was the entrance to the tunnels where my relatives had smuggled fleeing slaves. I resolved to find them and enter at least one today. I could not wait until the morrow.


    I opened the door and peered down into the darkness. The house never had any electricity, so there were no light switches to flip and, even if there were, I highly doubted they would have worked, anyhow. It was much too dark to venture forth, so I went back outside. 


    In my rental car I had supplies enough to last a week, if need be. I had stopped at a store in my way out and bought three kerosene lanterns, some food, a sleeping bag, two sets of flashlights, and plenty of fresh batteries. 


    I looked up at the sky. The day was dying above me, and I decided to go ahead and stay the night. I could set up my things and get some reading done. It would be like camping out and the thought of it excited me.


    I brought my things in and set them in the living room. I fired up a lantern and traveled down the hallway to the entrance to the basement. 


    The door was shut.


    I could have sworn I’d left it open when I went outside. No matter, I told myself. It was simply the wind, or I was mistaken. In any case, a chill crept up the back of my neck and I smiled. At last, something had happened. And a fleeting thought occurred to me: Perhaps down here I might find some clue as to what had driven my father mad enough to drink himself to death. Or maybe I wouldn’t. Maybe he was fearful at the prospect of being a father and died accidentally. There was only one way to find out. 


    I opened the door and shone the lantern. The stairs were long and rickety, plunging so far down the darkness swallowed the edges of the light. I could not see the landing. Shrugging, I descended.


    With each step, the hot fall evening faded, only to be replaced by a slithering pall. The cold insinuated itself, filtering through my clothing, hissing against my pores, and sinking into my cells. By the time I reached the bottom of the stairs, I was shivering. 


    I laughed at myself. Now at least I knew where to go if I got hot during the night. My jesting did nothing to ease the feeling of dread slowly spreading across my chest. It was light but unavoidable, and with each step I took, I could feel it growing heavier.


    I tried not to think of my relatives who had died here. 


    The landing at the bottom was a simple round space that served no purpose other than to introduce the hallway that led out from it. The floors were dirt and the walls were some sort of packed brick. No weeds sprouted from the ground, which was surprising. I could tell Ray took decent care of the property, but pulling weeds in a basement floor that hardly anyone would ever see seemed a bit beyond the call of duty. Still, I was happy for his work ethic. It made my way of going much easier.


    The hall reached beyond the grasp of my lantern’s light, so I followed along it. I moved slowly and careful, wary of any pitfalls. It would do me little good to trip and fall and be stuck down here until Ray arrived the following day.


    With each step, the ground became progressively spongier. I did not notice it at first, but the farther I went, the more it became evident. My feet never sank in and it never turned to mud, but there was an unnatural give to it and it made me anxious. If I ever had to run, it would surely be a treacherous move. 


    The hall stretched on and on. How far I walked, I could not tell you. In that darkness, there was no sense of time or length. It could have been ten yards or a hundred. There were no landmarks and nothing to distinguish my passage. It was a solitary corridor, though, so I had no fear of getting lost.


    After what seemed an eternity, I reached a nexus. The tunnel spilled out into an anteroom, a chamber that was as empty as the house behind me. But this room served as the center of a wheel because, in five different directions, five tunnels split off and headed for their own individual destinations. All except one. This passage dented in three feet before ending at a closed, oaken door. It had a brass knob in the middle, much like the outside door. I decided to see what lay beyond it.


    Crossing the room, four different blasts of cool wind hit me—groaning from the other tunnels. I was buffeted for the briefest of moments before the breezes died down. It was almost as if a dozen ghosts had flown out to observe this intruder upon their property and, once satisfied, flew off. The winds faded only to be replaced by that low moan I’d heard earlier.


    It drifted through the closed door, sad and lonely. It was musical, in its own way, and as its tones tickled my ears, a deep sorrow filled my chest. It mixed with the dread that was already there, still spreading its spidery fingers through my torso, and created something wholly original. I wanted to weep and flee, all at the same moment.


    I stood before the door and pulled the key from my pocket, my hand shaking. I steadied it as the moan died and stuck it in the lock.


    It would not fit. 


    I jiggled it. I cursed it. I twisted it until I thought the key would break. It would not fit. Ray had lied to me. This key could not turn every lock in the mansion. 


    I smiled. Perhaps it wasn’t a lie, after all, but a bit of wordplay. After all, I was not standing in the house right now but somewhere deep below and far away from it. 


    Angry, I resolved to force the door open. I grabbed the knob and yanked my hand away with a shriek. It was scalding to the touch, which seemed impossible, given the coldness of the area. I tried again. Once more, the handle was hot, hotter than it had been only seconds before.


    I kissed my stung fingers, shaking my head. This made no sense whatsoever.


    A low moan issued from somewhere beyond that door, the very same moan I’d heard outside and just moments ago. Whatever was making that sound was just on the other side of the door.


    I leaned against it, touching it with my hands. It was cold, almost frigid. I was amazed at how this could be. The door was cold but the knob blazing hot. I could not wrap my brain around the mystery of this.


    When I pulled my hands away, they were covered in soot. I wiped them on my pants and stood listening, not moving, holding my breath, hoping to hear the moan again. Just when I exhaled, it came again. 


    I wiped at the door, clearing a space I could place my ear and listen more closely. I did so, barely grazing the wood with my flesh. It was much too cold to linger too long. 


    I listened.


    Nothing.


    I strained my ear, if such a thing is possible.


    Silence.


    I grimaced and pulled my head away. The low moan issued forth yet again, like it was toying with me. This could only be coincidence or intelligence, this give and take, and I was quite frustrated at not knowing or being able to perceive which it truly was. In anger, I smeared more of the soot on the door. It dusted the air, perfuming the area with a dull, musty stench. It also revealed words carved into the wood of the door, just above the knob. 


    “Ph’nglui mglw’nafh Cthulhu R’lyeh wgah’nagl fhtagn,” it said. I marveled at the language. As I mentioned before, I studied ancient languages; it was my specialty. I had never seen words like these before. To be sure, there were some identifiable markers. I recognized some Sumerian in the words, and a touch of what I presumed to be Hebrew, but as to its overall meaning, I hadn’t a clue. It was as foreign to me now as the first time I laid eyes on the Russian language was when I was a teenager. I dug in my pocket and fished out a pen. I always carry one with me and this was not the first time I was glad I did. I copied the phrase down, writing it on the back of my hand, and stepped away from the door.


    I wondered if there was anything else written on the door. I took my shirt off and used it to wipe the entrance clean from top to bottom. I had to stop three times and allow my hands to warm up from the effort. The wood was giving off such intense cold I feared I would get frostbite. Once finished, I examined the door. Much to my disappointment, there were no other phrases written anywhere else.


    A sudden weariness washed over me. I staggered in place for a moment, dazed and so tired I feared I was going to collapse and never rise again. My hands shook, my knees quivered, and my flesh crawled. I fought with every ounce of my being to keep my lidded eyes from closing. 


    I stumbled away from the door and back the way I came, leaving the small chamber behind. The farther I traveled, the better I felt. Once I reached the far end, back at the bottom of the steps into the basement, I was almost fully recovered. Almost. I still felt very weak and climbing the stairs was like scaling Mount Rushmore, but I persevered. When I reached the top, I shut the door behind me and extinguished my lantern.


    The house was plunged into darkness. From below my feet, the low moan filtered up, seeping into my ears and rattling my teeth. For a wild instant I nearly bolted, but I caught hold of myself and willed my heart to stop racing. 


    It was night outside. That was why it was so dark. I had gone down there during the day and emerged at night. 


    I fumbled for the matches in my pocket and lit the lantern again. I checked my wristwatch. It was almost nine p.m., which seemed impossible to me. How had I spent close to eight hours below ground? 


    I could not make sense of it and part of me did not care. I wanted nothing more than to roll out my sleeping bag and fall into a deep slumber. Even though I felt much better than just moments before, I was still trembling and my muscles felt more like jelly than solid pieces of meat. 


    My things were where I’d left them. I lurched over, falling to my knees and sitting down hard. I rummaged through my backpack and found a tin of canned meat and a package of crackers. Eating them returned some strength to my body, but not enough. I washed them down with a bottled water. After, I rolled out my sleeping bag and crawled into it. 


    My eyes were closed and the darkness swallowed me before my head hit my small pillow.
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    The low moan returned several times during the long night. It would wake me and I would sit upright, flesh crawling with what felt like a thousand bugs. Sweat poured down my face and drenched my body. And then the sound would fade and I would fall asleep right away again.


    There was no rest in my dreams. 


    It was torturous. I dreamed of realms indefinable, where creatures walked walls and humans were slaves to blob-like beings with one single, piercing blue eye. And there were other dreams, even worse, more than haunting, visions that drove me to the brink of madness. Each time the moans woke me, they pulled me back from the precipice of insanity and, in those brief, waking moments, I forgot enough of what I’d dreamed to fall back asleep again. I was left with vague impressions, of a smothering darkness, of panic, and a deep, intrinsic fear. It rattled around in my reptilian brain. Each time I woke, I had the overwhelming desire to flee, to throw off my sleeping bag and run until I could not move. At the same time, I was so tired, I could not move if my life depended on it. 


    That was my evening. Awake, asleep, tortured, awakened again, sleep, nightmares, terrors, sweat, fear, exhaustion. By the time the rays of the morning sun leaked through the window and crept across the floor to lash my face with their brilliant brightness, I felt as if I’d run a marathon barefoot. 


    I climbed to my feet and walked around, trying to shake loose the cobwebs in my muscles. My back was stiff and my legs ached. A cramp seized my left calf and nearly sent me to my knees. I bit back the pain and stumbled along until it worked itself out. I needed water. I needed food. I needed to leave this place and never come back.


    The low moan drifted up to tickle my ears again. This time, instead of inspiring fear and confusion, it seemed to comfort me. Perhaps I’d been conditioned by the sound of it pulling me from one terrifying vision after another, saving my precious sanity, but my body and mind now greeted it as a friend, as something meant to salve my wounds. And damn me, I accepted that relief whole-heartedly. This feeling, this empathy and passion, stayed my hand; I would have left without it. Instead, I found myself wanting to linger, to go back down into the tunnels, to find a way to force the door open. 


    How long I stood there in that trance I did not know. It was the knock at the front door that roused me. I staggered, rubbing my eyes. The room was much brighter and it was hot, so very hot, inside that living room. 


    The front door rattled and Ray walked in, looking around. His eyes found me in an instant and concern flashed in his eyes.


    “You okay?” Ray said. I must’ve looked like a ghost.


    “Yes,” I said. “I was...ah, asleep, napping. You woke me and I didn’t know where I was.” It was a lie, but it served its purpose. Ray shrugged and shut the door behind him.


    “Well, I see you’re getting used to this Kentucky weather. I swear to my God, you can never tell what you’re going to get,” he said. “It was hotter than a tick dug into a dog’s ass all summer, September comes and it gets cold as hell, and now we’re in October and it’s as humid as August. They say that global warming is bullshit on the radio, but I don’t know. I’m starting to believe it.”


    “Yes,” I said. I didn’t know what else to say. I was confused. Had I really stood stone-still like a statue the entire morning? I must have. The sun was higher in the sky and Ray was here, and he wasn’t supposed to arrive until the afternoon. 


    Where had I gone?


    “So, uh, you want to get on with the tour?” Ray asked. I could see I was making him feel uneasy, so I slathered a grin on my face, hoping it masked my paranoia. 


    “Yes,” I said. My voice was hoarse and my lips parched. I bent and fetched my water and drank deep. My body seemed to be coming back into itself. My aching back eased, my cramping legs softened, and my fluttering stomach settled down. I was feel more like myself. 


    “I explored some last night,” I said. 


    “Oh?” Ray said. He looked around. “Pretty boring, I bet.”


    “Yes. Given the reputation of this house, I thought I’d find something more to it.” I said the words and didn’t mean a one of them. I spoke to hide what I was thinking, and I was thinking this house held more secrets than I ever dreamt possible. And they all started with what lay behind that closed, locked door. 


    “You did, however, lie to me,” I said. “You told me the key you gave me would open every door in the house. I found one that it didn’t.”


    “I don’t know what you mean,” he said.


    “Perhaps it is best I showed you.”
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    I wish now I had never returned to those tunnels. I wish I had walked away, run that morning when I had the chance. But something seized my will, something imposed itself on my thinking and rationality, something that was utterly alien and yet completely at home. It was an ancient thing, and even as it alarmed my reasoning mind, it stroked and soothed my subconscious. It appealed to something in me as base and simple as the act of eating food to survive, or taking in breath to live. It was batting an eye to keep it lubricated, it was the beating of a heart to keep the blood flowing. It was the essence of all life. 


    And it utterly damned me for all time.


    I led him to the basement and down the stairs. I ignited the lamp and walked the same passageway I had the night before. My legs moved of their own accord; I did not guide or control them. My mind had shut down; any thoughts I had vanished as quickly as they arrived. I was a motorized machine, a robot of sorts, and I would not stop until whatever objective this guiding force had for me to do was sated. 


    It was a strange thing, almost like floating outside my body and watching it exist on its own. I knew how fast I was walking, I knew the route I was taking, I knew to put one foot in front of the other, but I was as much along for the ride as Ray was behind me. 


    Finally, we arrived at the small chamber. My finger pointed at the locked door.


    “There,” I said. “My key will not work.”


    Ray’s expression told me he’d never been here before. His words confirmed that fact.


    “Well, hell, I reckon I better be honest with you. I ain’t never come this far before. I walked down that corridor we just came down, but I always turned around at some point.”


    “Why?”


    He scratched the back of his head. His face flushed red.


    “It’s okay, Ray,” I said. “Tell me.”


    He chewed his bottom lip, thought it over, and shrugged.


    “I guess it’s ‘cause of the noises I heard,” he said.


    “What noises were those?”


    “Moaning. And not like the kind you hear in the porn movies, but a different kind, almost like a whisper,” he said.


    “Yes,” I agreed.


    “I thought I’d heard it upstairs when I’d been cleaning, but I didn’t pay much mind to it. I know all the stories about this place and I figured it was just my imagination. But when I’d come down here to take a look...”


    Ray shivered, his eyes wide and watery.


    “I experienced the same thing last night,” I said. 


    We stood there for a long, awkward pause.


    “I want to get to the bottom of this mystery,” I said. “Will you help me?”


    Ray looked around.


    “I reckon so,” he said. “I’d hate someone to say I was yellow.”


    He reached out and grabbed the handle. When his hand jerked back so quick he smacked himself in the mouth, I almost laughed. I suppose I would have if I wasn’t so frightened. The moaning had returned and was louder now, more urgent. Ray apparently could not hear it, but I could. Whispers filled my mind, like small gusts of cool wind. 


    Ray licked his fingers and pushed on the door, immediately pulling them back. He blew into his palms to warm his hands and gave me a strange look.


    “Mister,” he said. “This just ain’t right.”


    I nodded. I tried to speak but only a croak came out. The moaning continued. How could he not hear it? The guttural tones were so loud, so powerful. It took every ounce of my being to keep my teeth from chattering.


    “I was hoping we could find a way around.” I pointed at the tunnels. 


    He stared at me a long time before nodding. I could see he wanted to get far away from that accursed door. I could also see, teetering there in his eyes, the need to balance his manhood against his fear. He was nearly as frightened as I was but trying not to show it. 


    I shined the lantern down the passage to my left.


    “Let’s try this one,” I said.


    We plunged into the gloomy blackness. 


    The path twisted right and left. The walls were bare earth, packed back and hardened by some substance. But they wept a dark liquid that dripped down on each side, tracing long, wet lines, crissing and crossing, forming what seemed to be spider webs. It was probably just water, but I knew I dare not touch the liquid, so I kept my hands near my body. Ray saw them, as well, but said nothing. 


    How long we walked, I could not say, but eventually the path opened before us and we ended up back where we started, in the small chamber with the door. I glanced at Ray. 


    “This is all some kind of trick,” he muttered.


    “Let’s try another one,” I said.


    It was much the same. We walked, the walls wept, a cool breeze blew through us, and eventually, we ended back where we started, in the chamber. 


    “I don’t like this,” Ray said. I could see his resolve was fading.


    “We only have two more to explore,” I said. 


    “I don’t know,” he said slowly.


    I smiled with a confidence I didn’t feel. Despite his fears, I was feeling more relaxed. The voices had faded once we started exploring and they did not rise in pitch when I got into the chamber. In fact, they almost seemed satisfied with my actions. This pleased me, as well, even though a part of me suspected this was all some sort of ruse. 


    “What’s the worst that could happen?” I asked. “All these tunnels seem to lead back to where they start and none of them are hiding anything sinister. At worst, we tire ourselves with the walking. At best, we find some way into that room.”


    Ray stared at the door again. 


    “I ain’t sure that’s something I want to do anymore,” he said.


    I nodded. “I will pay you if you continue with me.”


    He thought it over. “Two hundred,” he said.


    I grimaced as if it was all the money in the world. I finally nodded and he grinned. 


    “Let’s get going,” he said.


     


    X


     


    Two more tunnels we walked, and two more tunnels led us back to our beginning. There was nothing to mark any of the passages as different from the others. The only odd thing besides the weeping walls was when we walked the last tunnel. Lying against a wall was a charred doll’s head. It had one glass eye that rolled back and forth in the scorched socket. I bent down and studied it. I never considered picking it up or handling the thing. The head reminded me of something cursed. I could not place a name to the feeling I had except that it told me to stay away. 


    And so I did.


    We kept going, finally reaching the chamber once more. Ray was whistling, happy to be two hundred dollars richer and almost out of here. The whistle died in his throat when we stepped into the chamber.


    The door was open.


    A blue light leaked from inside the room, splashing across the entrance and out into the chamber like an ink spill. The moaning started again, so loud and pervasive I winced. I glanced at Ray but he didn’t react to the sound. I grit my teeth and advanced. I had to know what was in there, even though the rational part of my mind screamed at me to run, to flee for my life. The rest of me did not. The moaning was doing what it did before, soothing my nerves and calming my anxieties. I was as much under its spell as a moth is to a glowing light bulb. 


    When I crossed the threshold and entered, the moaning stopped. All went silent as my eyes adjusted to what I was seeing. 


    The room was about twenty yards across and ten yards wide. The floor was made of the same black earth that packed the tunnels behind me. The walls were packed earth as well, solid and unyielding. The blue light was emanating from a well, dug into the center of the room, made of rock and about waist high.


    The moaning began again. It was coming from the well.


    “Jesus,” Ray said behind me. He had followed and was now standing at the entrance. I was halfway across the room, my legs carrying me of their own volition over to the well and the source of the moaning. 


    The well was five yards square in size and tunneled down deep into the earth. I leaned over to peer in and what greeted my eyes was the most horrible sight I had ever seen. 


    The blue light came from a thing that filled the bottom of the well. It was round and almost resembled a giant eyeball, but it wasn’t an eye. It floated in water so rank, the stench of it permeated the pores of my body, forever defiling my flesh with its musk. The object was pinkish in color and blue in the center. It was from this center that the light was glowing and it pulsed as something opened and closed within the blue circle, almost like a mouth pursing its lips and blowing a kiss. 


    The hair stood up on my neck, chills ran through my body, I shivered and sweat as if I had a fever, and my pupils dilated so that I could hardly see. My hands and feet swelled and my teeth ached as my sinuses filled with mucous that burbled and foamed out my nostrils. I was a gibbering mess but I could not tear my gaze from the creature I was staring at. All awareness I had was focused solely on the thing at the bottom of the well. I did not feel Ray approach my side and stand next to me.


    The blue mouth puckered and spat out a green gas. It floated up out of the well and wreathed my head like a smoke ring. I was compelled by the moaning voice to inhale deeply. 


    The world spun around me. I saw and experienced things I can put no description to. It was like the night before; I was experiencing my febrile dreams from the night before all over again, only this time, there was a logic and order to them.


    I spun backwards through time. I saw the stars in the sky change their constellations. They rearranged, mixing and matching, forming formations I’d never dared dream of before. Orion the Hunter became a crab creature with a thousand legs; the Big Dipper turned into a fanged beast with slouched shoulders and spikes growing from its shoulders; Cassiopeia transformed into a hideous woman with giant breasts that had mouths for nipples and claws for teeth. On and on it went; what was once familiar now became foreign, almost as if I’d traveled to another realm altogether. But something about it stayed rooted firm in the earth I knew. I did not travel to some other place but to some other time, long before the world as I knew it took shape. 


    Backwards and backwards, tumbling. The world sprouted volcanoes and continents and they shrank back down again, over and over, growing and retracting. The forms and shapes of the land masses also changed, from the familiar to the utterly bizarre. I saw species of plants die and be reborn. I saw humans devolve until they were apes and then back into the fish of the sea. I saw the seas swirl and changed, the oceans as I knew them taking on different, bizarre configurations. Plants walked and talked, animals grew from the dirt, and great creatures roamed the lands and the skies. 


    My nose and mouth bled. My teeth fell out, one by one, rotting where they were planted and turning sour to the taste. My tongue swelled in my mouth and I choked on it. My eyes burned and the flesh of my face dried and wilted, peeling off in great tufts.


    Still, I traveled backwards.


    Eventually, I stopped spinning through time, my body coming to rest as I hung in the air. Waiting, observing.


    Two creatures, so big as to defy explanation, rushed each other over a large land mass. My brain could not take in the details of them; they were both too queer, too strange, too unlike anything I could ever explain. The one that came from the left side of my vision was long and lean with green skin streaked with red, throbbing veins. It was of one, fixed piece, like a tree trunk with no leaves but hundreds of skeletal limbs for arms. Its bottom, a round stump with wriggling worms for feet, carved deep valleys in the earth below it as it propelled forward towards the other creature. It had eyes, thousands of eyes, rippling over its body, up and down, side to side. The skeletal arms lashed out, yellow sparks striking from where they rubbed together. There was more to it, more than I could comprehend. Its skin slithered across its body, the red veins changing positions like lightning strikes against a black sky. Its facade shifted as well, the eyes rolling as moss floats on a churning sea. It kept changing its surface but its basic form stayed the same shape, a stalk with tentacles for feet and long limbs for arms.


    “An Old One,” a voice cried. “An Old One!”


    I hardly got a glimpse at the other creature, the one on my right. I saw it, the image of it burned into my brain, but I could not ever hope to take that jumbled picture and make sense of it. 


    “Cthulhu,” a voice whispered. “It is great Cthulhu.” 


    To try and put into words what I saw would be futile. It was giant, bigger than the creature coming at it. There was a general humanoid shape to it, but it was equally dragon and octopus, with giant wings at its back. To stare at it was to destroy my mind, so I turned away, not daring to gaze upon it again. Here was the root of nightmares, here was the beginning of all fear and dread, the author of the things that squirm in the darkness, waiting, watching. Here was dread Cthulhu, he who dreamed in the great city of R’lyeh, waiting to rise once again.


    As this knowledge came to me, as I understood on some small, primitive level, what I was seeing, my body spun and transformed. I flattened like a disk and flew towards Cthulhu, and as I neared him, my mind melted and all reasoning fled. I was reduced to a small thing, bigger than I had been as a human, but so much smaller next to Cthulhu. 


    I stuck to the underside of one of the flailing tentacles attached to the great creature. And here I stayed as the beasts warred, sparks and explosions cracking the skies and ripping the earth below. I could not see much for I had transformed into a suction cup on one of Cthulhu’s tentacles. I saw what it saw, and felt what it felt. My consciousness melded with its and we became one creature. 


    All at once a fantastic, screeching pain tore through me and I found myself flying free from my master, torn off and flung to the side. I drifted on the wind and screamed as I plummeted to the ground, striking it like a dagger rips through rice paper. I slammed into the earth and was buried under the great conflagrations of the monsters above me.


    And there I lay, for thousands and thousands of years. I was intelligent, at least to the extent of being self-aware. I moaned and cried for my loss. I was once part of a greater whole and now I was all alone, forever, doomed to slowly rot in this earthly prison. 


    Time and time passed. I cried out to the various creatures that rose and fell during my burial. Some had minds to listen, others did not. I never stopped moaning, though, in vain hope of bringing my master back to me. He did not return. I was a sloughed-off piece of skin and would not be missed.


    Over the eons, madness consumed me. I hurt, I hungered, and yet I grew. The earth above me gained and lost mountains, sprouted lakes and drained them just as quickly. Until one day, man came to walk its surface. And in man, I found a creature who would listen...


    I bade one man to unearth me, and he did. His name was Rance Randifor and I compelled his brother Vance to convince him to make this so. I possessed Vance’s mind, making great promises of wealth and power if he fed me. And feed me he did. Other humans. And their meat was sweet to the taste. They stewed within me for hundreds of years, slowly dissolving and providing my sustenance. But that man died, and none came to replace him for so very long. 


    Until someone finally did, other Randifor relatives. One built a well for me to soak in, another brought me more victims. Over and over again. 


    And then, the last human, Grady Randifor, the one who brought me the darker-skinned humans by the dozens. He was the finest of all my thralls for he brought me the most food. It was a sore day when he came to join me and now there was another one, a human who was now ready to know the final truth and become my willing servant, just as his ancestors had.


    “Cthulhu,” I whispered, and my mind broke free of the grip upon it and all at once I was back in the room, standing beside the well, gripping the old stones at the top of it so hard my knuckles were swollen with the strain.


    “I swear to my God,” Ray said next to me.


    I turned to face him. He had been here this whole time. And how much time had that been? It could only have been seconds, mere moments, but in that small fraction, I had experienced so much. I had been myself, and then I had been that thing at the bottom of the well, that creature of howling madness. 


    And now, I knew what I must do.


    I seized Ray by the collar of his shirt and shoved him towards the lip of the well. He screamed and clawed at my face. Any other day or circumstance I would not have stood a chance against his strength, but my journey had snapped my mind and given me the potency of a dozen maniacs. I lifted him as if he were a feather, and, despite his frantic protestations, I tossed him down to my new master.


    Ray hit with a wet slap and the blue iris in the middle of the creature opened and swallowed him whole. He disappeared in a crackle of bones and a cacophony of screams. 


    I knew, beyond a shadow of a doubt, that what I had just done was going to open forbidden doors of knowledge and I would soon come to know and understand things far beyond the grip of the mortal mind. The Howling Madness had promised me this, just as it had my forbears. I only had to keep feeding it. 


    I stuck my fingers into my mouth and chewed on the nails. I stumbled around the well, walking in circles. Doubts swelled I my mind and breast. I had just killed a man and there was no way to hide or cover it up. His wife would come looking for him and then the police. I had no way of hiding what I’d done. I was not that good of a liar. 


    In my haze of fear and recriminations, I did not pay heed to where I was walking and, like the fool I am, I ran straight into the side of the well and fell head first over the side.


    I hit with a splash and sheer terror bolted through my mind. I sputtered and tried to grip the sides of the well to climb out. This creature had promised me untold knowledge and power in exchange for a steady diet of human flesh, so I was surely going to be safe from its hunger.


    Something that felt like a beak surrounded my ankle and snapped down, cracking the bone in two. White hot pain rifled up my leg, stung my spine, and clawed at my brain. My fingers let go of the sad grip I had on the wall and my body slipped down into the mire of the creature. 


    I cannot recall the next few moments with any sort of rational clarity. I remember feeling those beaks—and that’s what they had to be, hard as bone and as big as a giant’s hands—swim out on tendrils from the main body, attach themselves to my thighs, my forearms, and my ribs. They moved as one, all of them crunching the spots they held. My bones turned to powder under their strength. 


    I wished I could pass out, but even as the pain was too much and the darkness rolled in to cover me, other tendrils went to work. They snaked around my body and pulled me under the water. They had tiny teeth running in ridges on their underside and bit into my flesh, injecting some type of venom deep into my veins. My body was racked by a series of spasms and then it went limp all over.


    I sank deeper and the tentacles pulled me into the body, inside another opening. I once again begged for the sweet release of unconsciousness or death, but neither was forthcoming. Whatever the creature had injected me with kept me both completely awake and alert. 


    I passed through a pouch that slurped me into it like a pair of giant lips. I slid through a small, greased passage, heading downward. I tried to breathe but there was no air here, nothing to sustain me. I laughed, my mouth stretching and my lips cracking. I would suffocate to death and that would be my end. 


    As soon as that thought drifted lazy through my mind, a different tentacle shot out and stabbed my mouth, smashing through my teeth, slicing my tongue in half, and forcing its way down my throat. I felt it sink in deep until it almost reached my stomach. Dozens of tiny feelers wriggled from its tips and inserted themselves into my lungs. 


    Fetid, diseased air flooded my lungs, filling them. Half of the feelers served this function; the other half sucked the air back out a few seconds later. 


    The Howling Madness was forcing me to breathe.


    Time passed. I spun around inside this chamber within the creature, my body completely immobilized. I was as helpless as a child floating in the stomach of its mother. 


    Only this foul beast was no mother, no giver of life. It was a destroyer, a feeder. 


    After a time, I slid into another chamber. The other tentacles, the ones who had broken my limbs and ravaged my flesh, drifted away. All that attached me to the creature was the tube running down my throat and into my lungs. 


    It was here I joined the other victims. It was here that I came to rest, stewing in a thick, viscous brown fluid that smelled of burnt feces. Here we bobbed around together, bumping into one another. Here, I learned what my true fate was.


    One last time, images from the creature flooded my mind. I saw Grady Randifor making a pact with the monster in the well. I watched as he built a series of tunnels and used magicks the Howling Madness taught him to consecrate the entrance. The only way through the locked door—itself bound by ancient magicks that kept the knob hot and the door itself frigid—was to walk all of the passages. It did not matter in which order; just as long as all were trod within a certain framework of time. This caused the locks to release and the door to open, leading to the well and the Madness within. 


    Grady Randifor then devised a perfect plan to bring the creature all the victims it could ever want. He asserted himself into the emancipation movement, becoming a vociferous advocate for the ending of slavery. He then joined the secret Underground Railroad organization. He informed them of his tunnel system built under his house that could both safely hide runaway slaves and lead them to safety miles away. It was all a ruse. The men, women, and children were brought here under false pretenses and fed to the thing in the well. It feasted for a few years before the frequency of fleeing slaves petered out. The war ended. There was no more need for Grady and his services. He eventually went mad when he couldn’t bring the creature any more food. And yet, sickeningly, he was hailed as a hero by the very organizations he’d betrayed. 


    More images flashed in my brain. I saw my father and Uncle Chester, both staring down into the well at the thing at the bottom. I saw the look of fear and revulsion in their eyes as the creature bartered with them, offering them all they’d offered me and all our relatives. I watched my father flee, stronger than me. I watched Uncle Chester linger longer, but eventually leaving as well. 


    If I had lips, I would have wailed.


     


    X


     


    So here I float. Here I ruminate on what I have done to bring me to such a state. Here I am stuck, until I die, for there is no escape. The creature is slowly digesting me. And if I can judge by the other, still-living humans floating around me, that digestion will take a very long time. Hundreds of years, perhaps. The bodies and heads of the dozens of slaves still here greet me with sneering faces and angry eyes. And there is Ray, whom I bump into on occasion. He has the most savage expression. I know that if he had hands that worked, he would have strangled me a thousand times over by now. 


    Every now and then, the tendrils inside of us squeeze our lungs and tiny valves release the air into our throats. It is then our voices rise as one, and we sing the low moan that I first heard upon my arrival here.


    It is the howl of madness. 


    It is our song, and we will sing it until we can sing it no more.
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    Living, as we do, on a tiny planet, spinning silently in a lonely corner of a universe full of strange things seen and unseen, of cold, dark matter, and yet darker energies that underlie what we see as “reality”, what can we really know of the worlds beyond? Astronomers often say that we are “made of stardust”, but some of those stars are dark indeed, and long-dead. And few writers realise from whence their darkest inspirations truly come. Nor did I, until one dark, late October afternoon in Providence, Rhode Island, I came upon a remarkable shop, by accident as I thought.


    It was the kind of store you might never notice normally, tucked away as it was, but that day I was suffering from “writer’s block” and, desperately seeking inspiration for my first book, I had determined to make a good beginning by buying a fine pen to write my first draft, and to bring me good fortune, as a kind of talisman, if you will. So, there I was, wearing out the sidewalks of Providence, and my boots, hoping to find a pen store, and rediscover my muse! After all, I was now going one step beyond short stories...


    By now it was late in the day, and the sky was darkening ominously. I had found nothing to suit me anywhere, and the stores were beginning to close. Just one more, I thought to myself, and then I’m off home for dinner and the writing will have to wait. Dejected and footsore, I trudged on, eventually finding myself at an unfamiliar turning in the old town. “Hob’s Lane”, the rusty street sign said. Never heard of it. Shrugging, I peered down the narrow, winding alley. There were a few small shops, but all were dark, save one whose window glimmered dimly. Just one look, then, and after that, back home to my cosy house and a quiet evening by the fire.


     


    X


     


    “Arkham Antiques” the sign above the window read. The store was shuttered, but chinks of light leaking between the peeling boards hinted that it might still be open. Stepping up optimistically, I entered, a bell tinkling as the door closed behind me. Inside, the shop was stacked from floor to ceiling with chests, cabinets, and a myriad of dusty objects piled higgledy-piggledy. Everything from a bored-looking stuffed crocodile hanging from the ceiling to a mysterious collection of dark crystals in a glass case, to row upon row of crumbling leather-bound books and... Wonder of wonders, four score or more pens, beneath a glass panel let into the dark wooden counter dividing the store. Standing there for a moment, leaning on the counter, almost breathless, my eyes caressed a remarkable collection that included nothing even remotely modern, and was all the better for it.


    “Can I help you, sir?” A little man stepped quietly from behind the dark green curtain hiding the entry to the rear of the store. He was the kind of fellow you wouldn’t normally notice, just like his emporium. I guess he was well into his nineties, stooped somewhat, and bald except for an untidy grey wisp above each ear. Those ears, together with a rather sharp nose, supported gold-rimmed eyeglasses with half-moon shaped lenses. A white shirt and brown waistcoat replete with tarnished, almost black, silver pocket watch and chain, surmounted by a somewhat bedraggled spotted bow tie, all above baggy brown check pants, certainly placed him in a different era, entirely in keeping with the contents of the shop. “Well...” I tried to drag my eyes away from the pens and show a little courtesy, but it was not easy.


    “Come, sir, you must have something in mind?” He looked a little irritated at first, or perhaps that was just the strange glint in his eyes, which reflected the flickering of the room’s only illumination, a bare bulb hanging from the center of the ceiling.


    “Well, actually... I’m a writer,” I blurted out, rather self-consciously, “...and I’m looking for a pen, but it has to be a vintage fountain pen, none of that modern rubbish, something with real character and some history behind it. I’ve been all over the city today, and I can’t find what I want anywhere. I saw you were still open, and to be honest, you’re my last hope...”


    “Funnily enough, sir, many people have said that to me over the years, and they usually seem to find something here, though it might not always be quite what they expected... Do you see anything you like?”


    “I’ve just had a few moments to glance at these beautiful pens you have in your counter; is there anything you would recommend? I’ve always had a hankering for something with a nice flexible nib, but it has to be reliable and easy to fill, as I’ll be writing the first draft of my new book with it.” I looked hopefully at him.


    “Let me see now...something special for a writer...something inspirational...In fact I know just the thing...” He knelt down behind the counter and seemed to be rummaging for ages, then stood up, holding a black tin box that rattled mysteriously. Placing it carefully on the counter, he flicked most of the heavy dust off with an old rag. “I’m sure this will interest you, sir! I picked this lot up in a local estate sale back in 1937. Apparently the fellow who owned it was a writer too, though he wasn’t very well-known in his lifetime, in fact his name escapes me...”


    Lifting the lid, the storekeeper reached in and pulled out, first of all, a stack of small black notebooks, apparently well-used, some of them with the elastic closures worn through. “Moleskines, ah yes, they were always popular with writers back then,” he muttered as if to himself. Reaching deeper, he pulled out a small and rather battered cardboard box. “Ah yes, here it is! Just what you need, I fancy!” Grinning, he handed me the box. It was dark blue, and printed ornately across the top in white was “Waterman’s Ideal Fountain Pen”. I opened it and carefully took out the contents.


    “It’s a Waterman’s #52 you know. Lovely pens they are, this one was made in Canada about 1924. It has a firm left oblique nib that should stand up well to a lot of writing, I’m sure it would be ‘ideal’ for a budding author such as yourself!” He chuckled at the pun, peering over his glasses as if to better see my reaction.


    I looked closely at the pen, a simple but elegant chased black hard rubber tube. It had seen better days and the black had faded somewhat with age. Some of the gold had worn off the clip and the lever filler. A wide gold-filled band just below the lever contained a panel engraved with well-worn script letters that I couldn’t quite make out in the dim light. “Well, I was rather thinking of something a bit fancier, but if you think this would be a good writer’s workhorse, then I’ll take your word for it, and since it already has some history as a writer’s pen, surely it will bring me good luck! How much?”


    “Hmmm... Well, no-one else has ever been interested in it, and I’d rather it went to someone who will really put it to good use... How about a hundred dollars – and I’ll throw in the notebooks as well. You never know, they might come in useful?”


    “I’ll take the lot, then, and thanks for your help.” 


    Grinning broadly, the little storekeeper threw all the battered Moleskines back in the box and carefully placed the pen within. “You’re very welcome, sir – and there’s no charge for the tin box. Just be sure to let me have a signed copy of your book when you’re a best-selling author!” 


    I handed over a small stack of bills, tucked the still-dusty box under my arm and strode out into the now-falling night, this time with a spring in my step, and headed for home, which was 10 Barnes Street, not all that far from Brown University. 


     


    X


    Later that evening, having satisfied the inner man with a pleasant meal and a good glass of brandy, I removed to my study, sat down at my desk and opened the box again. As I did so, however, the window blew open and the rain, which was now falling outside, blew in, icy cold. I dashed over and shut it firmly, returning to the desk and the intriguing contents of the box.


    Leaving the pen to one side for a moment, I now took the time to examine the notebooks. They were, as the storekeeper had said, Moleskines. The covers appeared worn and well-used, however on opening them, there appeared to be no writing on the finely lined pages. A pity, I would have loved to learn more about their previous owner from his writings – but on the other hand I now had a good supply of usable notebooks. Waste not want not, as they say!


    I pondered for a moment, and reaching into a desk drawer I lifted out, at random, a small, heavy glass bottle filled with ink, with a faceted black cap. 


    “Ah, ‘Blue Night’, just right,” I said to myself.


    Taking the #52 from its box and uncapping it, I tested the lever carefully. Remarkably, it felt like the ink sac was still pliable, so a practical test was in order. Removing the cap from the bottle, I dipped the nib and folded the lever gently out. A few small bubbles rising from the dark depths of the ink were encouraging, so I pressed the lever back in and wiped the nib. Taking up a sheet of Basildon Bond, I put pen to paper, but at first the nib was dry. Disappointed, I pressed a little harder, adjusting the angle of my hand; not being used to oblique nibs, perhaps there was a certain technique to it? Immediately, a wet, blue-black line began to form, and, scrawling my usual “Quick Brown Fox” test, I enjoyed a moment’s doodling and swirling lines back and forth. Success! It was indeed a firm nib, but the shading was delightful, and the smooth travel of the golden point over the paper was an intoxicating tactile experience.


    Inspired, I was ready to begin. And what better way to start than to try out one of the old Moleskines? If nothing else, it would be a tribute to that long-departed writer whose name I’d not been able to make out on his pen. Folding back the cover of the first notebook that came to hand, I wrote, swiftly and with style:


    ‘Of such great powers or beings there may be conceivably a survival...a survival of a hugely remote period when...consciousness was manifested, perhaps, in shapes and forms long since withdrawn before the tide of advancing humanity...forms of which poetry and legend alone have caught a flying memory and called them gods, monsters, mythical beings of all sorts and kinds...’


    “That’s not right,” I murmured under my breath, nonplussed. I had planned to begin a science fiction story, full of strange planets and starships, but this was nothing like my intended opening passage. It made no sense at all. Somehow, the message from my brain appeared to have changed by the time it arrived at my hand, and I had written something completely incomprehensible to me. But surely that was impossible? 


    I tried again on another page:


    ‘The most merciful thing in the world, I think, is the inability of the human mind to correlate all its contents. We live on a placid island of ignorance in the midst of black seas of infinity, and it was not meant that we should voyage far. The sciences, each straining in its own direction, have hitherto harmed us little; but some day the piecing together of dissociated knowledge will open up such terrifying vistas of reality, and of our frightful position therein, that we shall either go mad from the revelation or flee from the light into the peace and safety of a new dark age.’


    I lifted the nib from the paper, for now I was truly terrified, perhaps for the first time in my life. Yet the writing continued apace, without the intervention of any human hand or pen, filling page after page, and as it went the ink faded a little, as if it were as old as the pen itself...


    The #52, now icy cold, fell slowly from my nerveless fingers; clattering softly onto the oak desktop, it rolled to a rest. The hairs on the back of my neck were standing bolt upright, and I began to come out in a cold sweat, my heart pounding. What could this mean? 


    Suddenly the window flew open again, and the freezing blast from beyond brought me to my feet once more. I stared out into the darkness, but that in itself was a fearful sight, for the lights of the city of Providence were failing, one by one, and as I looked towards the horizon, they flickered and went out. All that illumined the scene was an arc of light from Interstate 95 off to the west, but what that fitful glow now outlined from behind was dreadful indeed, though it were seen only in silhouette.


    The Thing I saw cannot be described: there is no language for such abysms of shrieking and immemorial lunacy, such eldritch contradictions of all matter, force, and cosmic order. A mountain walked or stumbled, and from the darkness came a voice that was not a voice; a chaotic sensation which only fancy could transmute into sound, a terrible, liquid, gibbering chant, repeated over and over: “Ph’nglui mglw’nafh Cthulhu R’lyeh wgah’nagl fhtagn.” 


    Slamming the window shut in abject terror, fighting an urge to run, to keep on running and never stop, I yet felt strangely compelled to return to my desk and, staring down at the fountain pen now once more clutched tightly in my hand, saw that it was somehow restored to deepest black. The fine chasing seemed to flow and twist like the moving scales of some dark serpent, but surely that must be a trick of the now flickering light. The trim shone again with crisp detail, the clip and lever unblemished, as if time had never passed for this pen.


    Peering closer, I knew that I could now read the name engraved deeply upon the pristine gold-filled band: ‘H. P. Lovecraft.’ One final, uncontrollable urge to write laid down this fateful line: “In his house at R’lyeh dead Cthulhu waits dreaming.” 


    Darkness fell, and my mind fled screaming into the abyss between the stars.
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    At first, Alexander Brisbane thought it just a lack of work ethics that drove his best workers and foremen off the Dunwich Grand Hotel’s construction site and back to Boston. A pragmatic business man, he didn’t believe in the superstitious gossip that floated around his own construction site. He didn’t believe in curses or monsters or any such non-sense and he sure didn’t believe in sea serpents, especially the rumors of sea serpent appearing at night in his hotel’s swimming pool – until now.
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    By the age of 35, Alexander Julias Brisbane was one of the most prominent men not only in Boston, but throughout most of Massachusetts. He was the owner and president of Brisbane Construction, a company he built from the ground up. His was a quick assent because, a gambler by nature, he took chances. Every high risk adventure he undertook paid off. Soon his company was building the largest buildings and towers on the East Coast. 


    At a New Year’s party in Salem, he bumped into an old friend of his, fellow Princeton alumnus William Hilliard. They talked and laughed as old friends until Alex mentioned to William that he was a contractor. When he heard that, William coaxed Alex out to an empty balcony. “Now that we are away from prying ears,” he said, “I have a business proposition to make. We are old alumni friends, right? I need a partner in your field exactly. Together, we could make a lot of money if we play our cards right.”


    “I’m listening,” Alex said, the mention of “cards” and the cold night air sobering him up a little.


    “After graduation I moved to Washington,” William began. “In ‘33, I got on in the PWA, Public Works Administration – you know, part of FDR’s first New Deal. Anyway, a few months ago, I was having a few drinks with Secretary of the Interior, Harold L. Ickes. He told me about a second wave of big government spending to kick-start the economy in case there is a war with Germany or Japan. One of those plans is to build a major highway, from the tip of Maine to the tip of Florida – and I know where it will cut through Massachusetts. If, oh, say, someone like myself were to invest a large sum of money as a silent partner, in a land deal that would include buying acres of prime land along the path of the highway route and build a luxury hotel right on it, would, oh, say, someone like yourself be willing to build that hotel and co-own it?” William asked.


    “Where?” Alex asked.


    “At the end of Alsbury Pike,” William said then paused before adding, “Dunwich.”


    “Dunwich?” Alex repeated.


    “Yes. I know it has a bad reputation...” William started, but Alex cut him off.


    “What, the town’s haunted or something? Let me tell you, that could make money. I know it’s the 20th century and most people, myself included, don’t believe in ghosts and hobgoblins but a lot of people still do. My wife, she’s from Ipswich; she does. She says that clairvoyants, mediums and séances to contact the ghost of Houdini are popular now. We could play that up, you know? How about, ‘Spend a night in a real haunted house’? We could open a few haunted restaurants too with fresh seafood imported daily from Innsmouth or Boston,” Alex said.


    “You really don’t mind Dunwich?” William asked, wincing a little at the name of the town.


    “Not if it makes money – but would it?” Alex asked.


    “It would. When the highway is built, it would be the only, I repeat, only hotel on the highway at the only junction to Boston. It would have a waiting list for months in advance. We could follow the highway, building hotels along the way. Our own empire my boy. We could make the kind of money two men could retire rich on... if you want to take a once-in-a-lifetime chance,” William hinted.


    That got Alex’s attention. Beneath the rugged exterior, the six-foot frame, the muscled shoulders, well-manicured hands, neatly combed hair, steel gray eyes, Princeton education and Bostonian breeding, Alex was still little more than a gambler who would be more content sitting in a poker game than in a meeting room or office. Betting small to win small never interested him. He liked the long shots, the foolish gambles that could pay off one thousand-to-one.


    “How sure are you of this?” Alex asked, suddenly fully awake with the sound of money roaring in his ears.


    “Positive, on my soul,” William said as inside, with a shout, everyone screamed, “Happy New Year 1939!” The two men toasted the New Year and their business venture. They talked and planned well into the morning. 


    For the next few weeks, Alex did his private research; he made inquiries, all confidential; and William mailed him the actual maps showing the as-yet-unnamed highway. Every piece of information that Alex could find confirmed that William was true to his word: there would be a major highway from the tip of Maine to the tip of Florida. He was going to own the only hotel on that stretch. 


    It was the gambler in him that pushed him to action. He would be gambling with everything he owned, and the idea of betting it all sent his blood racing. Despite warnings from his friends, bankers, and business partners – and ignoring the advice of his wife – Alex took out all his funds and liquidated most of his assets. Together with William’s savings, the pair put their scheme into action. 


     


     


    III


     


    Through the fall of ‘39, Alex bought not only a few square miles of barren land near Alesbury Pike where the coming highway would intersect it, he also bought a few buildings in what was left of downtown Dunwich. The prices were dirt cheap, which was what he expected. When the locals became aware that Alex was trying to buy as much of their town as possible, they did the unexpected. They quit selling it to him, no matter the prices offered.


    The ground breaking ceremony for the newly named Dunwich Grand Hotel Project fell on September 1st. It was a rainy, windy, cold morning and the day seemed laden with ill omens. That morning, Alex received the news that his grandfather had passed away. That afternoon, there were reports on the radio that the Germans had broken the Treaty of Versailles and invaded Poland. That evening, at dusk, Alex stood shivering in the rain, holding a shovel and posing for a picture with his foremen and draftsmen. As his shovel pierced the soil of Dunwich, an exceptionally bright blue-green burst of lightning exploded above their heads, followed by an ear-piercing and ground shaking clap of thunder.


    Then as if out of nowhere, through the mist and sheets of rain appeared a ragtag ramble of Dunwich villagers. Leading the group was an old man, with long white hair that hung from his head and beard. He wore only a black robe that billowed in the wind, exposing his tattooed chest and arms. In one hand he carried a gnarled staff. In the other, he waved a small green stone in the shape of a five-pointed star. 


    Alex and his men stood, stunned by the lightning and the villagers’ presence. The group swarmed around Alex’s small contingent shouting and yelling.


    “Wh’t have ‘ye done?” the old man screamed at Alex. “The black soil, ye fool! Ye broke the earth! Ye have brok’n the seal! Dig not into the black ‘arth. ‘Tis only for the de’d and that which aught to be de’d! Ye’ll doom us all!”


    When the crowd grew larger and started to turn violent, Alex and the rest of his party ran to their cars and returned the next day with security officers from Boston. The crowd was still there. They still screamed and taunted Alex but the security men kept them back from the construction site. It didn’t make a difference. A week later, when the heavy equipment – cranes, trucks, bulldozers – arrived, the locals would sneak onto the construction site and vandalize their equipment, putting sugar into their petroleum tanks and engines so they seized up.


    Worse happened when any of the carts and heavy loads were pulled by horses. It seemed that the horses went near rabid the closer they got to Dunwich. They threw their riders and bolted as soon as they were released from their reins. Within a week, all the horses had fled or had to be shot for trampling their owners.
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    Things steadily got worse from there. Renovations in Dunwich were seemingly impossible, impractical and costly. As Alex’s chief foreman, Donald Coscarelli explained at one of their regular meetings, “I’ve never in all my life seen such a filthy rotting stinking place. Even the slums of New York were cleaner, especially the cellars and basements. That’s where most of the mold and fungus seems to be. Oh, it’s everywhere, permeating every board and brick in every building. Mold like no one has ever seen. Some, I swear, actually glows in the dark. It gives off a queer-ish green glow.” Donald paused.


    “Green glow,” Alex repeated.


    “I swear, a green glow. Also, when we pull up the floors or tear down the walls, everything inside is rotted clean through by a foul smelling fungus. It’s wet, meaty and pulpy, like a jelly mass or what I would imagine fat looks like in the human body. It’s covered in a white spider-web covering, like vines, or roots, that you can hear ripping out of the wood when we pull it free. They are solid, but the pink stuff, that just erupts and oozes everywhere. What a smell. 


    “What’s also odd is that if we leave it outside, by morning, it all seems to dry up and blow away,” Donald added.


    “Good, we don’t have to clean it up. Can we save any of the wood?” Alex asked.


    “No. It’s all rotted through. Oh, and the mushrooms. Some of those cellars are full of mushrooms and not just small ones. There are big ones. The biggest anyone, even the cooks, have seen. A few of them are taller than me, believe it or not. We had the photographer take a few pictures.” Donald opened an envelope. Inside were a few 8 x 10 black and white photos which he put on the desk and pushed toward Alex.


    “Go ahead, look for yourself. Especially the last picture. I know this sounds crazy, but look, I’d swear those mushrooms have the same shape as people. Look here is the father...” Donald pointed to the largest mushroom in the picture that had a startling similar shape to a large heavy set man. “Here is the mother, and there are the children.”


    Donald shivered then continued. “Upstairs, we found a large family bedroom and three children’s bedrooms. The rooms, especially the beds, were covered in those white roots. The beds looked like cocoons, it was so thick. Do you know what we found in them? I’ll tell you. Skeletons, human skeletons, so old they were yellowed and brittle. A large man and woman in one room and a child in every one of the bedrooms.”


    Alex was silent for a second, then asked, “Who knows about this? And Christ almighty, what did you do with the skeletons?”


    “Only two of us saw them. Myself and Reynolds,” Donald replied. “We knew the panic they would start, so we hid them in a canvas bag for now. However, some of the men saw the mushrooms before we had a chance to destroy them. Alex, I swear they moved and moaned when our saws cut into them and the puss that shot out of them and the way they quivered, it was bad. Spooked some of the men, they told others.” 


    “So, are you telling me people are growing into mushrooms? What do you want me to do about it?” Alex enquired. “What really worries me is, how will it affect the construction schedule?” 


    “Are you even listening to me?” his foreman said. “There are some really strange things happening in that town and now some of the men refuse to go down into the cellars. Others are complaining about nightmares and some fool I had to fire today swore he saw the gargoyles on one of the buildings fly around at night. 


    “Things are bad and I’ve had over a dozen good men quit this week. That makes over fifty men I’ve had to replace. If this keeps up we’ll be in trouble,” Donald concluded flatly.


    “It will get better, you’ll see,” Alex assured him.


    But it didn’t. Everything was more costly than expected. There were more problems than expected. More people quit and had to be replaced and all of it ate away at Alex and William’s funds.
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    Whether it was a tribute to Alex’s determination or simply a case of not knowing when to quit, despite all the obstacles, foundations for the Dunwich Grand Hotel were laid near the turn at Alsbury Pike. Slowly, ever so slowly, over the course of the next few months, the floors rose, one by one. By the fall of 1940, it was nearing completion.


    Originally envisioned to have more than 500 rooms, like its competition in Boston, The Hotel Manager, the Dunwich Grand Hotel was already suffering from a serious lack of capital. The upper fifteen floors had to be scrapped in favor of an observatory deck. Some of the Corinthian pillars were eliminated, not all the chandeliers ordered were actually purchased, the grade of the marble was lowered, and even the huge water fountain by the front doors was abandoned.


    There was one issue that Alex would not hear of being diminished or scaled back due to cost restraints. It was the forty-yard swimming pool.. At 140 feet long and 66 feet wide, it could accommodate 500 bathers at once. It was to be the crowning achievement, destined to become the hotel’s main attraction


    When the first bulldozer pushed its way through the black earth and yellow sod to dig the hole that would become the swimming pool, a re-enactment of the ground-breaking ceremony ensued. As the metal edge of the bulldozer cut into the soil, above them, on a perfectly cloudless day, there was a thunder clap and a bolt of lightning exploded over their heads. Out of nowhere, black clouds started to gather and swirl. Within seconds, the first drops of cold rain started to fall and as mysteriously as before, a crowd of Dunwich villagers, led by the old man in the black robe with the gnarled cane, came shambling onto the construction site.


    “Stop! ‘Ye fools b’fore it’s too late!” te old man screamed, waving his cane and the same green colored pentagram-shaped rock. Alex’s security men sprang to life, keeping the growing crowd away from the construction site. 


    They were all Dunwich villagers, pale, gaunt, looking anemic at best. They seemed to have similar features, a few with some extreme deformities. Also, they all seemed to have the same distant look in their eyes and when they weren’t spitting at his workers or Alex they were making a sign with their hands, holding up their pinkie and index finger while holding down their other two fingers with their thumb.


    Alex had never seen it before. When he asked Donald about it, he replied, “My grandmother came from the old country; she called it the evil eye. She would make it to ward off evil. I have seen the villagers wave the evil eye in the air at me too, sir. Don’t let it bother you. These Dunwich villagers are just a bunch of degenerate and superstitious idiots. Notice how all the last names are almost the same. They’ve been inbreeding with each other for years. Happens to townspeople too isolated. Makes them look strange and act a little stranger. We’ll be done soon, I hope.”


    Unfortunately, plagued by incessant rain and adverse weather, constant labor disputes and every electrical and mechanical problem imaginable, the Grand Dunwich Hotel was rapidly becoming a financial money pit. With funds rapidly diminishing, the planned renovation and restoration of downtown Dunwich had to be first scaled back then finally abandoned, much to the workers’ and Donald’s relief. The restaurants, bars, even the Ahbrahadabra Magic Museum, which was almost completed, was abandoned to mold and rot with the rest of the town. 


    Workers, paid partial-salaries, left daily. Tempers were high and fights broke out daily. It was after a rather bloody bout between two immigrant workers that Donald Coscarelli, the main foreman, had another argument with Alex. When he found out that the skeletons in the mushrooms he found in the basement of that house in Dunwich were “accidentally” buried in the cement foundations of the hotel’s pool, Donald quit. 


    When the concrete finally dried in and around the pool, the longest and costliest part of the operation could begin. Alex had master craftsmen and artisans use the most expensive imported Italian multi-colored ceramic tiles to create an undersea mosaic mural across the whole bottom of the pool. There were pictures of almost every kind of fish, eel, octopus and crab along with countless underwater plants and corals.


    The pool was finally completed a year later, in the fall of 1941. It was, for one day, one of the most beautiful swimming pools on the North American continent. The water was a sparkling clear-blue color. Beneath it, the whole pool floor seemed to move and come to live beneath the waters.


    Pictures were taken and congratulations were given. Alex felt the thrill of triumph, the feeling that his gamble was finally paying off. That feeling was very short lived. It stopped the next morning. For some unknown reason, the crystal clear water of the Grand Dunwich Hotel had turned oily black, as black as some bog in the swamps. Worse, it smelled foul, like stagnant water near the sea. 


    No one could account for it but Alex guessed it was the Dunwich townspeople who had put something in to the water. It was a suspicion aided by the fact that since that day, not one villager came near the construction site or the pool.
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    The pool was the source of more than just lost revenue. It became the focal point of more fear induced gossip. It seemed that after the pool turned black, some of the construction workers disappeared. This was not unusual, but the circumstances were. All left without a word, not providing a forwarding address or an official resignation. All seemed to have left in the night, leaving all their belongings. And by a strange coincidence, all the missing men were last seen near the hotel’s pool. According to the whispers and superstitious ravings of a few Polish and Italian immigrant workers, something alive in the pool, something like a giant serpentine sea monster ate the men!


    The pool was searched but no bodies or anything incriminating were found. It didn’t stop the rumors of a sea serpent in the swimming pool or a growing number of missing men. By the end of November, only about thirty men remained to work. They swore off the pool and only worked on the hotel. Fights were frequent and Alex was glad to have his .38 revolver in his pocket at all times. Twice he had to pull it, once to stop a fight and once to save his own life.


    The final nail in the coffin for the Grand Dunwich Hotel came on the morning of December 7th, 1941 when Pearl Harbor was attacked by the Japanese and the United States was plunged into the Second World War. While a needed boost for the economy, the war effort took immediate precedence over everything else, including the Public Works Commission. As men found steady work enlisting in the armed forces, road work and beautification projects were canceled, including the still unnamed highway that was to fill the rooms of the Grand Dunwich Hotel.


    The road project canceled, William committed suicide a week later. All Alex’s men bar two, quit, demanding their pay and back pay. He paid what he could – under duress – and with no money, he paid the two remaining men with bottles of wine and liquor while he himself took to drinking the rest of the hotel’s cellar dry.


     


    X


     


    It was the night of December 21st, the Winter Solstice, the darkest and longest night of the year. Alex had been drinking in the empty bar – there seemed little else to be done – when the stillness of the night was cut by the sudden scream of a man, followed by a loud splash of water.


    Alex scrambled to his feet, grabbed his gun and ran outside. A steady cold rain fell from the sky and lightning flashed around in the heavens. He ran toward the pool, the surface of which was covered in waves, like those on the ocean, slapping against the sides of the pool, sending up sprays of foam.


    “Mr. Alex! Over here!” Sammy, one of his remaining two workmen, yelled, waving frantically at Alex. He was standing next to the pool, shining his electric flashlight at the water while his dog barked furiously at the water. “Help me find him!” Alex guessed that somehow Sammy’s friend Jack had fallen into the pool.


    As if in answer to Sammy’s plea, something came up out of the water. A huge, long, and serpentine creature, the size of a train twisted up out of the water, raising itself fifty-feet into the air. It defied all laws of physics and rules of nature, as it ascended into the night air.


    Alex stared in horror. It was like a serpent of some kind, but covered in gills and barbed wing-like fins similar to those on the sides of the exotic lion fish. The sides of its body were also lined with suction cups of various sizes, themselves lined with barbed teeth and dangling tongues. The top of the creature bent forward, dripping slime and seaweed, and Alex saw the end of it was a massive head, as big as a box car. Two large blue glowing eyes illuminated its snake-like head. Beneath them, its mouth opened but not like the jaws of an animal. Its mouth was round, and like a lamprey, it was lined with teeth that pointed inward and extended down its throat. 


    There was something in its mouth, Alex realized.


    For a fleeting moment he saw the missing night watchmen, Jack, tumble lifelessly down the creature’s throat. With a gurgling roar and hiss, it looked down at the remaining motionless night watchman. Sammy stood there, paralyzed with fear. Only his dog moved, barking up at the thing in the pool, dripping water and slime from over thirty feet up.


    The thing in the pool leaned down, its mouth opened wider and it sank down. With a sickly sucking sound, it ate the dog with one quick movement. Then It dropped its head lower, its long tongue came out, encircling the screaming night watchman. Alex watched as the tongue pulled Sammy into its mouth, while the rows of encircling teeth shredded him to bloody pulpy pieces. Sucking those down, it turned its gaze on Alex. 


    He froze in his tracks, shock overwhelming his system. He stood staring in disbelief as the water of the pool, the whole surface erupted with dozens of tentacles, waving in the air and stretching up toward the clouds. Even as he watched, two exceptionally long tentacles, waved into the sky. At their height, they started to attract the bolts of lightning that fell from the sky, sending blue bolts down their lengths.


    Alex felt sensations as if something was wrapping itself around his left ankle. He looked down and saw that several small tentacles had emerged from the puddle of water he was standing in. They wrapped around to his left ankle, holding him firmly. 


    He looked around frantically. All around him, tentacles were waving freely in the rainy night air. Every puddle that touched, or was connected to the water in the pool was alive with tentacles, just like the surface of the pool water. It was growing and spreading like a contagion. As the rain continued to fall, so did the puddles. 


    Tentacles waved in the air around Alex as if he were in a forest of moving trees and branches. Panicking, knowing he would be completely surrounded in mere seconds, Alex made one last desperate gamble and splashed the water puddle with the tentacles holding his right foot. The water erupted into small drops, scattering the water and the tentacles in the water. 


    Scrambling, clawing his way away from the pool, he ran toward his car. The keys were still in it. He slid into the driver’s seat and took one last look behind. The flashes of lightning had increased, illuminating the whole landscape. Over the top of the ten story hotel, Alex could see the gigantic tentacles and that huge head swaying in the air. With a scream, he put the car in drive and didn’t stop until the next morning when he refueled in Boston. 


    Alex was in a state of shock and near hysteria but he was still a Princeton man. He held onto that to keep himself sane, rational and thinking. That thing in the pool ruined his dreams, life, marriage, everything. He had one all-consuming desire that kept him from losing sanity. He was going to kill it. He knew where to go to learn how to do it. He was going to Arkham, to the Special Books Room of the Miskatonic Library.
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    Alex didn’t consider his appearance until he stood in the middle of the first floor of the Miskatonic Library late that afternoon. He looked haggard at best, unclean, unshaven, nervous and exhausted. He nervously thumbed through the card files until he heard a voice, in a thick English accent, ask “Can I help you sir?” 


    Alex turned around. A student sat behind the front desk. Had he not been so distracted, exhausted and if he hadn’t still been in a state of shock, he would have noticed more her auburn hair, pale white skin and delicate elfin like features. Instead he simply looked at her name tag.


    “Good morning, Melissa, I’m looking for books on...” he paused, then mumbled, “Sea serpents. Maybe some legends or myths or those books in your Special Collections Room.”


    “Student here?” she asked with that crisp accent.


    “No,” Alex answered.


    “Sir, those books are strictly off limits. I have to contact Dr. Armitage. In the meantime, why don’t you go to the third floor; on the right are the mythology and occult books for the public. Dr. Armitage will meet you,” she said and walked up the stairs. 


    He walked up to the third floor and was looking around when he heard a man’s voice say, “Can I help you?”


    Alex turned to see an older man, in his fifties, rather plump and round, with white hair and thick spectacles. Alex stared at him because the man looked familiar to him.


    “I said can I help you? I’m Dr. Armitage, the Head Librarian. Melissa here tells me that you are looking for books on, sea serpents,” he said.


    Yes, sir... Armitage, wait a moment, Armitage, from Princeton?” Alex asked.


    “Yes,” the older man said.


    “I thought it was you; you played polo with my brother, Fredrick Brisbane,” Alex said. Dr. Armitage looked at Alex and thought for a few seconds, then his face lit up with recognition.


    “Fredrick, ‘ole Freddy, I haven’t seen him in years! You must be Alex. You were so young and so much smaller when I last saw you. This is good. Melissa here scared me. You wouldn’t believe the kind of people we have coming here looking over our old books,” Dr. Armitage said.


    “Most of ‘em are just not right in the head,” Melissa added. “Strange lot they are, always dressed in black, acting a bit daft if you ask me, always creepin’ around the library, making weird signs with their hands – and the smells of some of them...” Melissa said before Dr. Armitage shushed her.


    “You look like you could use some coffee, Alex. Here, come with me to my office. We can talk and you can tell me more,” Dr. Armitage said. 


    They walked upstairs, through the secretary’s office, and the last thing Alex remembered was Dr. Armitage saying, “Sit here. I’ll have my secretary bring up some coffee...”


    When he and his secretary returned, Alex was fast asleep on the couch. He slept till the next morning. Maybe it was the light coming through the window or the smell of coffee and eggs that taunted his nose and body to life.


    “Good morning my boy,” Dr. Armitage said, sitting up from his desk chair. “You had quite a sleep there! Feel refreshed?”


    “How long?” Alex asked.


    “Oh, just overnight. Don’t worry. Just have some breakfast. You can tell me your story while you eat. I also took the liberty of calling your brother. I might add that I’m sorry to hear about your troubles,” Dr. Armitage said. “Now tell me, amongst friends, what happened to you.”


    Alex did. At first, the words came slowly, hesitantly, then the sentences started to flow, faster and faster until, by the time he was finished, he had worked himself into a near panic. Dr. Armitage listened, quietly at first then more and more intently, especially after Alex mentioned Dunwich. When he was done, Dr. Armitage looked intently at him.


    “This is a serious, deadly business, my boy. I won’t hide that from you. But I can help you. I have had dealings in Dunwich before and I don’t doubt anything you tell me about that accursed place. Follow me to the basement, there are some books we should consult,” Dr. Armitage said. 


    Alex followed him down to the basement which Alex swore was colder than it should have been. Dr. Armitage had the keys to the special collection room.


    “Take a seat at those tables over there and I’ll bring some of the books out to you. We’ll need some help with some of the Latin translations. My usage of the language is adequate but not nearly as accomplished as my colleague, Mrs. Loring.” 


    Minutes later, Mrs. Loring, a woman in her fifties, Melissa and another young girl with long black hair one and only one visible staring eye joined them. Introduced as Amanda, she mumbled to herself and seemed too distracted to be of much help.


    Dr. Armitage had fetched several old, decaying, leather bound books from the special collection room which he placed gently and reverently on the table. “Let’s start with these,” he said. 


    They started with a book from around 1702 called Les Cultes des Goules by François-Honore Balfour and Comte d’Eriette, but that was of little help. The second book, the R’lyah Text from the sixteenth century BC by an unknown author didn’t help either. The third book came from around 1228, and was bound in a strange leather that Alex was told not to ask about. But besides giving off a foul odor and seemingly giving everyone a headache, this Necromonicon did little else to help them in their research.


    After Alex had drawn a sketch of what he saw. Dr. Armitage nodded his head in deep thought at some of the details, like the oval mouth and suction cups along the body, prompting him to retrieve another book, the Cthaat Aquadingen, this time dating from the 15th century. It described things that seemed very similar to the thing Alex saw. There were rituals and spells for dealing with similar creatures but nothing quite like the thing in the pool.


    The sun was setting when Dr. Armitage took out a last book, the Nigra Aqua Daemonum Liber by Cornelius Laelius Marianus, a Prefect in the Roman Navy in 85 AD. He traveled the world’s seas and collected myths, legends and stories of the ocean and especially what he called the “daemones aquae”, or water demons. Since the library didn’t possess a copy translated into English, Mrs. Loring opened the ancient tome ready to translate the relevant text as they leaved through the ancient pages.


    The similarities between Alex’s drawing and one of the drawings in the book were startling. The drawing in the centuries-old book was crude by modern standards, but clearly belonging to the archaic style of Greek art. It was rendered in a geometric style, with a black-figure of the sea-serpent, coiling with outstretched tentacles, against a red-orange background. When Alex took out his sketch of the sea-serpent and laid it next to the book and the picture, they were identical. In Cornelius’s drawing, a long necked beast whose head opened into a circular mouth, was coming out of the water, attacking a ship with its tentacles. 


    “That, according to Cornelius, was one of the lesser water demons. It was called Shaa-Shall-Us,” Mrs. Loring said. With little difficulty, she translated a few verses, “The doorway is water, where there is water, so are they. Do not disturb them. Do not draw them out. Do not chant Sha-Illean Invocation. Do not draw the sign of Shaa-Sall-Us, for they see and they are many...


    ”What do you make of this?” Mrs. Loring asked Dr. Armitage. They looked closely at the book and mumbled to each other until she said, “This is a drawing of the sigil of Shaa-Sal-Us,” pointing at a strange symbol, a line with a curving line like a vine being intersected by another curving line


     


    [image: ]
“They are like children to Ish-Tan-Illa. Cornelius refers to it, or her, as ‘mother’ for some reason. He also calls it the ‘Lorem Bestia’, or Star-Fish Beast. It is somehow connected to the Sha-Sall-Us but no one has ever seen it, sort of like an invisible God of some kind. While it is related to the sea. It’s often mistaken for a sea-serpent. It can use any water to manifest itself. That is what it means by, the doorway is water, where there is water so are they,” she said. 


    Alex listened intently while Dr. Armitage wrote notes in a small notebook. Melissa looked bored and Amanda had disappeared off somewhere.


    “It says there was one man, Attalus, a sorcerer from one of the Greek islands. He fought several water demons,” she said and showed him a picture of Attalus, a tattooed Greek man, with a crooked cane in his hand. He was standing on a cliff’s edge, repelling a water demon. He had a small green stone in the shape of a five-pointed star with a strange marking on it, like the end of bare tree branch with five branches.


    “What’s that?” Alex asked.


    “Cornelius called it a ‘lorem lapidem’, or starfish stone. It was used to ward off the Shaa-Sall-Us. It saved the ship and most of the crew. It was a form of protection against them,” Mrs. Loring said.


    “I’ve seen that before,” Melissa suddenly said. “I’ll be right back.” She turned and ran up the stairs.


    “There is much we have to talk about,” Dr. Armitage said to Alex.


    “Is there anything else?” Alex asked. 


    Mrs. Loring shook her head “I’m afraid not. I would need some more time for further translations. Alex, nice to meet you, good luck with your research. Gentlemen, have a good evening,” she said, and took her leave.


    Melissa came down the stairs. “Look here,” she said, “I knew I saw that shape before – here.” She pointed to a picture in the book she was holding, an English translation of the seventh century Columba by Adomnan. “My mum used to tell us about St. Columba. He was an Irish monk. One day, he was in Pict territory, a nasty lot and a bad place to be, along the River Ness. He came upon the funeral of a man who had been killed by a water beast. The Picts took St. Columba to the river and his follower, Luigne moccu Min, followed his orders and swam across the river. When the water beast attacked him, St. Columba told it, ‘Go no further. Do not touch the man. Go back at once.’ He then made the sign of the cross and the beast appeared to have been ‘pulled back with ropes’ and fled in terror. It was praised as a miracle.


    “Look: this is the oldest painting of St. Columba,” Melissa indicated. “Look what’s in his hand.” 


    Alex and Dr. Armitage looked closely at the picture. There, clutched in St. Columba’s hand was a small green soap-stone in the shape of a five-pointed star. “It was a lorem lapidem that warded off the water beast, not the sign of the cross,” Melissa said.


    Suddenly, Amanda was standing next to them. No one had seen her come down the stairs. “That is not dead which can eternal lie and with strange aeons death may die,” she mumbled to herself. She laid three books on the table. With her head tilted, as if she were listening to someone, she found a certain page and opened it. Then she did the same to the other two books. Satisfied, she smiled, whispered something to the side of her as if someone were standing there and she practically glided up the stairs.


    Melissa and the two men looked down. The first book had a painting of St. George the Dragon Slayer and on his shield, the one thing that seemed to keep the dragon at bay, was what appeared to be a small green stone in the shape of a five-pointed star. In the second book was an old painting of a Hindu priest warding off demons with an identical five-pointed star stone. In the third, an ancient tome showed a painting of Odysseus fighting a multi-headed sea-serpent with a sword in one hand and a green star shaped stone in the other.


    “They have been used through the ages,” Dr. Armitage said.


    “You knew about this,” Alex realized.


    “Yes, more than I wanted to divulge to you but now you deserve to know. I will lock these books away and then we can talk in my office. I have many friends to contact. There are other books I want to reference, but I will help you.”


    “Thank you, sir,” Alex said. “When do we leave?” 


    “Leave? No, there is so much we have to prepare,” Dr. Armitage said. 


    “I’m not a patient man. What can we do now?” Alex asked.


    “We can sit and talk and make our plans. It is the best way. Trust me,” he said, patting Alex on the shoulder.


    “I’ll need some things from my car. Wait for me upstairs in your office. I’ll be right back,” Alex said.


    But Alex had no intention of returning. He ran out of the library to his car. He didn’t have time to wait, or talk. He wanted that creature dead, now, not later. If it could be killed with one of those green stones, he would find one and he knew the one man in the whole world who would have it. He was going to find that old crazy man in the robe. He was going to get that stone one way or another. He drove straight back to Dunwich. 


     


     


    VIII


     


    Utterly exhausted, Alex’s car skidded and weaved from side to side along Alsbury Pike. There were few, if any other cars along the road, which was a good thing. Despite his best efforts, he found himself slipping off to sleep, and was constantly haunted by the same dream. The old man from the crowd calling to him, waved to him, urging him to hurry “lest it be too late.”


    As Alex’s head lolled forward for the fourth or fifth time in minutes, he awoke with a jolt. Illuminated in the glow of his headlights, the old man stood in the middle of the road directly in front of his car. Alex slammed on the brakes, cut the wheel to the left, and skidded off the road in a shower of gravel and dust. He jumped out of the car. “Hello! Old man! Are you OK! Where are you?” There was no answer, only silence.


    “‘ey know what ye did, boy?” the old man suddenly said. Alex turned around and found he was standing nose to nose with him. There was a wind blowing, cold against his face.


    “‘Ah tried to warn ye! Now it’s loose and it’s yer fault!” he said, pointing a crooked finger and poking Alex in the chest with his nail.


    “Ye know wh’t this is, boy, don’t ye,” the old man said. In his hand he held an old piece of parchment. On it was a drawing, the symbol and sigil of a symbol, a sigil of Shaa-Sall-Us. His voice echoed into the distance answered by the rumble of thunder as he handed the parchment to Alex.


    “‘An this, ‘ere, the Sha-Illean Invocation, listen boy an’ remember,” he said as he started to chant. It rose and fell, undulations and reverberations, 


    Saaa-Laa-Tarn-Naa


    Sall-Laa-San-Naa


    Sal-Laa-Nall-Naa


    Sall-Laa-Mara-Naa


    Alex swayed and flowed with the strange syllables. Unable to move, he could only watch as the old man extended his withered claw-like hand and placed the green star-shaped stone in his hand. “Ye know what this is too, don’t ye boy, cast it into the water whence it came.” His voice boomed in Alex’s ears, his eyes burning like luminous orbs as the wind howled around them.


    “I don’t understand,” Alex screamed.


    “Yes, ye do,” he heard as the old man disappeared. “Ye can’t kill ‘em. But ye can banish ‘em. They don’t belong here. Beware their mother, begot of Ubbo-Sathla, do not disturb her. Her childr’n are many. She is one.”


    “Wait! Don’t go!” Alex screamed.


    “Ye need blood, boy and a sacr’fice. He’s wait’in now fo’ ye,” the old man said.


    “Sacrifice? Wait!” Alex screamed louder but the thunder drowned out his voice.


    “Remember, the doorway is water, where there is water, so are they,” the old man’s voice echoed.


    “Wait!” Alex screamed again so loudly that this time he woke himself up for real. He was at the wheel of the car, his head was on the steering wheel and he was speeding toward the Grand Dunwich Hotel. 


    He slammed to a halt mere feet from the front steps. “I must have fallen asleep,” Alex muttered to himself. Then he looked at the passenger’s seat at an ancient piece of parchment and a green star shaped stone. He knew it wasn’t a dream.


    Disoriented and confused, he lumbered staggered into the hotel. It was a shambles of its former glory. He walked toward his office. As he reached for the doorknob, there was a sound, a sensation at the back of his head and the world went black.


     


     


    IX


     


    Alex awoke slowly. He was laying on the floor of the hotel at the door to his office. He tried to move but his movements were sluggish. Everything hurt, especially his head. He reached back and winced as he felt the open wound across the back of his head. He looked around. It was hard to focus, his vision was blurred. He couldn’t see anyone else but he heard someone. A man, singing. His slurred voice was coming from the master bedroom at the top of the stairs. 


    Slowly and as silently as possible, Alex crawled into his office. It was in disarray. He quietly dug through the debris until he found his jacket. The .38 was still in the pocket. He slipped the jacket on and followed the sound of the voice.


    When he entered the master bedroom he was greeted by a roaring in the fireplace, a few scattered empty wine bottles and a dancing drunk hobo. He had a bushy dirty black beard, a wool cap and dirty clothes. The man let out a yell and fell backwards when he saw Alex. 


    “My God! I thought you were dead,” the man shouted and stammered out loud. “I thought I gave you a harder knock than ya’ needed,” then added, “To whom am I speakin’?” 


    Alex pulled out his gun. “Hands in the air, where I can see them,” he said, “To answer your question, you are speaking to the owner of this hotel. You have attacked me, trespassed, destroyed my property... it is I who should be asking you the questions!” 


    The bum wiped his dirty face and nose, sniffed and said, “What do ya’ want from me? I’ll just be on my way.”


    “No you won’t,” Alex said, and the words just came out of his mouth without conscious thought. “I’m a gambler, though. You a gambling man?”


    “Sure, what are ya’ getting at,” the man asked.


    “Well, how about a little bet. If you swim across the pool, you can run free,” Alex said.


    “And If I don’t?” the bum asked.


    “I shoot you right now,” Alex said. He motioned toward the door with the gun. They walked outside, stopping by the car so Alex could get the parchment and green stone, then walked around the hotel to the pool. 


    The bum stood by the edge. “It’s cold,” he said. Alex fired a shot in the air. The bum walked down the pool steps into the black water. With a plunge and a slew of profanity, he leaned forward and started to swim.


    Alex took the parchment, wiped it on his head until some of the congealed and fresh blood was smeared on it. He threw it into the pool and started to chant the Sha-Illean Invocation, ‘Saaa-Laa-Tarn-Naa, Sall-Laa-San-Naa, Sal-Laa-Nall-Naa, Sall-Laa-Mara-Naa.”


    The bum was shouting threats as he swam. “I don’t know why you couldn’t just let me go you crazy fool! No man makes me swim in cold water! I’m comin’ back for ya and I’m gonna kill ya! An’...”


    He stopped shouting and swimming, and began to paddle quietly as he felt the waters moving. As waves formed, like the ocean, the bum frantically swam toward the far side of the pool. The surface of the water parted, foam sprayed up, and the creature Alex now knew to be Shaaa-Sall-Us reared its head into the night air like a cobra, towering over the shrieking man.


    As Shaa-Sall-Us lowered itself to strike and consume the floundering man, there was another explosion of water. Another head ascended up on a long neck, it was another water demon. It was another Shaa-Sall-Us.


    Like the long necked dinosaurs of the distant past, they roared and hissed their challenge at each other, fighting for the right to eat the man. They lunged at each other, biting, burying their mouths into each other’s skins, sucking and tearing. Their tentacles interlocked, biting and tearing each other. One relinquished and sank beneath the waves. The victorious Shaa-Sall-Us roared its triumph, leaned down and ate the screaming bum. It turned and looked at Alex.


    Alex stood by the pool edge with the star stone clutched in his hand and hesitated. The invocation had worked. All he had to do was throw the stone into the pool. He raised it in his hand then stopped. 


    He could feel a vibration, like a tremor in the earth, like the approaching sound of a tornado. It was distant but getting closer.


    Suddenly, the Sha-Sall-Us disappeared beneath the waves and everything went silent. Alex remembered the old man’s warning: “Ye can’t kill ‘em. But ye can banish ‘em. They don’t belong here. Beware their mother, begot of Ubbo-Sathla, do not disturb her. Her childr’n are many. She is one.”


    If the star-shaped stone could banish them, Alex thought, then if he waited, maybe he could do more than banish one water demon. Maybe he could banish the mother and really get his revenge.


    There was a sound that shook the earth. The waters of the pool exploded as something bigger than the whole pool shot up into the night sky. It was as large as a building but it kept growing. Ish-Tan-Illa rose from the pool, twisting and curling, like a new born plant pushing its way up through dirt.


    Alex couldn’t take in the whole size of the thing. It was huge, miles tall and growing by the second. It grew until it was taller than the clouds. Its head seemed to touch the heavens. Its body blotted out the sky and moon.


    His first impression was that of a huge segmented serpent, with each segment covered in rows of tentacles. The top of the head was huge, bulbous. Like a rose, it unfolded into a five-pointed shape, like a starfish. In the middle of it was the head of a cobra, with no eyes.


    The thousands of tentacles that covered its body seemed to actually encompass its body. That’s when Alex realized that Ish-Tan-Illa was so big, each of its tentacles was a Shaa-Sall-Us. 


    From miles up this thing, miles wide and tall, looked down at Alex. The mouth opened. Inside was a huge staring glowing red eye. It too glared down at Alex.


    Alex stared back up into the eye. Slowly, ever so slowly, he raised his arm with the green star-shaped stone in his hand. 


    Ish-Tan-Illa saw it. 


    The effect was immediate. Like a dolphin diving beneath an oceans waves, the multi-mile high goddess/water demon dove head first back into itself, back into the pool with a crash that shattered Alex’s eardrums.


    With a scream of defiance, Alex started to chant again as he threw the star-shaped stone into the churning black waters of the pool. There was an anguished scream and explosion so loud it still pierced whatever was left of Alex’s eardrums and sent him reeling unconscious to the ground.


     


     


    X


     


    When Alex awoke the next morning, the sky was a bright blue. The air was cool. He sat up. The pool was empty. The black water was gone. 


    Alex drove a bulldozer down the pool steps, into the pool and didn’t stop until he was sure all the cement was broken and shattered. Working till sunset, he filled the pool in with dirt. After starting a fire in the hotel, Alex drove back to an empty home in Boston.


    The first thing he did was call his wife desperately hoping she would come back to him. The second thing he did was fix himself a strong drink. The third was take a shower. As he tried to let the steady spatter of the water relieve some of his tensions, it seemed to have the opposite effect. It worried him.


    As the water filled the tub, covering his toes, he had a nagging feeling. Something the old man and Ms. Loring said to him, over and over: “The doorway is water; where there is water, so are they.” As he tried to relax, absorbed in thought, the water level continued to rise in the tub. Soon it covered his ankles. Odd, Alex thought idly, he didn’t think he had closed the drain. That’s when he noticed the bottom of the bathtub felt different. It felt a lot softer. He opened his eyes and looked down.


    Beneath the water, in his bathtub, was one huge eye. His feet were on its pupil! Ish-Tan-Illa stared up at him, the pupil dilating and narrowing. 


    Alex had a chance to scream just once before the eye sank down into the depths of a watery abyss and he sank down with it. 


    Submerged beneath the water, he opened his eyes. Although they stung, he could see a little. Everything was dark, as if he were underwater in the middle of the ocean, an endless dark blue ocean that extended out in all directions from him. The only thing that seemed to illuminate the scene was a ring of light over his head. 


    Alex looked up at the ring and realized it was the shape of his bathtub. To his disbelief, he registered that he could still see his bathroom. If he could just get out of the water... 


    He looked down again. Shapes were moving in the darkness toward him. He swam up, and burst through the surface of the water gasping for air.


    But then he was clawing desperately at the white porcelain bathtub walls as he was pulled beneath the waters to join Ish-Tan-Illa forever.
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    Thomas de Raaf cut his way through the boisterous crowd at Picton’s smoky and dark Sailor’s Rest, and stepped up to the bar. Not for the first time, he wondered if he was doing the right thing. He rubbed his sweaty palms on his trousers. The Polaris would be his first ship; he needed this job. His tension eased as the men around him swapped stories about lives left behind, joked about old sailors’ tales of lake monsters, and speculated about their captain. Everyone had heard something. Captain Harris was a defrocked clergyman; he had run guns to the Confederates during the Civil War; and he had even sailed in the South Seas in his youth, and made a fortune. Thomas’s uncle had told him that Harris had been sailing Lake Ontario for years, and was a strict, but fair, man. 


    “Tom, lad, there you are,” said his uncle. Charles Smythe cut through the crowd and wrapped a burly, tanned arm around Thomas’s shoulders. “I trust your mum’s well?”


    “She is, Uncle,” said Thomas. “And thank you for this opportunity.”


    Smythe shook his head. “It’s the least I could do. It’s not as though you’d get much of a share of the farm, anyway.” 


    Thomas nodded. He had three older brothers, two of whom already had young wives of their own. His father had told him in no uncertain terms that he would have to make his own way. That was why he was here, thanks to a letter from his mother to her brother, who happened to be the Polaris’s first mate.


    “There’s just one thing I need to ask you, on behalf of the captain,” said Smythe. “Are you a superstitious lad?”


    “How do you mean?” asked Thomas.


    “Do you put any stock in omens, Indian legends, and the like?” asked Smythe.


    Thomas furrowed his brow for a second. “I believe in what I can see with my own eyes,” he said slowly.


    “Good,” said Smythe. “Captain Harris likes rational men. Stow your belongings, then. We set sail tomorrow.” 


     


    X


     


    The next day the Polaris sailed for Rochester. She was a two-masted schooner, over 150 feet long and 20 wide, with a dark green hull and her name painted in large white letters along the gunwale. Her deck gleamed in the sunlight, and nothing – not even the shortest length of rope – was out of place. While Thomas learned his duties as a deckhand, he wondered yet again whether he was doing the right thing. 


    His family had been farming in Prince Edward County for generations, and had always been solid, down-to-earth folk. But for as long as Thomas could remember he had preferred imagining himself in the strange lands he had read about in his family’s few books to tending the livestock or the fields. It was all very strange and had happened so fast; but it was an opportunity, and right now it was all Thomas had. He gazed nervously over the grey, rolling waves.


    Thomas’ reverie was interrupted by the arrival of Captain Harris on deck. He was thin, vanishing into his dark blue topcoat with its shining brass buttons. The points of his starched collar gleamed in the sun, and the breeze fluttered the ends of his long grey moustache. He straightened his white cap and surveyed the crew briefly before muttering, “As you were,” and turning to Smythe, who came to meet him. The two men talked for a few minutes before Harris returned below decks. 


    Once the Polaris docked in Rochester that evening, Smythe ordered the crew to start loading coal for Toronto. Thomas was picking up his first sack when he noticed two men ride up in a wagon and unload two large crates. Something was stenciled on the side of each crate in large lettering, but from where Thomas stood he was unable to read what it was.


    As the men unloaded the second crate, one of them lost his grip. He leaped back with a shout just before the crate could crush his foot. Smythe bounded over, his face red. “Be careful with that, you fool,” he shouted. “That’s expensive cargo for an important customer, and if anything’s broken it’ll cost you your job!” Thomas perked up. He had never seen his uncle so angry before. What could be so important about that cargo? The man spluttered a hasty apology, but Smythe shoved some papers into his chest. “It’s signed for – just go.”


    Every time Thomas returned to pick up a sack he tried to get a better view of the writing on the crates, but his uncle stood guard over them and he had no desire to have that rage directed at him. Eventually he had his chance, and saw that they were addressed to a “Dr. A. Winchester, University of Toronto”. He dropped his load in surprise. Smythe glared at Thomas and he hastily snatched up the sack and scurried to the ship. Dr. Winchester had written a book about the legends surrounding Atlantis and Mu. Thomas’ teacher had given him a copy one year because he had been the most attentive student in class, and he had read it so often that it had fallen apart. In his most vivid imaginary journeys, Thomas had visited the sunken continent and explored its weed-choked cities. He studied the crates with renewed interest.


    That night, Thomas tossed and turned in his berth. The thought that artifacts destined for Dr. Winchester’s study could be sitting less than 100 feet away was too much to bear. His mind raced with thoughts of barnacle-covered coins, rusted swords, and algae-encrusted statues. He had to see what was in those crates, but he didn’t dare get up, as his uncle was guarding them even now. Suddenly quick footsteps came from the hold, and seconds later Smythe bustled past towards the captain’s cabin muttering, “Noises.” 


    This was his chance. Thomas crept to the hold, careful not to make a sound, and once there he grabbed an iron rod leaning against the bulkhead and studied the crates. Prying them open would make a lot of noise. There had to be another way. He looked more closely. The slats of one of the crates had split near the bottom corner. This must be the one they dropped, he thought.


    He gently tugged one of the slats and it broke off, creating a hole just large enough for his hand. His breath caught and he reached in. His shaking fingers brushed nothing but rough straw, and his heart sank. He pushed further – there! He felt something hard, smooth and cold. Metal. He pulled it out, and by the yellow light of the single lantern looked at a golden wristband, almost as long as his forearm, inset with a mosaic of colorful stones. 


    Thomas paused to listen. All was quiet, aside from the pounding of his heart. He studied the wristband’s images of fish, octopi, and what looked like giant worms or snakes, and a warm numbness crept up his limbs. The edges of his vision blurred, and the sea creatures seemed to begin twitching. He looked even more closely, and the creatures swam in a golden sea. A low humming seemed to come from the other side of the bulkhead, accompanied by a faint scratching sound.


    The deck bucked under his feet with a loud crunch and Thomas fell to the ground. He lay there, dazed, while shouting could be heard on deck. After his head stopped spinning, he struggled to his feet and scrambled for the ladder. The scene on deck was utter chaos. Captain Harris stood in the middle barking orders, while Smythe was getting people to their feet. Only a couple of men seemed to be alert; the rest either staggered around or were lying about in a daze.


    “Thomas,” shouted Smythe, “Grab a lantern to check the port side. We’ve run aground. Check for damage.” 


    Thomas picked up a nearby lantern and scrambled to the gunwale. As he lowered it over the side with a rope, the captain shouted to Smythe. “Did you not check the charts when you plotted our course, Mr. Smythe? Did you not take soundings?”


    “Aye, sir,” said Smythe. “The lakebed is many fathoms down. There should be nothing but open water.”


    “Sirs,” said Thomas, “We’re stuck in a sandbar at the bow, perhaps 15 feet or so. I see great scratches in the hull, and,” he caught his breath, “I swear there are footprints in the mud surrounding the ship.” He turned to the other two men, his eyes wide. 


    The captain went pale in the moonlight, and then seemed to get a hold of himself. He turned to Smythe. “Draw pistols from my cabin for the both of us, and the rifles,” he said in a low voice, but loud enough for Thomas to hear. “We’ll not end up like poor Sidley and the Picton.”


    Smythe went below and the captain turned to a dark-haired, stocky man. “Johnson, take some men, equip them with shovels and set to digging us out of the muck. You will be covered while you work.”


    Thomas stood on the port side a short while later with Smythe, rifle in hand, looking over Johnson and some other men, who were digging furiously and cursing loudly. “Uncle,” he asked in a low voice after a long, tense silence, “What’s this business about the Picton, and why are we armed?”


    Smythe looked over his shoulder. The captain was standing guard on the starboard side with a red-haired man, and a gangly fellow kept watch at the bow. He leaned close to Thomas. “A few years back, in 1880 or so, there was a schooner – the Picton – captained by Jack Sidley. He was a great skipper; no one could run a ship as fast as him. One clear morning he was hauling coal from the States, and was eager to get underway. There were two other ships – the Acadia and the Annie Minnes – following the same course, but they couldn’t get out as fast as Sidley. They were a couple miles behind, but only an hour after casting off the other two ships saw the Picton’s topsails coming off. They thought Sidley might be dropping sails for some reason, but then his ship just sank out of sight, in the blink of an eye. The others raced to get there, but there was nothing to be found. Nothing.


    “Captain Harris knew Sidley, and had sailed with him under Marsh. But that event changed him, and he refused to sail that route again. He sold the Acadia and tried to forget it all, but his backers came back and convinced him to command the Polaris.”


    Thomas swallowed. “And the guns?”


    “Let’s just say the captain never believed that Sidley was done in by weather or bad luck,” said Smythe.


    “Does this have anything to do with those crates?”


    Smythe studied his nephew thoughtfully. “I’ve been with the captain for 15 years. Every so often there’s a load of special cargo waiting for him. I don’t know what that the stuff is, but Dr. Winchester pays the captain well to deliver it. I asked about it only once, and all the captain said was that the cargo was going to be taken to a place where it couldn’t be used. And that he’d dismiss me if I ever mentioned it again.” Smythe looked down to check on Johnson and the other men. “The only other thing I know is that Sidley sometimes picked up cargo like that,” he added.


    Thomas shivered, but his thoughts were interrupted by a shout from a bald man. “There’s something out on the water!”


    Smythe leaned forward to stare at the waves. “Can’t see nothing,” he muttered. “You, Thomas?”


    Thomas squinted. Nothing seemed to disturb the surface of the lake. He turned at the sound of a splash to his right, and saw a man-shaped figure wading out of the water to the sandbar. Thomas raised his rifle. The moon emerged from behind a cloud, and the figure was revealed in the silvery light. Thomas gasped and dropped his weapon. The creature was the size of a man, with a flabby torso and spindly arms and legs. It was covered with dark green, glistening scales and its large head had a ridged crest that projected backwards. 


    The creature stopped and looked up with bulbous yellow eyes. It opened its mouth, revealing a row of needle-like teeth, and hissed. Thomas’ heart was pounding, and a voice in his head screamed at him to pick up the rifle and shoot. His hands twitched, but he was frozen in place and unable to look away. The bald man turned at the sound and screamed. A deafening crack sounded in Thomas’ ears as Smythe fired his pistol at the creature. The shot went wide.


    There was a muffled shout from the captain, followed by another shot. Thomas ears rang and Smythe fired again. The coppery smell of gunpowder stung his nostrils, and smoke obscured his vision. Everything blurred and he grew dizzy. Suddenly he convulsed and blinked several times, and everything came into focus again. He bent over shakily to retrieve his gun.


    “Another one to the left,” shouted Smythe, and he turned to fire in that direction. Thomas’ arms trembled as he raised his rifle and fired at the first beast, which was now out of the water and shambling towards a blond-haired man. He missed. The bald man, wild-eyed and shouting, jumped onto the rope ladder.


    Gunfire was steady on the starboard side, punctuated by faint screams. Thomas reloaded and took aim with steadier hands. His next shot hit the beast in the head and the back of its skull exploded, raining bone shards and scraps of flesh and brain over the muddy ground. It hadn’t finished flopping to the ground before more splashing alerted him to the arrival of more creatures.


    “Cover them while I reload,” barked Smythe. Another one of the creatures lay sprawled in a jumbled heap in the mud. Johnson slashed at the nearest monster with his shovel. The thing sprang aside and Johnson fell over. The beast leaped onto him and grabbed his throat with its webbed hands. Thomas fired, hitting it in the arm. It shuddered, but didn’t stop its attack.


    “Pull up the ladder! Those men are done for,” shouted the captain.


    A scream echoed from the bow. A broad, frog-like face had popped up next to the man on guard, who smashed it with the butt of his rifle. Another set of webbed hands reached up and grabbed one of his arms. The gangly man jerked back, but the creature’s grip held, and the first monster seized the man’s coat. Thomas whipped his rifle left and right to get a clear shot, but the monsters pulled the shrieking man overboard before he could fire.


    Smythe called Thomas to help pull the bald man aboard. His bloodless lips moved soundlessly, and once they brought him over the side he crumpled onto the deck and curled into a ball. His eyes stared ahead, unseeing. Thomas shook the man’s shoulder gently, and then more roughly, but he remained motionless. Smythe put a restraining hand on Thomas. “Leave him be,” he said hoarsely, “He’s gone.” Thomas’ vision blurred and his knees buckled, and he sank to the deck, but a pair of hands shook him roughly, jarring his eyes open once more. “Get a hold of yourself,” Smythe shouted.


    “Mr. Smythe,” cried the captain, “The Polaris is lost. Go to my cabin and get the brass tube; I have already prepared a final message. Start a fire down below as well – they shall not have our cargo.”


    Smythe’s shoulders sagged, and his grip on Thomas loosened. He looked at the younger man for a long moment. “Give me your rifle and ammunition, and take my knife. I’ll do as the captain orders, but there’s no sense in all of us going down. By my reckoning we’re about half a mile off of Salmon Point. It’s not as gentle as the Bay of Quinte, but if you swim hard you might make it.”


    More creatures had climbed over the bow, and the red-haired crewman next to the captain dropped his weapon and sank to his knees, weeping. The captain fired several rounds into the nearest beast, which collapsed onto the deck. Smythe ripped the rifle from Thomas’ hands and put the knife in his belt before giving him a hard shove towards the gunwale. Thomas blinked and grabbed the ladder with numb hands, and swung over the side. He climbed down most of the way, but lost his grip a few feet from the bottom and landed on his backside in the mud. The gunfire was quieter down here, but there were other sounds – splashing water, hissing, and croaking. With a pounding heart he dove into the water and paddled madly. The crack of a rifle, followed by a shout, echoed in the night. He focused on the shoreline that lay somewhere to the north. Half a mile, he thought, I can do this.


    Sometime later a loud crackling broke through the night air, and a reddish light appeared at the edge of his vision. He half-turned, and saw a tongue of flame erupting from the hold into the night sky. The unspeakable creatures swarmed up the sides like ants, and the gunfire became more intense. Thomas shivered in the summer night, and it was with difficulty that he tore himself away from the scene and swam as never before. There was a faint shriek, and another, and the gunfire died away. 


    Thomas swam on. His trembling limbs burned. The fire’s red glow grew fainter as he put more distance between himself and the stricken vessel. After a loud splintering sound and a drawn-out hiss, the light went out. The moon provided enough light for him to see the jagged line of the coast ahead. He was almost there. He lengthened his strokes to eat up that distance as quickly as possible.


    Suddenly, something clamped down on his ankle. Thomas kicked frantically, but failed to make contact with whatever was holding him. His assailant dragged him down. He gasped a deep breath before going under. It was too dark to see anything. Something tugged at his belt, and he flailed about. His hand closed on something cold and rough. His lower arm erupted in sharp pain, as though dozens of pins had been jabbed into it. He fought the urge to scream, and pushed his attacker with his other hand. One of his flailing feet made contact with something hard, but he was still trapped. He groped around his belt, hoping to unbuckle it, and his fingers brushed against the handle of the knife. He drew it and slashed wildly. His blade bit into something soft, and he drove the knife down again and again. The tugging stopped and he surfaced as fast as he could, filling his burning lungs with great gulps.


    The rest of the journey passed like a blur. He emerged on the rocky beach and collapsed with a great sob, but forced himself to his feet again and staggered over a ridge, and kept walking. Once the lake was no longer in sight and the sounds of the surf died away, his body grew leaden and he tumbled into the long grasses and fell into a deep sleep.


     


    X


     


    The sun was high in the clear blue sky when Thomas awoke, soaked and shivering despite the warmth of the day. He sat up and looked around. Nothing but tall grasses and shrubbery as far as the eye could see in every direction but south, with a faint plume of smoke far to the north. A farm, perhaps. To the south the land rose into a grassy ridge, beyond which would be the rocky beach, and the lake. The wind changed direction, and brought with it the smell of seaweed. Flashes of memory from the previous night bubbled up – fire, smoke, screaming, a bald man slumped on the deck – and he shuddered.


    “It can’t have happened,” he mumbled to himself. Somehow he must have fallen overboard in a storm – it happened often enough. But maybe someone else was on the beach. Maybe his uncle was there. Thomas shuffled painfully to the ridge. He couldn’t believe how much his arm hurt. He held it up, and saw that the sleeve of his shirt was shredded below the elbow, and caked with dried blood. His arm was swollen and red, and it looked like something with a lot of sharp, narrow teeth had bitten it. Another memory flashed into view, of being dragged underwater at night. Thomas shook his head and walked on. 


    Patches of drying seaweed, and the occasional dead fish, dotted the rocky beach. A flash of white in one of the clumps of rotting vegetation caught his eye. He carefully slid down the slope and poked through the stinking pile, and found a large piece of wood almost twice as long as his arm that was charred and splintered around the edges. The green paint on it had bubbled and cracked, but enough of the white paint remained to spell out “POL”. His stomach churned and he grew nauseated. He fought for breath and shook his head. A shipwreck. There could still be survivors somewhere else on the beach. He had to keep moving.


    His pain forgotten, he walked briskly along the shore. A metallic glint drew him to a shallow pool, where a brass tube lay. He picked it up and turned it over. Clearly etched into the side were the words, “S.S. Polaris – Capt. N. Harris”. His hands shook as he broke the seal, and pulled out a rolled piece of paper. The writing was cramped and precise, but easy to read.


    Final Log of Captain Nathaniel E. Harris, of the S.S. Polaris (Toronto)


    July 18, 1884:


    I write this final entry, and as God is my witness declare it to be truth. My vessel is stricken, as I knew it would someday be, by unwholesome beings that dwell in the deeper reaches of the Great Lakes. I neither know nor care about their intentions, save that if they were to be realized humanity’s doom would be sealed.


    These ‘Deep Ones’ have been active under all the high seas for uncounted centuries, as I learned years ago while sailing in more exotic climes, and are in all likelihood the source of many of our legends about sea monsters, mermaids, and mythological places such as Atlantis. But in recent years they have established themselves in our own inland waters. I, and certain other like-minded captains, have been recruited by a number of notable scholars, including the eminent Professor A. Winchester, of Toronto, to hinder their activities.


    The professor informed me that these creatures intend to bring even worse terrors into our lakes, for which they need certain artifacts. The professor’s associates have been, at great personal cost, acquiring these items for a number of years, in various parts of the world. Captains, such as I, are entrusted to deliver them into his care, at which point he renders them unusable.


    But the Deep Ones are clever, and have learned of our activities. Each captain who undertakes this duty does so with the knowledge that they may someday meet their end. Many already have, and so, now, do I.


    May God have mercy on my crew.


    Nathaniel E. Harris


     


    The paper fell from Thomas’s nerveless fingers. He sank to his knees on the rocky shore, and gazed in horror at the grey, rolling waves.


    


    


    


    


    [bookmark: _Toc435557411]THE DARNESS AT TABLE ROCK ROAD
 


    Michael Reyes


     


    It’s late July when I get the letter. Hand in my mailbox fishing around for the latest Netflix and Con Ed bill when I pull out a burgundy envelope with the name Robert Blake written on it in jagged script. Specialist Blake of 2-37 1st Armor Division... We were stationed in Freiburg ten years back, went to the Middle East together during the first year of the war. He’s been a distant memory since then. To the best of my knowledge completely out of circulation since the middle of the last decade. No family. No close friends. No trace of him on any social networking sites... Last thing anybody heard was that he was out of the service and living in Rotterdam with some woman.


    I walk upstairs to my cramped studio apartment. I turn on the lights, then collapse onto my green bean bag. I open the letter and the heavy scent of paprika wafts out. It reminds me of Baghdad street vendor food and scorching Iraqi heat. I read –


     


    Buddy!


    Long time no hear. I’m back stateside. Been living abroad this entire time. The sights I’ve seen ... THE SIGHTS I’VE SEEN! In Wyoming now. Come on out to visit me. All expenses paid ... because I’m independently wealthy! I’m not kidding. Will get you caught up when I see you. We can go backpacking in The Red Desert and take psychedelics. Trippy man ...The Blue Bus is calling us! It’ll be fun. Just like old times in Amsterdam. Shrooms and William Burroughs’ Dream Machine! I got one. Let’s make it happen!


    Warmest Regards, 


    Robert Blake


     


    P.S. If you’re wondering how I found you it’s because you’re easy to find. 


     


    P.P.S. My phone number is on the back of the letter along with something else. Turn it over.


     


    I turn the gray construction paper over. On the top left hand corner is a stapled plane ticket. There’s a sharply drawn map of an area called the Kill Pecker Dunes in the middle of the paper. A small illustration of a smiley face with two devil horns on the bottom left hand corner and what looks like an inverted Ankh underneath it ...


    I place the letter down and go to my fridge to get a beer. I crack it; take a heavy swig – look the letter over again. Blake has always been a strange guy. Only time he ever seemed normal was when he was tripping. He was a great tank mechanic but kind of a space cadet at the same time. Never knew if you were going to get manic chatter or dead silence. We were born the same year on the same day, and we both loved 60s Prog Rock and psychedelics, though my interests were just recreational... Blake’s were not. He read books about mind expansion and the occult; he believed psilocybin allowed access to other dimensions. We were the only soldiers from North of the Dixon line in our platoon. I think he was from Providence, Rhode Island. An interesting guy, kind of a head case, but I’d be lying if I said I didn’t enjoy his company. We traveled around Holland with some buddies from our battalion the weekend before we deployed to Kuwait and partied like our lives depended on it. When I lined up in formation Monday morning I was still tripping hard enough to see indigo trails kissing the brow of our Brigade Commander as he called us to attention then sent us off to war. 


    I tap my bottle again and examine the inverted Ankh. I remember riding into Baghdad after a 22-hour convoy. The starving refugees... One young boy watched me sternly as I pointed my M-16 at the beggars, directing them away from my Hemmet...The silent child had a red inked tattoo of the inverted Ankh under his left eye...


    I banish the memory, down the beer and light up a joint as I sink into my beanbag, all the while trying to visualize exactly where Wyoming is on the map. I can’t. Exhaling the smoke I decide I’m going to visit Blake and take mushrooms with him at a place called The Red Desert. 


    In between gulps of tasteless airline lasagna I think about the wasted years I’ve spent trying to create a life for myself back home. Nothing sticks, I go in and out of each day like a confused extra on a low budget movie set, knowing every second the camera will never roll long enough to capture me. No contact with family. They’ve frozen me in their minds in Class A uniform and put me out of their hearts after seeing what I’ve come back as. Maybe just because I’ve come back, guilty of fighting in a war that’s produced no summer blockbuster movies or ticker tape parades. It’s been menial jobs and one-night stands that shouldn’t have even gotten beyond bar bathrooms, friendships that rely on virtual status updates... I wouldn’t change any of it, though I don’t know why. I don’t know my mind that well any more. Sometimes it seems like I’m thinking someone else’s thoughts. My own name seems strange in my mouth so I no longer say it. 


    I finish the lasagna and sleep falls over me.


    I’m walking with Blake down a street in Amsterdam. We look at the naked prostitutes standing behind glass in the red light district. They press their bodies against the windows and call us; their voices sizzle, acid rain splashing across a rancid pool’s surface. I try to leap through the window of one whore with giant breasts, but Blake holds me back. He points at her cloven hooves and filthy goat legs, the fur caked in dry shit. I look up at her face and see a hexagonal hole... the eyes, nose and lips strung loosely along the edges of the opening. Blake pulls me away from the thing. He shows me a yellow metal box he’s carrying. It’s covered with pictures of bizarre creatures... he tells me he’s learned all of their names. They’re his to command. The city pavement gives way to desert sand and I see a platoon lined up in formation a few yards away. We watch quietly. 


    They stand at attention for the tattooed Iraqi child as if he were their company commander... He raises and drops his left hand. The soldiers fall to the sand, begin slithering on their stomachs like snakes. They rip their clothes off while piling on top of each other, screaming joyfully as they mutilate one another. In this dream I see it all and understand everything–


    The sands scream the insane song of a half broken flute. The blind anarchy of Azathoth, its black lunacy wailing for primal stillborn death across the other side of creation’s void.


    The child has changed its face. The head of a dark-skinned man with the same tattoo under his eye sits on top of the small boy’s neck. He raises his hand and the mad soldiers rise... cheering loudly as they rip each other apart in an orgy of blood.


    Blake shakes his head and laughs. He points feverishly to the box he’s gripping, speaking to me with words I can’t understand. He takes a weird egg-shaped black crystal out of the box and there’s a pleading look in his eyes. When he opens his mouth, again the name Nyarlathotep is sent plunging into my mind.


    When I wake up, the plane is experiencing slight turbulence and I’m about to vomit. I fight the airline lasagne back down as thick drops of sweat cascade off my chin onto my clenched, bone-white hands. I blink heavily and feel a strange haze wrap itself around my mind. It coils behind my eyes as plane meets runway and I shake my head wearily as we set down in Rock Springs, Wyoming.


    Under a dozen people at baggage claim. The airport employees, who stare at me like I plan to burn their ranches down and make off with their steer, titter totter around the place like mannequins undergoing electric shock therapy. I’m wearing a red Hawaiian shirt, green camouflage pants and desert-issued army boots. I reclaim my huge camping backpack; take a snack out from one of its pockets. I snap into a Slim Jim and wink at a petite blonde who passes by like a figure skater on sandpaper.


    “Aloha.”


    She blushes crimson, chucks a brown-toothed smile at me. I walk out of the airport feeling like a million bucks.


    Blake’s waiting for me in front of a black Ford pickup truck. Looking younger than the last time I saw him, sandy blonde hair pushed back on top of his large head. His algae-green eyes flash brightly for a moment, his mouth does something close to a smile. We shake hands. He looks me up and down.


    “Hey buddy. What’s up with the Hawaiian shirt? We ain’t in Honolulu. This is cowboy country.”


    I laugh.


    “Only clean shirt I have.”


    Good to see you’re still trying.”


    “You couldn’t pick me up in a Benz? You said you were rich.”


    “Lexus is in the shop.”


    “Shit.”


    “You need to catch up on some sleep? There’s a hotel along the way that will put us up for nothing. I’m screwing the owner’s daughter. She’s podunk as hell.” 


    The strange nightmare flashes briefly. The name Nyarlathotep remains.


    “No, that’s fine. I got some sleep.”


    “A fucking Hawaiian shirt,” he says as he shakes his head and opens the driver’s door. I get into the passenger seat.


    “There isn’t much sightseeing to do around here, so I guess we’ll be on our way.”


    He hits the gas and we accelerate, on our way.


    When Blake tells me how he made his fortune we’re pushing 70 on an empty stretch of I-90. We pass a herd of wild horses on a distant butte as they thunder along on parched red soil. The sagebrush hugging the edges of the road look like they crept out of a John Wayne movie still, and somewhere not too far I’m sure ghosts on the Oregon Trail continue a spectral exodus past fierce Shoshone. 


    “Diaz? He was a Warrant Officer in HHC. Remember him? Short, gray-haired guy.”


    “Yeah.”


    “I ran into him in Amsterdam about a year after I left the army. Tells me he got a job working for a military contractor back in Iraq.”


    I nod quietly as we roll on past an oil field. A hundred-foot-high derrick stands like a corrupt and solitary skyscraper in a land of dirt and open sky.


    “At the time I wasn’t really doing much besides wasting the money in my savings account and living with some chick I wasn’t really all that into. Diaz tells me he can get me a job as a mechanic for the PMF. Tells me it’s big money. In a month I’m out of Holland and working for Stalwart Securities, back in Baghdad.” 


    Blake pauses, points at the glove compartment. “Want a shroom?” I take a gnarled brown top out of a zip lock bag and devour it. 


    “So I’m in Baghdad working as a mechanic but all the while I feel like I should be doing something a bit more active, you know? Diaz mentions the raids I went on in ‘03 to management and in about six months’ time I’m organizing security convoys for puppet government people all over the country. Making good money. When I get sent to Tikrit a year later I’m told I’ll be doing something a bit more exciting than playing chauffeur for Hajji.”


    I can feel the psilocybin begin to work its magic. The sun’s rays reflect strangely off of the silver sagebrush as Prickly Pear cactus grin at me. Bands of brown desert elk zoom past us at incredible speed, perhaps chased by the ancient spirit of some long dead predator. Serpentine clouds slither across the blue sky; a pale ghost moon hovers nearly as transparent as a spider web near the blunt sun’s radiance.


    “Our boss gives us a list. He tells us the people on it made off with some very important artifacts when the museums were looted first year of the war. He wants us to get them back.”


    “So you could return them to the museum–”


    He laughs. “Fuck no. So they could be sold to personal collectors for millions of dollars. Stalwart Securities worked something out with C.P.A., who in turn worked something out with D.O.D. All the pieces were in place and everyone involved would come out with full bellies and clean as a whistle if we pulled it off. Most of the artifacts were swiped up by ass backwards-Iraqi peasants... they had no idea what they had and how much it was worth. The first five names on the list were like that. Easy. All we had to do was toss them a few dollars and they were more than happy to part with the pieces. Wasn’t like that with the last guy on the list, though...”


    Blake pauses and reaches into the glove compartment. Pulls out a mushroom, nearly swallows it whole.


    “Seyeed Mahmood. He lived in a heavily guarded two-story house close near Mosul. No simple payout – we had to rush his compound and kill all of his bodyguards. We tied him to a chair in his kitchen and beat him, but he wouldn’t tell us where the artifacts were. Turned the house upside down, eventually found a large door in the basement hidden behind a rotting armoire. Fucking place looked like a dungeon. There were weird symbols painted all over the walls. My teammate started dismantling the door and I saw something moving slowly out of the corner of my eye. It was a huge camel spider. It stopped walking and it kind of leered at me, then its mouth pincers started moving really fast, shit, it was surreal. The hairy bristles on its yellow body were a blur; it was gyrating really fast ... I stomped the shit out of it.


    “When the steel door fell I turned around and almost screamed... There were a dozen camel spiders nearly pressed up against my teammate’s back. I raised my rifle and they receded all at once into the shadows in one really quick motion...I wiped my eyes and when he said, ‘That should do it,’ the basement’s light bulb shattered. We turned on our flashlights, raised our M-4s and walked through the darkness... Bright lights flashed on and we were in a large room with furniture that looked like it belonged in a castle. We couldn’t believe our eyes. Persian carpeting with a huge lacquered mahogany table in the center with all sorts of gemstones on it. All over the floor were half open chests with jewelry spilling out. There were gold crosses, coins and pendants... There were other stranger; older looking objects as well... some that had the weird glyphs from the basement wall on them. We found the items we were searching for quickly, they were near the entrance of the door next to a tapestry that depicted Jesus praying to his own image. It was by the blasphemous pictures of Mohammed that I found the really bizarre shit. A half open chest with a pentagram engraved on its top. Deformed figurines inside of it carved out of Red Jasper and Cinnabar... They weren’t human or animal but a combination of both and I could feel them staring at me with an intelligence that belonged to neither... A black music box that opened to show a leprous Jesus on a spinning inverted crucifix. There were old books that looked like they were bound in flesh with locks that would require keys I never even thought could exist. I found a yellow metal box covered with strange pictures ...” 


    Blake stops himself short, glances at me and smirks. My eyes feel watery, my mind hazy.


    After a moment he says:


    “My coworkers and I decided this was a once in a lifetime opportunity to get rich and never look back. We’d return the artifacts we were ordered to, and split the rest. Figured it’d be best to kill Seyeed and burn the house down. We passed him in the kitchen as he watched us steal his fortune. There was a camel spider the size of a small rat perched on his shoulder. He didn’t seem to care. We spread gasoline all around the house. We started the blaze and when we passed by Seyeed once again he was...”


    Blake stops. He twitches hard. “He was covered in them... There must have been over a hundred of those fucking things on him. They were biting and tearing... Seyyed didn’t scream. I shot him in the head. The spiders seemed to slide off of him onto the floor. We splashed gasoline all over his corpse, struck the match and left.”


    Blake takes another shroom out of the glove box and munches on it.


    “We’re almost there,” he says between chomps.


    “So you guys got away with it?” 


    “If they got caught, neither snitched because nothing came back to me. We brought what we were supposed to, got promotions and vacation time. I took my stuff to somebody I got hooked up with while I was on leave in Vienna. Cashed out at about 5 mill. I decided to keep a few artefacts, though... After I returned to work I found out the others never came back from vacation. I waited two months, then put in my final two weeks. Left Iraq for the last time.”


    “Wow,” I say after a moment of silence, “that sounds like a bunch of bullshit. The whole story.”


    Blake laughs. “But you know it isn’t, right?”


    The haze coiled behind my eyes swirls around my mind. I nod at him quietly, but I say, “Camel spiders, huh? The size of rats? I’m not high enough to believe that. Multi-Millionaire? With your fucking Indiana Jones story. Please.”


    He takes out his wallet and tosses it at me. 


    “Open it.”


    I pull out an American Express Centurion credit card. I laugh.


    “I want to see a million-dollar bill. Then I’ll believe you.”


    I toss his wallet into the backseat. 


    “Why did you move out here? You can live anywhere in the world.”


    “This land is special. It has a certain energy.”


    “Energy?”


    “Yeah. And I’m not just talking about the oil deposits. Ley lines. Spiritual energy.”


    “We’re talking crystal magic and Deepak Chopra?”


    He laughs.


    “The dream machine we’re going to use is one of the artefacts I kept.”


    He motions towards the back of the truck. “It’s Babylonian.”


    “Is it in good enough condition to spin at 78 rpms on a record player?”


    “Yeah. I’ve done it before. And let me tell you... The shit you see...”


    Blake trails off. He stares ahead blankly. After a moment –


    “You have to see it for yourself. I’m pretty sure Burroughs and Gysin never saw anything like this. It’s going to be the most important thing you’ve ever seen in your entire life.”


     


    X


     


    When we first spot her she’s walking with great effort and it seems like she’s about to collapse. Her blonde ponytail swings lethargically over her ripped green backpack. Her face expresses neither surprise nor relief when we pull up next to her. She’s beautiful. Heart-shaped face and full lips, brows that arch over large electric blue eyes. She tells us her name is Trudy and her voice is smoky. Her Volkswagen broke down a few miles back, been wandering the desert for hours. Her eyes sparkle intensely, my pulse races. She was driving to Yellowstone to meet up with some friends. We tell her we’re going to the sand dunes to trip. She says wouldn’t mind tagging along if we drive her back into Rock Springs. Blake doesn’t seem to care if she comes or goes but I need Trudy to come along because the sweat on her smooth neck and her bright flashing eyes are making me ache. She jumps in the back of the Ford.


    When we reach Boars Tusk on foot we’re covered in sweat and peaking. The jeep’s a mile back and it feels like we’ve been walking outside of time. Under clear blue sky we’ve meandered past butte and mesa, we’ve ambled down hills following dry steam beds, walked past weird spires and dwarf canyons. Drunk off the earthy perfume of sage, clumps of prickly pear and juniper look cartoonish to our dilated pupils. Ancient Boars Tusk dominates the landscape; Pleistocene aged volcanic neck raised 400 feet in the air. We drop our gear in exasperation in front of it and drink water. Trudy smiles at me. I smile back and as she drinks from her canteen a few feet in front of me I somehow feel her standing right behind me, blowing into my ear. She winks at me. I glance down at her backpack and see the name Mabel written on it. Her eyes change from violet to green back to blue. I’m about to ask her what her real name is, but I stop myself when I hear Blake laughing. 


    He picks up a bison’s skull and places it in front of his own. He’s a prophet whose God belongs to an older order. He wants to sacrifice me; I know it. I’m tripping hard and I realize I’m trapped. I don’t understand my own mind at all; someone else is thinking my thoughts for me. Did I want this to happen? The nightmares warned me but I still came... I look at the woman who calls herself Trudy. Her face has changed. No longer beautiful and alert, her eyes have slanted, become dull. Her skull has shrunken; become broader... Her face sags as she smiles at me uncomprehendingly. I look away. She’s not who she says she is. She’s a demon who haunts the desert. They’re planning to bring me to a place worse than death... Blake lowers the skull and glares at me. At that moment I feel like murdering them both. Reality is ripping apart and it’s his fault. I’m tripping hard but I force myself to take back my mind and the world it perceives...


    “Let’s get to the sand dunes and set up camp,” I manage to say with great strain. They nod. Trudy’s blue eyes shine electrically, the symmetry’s returned to her face. Blake throws down the bison’s skull, then winks at me. We pick up our gear and head to the dunes.


    It’s near dusk. We’ve pitched a tent and made a campfire on an outcrop of vegetation. The low hum of the portable generator drones on as we sit around the circle of stones containing the fire. We feed sagebrush to it. Blake tells us we’re in between the continental divide, and the rain that falls here doesn’t flow to the Pacific or Atlantic oceans. It settles into the dirt and feeds the chthonic spirits that dwell deep under the oil reservoirs. He speaks about the special soils and waters that house a great race of beings called the Great Old Ones. The ground feels alive; it’s vibrating underneath me. I pick up a clump of it and it flows like mercury over my hand. I fling it at the fire.


    Boars Tusk stands sentinel over the dunes as Blake tells us about a dimension once named Yuggoth, now something deemed less than a planet called Pluto. He talks about its ancient black cities of windowless towers, its fungoid gardens. At this point it hits me that there’s no turning back. There’s no escaping here.


    Blake doesn’t look like himself any more. He seems taller, skinnier. His pupils are so dilated that his eyes seem to take up most of his face. Trudy whispers something to me but I can’t make it out. She moves closer and I see the name Dolores tattooed on her neck. She kisses me then sits on my lap. 


    Blake tells us that when Yuggoth entered the eighth sign 28 years ago the seeds were sown for the return of an older order. Tonight the stars are right for the messenger of the profoundest wisdom to usher in the Aeon of The Great Old Ones.


    He shows us the ancient cylinder seal. Taupe-colored and a foot long, strange letters carved onto it. He walks into the tent and we follow.


    Blake hangs a light bulb over the record player. He places the seal on the turntable, sets it to 78 rpm. I gaze into it and the weird letters dance. They transform into our faces; they smile then cry. I inhale heavily, then shudder as they break apart, the pieces of bone turning into blood-covered calcium comets racing past alien planets, diseased and dying in graveyard nebulae ... past the skeletal remains of ancient space travelers sealed in meteor tombs forever sailing across a multiverse of realities and finding destitution in them all. An orgy of mad celestial spheres locked in an endless process of destruction and rebirth – I approach a blue planet, look onto its ancient Triassic seas teeming with a horrific race of creatures who dwell in ammonia and methane oceans across a swathe of ghost planets lost in the shadow memory of The Big Bang’s first exhalation. The seal spins faster and I’m sure they sense my presence across an impossible span of time – they want to rip my soul apart and feed on the primeval stardust that marks me as a being on the brighter side of the Big Bang. They reach towards me but I feel myself being pulled up into a collapsing sky... spit into the darkest stretch of space with only the sound of a broken flute. Lost in the center of absolute madness, Azathoth.


    I feel a hand on my back. I force my eyes open, look away from the dream machine. I turn around to see the face of the Iraqi child. The record player stops. Blake takes his hand off my shoulder. 


    I’m completely sober now. Something’s seeped into this world because of us. I can feel it.


    I look over at Trudy. Her thick lips are impossibly red and when she licks them, her blue eyes strike like lightning.


    “You guys should get some sleep,” a frightening remoteness in his voice.


    “What the hell just happened?” 


    Everything that was supposed to.” 


    He takes out a small yellow box from his pocket.


    “I’m going to sleep by the fire,” he says heavily. “Don’t disturb me. I’ll see you both in the morning.”


    He walks out of the tent.


    I turn toward her. 


    “Trudy ...” 


    “My name isn’t Trudy. It’s Caroline.”


    “Why did you lie about your name?”


    “Don’t know.”


    Her raspy voice grows frail. Something in her eyes change.


    Were you really going to Yellowstone?”


    “No.”


    She pulls in close to me. She shifts again. Her eyes turn black then hazel.


    My head feels foggy.


    I just finished visiting my hometown. Table Rock. It’s a ghost town now. I wanted to see it one last time before the desert swallowed it. Afterwards, I drove up around this way and felt like leaving my car. I don’t remember why. It’s like a dream. I left the car and wandered around –.”


    “Were you waiting for us?”


    “I was waiting for you.”


    “I don’t understand.”


    She grimaces violently and then stares at me with the expression of a very slow child. “I want to go back to the hotel with Mommy. He tricked me.”


    I push myself away from her as I hear Blake chuckle outside of the tent. I wipe my eyes and when I open them Trudy’s naked. 


    “Just come to me. Stop asking questions.”


    I crawl over to her on my knees.


    “It’s ok,” she says as she kisses the side of my neck. She grins luridly and her eyes bulge. I can’t look away and she pulls me in completely. I can hear Blake speaking to someone outside the tent when she straddles me...


     


    X


     


    I wake up naked. There’s no tent around me and the sun’s beginning to set. I brush sand off, spring up, look around. The tent and gear have been scattered several feet away in every direction. I find my canteen and gulp down hot water. My stomach knots in fear.


    “Blake!”


    Silence. I walk around the camp and find my clothes. I dig my wristwatch out of my Hawaiian shirt’s pocket – 7:35 pm.


    I’ve been asleep for over 18 hours.


    “Trudy!”


    No response. Still herds of Prong Horn observe me quietly from atop a butte.


    The camp wasn’t struck. It was disturbed. I walk over to the stone circle where we set the fire and find Trudy’s Jansport. The names Kathy, Dolores, Bechard, Hiepacht, Zepar, and Mara are written on it. It’s half open and when I reach inside I pull out a naked Barbie doll, a thick black marker and picture of a young woman with Down Syndrome standing next to what are probably her parents on a street with identical white split-level houses. I place everything down where I found it and see the shattered cylinder seal next to Blake’s rucksack a few feet up ahead. There’s a large hunting knife coated in blood as well. I grab the rucksack and drop all of its contents onto the ground. Blackened ears and fingers covered in purple tattoos fall out along with a stack of photographs bound together with rubber bands. I pick up the photos and see ...


    Me back in New York. Coming out of my apartment building, at work, buying groceries, on a date ...


    I shake my head in disbelief as I find photos of the woman with Down Syndrome standing by a sign that says Yellow Stone National Park ... another with her smiling, holding Blake’s hand in front of a motel called Rock Springs Lodge. 


    I hear sobbing coming from the direction of Boar’s Tusk. I drop the photos, pick up the hunting knife and follow.


    He’s wheezing heavily, back propped up against its black volcanic neck. I stand in front of him and he looks past me without recognition. There are tears in his eyes. I put the knife next to his throat.


    “What’s going on?” I stick the point of the knife into his neck lightly and break skin, draw blood.


    “He had me, then denied me. I summoned him in preparation–”


    “What are you talking about?”


    I push the tip of the blade further in. He doesn’t react.


    “A shade of Nyarlathotep; an echo of the Haunter. I summoned it through the dream machine for consul before using the trapezohedron to release its greater essence. It attacked me.”


    “What the fuck are you talking about?”


    “It raped me–”


    I pull the blade away from his neck.


    “I lost control of the unclean spirit I placed inside of the woman... and it stole the trapezohedron.”


    “Why do you have those pictures of me?”


    “I picked the wrong location for the process... It needs to be further southeast. The ley lines and stars that unlock the deluge are underneath and above a ghost town named Table Rock...”


    My blood’s rising. I slap him hard.


    “The pictures!”


    “The ceremony needed three born on the same day in the same year during the same hour. You were born to be a part of this.”


    “You stalked me. You set this all up–”


    “I’ve summoned the Haunter twice before... and it’s given me knowledge in exchange for blood sacrifice. I fed it what it needed so it brought me here. It needs to be released on this soil under these stars to herald in the new Aeon.” 


    “Who is she?”


    “She’s a simple woman named Kathy. Her parents run a motel not too far from here. I befriended her family and took up residence. They didn’t care about her. She was their burden. Two nights ago I took her to the desert and placed a spirit of lust inside of her to seduce you. I commanded it to wait for us. For the ritual to be effective I needed both of you to physically consummate. Three in union, the cylinder seal lifted the veil, your penetration summoned the Shade; an avatar of Nyarlathotep, on this sphere to prepare for the final release of its greater essence...” He spits blood. “I was an idiot to think I could be their liaison. They’ll come as annihilators. The spirit I placed in the woman plans to open it. I lost control of the Succubus after I was attacked. She drained you, then slithered onto me. I couldn’t command it. I stabbed her but she still drained me and traveled to Table Rock in a sandstorm. I woke before you and walked to Boars Tusk... I was wrong to think I could be their liaison...”


    He stares at me with eyes that look like cracked glass.


    “There’s still time to escape to a place in death. Come kill yourself with me.”


    “No.”


    He stands up, nearly falls. I don’t help him.


    “You caused all this. Can’t you stop it?”


    “Not if she opens it. But I–”


    “What?”


    “If we catch her I can cast the spirit out so she’s no longer compelled–”


    I look at the thing once called Blake.


    “I can try,” he wheezes. 


    He glances down at the ground and picks up a small lizard. He snaps its neck and puts it in his pocket.


    “She’s going to have to open the trapezohedron during the first hour of nightfall. After that time the stars will shift and the opportunity will pass.”


    I grip the hilt of the hunting knife tightly as we walk toward Table Rock, sky growing darker.


    When we see It sitting on top of the truck’s hood it stares at us lethargically like a lizard tanning itself on a rock. Its giant head rests impossibly on the neck of a small child’s body and though its face is vaguely human, the huge eyes have no iris and the way it positions itself is monstrous. It sits on its knees and absurdly long legs stretch back and curve, hanging over its head like two scorpion stingers. Its long black toenails are as sharp as knives and it flexes them rapidly, rubbing them lightly across its coarse white fur. The penis above its navel is erect, the slit underneath open and pulsating... 


    We freeze.


    Its mouth opens and a grotesquely large tongue rolls out. It swings rapidly in every direction. The sound of ripping fabric and a muffled thunderclap boom behind the thing. 


    The creature bellows horrifically, and then its mucous voice is in our heads.


    “Pledge. Appease Azathoth.”


    Flesh is invisibly ripped from the palm of my hand. I scream.


    “Forward.”


    I begin walking toward it, knife in hand.


    “Don’t!” Blake shrieks. 


    I’m a few inches away from the hood. I stare down at the soil and see the outline of an open book.


    I want to place my bleeding palm down. The urge is stronger than hunger. 


    I’m struggling–


    The creature’s tongue wraps around my arm and I slice it. It comes off and lands on the dirt. A huge thunderclap booms and It’s no longer on the hood. There’s only burnt sagebrush where its tongue writhed a moment before.


    “I can feel its children moving in me,” Blake screeches. Blood pours out of his mouth and his stomach swells.


    I toss him into the truck’s backseat. He hands me the keys and I start it up, hit the gas, and speed off toward the highway.


    We’re pushing 80 when the GPS goes black. The Red Desert begins to resemble Iraq. I shake my head hard and I-50 comes back into focus. 


    “Keep your mind here with me,” Blake rattles, “or you’ll be off somewhere you don’t belong.” 


    We pass oil derrick after oil derrick and I can’t stop my mind from roaming back toward the Middle East. I feel things grow thinner again ... something snaps. I’m driving on a dirt road near the Tigris River. I stop the truck ... trying to regain my senses.


    “Keep driving!” 


    I close my eyes, prepared to keep them that way until absolute darkness engulfs me.


    “Mister, Mister, give me food.” I open my eyes. A dozen Iraqi children are gathered around the Ford. They put their small dirty hands up to their mouths to punctuate their demands.


    “Drive!”


    I snap out of it, accelerate ... as the truck moves they turn monstrous. They throw their bodies against the Ford. I hit 60 and can’t shake them. From the rearview mirror I see their faces tearing and peeling off. One launches itself into the passenger side window. The truck swerves dangerously from left to right and its almost completely inside of the truck now as the others chuck their small bodies at the side of the Ford in full stride; bouncing off and getting back up, bouncing off and getting back up –


    Blake leaps forward and he’s wrestling with the thing, when I manage to steady the wheel and grab the knife off the dashboard – he yanks it out of my hand, stabs the creature square in its skeletal face –


    It tumbles out of the window.


    I look forward and the Iraqi child with the inverted Ankh is glaring at me in the middle of the highway. I accelerate. He disappears and drifts away like smoke. We crash into a sign that reads, “Table Rock Road.” I press down hard on the brakes... look into the rearview mirror. The swarm of dead children has disappeared. There’s an empty gas station fifty feet in front of us. 


    “We’re here.”


    Blake throws up and the smell of blood fills the truck.


    The sun is beginning to dip below the horizon as we pull into town. Underneath the decay and grime, an ideal suburban street frozen in its 80s Reagan-era glory. Lonely pieces of tumbleweed flitter across the cracked concrete as the dry wind pushes them past smashed windows and decrepit doors hanging off their hinges. We drive on past a sand-covered playground; sagebrush chokes a rusty swing set and a metallic slide has a hole the size of a bowling ball in it.


    We see a skinny brown horse pacing back and forth in front of a very dilapidated house. It stops moving once it sees us.


    Blake manages to sit up, wiping blood from his mouth.


    “Are we going to have to search every building to find her?” I ask.


    “No. The spirit in her will be compelled to find us so it can feed.”


    The horse ambles toward the truck. It starts jerking its head from left to right. We stare transfixed. It rears up on its hind legs and whinnies as its head rattles like a Diamondback’s tail. Front to back left to right, impossibly fast. It leans back, then lurches forward, all the while doing this weird dance. I put the truck in reverse. The horse abruptly stops after we hear a fearsome tear. Its head lashes violently one last time then slides off its neck and lands onto the concrete. At that moment we see her materialize in front of the broken down house. 


    “She’s carrying the trapezohedron,” Blake says.


    She smiles at me.


    “Stop staring into her eyes.”


    I avert my gaze.


    “The sun’s going down. We have to grab her.”


    She walks into the house and leaves the door open behind her.


    Blake spits into his hand.


    “Close your eyes.”


    I don’t blink.


    “Try to trust me. Please...”


    Something in his voice moves me. I’m reminded of the friend I once had many years ago. I catch déjà vu and see the hidden karmic thread laid bare – I try not to understand as I close my eyes. He spits and rubs his saliva over my eyelids. He chants briefly in a voice that doesn’t sound like his own.


    “She won’t fascinate you as much now.”


    We both get out of the truck and walk past the headless horse. The legs of its shadow kick at us. Blake picks up its head and takes the dead lizard out of his pocket. He drops it.


    “I was going to use the lizard to trap the spirit, but the horse’s head will be better.” I nod absently at that as we enter the house, hot desert wind pushing us forward.


    The thick scent of lilac disguising decay: still bright enough to make out a staircase leading up to a second floor, some dusty half broken furniture in the large living room.


    My heart’s thudding in my chest. Framed pictures on a bureau. I pick one up to see Kathy standing with her sullen parents in front of this house. I place the frame face down and I’m instantaneously hit with a surge of arousal. She’s inches away from me.


    “Hold her!”


    Her huge blue eyes try to pull me but I back away. Her face morphs, the feeling disappears.


    “Hold her!”


    I stare at her uncomprehending face. I can’t hurt her... she looks so lost. Her eyes suddenly spark electric blue again... the same pull, more intense than ever. I can’t help myself – I’m on top of her, kissing her mouth, rolling my tongue over her jagged teeth. She’s ripping my pants off, desperately trying to feed –


    I hear Blake chanting loudly behind me.


    My legs get weak. She’s killing me... I fall backwards, still holding onto her hands. I yank and she tumbles forward, lands hard on her chest. 


    “Pin it!”


    I jump onto her back and pull her head up. Blake takes the horse’s head, places it next to hers and chants. The horse’s face become animate, its eye-color changes from brown to electric blue. Blake hurls it across the living room. Kathy sits up and starts to sob. She rocks back and forth, crawls into a tight ball, then goes silent.


    For a moment there is an absolute stillness as darkness descends upon Table Rock.


    I notice the small yellow box lying next to the couch a moment after Blake does. He shakes violently and screams like he’s splintering in half. I know at that moment the person once called Robert Blake is now completely gone. It scrambles toward the couch and picks up the box. Rips the top open, takes the trapezohedron out, gazes into it...


    I feel it rip into this world. The heavy thud of flapping wings above the house as certain as the panicked heart beating in my chest...


    Blake begins to jerk about violently and he drops the trapezohedron... His stomach swells and he begins to give birth to his children. The camel spiders cascade out of his mouth by the dozens... He picks them up and tries to shove them back in. Blake drops and hundreds of the disgusting things pour out of his carcass. My mind nearly breaks as the smell of the Haunter infiltrates the house... The beating wings growing louder all the while. 


    I need to close the box 


    I rush over to Blake as the camel spiders crunch under foot.


    I need to close the box –


    I grab the filthy thing from his hand but... I can’t help myself...


    I look into the black stone and see...


    Nyarlathotep, the Crawling Chaos, whom in antique and shadowy Khem took the form of man along with all of the infernal domains of the Great Old Ones. I feel them stirring from their long sleep. Umr At-Tawil The Ancient One, Hastur The Unspeakable, his wife Shub-Niggurath, Cthulhu Lord Of Rlyeh and Yog-Sothoth The Lurker At The Threshold all awaken as I struggle to know my own mind but can’t, it’s no longer mine as the deafening sound of Azathoth’s flute reverberates through my center...The beating of its wings becomes the thud of my heartbeat, its madness my overpowering logic. I drop the trapezohedron and sprint past Blake’s corpse and poor, lost Kathy. I burst out of the house running at a full tilt, as the beating of its wings grow louder. There’s a great thunderclap, a huge tear of fabric as the moon’s light fades from the sky completely. I run until I collapse near the town’s deserted road. I stare up at the now alien sky. The stars blotted out with a hatred nurtured on the other side of creation... The others will appear soon now, after this Messenger. I screw my eyes tight and chant an empty prayer to a lesser god as final darkness descends on Table Rock Road.
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